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Foreword

The Forest Service, the largest bureau within the U.S. Department of Agriculture, has occu-
pied a central place in the historical development of natural resources administration in
America. This is especially true in Alaska, where, in contrast to the older West, no significant
utilization of forest resources preceded the bureau's establishment. On March 5, 1905, only
one month after transferring control of a vast system of western forest reserves from the
Department of the Interior to the Department of Agriculture, Congress created the Forest Serv-
ice in its modern form. In the seventy-five years since those beginnings under Theodore Roose-
velt and Gifford Pinchot, the Forest Service has grown and matured, not only in terms of
forested lands administered but, especially since World War 11, in the numbers and sophistica-
tion of its personnel and in the intensity of resource management. With this growth has come
increasing controversy about the development and protection of the treasure-house of re-
sources entrusted to it.

The characteristic esprit de corps of the Forest Service remains strong, but its policies are con-
stantly challenged by special interest groups motivated by a range of economic and
philosophical assumptions. The challenges often evolve into political campaigns in which the
contending parties sometimes distort the facts of the past and the present to serve their partic-
ular needs and ambitions. The issues are often blurred by public servants themselves, whose
goals always include obtaining the budgetary appropriations necessary to maintain current
activities and provide for additional *‘'good work.” There are, of course, regional variations to
this profile. In Alaska, the great land and resource issues of the past decade have drawn a
level of public attention to the Forest Service that would have been scarcely imaginable in
earlier times.

Public controversy prompts scholars to take stock from time to time—to examine the record of
discrete units of our historical past, to measure them in the evolving context of larger themes,
and to offer judgments that might yield better understanding of present and future concerns.
Students of the Forest Service have gone about this stocktaking in various ways. John Ise in
1920, Jenks Cameron in 1928, and Darrell H. Smith in 1930 offered broadly similar interpreta-
tions of federal forestry that remain useful even if reflective of the times in which they were
written. More encyclopedic in approach was Samuel T. Dana’s Forest and Range Policy (1956),
which is still widely used as a text and authoritative reference. Henry Clepper’s Professional
Forestry in America (1971) looked more broadly at the guild—also from an insider’s viewpoint.
Political scientist Herbert Kaufman offered insights into the operation of field personnel in
The Forest Ranger: A Study of Administrative Behavior (1960), and law professor Glen O. Rob-
inson evaluated recent issues in The Forest Service: A Study in Public Land Management
(1975). The authoritative history, viewing its subject principally from **the tip of the administra-
tive triangle,” is Harold K. Steen’s The U.S. Forest Service: A History (1976). The serious stu-
dent must examine all of these books to ascertain the subject's scope—only then to discover
that there are many additional scholarly works that contribute detail through the study of biog-
raphy, organizational functions, programs, special projects, and issues.

Although the Forest Service has been a decentralized bureau almost from its inception, there
are surprisingly few studies of its regional and local units. With a few notable exceptions, pro-
fessional historians have passed up opportunities to examine the Forest Service in the context
of its various operational settings. One exception is Charles S. Peterson's Look to the Moun-
tains: Southeastern Utah and the La Sal National Forest (1975). There are also some histories of
national forests by scholars recently produced as contracted ‘‘cultural resource overviews.”
More typical efforts, usually old-timers’ colorful reminiscences brought together by Forest Ser-
vice staff, are symbolized by Early Days in the Forest Service (4 vols., 1944-1976), which are
stories out of Region 1 in Missoula, Montana, and Men Who Matched the Mountains: The
Forest Service in the Southwest (1972), by Edwin A. Tucker and George Fitzpatrick. These are
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rich in nostalgia and narration but short on interpretation. The activities of several regional
forest and range experiment stations and subsidiary laboratories have been chronicled, but a
general scholarly study of research in the Forest Service is badly needed.

The only book-length scholarly study of a Forest Service administrative region is Lawrence
Rakestraw’s History of Forest Conservation in the Pacific Northwest, 1891-1913, a 1955 doc-
toral dissertation published in facsimile edition by Arno Press in 1979. Focusing on a limited
time period in the timber-rich states of Oregon and Washington, Rakestraw’s study established
a model that finds fruition in his present work.

In relating the history of the Forest Service in Alaska, Rakestraw provides an outline of evolv-
ing forest policy nationwide as a context for detailed illustration of the pioneering initiatives
and workaday tasks of forest officers on America’s last frontier. Alaska’s first federal forest,
the Afognak Forest and Fish Culture Reserve, was established in 1892 from the efforts of scien-
tists concerned with the conservation of fisheries. The Alexander Archipelago Forest Reserve
was proclaimed in 1902 and enlarged five years later to become the Tongass National Forest.
It is today the largest of the more than 150 national forests. Also established in 1907 was the
Chugach National Forest, which absorbed the Afognak and covered vast regions of south-
central Alaska before being reduced at the insistence of opponents.

The central figure of nearly all forestry activity in Alaska from 1903 to 1911 was William A.
Langille, an Oregonian who combined romantic adventure with hard-headed management in
Forest Service duties performed across endless reaches of timber, swamp, stone, and ice.
Langille got help from a small corps of rangers who adapted to Alaskan conditions by learning
the use of boats and dog teams (instead of pack mules and saddle horses), enforcing regulations
among handloggers, Natives, and other local users of forests (there were few genuine ‘'lumber
barons’’}, and patiently awaiting national recognition and development of Alaska’s boundless
resources.

During the administrations of his successors—supervisors and regional foresters like William
Weigle (1911-1919), Charles Flory {1919-1937), and B. Frank Heintzleman (1937-1953}—na-
tional attention finally came, sometimes in an overwhelming rush, and put an end to much of
the romance and boyish innocence of the territory. Intensive utilization of forest resources,
particularly in the form of a pulp and paper industry promoted by Heintzleman (who later
served as governor of Alaska), only began to be realized when such developments as statehood
introduced new claimants to resources, and a burgeoning environmental movement erected
obstacles to the easy disposition of lands and timber.

Preservationist groups zealously sought to ‘‘save’ the last of America’s wilderness, often
without fair regard to the welfare of Alaska's residents. Through publicity campaigns, political
lobbying, and court actions, they interposed constraints on the ambitions of resource managers
and developers. In the process they besmirched the reputation of an agency that itself had
taken many initiatives to preserve scenery, protect wildlife and fisheries, and provide recrea-
tional facilities for swelling numbers of residents and visitors. Despite the Forest Service's
historic stewardship and its unfailing efforts to assure the ‘‘greatest good of the greatest num-
ber,” it never quite caught up with the environmental pulse, at least in terms of public percep-
tions. The turbulent issues of the 1970s, ranging widely over the disposition of Alaska's lands
and natural resources, have been fought out largely in the ‘‘lower 48," often to the consterna-
tion and frustration of those who make their livelihoods in the forty-ninth state.

In the pages that follow, Lawrence Rakestraw traces all the issues and the men and forces be-
hind them. His view of nearly eight decades of Forest Service work in Alaska presupposes that
the general welfare is best served by a cooperationist approach between the managers and
users of natural resources. Whatever their ultimate judgment of Rakestraw's vision of the
past, present, and future, all readers will find his treatment of the subject to be original,
thoroughly documented, and carefully considered.

Ronald J. Fahl
Forest History Society




Acknowledgments

I am indebted to a large number of people for aid on this project—so many that a listing would
resemble Homer's Catalogue of Ships. Five people deserve special mention in this connection.
They are W. Howard Johnson, retired regional forester of the Alaska Region; D. Robert Hakala,
retired head of Visitor Information Services, Alaska Region; John A. Sandor, current regional
forester; Robert A. Frederick, former executive director of the Alaska Historical Commission;
and Ronald J. Fahl of the Forest History Society.

Howard Johnson and I became acquainted during the 1940s when he was an assistant ranger on
the Wind River Ranger District in Washington State and I was a lowly forest guard. Our trails
crossed again in 1968 in Juneau when we discussed this project and got it implemented. He gave
me strong support and also a long taped interview that is of great historical significance.

I had used Bob Hakala’s historical work while doing historic site studies on Isle Royale Na-
tional Park, before I met him in 1968. He got me the assignment of reporting the history of
Forest Service work in the preservation of totem poles, as part of the Alaska State Museum's
totem pole retrieval project. This study, not yet published, should be of great use to those in-
terested in historic preservation.

John Sandor, on becoming regional forester in Alaska, pressed for updating and publication of
this manuscript. I had become acquainted with him at the Washington Office of the Forest
Service in 1969, while checking on Alaskan sources, and we discovered a mutual interest in
history and pinochle. I later visited with him when he was deputy regional forester in Milwau-
kee, Wisconsin.

Robert Frederick and I have shared a common interest in natural resources history for many
years. Our trails crossed in 1965 when I taught at an NDEA institute at the University of
Alaska and again, later, when I was invited to Alaska on NEH projects. To him is largely due
the fact that this work is carried to publication.

Ronald J. Fahl, editor of the Journal of Forest History, has done editorial work on the manu-
script. He asked the necessary questions that saved the writer from egregious errors; he cor-
rected typos and grammatical errors and did a great deal to make this manuscript readable.

Others who deserve mention include Ted C. Hinckley, professor of history at San Jose State
University, who made his own researches on Governor John G. Brady available to me and al-
lowed me to make his home my headquarters for a long spell of research; Morgan Sherwood,
professor of history at the University of California, Davis, with whom I have had many profit-
able discussions; the late Martin Schmitt, who, as curator of Special Collections at the Univer-
sity of Oregon Library, steered me to many useful sources; Orlando Miller and Herman Slotnick
from the faculty of the University of Alaska, with whom I have discussed much of this work;
and Robert N. De Armond of Juneau, to whom most of those who work in Alaskan history are in
debt.

My wife Mary has played the role of unpaid research assistant, trail partner, and typist during
all of this project. We have shared the high adventure of work in natural resources conserva-
tion and history for nearly forty years now, from the rain forests of the Pacific Northwest to the
Great Lakes cutovers, the John Steinbeck country of California, and the coastal forests and
taiga of Alaska. The partnership has been a rewarding one.

L.R.

vii




Prudhoe Bay

r—'»\\/_/_\/

Kotizebue

Nome
Fairbanks

‘\

1. Chugach National Forest
2. Afognak Forest and Fish Culture Reserve

~5

Anchorage

3. Tongass National Forest

viii

1. The three major national forest areas in Alaska




Introduction

here are three geographical approaches possible

in the study of forest history. It may be studied as a
part of a world movement, as Bernhard Eduard Fernow
did in his classic Brief History of Forestry in Europe.
the United States and Other Countries (1907); or from
the standpoint of a single nation, as Jenks Cameron,
John Ise, and Samuel Trask Dana studied the movement
in the United States; or from the standpoint of a single
region, as Filibert Roth studied the movement in Wis-
consin, as Charles McKinley treated the Pacific North-
west, or as others have studied particular localities.

As a world movement, forest history offers an in-
teresting and inspiring western story. Forest conserva-
tion principles were well established in western
Europe by the beginning of the nineteenth century
when the movement spread to the European colonies
and to the newer nations of the world. In the United
States, forestry practices of the Old World were intro-
duced and adapted to different physiographic condi-
tions and governmental structures. From the United
States, in turn, forestry practices were exported to the
Philippines, China, Canada, and Latin America. There
was a great deal of interdependence in the movement,
for science and scholarship do not recognize national
boundaries. The comparative history of the movement
offers both interesting and challenging opportunities
for research.

Yet, though the movement was worldwide, its his-
tory varied from nation to nation. The structure of the
various governments, differences in soil, topography,
and economic structure, and political, historical, and
cultural traditions all affected the movement. The
earliest forestry movements in the Philippines and in
China, for example, were started by American-trained
foresters and modeled on the forest administration of
the United States; but the forces and accidents of his-
tory created in the Philippines significant modifica-
tions of the American system—and in China a complete
break. The study of forest history, from a national point
of view, is a significant field of scholarship.

A third approach—the one used in this study—is
regional. National policies of resource management
have never operated uniformly in all parts of the
United States. Our government is federal rather than

unitary, its power divided between a central govern-
ment in Washington and governments on the state and
local levels. The transition from dual federalism to
cooperative federalism has historically involved both
federal and state court decisions, as well as state, lo-
cal, and national politics. The effects of land legislation
must be studied from a regional point of view; in fact,
much federal land legislation has been designed for
particular regions. Land resource problems frequently
become important regional political issues, as did the
Alaskan national forests in 1910, 1915, 1921, and in the
1970s.

The regional approach is useful from another
standpoint. Administration in all federal bureaus and
agencies having to do with resource management is de-
centralized, with a great deal of interplay in decision-
making between national and regional offices. The na-
tional forests of Alaska were originally part of District
6, which also encompassed those in Oregon and Wash-
ington. In 1921 they became an autonomous adminis-
trative unit, District 8 (later, Region 8 and then Region
10). Just as the states have served as social labora-
tories for working out experiments in administration,
so the administrative regions have served as technical
and scientific laboratories for working out plans for
resource management. The history of the Forest Serv-
ice is not only that of the central or Washington Office
but also that of the various regions.

In undertaking this regional study, the historian
must bear two things in mind. First, the Alaska Region
of the Forest Service does not exist in isolation. Its rela-
tionship to the national story of resource management
and to other administrative regions must be recog-
nized. A study referring only to the region is likely to be
antiquarian in nature; one related to national develop-
ments will illuminate both regional and national
history.

Second, subregions within the region must be rec-
ognized. In Alaska, the Chugach and the Tongass na-
tional forests represent both different physiographic
provinces and divergent historical and economic devel-
opments. The differences here are paralleled in the
Pacific Northwest by the distinct economic and social
climates of opinion on the east and west sides of the
Cascades.




The Alaska Region of the Forest Service is a signif-
icant area for study from several points of view. It was,
with the exception of the Philippines, the most isolated
area to come under American forest management; but
where George Patrick Ahern was able to build on the
Spanish forest regulations in the Philippines, William
Alexander Langille started from scratch in Alaska. The
early political and administrative history of the fores-
try movement has been marked by conflicts between
conservationists and frontiersmen, and indeed it still
is. These frontiersmen included the ‘‘frontier individ-
ualists,”” who resented regulation as an infringement
on their freedom, and the ‘‘corporate frontiersmen,”
who desired to exploit resources for business reasons.
Both frontier individualism and economic colonialism
manifested themselves in the public land states of the
West, but in no area did they come into such direct con-
frontation with federal foresters as in Alaska. In his
“Rlryme of the Three Sealers,” Rudyard Kipling wrote,
*and there's never a law of God or man runs north of
fifty-three.'” This phrase was often quoted by Alaskans
to apply to the forests as well as to the sealing industry.

The setting and forest resources of Alaska were
also wholly different from those in the other states and
territories. The spruce-hemlock forests of the coast and
the boreal forests of the interior found no counterpart

in other areas. The early history of most other adminis-
trative regions in the West had much to do with range
and grazing issues, but grazing was of minor concern in
Alaska. Logging in the western regions was by animal
and steam power; in Alaska, handlogging was the com-
mon practice. Fisheries and mining claims presented
greater administrative problems in Alaska than in
other areas. In the backcountry of the West, pack
mules and saddle horses were the standard mode of
transportation; in Alaska, boats and dog teams were
essential. At the time that the first forest reserves were
created, in the 1890s, all the public land areas in the
West were either states or organized territories on the
verge of statehood; in Alaska the long struggle for self-
government, and the frustrations that accompanied it,
had a strong effect on the programs of resource
management.

Individual personalities and achievements play a
major role in history. Regional leaders, such as Edward
T. Allen in the Pacific Northwest, Charles Shinn in Cali-
fornia, and Smith Riley in the Rocky Mountain West,
greatly aided the national forestry movement. In Alas-
ka a similar group of men played great and often heroic
parts in the forestry movement. Here the roles of such
Forest Service men as William A. Langille, William
Weigle, Charles Flory, and B. Frank Heintzleman de-
serve major recognition.
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The Forests of Alaska:
From Prehistory to Creation
Of the Afognak Reserve

The Forests of Alaska

laska, purchased from Russia in 1867, was the last

major area acquired by the United States that has
been considered part of the original public domain and
to which the public land laws have applied. The public
lands and their resources—among them fur, minerals,
timber, and agricultural lands—were major influences
in the development of national policy in the United
States. This study is largely concerned with timber re-
sources, although development of forest policy cannot
be separated from other uses of the land. The forests of
Alaska, therefore, should be examined in their regional
setting.

The forests of southeastern Alaska are the north-
ernmost stretch of a humid, West Coast forest that ex-
tends from the southern Oregon coast to Kodiak Island.
It is composed of Sitka spruce and western hemlock in
the southern Panhandle, with Alaska-cedar (yellow-
cedar) and western redcedar in some areas. It is a
dense rain forest, with a thick ground cover of devils-
club, huckleberry, and other woody shrubs, and an
abundance of fallen timber. Because of the heavy rain-
fall, this coastal forest has been little modified by the
action of fire. The forest comprises a relatively narrow
strip along the coast and islands, reaching up to an ele-
vation of about 2,000 feet in the south and 1,000 to
1,500 feet in the north. The country is mountainous,
and, except along inlets and river bottoms, the forest is
largely located within three miles of the coast.

In the Cook Inlet and Kenai Peninsula area there is
a transition from the coastal forest to that of the interi-
or. There, the forest cover is not uniform but rather
forms a mosaic, comprised of heavily timbered river
bottoms, open woodlands, large areas of grasslands,
marsh, old burns, and barren ridges and mountains.
The timber is predominantly white spruce, black
spruce, birch, and black cottonwood. From the Kenai
Peninsula northward most areas of the inland forest

have been damaged by fire. All of these forestlands,
since the purchase of Alaska, have been owned and
managed by the national government of the United
States.

Land economists and historians have identified
five major phases of federal land ownership in the
American past. The initial one was that of acquisition,
when the United States acquired territory by treaty,
purchase, political maneuvering, or as the fruits of war
to obtain satisfactory national boundaries and to ex-
tend these boundaries in the interest of security, na-
tional pride, or economic welfare. Next was the era of
disposal, in which the public lands were used as a sub-
stitute for capital in helping to develop and settle the
country; they were sold, leased, or given away to indi-
viduals, states, and corporations. The third stage was
that of reservation, in which individuals became con-
cerned over the consequences of unrestricted land
disposal for a variety of reasons, ranging from the
aesthetic to the scientific, and during which lands were
reserved in federal hands to protect areas of unique
scenic beauty, protect endangered species of wildlife,
protect watersheds, or preserve forestlands.

The fourth period was one of extensive manage-
ment, in which the government gave to the reserved
areas management that was compatible with the state
of scientific and technical knowledge of the time. We
are now moving into the final era of intensive manage-
ment; the body of technical and scientific knowledge is
now sufficient to bring resource management to a stage
of maximum productivity.

Alaska is unusual in that the time interval of the
first four stages was accelerated. The period of acqui-
sition was followed almost instantaneously by those of
disposal, reservation, and extensive management.
After a long period of extensive management, the tran-
sition to intensive management has occurred with
dramatic suddenness.!




The Forests and the Indians

The first use of the Alaskan forests was by its
original inhabitants. Here we find two widely different
uses of, and influences on, the Alaskan forests.

The Indians of the southeastern Alaskan coast and
islands—the Haida, Tlingit, and Tsimshians—were a
people of plenty who lived on the bounty of the sea.
Theirs was a wooden civilization. They developed an
advanced, stratified, and highly complex culture, using
the spruce, cedar, and hemlock forests for both utili-
tarian and artistic purposes. The great Alaskan forest
favored the development of woodworking crafts, and
the Indians developed methods of using steam and fire
to supplement their advanced wood-splitting and carv-
ing skills. Houses were large, rectangular, gable-roofed
dwellings built of logs and split boards. Water travel, a
necessity in the coastal region, was carried on in
canoes shaped by fire and adze. They ranged from ten-
or twelve-foot crafts for river travel to war canoes fifty
or sixty feet long. They were usually propelled by pad-
dle. but some had stepped masts and sails of cedar
bark. Bows and arrows, fish spears, pikes, and lances
were made of wood. Household furnishings were usual-
ly carved of wood or woven from cedar bark. Spruce
roots were used in basketry, and rain clothes and hats
were made from cedar bark.

Indian artistic and ceremonial life included an
elaborate and sophisticated use of wood. The most
striking examples of this use were in the elaborately
carved cedar totem or mortuary poles, set up as me-
mentos or to display the family crest. Intricately
carved rattles, boxes, masks, and other objects were
fashioned of wood and used in complex ceremonial
rituals.

The coastal Indians had very little influence on the
original forests. Villages were isolated, and the popula-
tion density, though relatively dense by aboriginal stan-
dards, was not great. Consequently, the toll on timber
was not heavy until the coming of the white man. The
climate was such that there was very little danger of
fire in this region.?

In the Alaskan interior the use of timber and the
influence of the Indians on the forest was wholly dif-
ferent. Indians of interior Alaska were of the hunting
and fishing, nomadic type, with neolithic civilization.
Their influence on their natural habitat, however, was
great. Inhabiting a boreal forest with an extremely
high fire hazard in summer, they were the cause of in-
numerable fires.

In his excellent studies of fire in the boreal forest,
Harold Lutz found accounts of many fires started by
campfires that had been left smoldering. Smudge fires,
used to combat gnats and mosquitos, probably caused
more fires than any other single type. Fires made to
heat pitch, used in gumming birchbark canoes, may
have caused occasional forest fires. Alaskan Natives,
like other primitive peoples, used fire in hunting, both
to clear underbrush in moose drives and to kill trees for
use in constructing caribou fences.’

Authorities have varied in their opinions as to the
extent and culpability of the Indians as a cause of fire.
William A. Langille, for example, felt that in their prim-
itive state they had been extremely careful of fire. It
seems certain that prior to the white man, however,
aboriginal man was responsible for frequent and de-
structive fires in the boreal forest, and that these fires
had profound ecological effects.

The Russian Era

During the period of Russian occupation, the for-
ests of Alaska received use characteristic of a frontier
economic base of extractive industry. The forests were
utilized largely as building material for the purposes of
settlers. Houses, official buildings, and churches were
made of wood, ranging from the massive stockades and
government buildings at Sitka to individual wooden
dwellings made of logs and held together with wooden
pegs. Some shipbuilding was carried on at Sitka, Afog-
nak Island, and Woody Island. Wooden dams and fish
traps were constructed, and land on Kodiak Island and
the Kenai Peninsula was cleared for agriculture. The
Russians established a few sawmills, three of them near
Sitka. They were small-capacity, waterpowered mills for
the most part, though one was run by steam. But much of
the lumber was laboriously whipsawed by hand.

The effect of Russian occupation on the forest was
inconsiderable. Contemporary photographs and paint-
ings show the Russian settlements, like most frontier
towns, as clearings in the forest. Around Sitka the sup-
ply of yellow-cedar was depleted, and Langille found
evidence of extensive Russian cutting in his explora-
tions of the Kenai Peninsula. Some fire damage in the
Kenai and in the Kuskokwim regions was attributable
to the Russians.®

Russian scientists collected and classified plants
in Alaska, but the only major attempt at forestry was
carried on in 1805. In that year a plantation of Sitka
spruce was made on the Aleutian Islands at Unalaska,
far beyond the conifer belt. Some of the trees have sur-
vived to the present day.’



Forest Conservation
in the United States, 1870-1891

In American public land policy, the period after
the Civil War was marked by two contradictory tenden-
cies. The trend toward exploitation of grazing and
forestland increased. There were many causes, in-
cluding developments in technology and engineering
that enabled a speed-up in production, both in the
woods and in the mills; the movement of the lumber in-
dustry from the Lake States to the West Coast; a liberal
land policy and reluctance on the part of the govern-
ment to punish timber trespass; the shift in business

organization from individual owners or partnerships to

corporations; a swelling demand for wood and wood
products; and a close alliance between business and
politics.®

During the same period, however, there developed
countervailing forces, the roots of which were many
and diverse. One was a growing appreciation of nature
for aesthetic or recreational purposes and, with it, a
desire to retain in public ownership areas of unique
scenic, historic, or recreational value. A second and
stronger force was the growth and professionalization
of science and the desire to bring the forces of science
and technology to the management of natural re-
sources. The period after the Civil War was marked by
the development of scientific agencies and bureaus of
the national government, such as the Bureau of Fish-
eries, the Geological Survey, and the Division of Fores-
try, which supplemented the scientific work carried on
earlier by the Topographical Engineers and the Smith-
sonian Institution. A third force was the desire by re-
formers, such as Carl Schurz, Theodore Roosevelt, and
Senator George Edmunds of Vermont, to bring morality
into public life and to check an often corrupt alliance
between business and politics.®

In regard to the forested lands, the movement took
many forms. Strong administrative officials like Carl
Schurz and Edward Bowers recovered land illegally
stolen from the public domain and made efforts to
establish better land laws and policies. On the state
level, men like Edgar Ensign of Colorado and John
Waldo of Oregon petitioned Congress to establish re-
serves in the mountainous areas to protect city water-
sheds, perpetuate the forests, and provide recreational
areas. The first national park, Yellowstone, was estab-
lished in 1872, and groups like the Sierra Club and the
Oregon Alpine Club agitated for more parks. In New
York and in California, state park movements grew.

The early conservation movement was the work of
many men, but the leader, both on the federal and the
guild level, was Bernhard E. Fernow. A Prussian,
educated as a professional forester, he fell in love with
an American girl, followed her to the United States,

and married her. Fernow’s work in forestry began
when ironmasters in Pennsylvania hired him to develop
cutting practices that would perpetuate the supply of
hardwoods needed in processing iron. In 1886 he be-
came head of the Division of Forestry in the U.S. De-
partment of Agriculture, a post he held until 1898. His
term was marked by formidable accomplishments. He
carried on a program of public education to inform the
people of the need for forestry legislation, thus paving
the way for constructive public laws. He aided Edmond
Meany and George P. Ahern in establishing forestry ed-
ucation in Washington and Montana. Fernow carried
on research in timber physics and in silviculture. He
advised state legislators in the framing of state laws
for forest protection and utilization, and he recruited
into the forestry movement such men as George P.
Ahern and Filibert Roth.*

Fernow’s most lasting achievement was the pas-
sage in 1891 of the Forest Reserve Act, which permit-
ted the president to create forest reserves from the
public domain. There had been demand for such legis-
lation for a long time from informed individuals, states
and organizations. Bills were introduced in Congress
from 1876 on, but they generally died in committee.
Finally, in an omnibus bill dealing with revision of land
laws, Fernow, with the aid of Land Commissioner Ed-
ward Bowers, was able to add Section 24, subsequently
known as the Forest Reserve Act of 1891."

Within two years after passage, a large number of
reserves were created. Most were established by Pres-
ident Benjamin Harrison at the request of local in-
terests and for a variety of reasons. The Ashland and
the Bull Run forest reserves in Oregon, for example,
were created at the requests of Ashland and Portland
to protect their city water supplies. The Cascade For-
est Reserve realized the dream of John B. Waldo to pre-
serve the crest of the range in public ownership. The
Pacific Forest Reserve, through demand of the cities of
Tacoma and Seattle, was created so that Mount Rainier
might be preserved unsullied in its natural setting. The
reserves in California were established to protect city
watersheds and areas of scenic beauty. These early
forest reserves, created from 1891 to 1894, represent-
ed local interests and aspirations.'? Such would not be
the case in Alaska.
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Forests and Industry in Alaska

Alaska remained isolated from the forestry agita-
tion characteristic of the other states and territories.
The early records of the American Forestry Associa-
tion show no Alaskan members. The civil government
was of the most rudimentary nature, and the popula-
tion was to a large degree transient, rather than made
up of men who linked their fortunes with the territory.

Even factual information on Alaska's forest re-
sources was lacking. Fernow's records of forestry in-
vestigation in the Division of Forestry show no Alaskan
projects. For the most part, government reports on
Alaska dealt very little with its timber resources. The
most valuable of these early reports, with one excep-
tion, is that of William H. Dall, who dgalt in some detail
with the forests both of the interior and of the coast.™

The most important account of the Alaskan forests
during the early years of American occupation is that
of Ivan Petroff. Petroff had been stationed as a soldier
in Alaska and in the mid 1870s collaborated with
Hubert Howe Bancroft in historical research. Petroff
wrote an account of Alaskan resources in a special re-
port for the Tenth Census (1880), in collaboration with
H. W. Elliot; and his account of timber resources is also
printed in Bancroft's History of Alaska. Petroff wrote
that the timber values of Alaska had been both exag-
gerated and disputed. He reported timber in commer-
cial quantities in the Alexander Archipelago, Prince
William Sound, and Cook Inlet, with an abrupt transi-
tion to grassland in Kodiak Island and the Kenai Penin-
sula. Cutting of yellow-cedar near Sitka during the Rus-
sian occupation, he reported, had ‘‘nearly exterminat-
ed” the species. He found Sitka spruce widely used for
buildings, fuel, and sled runners, and by the Tlingit In-
dians to make canoes and planks. Hemlock was favored
for fuel. He reported that there were a few sawmills in
southeastern Alaska, largely producing for local use,
but that dressed lumber was usually imported from
Puget Sound or British Columbia. In western Alaska, a
sawmill on Woody Island produced sawdust for pack-
ing use. Some shipbuilding was carried on, notably on
Afognak Island."

Some speculative interest in the Alaskan timber-
lands developed during the 1870s. In 1874 and 1876,
bills were introduced in Congress asking for timber-
land to be sold to California corporations for shipbuild-
ing purposes. The bill of 1874 asked for cutting privi-
leges with the right of purchase after clearing the land.

That of 1876 was to give the Alaska Shipbuilding and
Timber Company the right to occupy the island of Kuiu,
purchase timberland at $1.25 per acre, and allow cut-
ting privileges on 100,000 acres of land in adjacent
areas. William G. Morris, a special agent of the
Treasury Department for Alaska, regarded the project
as a land grab. Both bills died in committee.'

Between 1884 and 1891 frontier extractive indus-
tries utilized Alaskan timber more intensively. Mining
activity increased rapidly, especially with development
of the Treadwell mine on Douglas Island. Fishing also
increased, and there was a greater demand for timber
for piling, fish houses, and cannery buildings. In 1889
the governor of Alaska reported eleven sawmills in
operation. Steam mills were located at Sitka, Metlakat-
la, Klawak, Howkan, Fort Wrangell, and Juneau; water-
power mills at Sitka, Juneau, Klawak, Shakan, and
Silver Bay. The major difficulty, he reported, was that
there were no suitable laws by which the mill owner
could acquire timberland. Agents of the General Land
Office recognized the situation, and in a charitable
spirit overlooked the trespass. Two vyears later,
however, the governor reported that the Land Office
had become less forgiving. Thirteen mills were held in
trespass, and the Land Office began proceedings
against them. The greatest offenders were the Wilson-
Sylvester interests in Wrangell, who had allegedly cut
in trespass 1 million board feet plus 3,000 logs: the Wil-
liam Duncan interests at Metlakatla, 3 million board
feet; Alaska Mill and Mining Company in Douglas, more
than 5 million feet; and Eastern Alaska Mining & Mill-
ing Company in Douglas, 300,000 feet.

The logging was primarily for hemlock and spruce;
the hemlock was used for lumber and the spruce for
salmon cases, barrels, and buildings. There was some
utilization of western redcedar and yellow-cedar. Log-
ging practices were of the most primitive nature, wrote
the governor: *‘The loggers are not equipped with
teams. They go along the margins and where they can
fell a tree on the incline, they do so. It is trimmed well
and started with logging jacks, and if everything pro-
gresses well it will shoot into the water.""'® The logs, in
long lengths, were rafted to the mills. These practices
and uses were typical for the period prior to forest
reservations.




Afognak Forest Reserve

The initial forest reservation in Alaska came in
through the **back door.” It related to the conservation
of salmon rather than to timber. The creation of the
Afognak Forest and Fish Culture Reserve is a signifi-
cant story in its own right, and it also demonstrates
that from the beginning the conservation of Alaska’s
many natural resources was interrelated.

The U.S. Commission for Fish and Fisheries,
established in 1871, was one of the scientific agencies
that grew up in the 1870s. Spencer F. Baird, while
director of the National Museum and assistant secre-
tary of the Smithsonian Institution, observed during his
summer vacations on the New England coast a deple-
tion in the supply of food fish. Baird felt that there was
need for research on American fisheries and on the
whole ecology of oceanic life. In 1871 Congress estab-
lished the Fish Commission by joint resolution. Baird,
appointed to head the commission, recruited many ded-
icated men. The commission sonn published a scholarly
monograph on the fisheries of the Great Lakes; later
studies were made of shad and other fish typical of the
Atlantic, and experiments were made in establishing
hatcheries for whitefish. In 1881 the commission ob-
tained a vessel, the Albatross, a naval craft equipped
for deep-sea bottom exploration. Baird cooperated
with state and private groups in establishing fish
hatcheries and had strong support not only from com-
mercial organizations but also from the American Fish
Cultural Association. His agency had powerful friends
in Congress; by 1887 the budget for fish hatcheries
alone totaled $161,000. Basically, the interests of the
Fish Commission were research; they included opera-
tion of hatcheries, study of fishing methods, and recom-
mendations on how to obtain a sustained yield of fish.”

The interests of the commission extended to
salmon and thus to Alaska. Two hatcheries were estab-
lished on the West Coast, one at McCloud in California
and the other on the Clackamas River in Oregon. More-
over, the commission gave advice to state agencies and
private individuals on the artificial propagation of
salmon. During the 1880s the commission made a series
of studies of salmon runs on the Sacramento, Columbia,
Rogue, and Fraser rivers. By 1889 its interest extended
to Alaska.®

Salmon harvesting in Alaska dates back to the
Russian occupation and was continued on a small scale
during the first decade under the American flag, most
of the product being preserved by salting. The first
salmon canneries were built in 1878 when two plants
produced 8,159 cases. By 1883 this had increased to
48,337 cases, produced in six canneries. Two years

later six canneries packed 83,415 cases. Both the an-
nual pack and the number of canneries continued to in-
crease, although with some ups and downs. By 1889
there were thirty-seven canneries with a pack of
719,196 cases, and the pack topped the million-case
mark for the first time in 1899, although only thirty-two
canneries operated in that year.

Government studies of the Alaskan salmon fish-
eries began during the 1880s, the first being by Ivan
Petroff for the 1880 census. The Albatross made
cruises to Alaskan waters, and the reports of the Fish
Commission for 1884 and 1887 included accounts of
Alaskan fisheries. The immense pack of 1889, however,
both attracted the attention of canners and drove down
the price of salmon. Congress, prompted by the Fish
Commission, became aware of the danger that Alaskan
streams might become overfished and the salmon runs
destroyed by reckless and improvident fishing. Conse-
quently, on March 2, 1889, Congress passed a bill for
the protection of salmon, forbidding the erection of
“dams, barricades or other obstructions in any of the
rivers of Alaska, with the purpose of impeding the as-
cent of salmon or other anadromous species to their
spawning grounds.’’ In addition, Congress ‘‘authorized
the Commissioner of Fish and Fisheries to investigate
the habits, abundance, and distribution of salmon in
Alaska, and the present conditions and methods of fish-
eries, in order to recommend to Congress additional
legislation.’"*®

Baird appointed Tarleton H. Bean, the commis-
sion’s ichthyologist, as head of the investigating group.
Bean had previously visited Alaska. Franklin Booth, a
cartographer, and Livingston Stone, who had been in
charge of the California and Oregon hatcheries of the
Fish Commission, accompanied him. They were in-
structed to make an intensive examination of the
Kodiak and Afognak Island areas and to study the
natural history of the salmon, the conditions, methods,
and statistics of salmon fisheries, and the artificial
propagation of salmon on the Alaskan rivers. The party
carried on investigations during most of August 1889.
They found that gill nets, traps, and seines were used;
but the bulk of the catch was by haul seines, which
swept the estuaries of the small rivers or were laid
from and landed on beaches adjacent to the mouth of a
river. This process covered all approaches to fresh
water and effectively prevented fish from moving up-
stream. Gill nets were often stretched from bank to
bank, as well.

Livingston Stone's particular interest was in the
establishment of fish hatcheries, and he and Booth
visited Afognak Island. They found two canneries at




the mouth of the river, the source of which was Afog-
nak Lake. Ascending the river, they noted a dense
growth of spruce and an abundance of salmon berries,
blueberries, and huckleberries. The stream, except
from a small waterfall and a ruined fish trap that
dated from the Russian occupation, was without ob-
struction. Aside from the canneries, there was a small
village of about forty dwellings, inhabited seasonally
by Natives for harvesting salmon and berries.®

The Fish Commission made a preliminary report in
1889 and another in 1892. The latter noted that since
the investigation in 1889 there had been violations of
the law forbidding erection of obstructions to spawning
salmon in the Alaskan stream. The Albatross had in-
vestigated such a fish trap on the Wood River, and of
this T. H. Bean wrote:

The Alaskan salmon firms are in the territory

to get fish. They prefer to get them without in-
jury to the future of the business if possible, but
get them they must or be overcome by financial
disaster. In their efforts to win success they
have often stretched nets across the mouths of
small streams and prevented the salmon from
going up until a sufficient number has collected
to make a good seine haul possible. They have
erected traps in rivers in such a way as to stop
every salmon from ascending and, in some
cases, actually built impassible barriers to pre-
vent the ascent of fish entirely until the de-
mands of the canneries are satisfied. Even
when fishing regulations were adopted by
mutual agreement among the firms interested,
individual infractions of the rule were only too
frequent.?!

As fish conservation measures, the Fish Commis-
sion recommended a closed season each week, from
Saturday evening to Monday morning, and a closed
season during September and October of each year;
prohibition of the capture of salmon by use of nets or
other apparatus within 100 yards of the mouth of any
river; the prohibition of more than one seine in the
same seine berth; and regulation of the taking of salm-
on, and limitation of the catch by the Commission of
Fish and Fisheries. Finally, the Commission recom-
mended ‘‘the establishment of national salmon parks or
salmon reservations, as proposed by Dr. Livingston
Stone,”” as a means of keeping up reproduction.?

Stone's proposal for a national salmon park, as set
forth in a paper read before the American Fisheries
Society, was a significant and influential piece of con-
servation literature. It was reprinted in Forest and
Stream, which under George Bird Grinnell's editorship
had emerged as a major national publication in regard
to conservation and sport. Stone drew an analogy be-
tween the fate of the salmon and that of the buffalo; he

felt that parks for salmon would preserve the species.
just as Yellowstone Park was playing a role in preserv-
ing the buffalo. He pointed out that the yield of Atlantic
salmon was scanty and that there had been a decline in
salmon production on the Pacific Coast. He wrote in an
eloquent passage:

I will suy from my personal knowledge that
not only is every contrivance employed that hu-
man ingenuity can devise to destroy the salmon
of our west-coast rivers, but more surely de-
structive, more fatal than all is the slow but in-
exorable march of those destroying agencies of
human progress. before which the salmon must
surely disappear, as did the buffalo of the plains
and the Indian of California. The helpless salm-
on’s life is gripped between these two forces,
the murderous greed of the fishermen and the
white man’s advancing civilization, and what
hope is there for the salmon in the end? Protec-
tive laws and artificial breeding may be able to
hold the first in check, but nothing can stop the
last.

He dealt not only with overfishing but with the ad-
vance of civilization and particularly water pollution,
which made the streams uninhabitable for salmon and
other fish. The growth of the country, and particularly
the growth of industry, had limited the salmon on the
Atlantic coast. In California the debris from mining ac-
tivities had driven the salmon out of all tributaries of
the Sacramento except the McCloud and the Pit rivers.
Later, railroad buildings and the establishment of a
sawmill destroyed the salmon runs on the McCloud.
Similarly, sawmilling toward the headwaters of the
Clackamas destroyed the value of the government
hatchery on the Oregon river.

In order to save the Alaskan salmon, Stone felt
that artificial propagation would do part but not all of
the work. Suitable places, he wrote, *'can not be relied
on to a certainty when they are found, for they are
always in danger from logging, mining, railroad build-
ing, lumbering, manufacturing, and other causes.”

Stone therefore recommended that a salmon reser-
vation be established on Afognak Island. The streams
there, particularly the Litnik, which drained Afognak
Lake, were well adapted for establishment of a hatch-
ery. The island streams included all varieties of salmon
in the Pacific. The climate was mild. There were no
mines, mills, or railroads on the island. There were no
private holdings of property. There was sufficient
timber to utilize for buildings, flumes, and construction
of boats, and Natives from a village near the proposed
site of the hatchery could serve as a work force.?

Stone's eloquent plea was heeded. The General
Revision Act of March 3, 1891, in which the highly im-
portant Section 24 permitted the president to set aside




forest reserves, included several other sections that re-
lated to Alaska. Section 11 permitted Alaskan town-
sites 10 be platted; Section 12 permitted application of
the Trade and Manufacturing Act to Alaska, with the
individual permitted to take up 160 acres of land for
establishing mills or canneries at $2.50 per acre; and
Section 14 permitted the U.S. Commission of Fish and
Fisheries to establish fish culture stations on Kodiak
and Afognak islands.*

The act was soon utilized. At the request of the

Commission of Fish and Fisheries, Benjamin Harrison
created by executive proclamation on December 24,
1892, the Afognak Forest and Fish Culture Reserve.
President Harrison stressed the values of the island,
both for timber and vegetation and as a site for fish
hatcheries.” Thus Alaska's initial forest reserve came
about through concern for salmon conservation. Afog-
nak’'s major significance is that it was the first forest
reserve to be created in Alaska and the only one to be
created primarily for fisheries purposes.

Afognak

Kodiak Island

Pacific Ocean

III. Afognak Island Forest and Fish Culture Reserve
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The Alexander Archipelago
And Tongass National Forests
Through 1910

Take the Sierra Reserve and place it directly on the coast, sinking it down until the highest
peaks are from three to four thousand feet above sea level. Let the Pacific break through the
main divide in three or four big straits making as many islands out of the principal range. To
seaward, at distances of from ten to fifty miles, sprinkle in innumerable islands of all sizes and
drop a few also to the eastward. In place of rivers, creeks and canyons let the reserve be cut in-
to on all sides by countless deep water ways with soundings of from ten to one hundred
fathoms, the shores rising abruptly. Throw in many small streams with precipitous falls and
cascades. Then strip off the whole surface down to bedrock and boulders. In spots put on a thin
layer of muddy soil and cover the whole with moss. Over all except the highest elevations plant
a dense forest of spruce, hemlock and cedar, leaving some of the flat places as swamp or
“muskeag’ dotted with a scrubby growth of pine. Throughout this forest, cover the ground with
an exceedingly dense and often almost impenetrable undergrowth of all kinds of brush (chiefly
devilsclub) and let the ground be as rough as possible. Spread patches of brush, grass and
meadow on the higher tops and let the bare rock stick out occasionally. On this area of over
5,000,000 acres imagine a population of only 1,500 Indians and about 500 whites, industries
represented by a dozen small copper mines. as many salmon canneries and half a dozen little
sawmills. Then consider that, practically speaking, there are no roads or trails and that travel
by land is out of the question. Remember that communication is by water only and very uncer-
tain at the best. Picture three or four work horses, a couple of cows and one mule in the whole
region. To the climate of the Sierras add perpetual rain in the summer and rain and snow in the
winter and the characteristics of the southeastern Alaskan forest may be partly understood. To
be thoroughly understood. they must be felt.

—F.E. Olmsted Inspec:ion Report. 1906

The National Conservation Movement,
1891-1909

he years from 1891 to 1897 were an interim period

for the forestry movement in United States. Pres-
idents Benjamin Harrison and Grover Cleveland set
aside as forest reserves 17.5 million acres of land,
largely at the request of local interests. These areas
were reserved from use, however, rather than for use;
their creation of the reservations not only withdrew
them from sale and entry but from any type of use. A
number of bills were introduced in Congress between
1891 and 1896 for administration of the reserves, but
all failed to pass for one reason or another. Meanwhile,
the presence of large reserved areas, and the failure of
Congress to provide legislation for their production or
management, stirred up vigorous protest among those
who normally used them. These included four groups:

stockmen, primarily sheep grazers, who used the moun-
tain meadows of the Cascades and the Sierra Nevada
for summer range; settlers, who desired to establish
farms in mountain valleys and wanted a supply of fire-
wood; lumbermen, who claimed that too much of the
timbered area was in government hands; and politi-
cians, who sought a popular issue.!

In order to reach a solution to the problem, Secre-
tary of the Interior Hoke Smith was persuaded by Gif-
ford Pinchot and others to request that the National
Academy of Sciences make an investigation in the field
and recommend specific legislation.? A committee of
eminent scientists was appointed, $25,000 was ap-
propriated to defray their expenses, and the committee
made an extensive western trip in the summer of 1896.3
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Pinchot and some other members of the committee fa-
vored both submission of a plan for management of the
reserves and recommendations that new reserves be
created; but a majority of the commission recommend-
ed creation of the new reserves immediately, prior to
perfecting a scheme of administration. Cleveland heed-
ed the latter's recommendations and created thirteen
new reserves with an area of 21 million acres—with-
out a management plan.

Creation of the new reserves stirred up a storm of
protest and precipitated congressional action. Con-
gress passed the Forest Reserve Act of June 4, 1897,
which stated the purposes of forest reserves and pro-
vided for their administration. (Often known as the
Organic Act, it was actually an amendment to the Sun-
dry Civil Appropriations Act.) Its major feature autho-
rized the Secretary of the Interior to protect the forest
reserves against fire and depredations and to ‘‘make
such rules and regulations and establish such service
as will insure the objects of such reservations, namely
to regulate their occupancy and preserve the forests
thereon from destruction.'™

Within a month the Department of the Interior is-
sued rules and regulations for administration of the
forest reserves. A forest supervisor was placed in
charge of each reserve, and fieldwork was handled by
forest rangers. The reserves were divided into eleven
districts, each under a superintendent who reported to
the General Land Office in Washington. There were
one or two roving inspectors. The system was not a suc-
cess, since the superintendents and rangers were
political appointees, not foresters, and the General
Land Office was ridden with corruption. Therefore, in
1901, a forestry agency, Division “‘R,” was set up in the
department under a trained forester, Filibert Roth.*

Meanwhile, Bernhard Fernow resigned in 1898 as
head of the Division of Forestry, in the Department of
Agriculture, and was succeeded by Gifford Pinchot.
Pinchot had been educated in forestry abroad, in
France and Germany, and had become a consulting for-
ester on the Vanderbilt estates in North Carolina and
New York. He was independently wealthy and had ac-
cess to men of influence and power. His own idealism
captivated the imaginations of young men seeking
careers of public service, and he became so adept at
learning the wilderness skills that many westerners ac-
cepted him as one of their own. Above all, he was a per-
sonal friend of Theodore Roosevelt, who would become
vice-president in 1900 and president the following
year.®

Roosevelt's interest in resources and conservation
stemmed originally from his hobby as a naturalist and
his delight in hunting. In 1887 he organized the Boone
and Crockett Club, which played an important role in
wildlife conservation. Influenced by Pinchot, Frederick
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H. Newell, and W ] McGee, this interest was extended
into other areas—notably into forestry and reclama-
tion. In addition, his own experience in life played a
part. He had been a rancher in the Badlands of North
Dakota during the 1880s and had developed a firsthand
acquaintance with the problems of the West. His own
political career as a reformer and his belief that the
president should be a steward of the people led him to
bring leadership to the conservation movement.
Through executive action, seeking appropriate legisla-
tion, and personal leadership, he was able both to lead
and direct the first conservation movement.

Once in office, Roosevelt created new national for-
ests and national parks, implemented the Antiquities
Act of 1906 to preserve areas of significant historic
value, established wildlife refuges, progressed toward
a satisfactory water policy, modernized old depart-
ments and agencies, and created new commissions. He
did so in the face of opposition from both political par-
ties, but he was aided by some support in Congress, by
capable administrators, and by general support from
the people.’

The story of the Pinchot-Roosevelt forestry and
conservation movement is a familiar one and need not
be repeated here. Nevertheless, some aspects of it
related to the development of resource management in
Alaska and hence require mention. These include,
first, Pinchot's administrative philosophy and tech-
niques; second, his relationships with other agencies;
and third, the general climate of opinion in which the
conservation movement worked.

The years from Roosevelt’s accession to the presi-
dency in 1901 until 1905 were marked by the evolution
of the Division of Forestry to the Bureau of Forestry to
the Forest Service. During this period jurisdiction over
the forest reserves was divided. The commissioner of
the General Land Office had general control over the
public domain, but Division ‘‘R,” under Filibert Roth,
exercised actual control over the forest reserves. In
the Department of Agriculture, the Division of Forestry
(from 1901 to 1905, the Bureau of Forestry) provided
technical advice on the forests. There developed a sym-
biotic relationship between the Division of Forestry
and Division *‘R.’’ Some men, including Edward T. Allen
and Harold D. Langille, held dual appointments in both
bureaus. The General Land Office, on the other hand,
had the duty of disposing of the public domain. The po-
sition of commissioner of this office was a political one,
usually given to a man from a public land state. The
registers and receivers of the local land offices were
also political appointees, and the field men were nqt all
of high caliber. There was often friction between the
resource-managing agencies and the Land Office. This
friction was a constant theme in the resource history of
western states, and nowhere was the friction greater
than in Alaska.®
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Creation of the Alexander Archipelago
Forest Reserve

In Alaska, the period from 1891 to 1902 was
marked by slow growth in the lumber industry, due
primarily to increased mining activity. Handlogging
was the rule; as late as 1902 there were only three
steam donkeys in all of southeastern Alaska. On the
Afognak Forest and Fish Culture Reserve, the Fish Com-
mission put up a hatchery in 1907 and a few buildings
made of planks whipsawed from knotty spruce trees.'

Knowledge of and interest in Alaska also in-
creased during this period. As early as the 1880s,
scenic tours of the Inland Passage were promoted, and
ships began to carry tourists as well as freight and
prospectors. Propagandists like Sheldon Jackson, Hall
Young, and John Muir wrote of Alaska's scenic beau-
ties, and a host of lesser talents wrote of the area for
newspapers and magazines. A standard Alaskan tour
developed. Ships put out of West Coast ports—Port-
land, Tacoma, Seattle, or Port Townsend—stopped at
Victoria and Nanaimo, British Columbia, and then in-
cluded in their Alaskan itinerary Wrangell, Juneau,
and Sitka, as well as Indian villages and some of the
coastal glaciers. The number of tourists increased: in
1884 there were 1,605 sightseers; in 1886, 2,753; and in
1890, 5,007." In addition, the gold rush of 1898 brought
up thousands of miners to Skagway, Wrangell, Valdez,
and Nome. A large number of guidebooks—most of
them inaccurate or of ephemeral value—were pub-
lished for the benefit of those bound for the Klondike.
Finally, business magnates traveled in their private
steam yachts to view the country and investigate busi-
ness investments.'®

The most elaborate and significant of these expe-
ditions was that of E. H. Harriman, the railroad mag-
nate, in 1899. Harriman chartered an Alaskan steamer,
the George W. Elder, and made what a scholar has
called ‘‘the most luxurious reconnaissance in the his-
tory of nineteenth-century Alaskan scientific investiga-
tion.”” The expedition had cooperation from the Smith-
sonian Institution and the National Academy of Sci-
ences. The group traveled to Metlakatla, Wrangell, Ju-
neau, Sitka, Prince William Sound, the Aleutian Is-
lands, and up to the Bering Strait, stopping periodically
to explore, collect, and investigate—and on one occa-
sion to enable Harriman to shoot a bear. The results of
the expedition were published in a series of elaborate
volumes that contain a mine of information on Alaska."”

Bernhard E. Fernow, who had just resigned as
head of the Division of Forestry, accompanied the ex-
pedition and wrote a report on the Alaskan forests. He
knew of the interior only by hearsay and reported the
forests as poor by the usual standards. They were,
however, an important source of mining timbers and of

fuel for steamboats, and he stressed the need to protect
these forests from fire. The coastal forests, though
dense and merchantable, could not rival the forests of
the Puget Sound area because of their distance from
markets, difficulty in logging them, and the preference
for Douglas-fir lumber. He thought their best economic
use would be as a source of pulpwood. During the tour
he examined and photographed the spruce plantation
established by the Russians in 1805; he also examined
plant succession in the Glacier Bay area."

Henry Gannett, head of the Geological Survey, also
made the trip and wrote on the forests. He disagreed
with Fernow as to the value of the interior forests: *‘In
this enormous region there must be a very large supply
of coniferous trees, sufficient to supply our country for
half a generation in case our other supplies become ex-
hausted.”” On the scenery he wrote: *‘Its grandeur is
more valuable than the fish or the timber, for it will
never be exhausted. This value, measured by direct
return in money received from tourists, will be
enormous; measured by health and pleasure it will be
incalculable.’’"

This turn-of-the-century period was marked by in-
creasing activity on the part cf the federal government
to gain knowledge of the geography and resources of
Alaska. The Army, the Coast Survey, and the Navy car-
ried on active programs of exploration and reconnais-
sance during this period to aid reckless, improvident,
or distressed miners, locate routes to the interior, and
chart the coast and harbors. Most of this work came as
a result of the gold rush of the 1890s. To this should be
added the work of the Geological Survey, which carried
on dozens of reconnaissances in Alaska. A tremendous
mass of material was collected dealing with the re-
sources, including the timber resources, of Alaska.?

In forestry, tangible results of this interest began
shortly after Roosevelt succeeded to the presidency in
1901. Roosevelt desired information as to the possibili-
ty of creating forest reserves in Alaska, and he asked a
well-known authority on Alaska, Lieutenant George
Thornton Emmons, to write him such a report. Emmons,
although at the beginning of his long career as a collec-
tor, was already well known as an authority on Indian
culture and art. In 1886, as lieutenant on a Navy gun-
boat, he had furnished transportation for the Prince-
ton-New York Times expedition to climb Mount St.
Elias, and had collected Tlingit artifacts for the Ameri-
can Museum of Natural History and the United States
National Museum. He later collected for the Field Mu-
seum of Natural History in Chigaco, for the Columbian
Exposition of 1894, and collaborated with Franz Boas
on some anthropological studies. It is reasonable to
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suppose that Roosevelt, with his wide-ranging in-
terests, became personally acquainted with Emmons
and asked him to carry out this assignment, just as
three years later he asked Emmons to carry out anoth-
er Alaskan investigation.?

Emmons’s report, sixteen handwritten pages in
length and titled “The Wood Lands of Alaska,” was
sent to Roosevelt in February 1902. The report is a
careful and scholarly document. Emmons thought that
the forests of the interior Alaska were primarily of
value for local use.

While the timber is generally small and of an
inferior quality, yet from an economic stand-
point, it is of incalculable value to the placer
miner, who in the process of melting and sluic-
ing the auriferous gravel deposits—which form
the natural wealth of the region—requires
wood of almost any character. And it is also
very evident that at such inaccessible points
fuel and lumber for the necessities of life must
be at hand, while the light draft steamboats
that ply the thousand miles of shallow river
channels must depend on the local wood de-
pots, at short intervals along the shores.

Emmons evaluated the forests of southeastern
Alaska, including yellow-cedar (the most prized wood]},
Sitka spruce, and western hemlock. He remarked that
the coastal area had much the same type of forest as
did the islands of the Alexander Archipelago but that
the timber was not of as good quality, due to the colder
climate caused by the immense glaciers. There had
been, he wrote, no inroads.on the timber. Government
regulations forbade the export of timber, so it was cut
only for local use.

In making his recommendations, he wrote:

In setting aside of Government timber reser-
vations, I understand that it is the department’s
desire to interfere as little as possible with the
settlement and development of the country, and
where conditions are equally favorable to se-
lect islands—the limits of which are clearly de-
fined by nature—which are the more sparsely
inhabited, and to this end I would suggest the
following list of localities fulfilling these condi-
tions:

(1) The Prince of Wales Island and associate

islands to seaward

(2) Zarembo Island

(3) Kuiu Island

(4) Kupreanof Island

(5) Chichagof Island and associate island to

seaward.
He wrote of the conditions on each of the islands.
Prince of Wales Island, the largest, contained an abun-
dance of timbered land, including substantial quanti-
ties of redcedar and yellow-cedar as well as spruce
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and hemlock. There were only about 800 Natives and
no white settlement of any size. There were small saw-
mills at Howkan, Shakan, Kasaan Bay, and Hetta Inlet,
and a few canneries. Zarembo Island was an unin-
habited island west of Wrangell. Kuiu had a Native
population of about 100 and no white settlement.
Kupreanof had a Native population of about 500 with
no white settlement. Chichagof Island, to the north-
west, was heavily forested; it had a mission at Hoonah
and a small settlement in Tenakee Inlet. The report
was accompanied by a copy of the General Land Of-
fice's 1898 map of Alaska, with the islands recommend-
ed for a reserve marked by shading.?

Roosevelt transmitted this report and map to Sec-
retary of the Interior Ethan Allen Hitchcock on April
15, 1902, with the following note:

This Alaska forest reservation strikes me fa-
vorably. Let us look into it and if it is proper
have it done. Ought not the proclamation to be
made to conform a little more fully to the real
objective of the case? I have been told that at
present they have rather the effect of scaring,
and of conveying the idea that we are trying to
drive all the people out.

The department took no immediate action. On August
9, 1902, Roosevelt’s secretary, William Leob, sent a
personal note to the secretary.

My Dear Sir:

The President wishes to know what has been
done in reference to the forest reserves of Alas-
ka, which reserves were indicated on the map
which he forwarded to the Department with a
full report of Lieutenant Evans (sic). It is the
President’s desire that those reserves be estab-
lished at once.

Ten days later Secretary Hitchcock sent to the presi-
dent a draft of the proclamation. The following day,
August 20, the Alexander Archipelago Forest Reserve
was established by presidential proclamation.”

There were early protests about the creation of
the reserve. Representative J. T. McCleary of Mankato,
Minnesota, asked reassurance that the sawmills on
Prince of Wales Island—some of which were owned by
Mankato residents—would be able to continue operat-
ing. James O. Rountree of Baker City, Oregon, who had
mining interests on Prince Wales Island, carried the
idea of forest influence on rainfall to its logical—or il-
logical—conclusion. *‘It is well known,”” he wrote,
“that rain is attracted by large bodies of timber. The
rainfall in southeastern Alaska is excessive. If the com-
mercial timber on Prince of Wales Island were cut off,
the miners would have the wood they needed for opera-
tions, the ground would be rid of its encumbering trees,
the climate would become more livable, and prospect-
ing would be easier.” He claimed some support of his
views by the citizens of Ketchikan, including Alfred P.




Swineford, formerly governor of Alaska and at that
time editor of Ketchikan's Mining Journal. However, the
files of the Mining Journal do not bear out this claim.
The paper noted editorially that the claims of the Daily
Alaskan and the Seattle Post-Intelligencer, that the
reserve would prevent development of the country,
were without substance. While the reserve was proba-
bly not necessary, noted the Mining Journal, regulation
of lumbering would do no harm.

Protests also came from Protestant missionary
groups. Harry P. Corser, who operated a mission at
Wrangell, protested on behalf of the Tlingit and Haida
Indians. The reserve would hurt the Indians, he wrote,
because they were ‘‘loggers by occupation' and, with
timber cutting regulated, would have to ‘‘revert to
primitive conditions or else starve.” The reserve would
hamper their search for firewood. The mission was try-
ing to persuade Indians to live in individual homes,

rather than in communal houses; the reserve would
hinder this effort. Corser also thought the reserve
would aid monopoly and injure the small lumber
operators of Alaska. It would benefit only the *‘mil-
lionaire lumber trusts of Puget Sound.” The reserve
was not needed, moreover, due to the rapid growth of
timber in southeastern Alaska. Some of the areas, he
wrote, had been logged over two or three times since
transfer to the United States. The loggers took only the
mature timber, which otherwise would die of old age.
Finally, the Indians considered the land theirs by right
of occupancy and inheritance, and Corser regarded the
reserve as an immoral confiscation of property.*

The commissioner and secretary sent out reassur-
ing letters, and the protests were short-lived. It was left
to William A. Langille, one of Pinchot’s westerners, to
bring the reserve under administration and to handle
the protests on local grounds.

W. A. Langille

The Alexander Archipelago Forest Reserve was
created late in 1902, but management of the reserve
was slow in developing. Langille made some examina-
tion of the reserve in the spring and summer of 1903
and in the summer of 1904, but not until 1905 did it
come under any real management. For the first six
years of its management, the story of the Alexander
Archipelago and of the Tongass national forests is
essentially the story of one man—William Alexander
Langille.

Langille came of a family that played an important
part in the history of forestry and conservation in
Oregon. He was born in Yarmouth, Nova Scotia, in
1868. His family moved to Hood River, Oregon, in 1880.
The Langille family became interested in mountaineer-
ing. Will and his younger brother, Harold Douglas
Langille, made winter trips to the north side of Mount
Hood on skis, dispelling the myth that the winter cli-
mate at timberline could not be endured. Their father,
James Langille, helped construct Cloud Cap Inn, and in
1891 the Langille family took over its management. At
that time it was one of the most attractive alpine inns in
the country.

Will and Harold became guides on the mountain,
taking part in such patriotic rituals as illuminating the
summit with red fire on the night of the Fourth of July.
They pioneered many new routes to the top of the
mountain, were charter members of the Mazamas (the
first mountaineering organization on the Pacific Coast),
played a part in the creation of the Cascade Range
Forest Reserve, and guided the Forestry Commission
when it visited the Mount Hood area in 1896.2

At Cloud Cap Inn, the Langilles became acquaint-
ed with professors and scientists who visited the area,
including William H. Brewer, Henry Gannett, ]. G. Lem-
mon, Frederick V. Coville, and C. S. Sargent. Years
later, Will Langille wrote, “These men were the
inspiration that awakened better things in our young
lives."”

In 1897 Will joined the gold rush for the Klondike.
He summarized his Alaskan experience as follows:

Left Cloud Cap Inn July 23, 1897. Left Portland
on S.S. G. W. Elder July 27, 1897 Left Lake Ben-
nett for Dawson Sept. 11, down Yukon in an
open boat. Arrived at Dawson Sept. 25, 1897
Left Dawson for Nome Jan., 1900, with dog
team. Arrived Nome March 26, 329%: hours
travel time. Left Nome Nov. 10, 1902. Left Wash-
ington D.C. for Ketchikan April 6, 1903. Left
Washington D.C. April 1, 1904. To Nome July
1904 via Prince William Sound and Dutch
Harbor. Left Seward January 1905 to Fairbanks
via Matanuska Pass & Mt. McKinley region.
Left Fairbanks May 10 walked to Circle City ar-
rived May 14. Then to Dawson, Juneau & Wran-
gell. Left Alaska September 1911.

Thus, briefly, Langille summarized a northern career
with enough adventure in it to fill a book. In the Klon-
dike, he shared a cabin with Jack London and became
acquainted with the dog ‘‘Buck,” the hero of London's
story, The Call of the Wild. He hunted game for the
market on the Stewart River, cooked in a restaurant in
Dawson, and later became night man for the Alaska
Commercial Company. Finally, feeling his ‘‘string had
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played out,” he traveled over the winter ice to the
black sands of Nome. He was prospecting there in 1902
when he received word that Pinchot wanted him to
work in Alaskan forestry. Langille went to Washington
to confer with Roosevelt and Pinchot on the Alaskan
forests.

Pinchot employed Langille as a forest expert. In
April of 1903, Langille returned to Alaska to report on
the administrative needs of the forests. There he made
his headquarters at Yes Bay, a cannery settlement near
Ketchikan. He traveled up the Stikine River by canoe to
the Canadian boundary, visited mills on or near the re-
serve, and sailed up Portland Canal, the southern
boundary with British Columbia, to investigate timber
theft by Nass Indians on the American side. He
returned to the states in the fall. Early in 1904, he
examined and reported on a proposed addition to the
Sierra (North) National Forest in California. Then in
April he made a long reconnaissance from Juneau to
the Controller Bay and Prince William Sound areas and
thence north to Norton Bay. He returned to Valdez in
the fall and spent most of the season and early winter
making an examination of the Kenai Peninsula and
writing up reports. Between January and March of
1905, Langille traveled by dog team from Seward to
Fairbanks to examine the forests of the interior. He
then reiurned to Ketchikan to take on new duties as
forest supervisor of the Alexander Archipelago Forest
Reserve.”

Langille was a man of magnificent physique, an
accomplished mountaineer, and a skilled hunter. On his
long overland reconnaissances, he lived off the land on
rabbits and ptarmigan shot with his .22 rifle or gray-
ling caught with improvised flies. He was a good field
botanist and mammologist, an expert on mining law in
Canada and the United States, and an able cartogra-
pher. His skill as a photographer dated back to his
Oregon days when he took many scenic views of Mount
Hood. He had a bluff, hearty manner, highly acceptable
to most Alaskans. He was utterly honest and carried
out his work in the face of attempted intimidation. His
letters to reserve users were blunt, forceful, and at
times undiplomatic. A perfectionist, he was impatient
of shortcomings in others, found it hard to delegate
authority, and at times seemed to his subordinates to be
overbearing. Like his brother Harold, he was an ac-
complished writer, having a keen sensitivity to natural
beauty coupled with a somewhat sardonic sense of
humor. His reports are the best sources available for
an accurate picture of forestry in a unique setting.?

In Alaska, he had as many duties as Pooh-Bah of
Gilbert and Sullivan’s Mikado. *‘I can tell you of the
travels of Langille and Wernstedt,”” wrote Melvin L.
Merritt; ‘‘these stories read almost like those of the
early explorers, as indeed they were.” Langille
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traversed and mapped boundaries for the reserves,
traced down timber trespass, made timber sales, acted
as disbursing agent, examined mining claims, made out
special occupancy permits, enforced game laws, and
did cooperative work with such federal agencies as the
Biological Survey, the Fish Commission, and the
Geological Survey. He kept a meticulous set of books
and records under the most difficult of circumstances.
In addition, he explained to the Alaskans the purposes
and uses of the reserve, and he kept the Washington
Office informed of its needs—all on the magnificent
salary of $1,800 to $2,000 per year.

Langille first set up headquarters at Wrangell, but
he soon moved to Ketchikan, which was a larger trade
center and where the mail boats stopped more often.
He shared offices with a customs collector at first but
within a month wrote, ‘‘Quarters are scarce, but I have
secured a good isolated place built on pilings for
twenty dollars a month, heat light water and caretaker
furnished.’’»

His main problem was to secure a boat for travel
around the islands and to use as an office afloat. Much
of the correspondence between Langille and the Wash-
ington Office dealt with the need of a boat and its speci-
fications, but not until 1909 was one obtained. Mean-
while, Will improvised. Records show that he traveled
bv mail boat a good deal and at times chartered boats
at $10 per day. During the Olmsted inspection trip of
1905, he rented a launch, the Walrus. For much of his
work he chartered a sloop, the Columbia, from Peter
Makinon, a Nova Scotian, at $5 per day; it had no en-
gine. Langille was often stormbound and sometimes he
and Makinon had to row the vessel for long distances
because of adverse winds and tides. In 1908, however,
a large gasoline launch, the Tahn, was built to
Langille’s specifications; it was put into service the fol-
lowing year.®

Langille worked alone during much of his stay in
Alaska, but there were many companions, too. His let-
terbooks show that he occasionally hired scalers on a
day-to-day basis. In 1905 he acquired an assistant
ranger, Richard Dorwalt, a former Navy man, but he
was unsatisfactory and resigned in 1906 at Langille's
request. In 1908 W. H. Babbitt, a ranger from Califor-
nia with two years’ experience, was brought up and
stationed in Chomly Sound to handle timber sales
there. He had a small rented launch, the Elk. A man
named Howard M. Conrad also served between 1908
and 1909 as deputy forest supervisor. James Allen and
George Peterson both came to the forest in 1909, and
Roy Barto came to Alaska in 1910. With the creation of
the Chugach National Forest, Lage Wernstedt came to
assist Langille in handling the northern area. Lyle
Blodgett was hired as engineer of the Tahn; he was a
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native of lowa who worked his way north to Alaska by
1904 and served the Forest Service for many years.
Langille also acquired a clerk named Bush in 1908."

The population of the Alexander Archipelago For-
est Reserve was mainly engaged in mining and fishing.
There were several types of mines in the area, located
principally on Prince of Wales Island. These included
copper prospects in the Hetta Inlet area and at
Niblack; and marble quarrying on both the northwest-
ern and southeastern coasts of the island. Most of the
mining claims had not passed to patent. There were
dozens of fisheries and salteries within the reserve
limits. Both the mining companies and the fisheries
used the timber—the miners for buildings, tramways,
and timbering, and the fishermen for their docks,
buildings, fish boxes, and dory construction.

There were only a few small sawmills on the re-
serve in 1905. These included a mill on Kasaan Bay
with a 25,000 board-foot capacity per day, but idle in
1905; one at Hunter Bay, capacity 10,000, owned by a
fishing company; a small mill at Howkan, capacity
5,000; a waterpower mill at Coppermount that cut
600,000 feet in 1905; one at Shakan, then being rebuilt
to have a capacity of 50,000; and two small mills of
limited capacity in Wrangell Narrows. The larger
mills, which used timber rafted from the reserve or
from the mainland, were those at Juneau, Douglas,
Wrangell, and Ketchikan.? They were not located on
the reserve.

Sentiment toward the reserve in the beginning was
mildly hostile. Langille wrote to Pinchot in 1903 that he
found Wrangell the main center of discontent. Some
hostility flared up when Langille became supervisor in
1905, because the inattention of the government since
1902 had given many people the idea that nothing
would be done in reserve regulation. General Land Of-
fice officials were frankly hostile toward the reserve.
Recorders of mining districts claimed that they had
never been officially notified of its creation and, as late
as 1906, were recording any land claim even though
they knew its location was a trespass on the reserve.®

The “bellwether” of the antireserve forces was
U.S. Rush of Kasaan Bay. Rush was one of the owners of
the Rush and Brown Copper Mine at Karta Bay, an arm
of Kasaan Bay. Powerful in local politics, he had been
U.S. commissioner for the area but resigned his post in
order to attend the Republican territorial convention
and introduce a plank calling for abolition of the re-
serve. Writing to Theodore Roosevelt on October 17,
1905, he asked for abolition of the reserve for a variety
of reasons. He claimed that, first, there was not enough
good timber to justify a reserve; second, timber was not
necessary to insure rainfall in the area; third, the
country was chiefly valuable for minerals; fourth, all

available timber would be needed for development of
the country; fifth, use of timber and occupancy of the
land should be a right, not a privilege; sixth, inability
under the law to gain title to the land retarded develop-
ment; and seventh, the rules for forest management
when applied to Alaska were not suitable for the terri-
tory. A man of many grievances, he elaborated on them
in letters to Pinchot, Langille, and the Seattle Post-
Intelligencer.

Faced with these protests, Pinchot sent Frederick
E. Olmsted, assistant chief in charge of general inspec-
tion, to examine the Alaska forest situation in 1906. He
was to examine not only administrative problems but
also the possibility of creating new reserves. Olmsted
discussed Rush's problems with him in Alaska; toward
the end of their discussion, Rush remarked that the
system was one ‘‘perfectly constructed for the intru-
sion of graft.”” Thereupon, Olmsted wrote, ‘*The small
amount of self-control which still remained with me
gave out, and I at once refused to discuss the forest re-
serve system with him any further.’'*

Olmsted made a detailed study of public sentiment
toward the reserve. He found sentiment friendly in Ket-
chikan and Juneau, where the largest mills and users of
lumber were located. Ketchikan's Mining Journal
strongly supported the reserve. At Shakan, sentiment
was also friendly. Wrangell and Petersburg were
centers of the opposition, with the Wrangell Sentinel
the strongest antireserve paper. There was also hostili-
ity at Coppermount and Kasaan. Many, however, were
indifferent to the reserve and its policies. Governor
Wilford B. Hoggatt, as time went on, became a support-
er of the reserve, but both the Republican and Demo-
cratic parties, in their 1906 territorial conventions,
adopted planks calling for its abolition.

There were many reasons for favoring, or failing
to favor, the reserve. The proprietors of the Dunton &
Inman Shingle Mill and the Ketchikan Power Company
obtained some of their lumber from the reserve; they
favored it and desired to see all the country in a forest
reserve. If this were the case, they argued, they would
know just what to pay for timber and where to cut it,
instead of having it settled as a trespass case. The man-
ager of the Treadwell Mine and of the mill at Douglas
(owned by Treadwell interests) favored the reserve on
the same grounds and advocated its extension. On the
other hand, mill owners at Petersburg and Wrangell
objected to the reserve on the ground that timber on the
public domain was cheaper. Mining companies at
Niblack, Dolomi, Sulzer, and Coppermount complained
about slowness in negotiating sales and in scaling.
Many believed that the mines should have free timber,
and others objected to Langille’s examination of mining
claims.
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Boundary Work in
Southeastern Alaska

As a result of his 1903 explorations in southeast-
ern Alaska, Langille recommended creation of a re-
serve on the mainland, as far north as Lynn Canal, to
include Wrangell, the Sumdum mining district, and
Native villages. Pinchot conferred with him on these re-
serves during the winter of 1903-1904, but no action
was taken at that time.*

In 1906 Olmsted strongly recommended putting
the whole area from Mount St. Elias to Portland Canal
into a reserve. Olmsted gave a number of reasons for
this sweeping recommendation.” One was the anoma-
lous situation in regard to timber sales on the unre-
served and unappropriated public domain, as opposed
to the forest reserves. Although the secretary of the in-
terior had full authority under the act of May 14, 1898,
to sell timber in Alaska to mill operators, no timber had
ever been sold under this law.”® Instead, the standard
procedure was for the logger to go where he pleased
and cut whatever he wanted, without getting permis-
sion from anyone and without notifying any official of
the action. Once a year each mill was visited by a spe-
cial agent of the General Land Office who would in-
quire how much timber had been cut. Settlement was
made on the basis of innocent trespass, at twenty cents
per thousand board feet for sawtimber, one-half cent
per linear foot for piling, and twenty-five cents per
cord for firewood. There was no supervision of the
cutting or allocation of cutting areas. Further, Olmsted
thought there was an element of hypocrisy in having all
mill owners regarded not as trespassers but as “‘inno-
cent thieves.”” They had no assurance that trespass
would not be looked upon at some future time as delib-
erate trespass—and triple damages assessed. The
need for a businesslike management of sales was, in
Olmsted’s opinion, a strong reason for bringing the
area under Forest Service supervision.

Forest Service jurisdiction, Olmsted believed,
would not interfere with legitimate development of the
area. Mining claims would be examined by the Forest
Service, but this would not prevent legitimate claims
from coming to patent. There would be little use of the
Homestead Act, since arable lands are scarce in south-
eastern Alaska. There was need, Olmsted felt, for the
Trade and Manufacturing Act to be applicable on for-
est reserve lands, as it was on the public domain in
Alaska.

Another reason for creating a reserve, in Olmsted's
opinion, was the fact that sawtimber on the reserve
sold for fifty cents per thousand feet, while across the
channel on the public domain it sold for twenty cents.
The timber was worth fifty cents and more, and Forest
Service management would bring in more revenue. In
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fact, Olmsted thought, it would make the reserve self-
supporting. Finally, Olmsted wrote, though there was
at present no danger of large bodies of timber falling
into the hands of corporate interests, Puget Sound
interests might look eventually to Alaska with the in-
tention of making speculative investments. The land
could be best preserved in federal hands by creating a
forest reserve including all of southeastern Alaska,
“bounded by the international boundary on the south,
east, and north, and by the 141st meridian and the
open sea on the west.”"®

Olmsted’s recommendation and those of Langille
were studied in detail, and in 1907 plans were made to
withdraw most of southeastern Alaska into a forest re-
serve, or national forest, as they were called beginning
that year. A map was prepared, marking the area to be
withdrawn under the name of the Baranof National
Forest. But at this point the Forest Service came up
against the opposition of the commissioner of the
General Land Office, Richard A. Ballinger. Ballinger
strongly opposed the creation of any national forests in
Alaska, and he was already exasperated by plans to
create the Chugach National Forest. A conference in-
volving Ballinger, the Forest Service, and the law offi-
cers of the Forest Service and the Land Office resulted
in the map being withdrawn. Meanwhile, Langille
prepared an alternative, and less controversial,
suggestion.*

Langille's recommendation was a 2-million-acre
tract of land on the mainland. with natural geographic
boundaries, from Portland Canal on the south along
Behm Canal to the Unuk River and up the river to the
international boundary. The area, he reported, was
rough, unfit for agriculture, and had no permanent
habitations except a mining company on the Unuk
River. ““The only objection to creation of the reserve,”
he wrote, “‘will come from those who oppose the
national forest policy on general principles.” The area
was well forested, through much of the area available
for handlogging had been partially cut over since 1905.
In the future, he believed, cable logging would be the
general practice.

There was local support for the proposed national
forest. The Ketchikan Power Company favored Forest
Service control in order that it might export its lumber.
Governor Hoggatt and the businessmen of Ketchikan
favored the addition. Moreover, the Alaskan timber
along the Portland Canal would be protected against
Canadian depredations. Langille stated that while it
was not known that timber theft was occurring at that
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timber at $1 per thousand board feet—after examina-
tion and approval of the tract by a special agent. But
whereas the Forest Service distributed 25 percent of
the proceeds of a sale to the district in which the
timber was cut, all proceeds of Land Office sales went
to the U.S. Treasury, except 1 percent as a fee to the
register and receiver of the local office. The Forest
Service, moreover, had trained men to handle the sales
and could handle them more economically and prompt-
ly than the Land Office. In regard to the Yakutat area,
Langille noted that there had been little change since
1904, except that the placer claims had been aban-
doned. The Yakutat and Southern Railway was extend-
ing its line to the south in order to reach timber bodies
on the Alsek River. Langille recommended creation of a

Yakutat National Forest to include the west side of
Yakutat Bay to Cross Sound and from the ocean to the
international boundary. To the south, he recommended
addition of all the area between the 141st parallel and
the international boundary to the Pacific Ocean,
except for areas around the towns of Haines and
Skagway and the major cities in the Alexander Archi-
pelago and the mainland.®

In 1909 the Forest Service made recommendations
for withdrawal of the remaining islands, the mainland
to the south of Skagway to Icy Strait, and the area from
Dry Bay to the south shore of Yakutat Bay. On February
16, 1909, the second proclamation relating to the Ton-
gass added 8,724,000 acres to its area.*

Timber Sales

Timber sale problems and policy in the Alaskan
national forests differed from those in the states. In the
older states and territories much of the timber was in
private hands; in southeastern Alaska virtually all the
timber was owned by the national government. In the
states the reserves were isolated and largely remote
from population centers. They were used to supple-
ment settlement and development in their vicinity. In
southeastern Alaska, with creation of the national for-
ests, the miners, fishermen, and lumbermen were al-
ready living within the newly created reserves.

Moreover, there was an immediate need for the
timber. In the states Pinchot encouraged timber sales to
persuade Congress that the national forests were re-
served for use, rather than from use, and to bring in
revenue. He faced two obstacles. First, many men in
the regional offices—among them E. T. Allen, Fred
Ames, and Thornton Munger—believed that silvicul-
tural studies and a preliminary forest inventory should
take precedence over sales. Second, once private com-
panies had title to the most accessible timberlands,
they were not particularly interested in national forest
sales.® In Alaska, on the other hand, there was a con-
tinuous demand for timber for local use, and the only
local source of such timber was the national forest.

There were other anomalies in the timber situa-
tion. Federal law forbade the export of lumber from
Alaska, but, on the other hand, lumber cut on national
forests could be exported. Forest Service timber sold at
fifty cents per thousand board feet, and General Land
Office timber at twenty cents. The policies were con-
tradictory and confusing. In addition, the Forest Serv-
ice Use Book, designed to establish sales rules in the
West, did not always apply to Alaskan conditions in re-
gard to slash disposal, marking of trees, and scaling
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regulations. There were many questions unanswered.
To whom did driftwood or unmarked logs belong? What
free-use provisions applied to users of the national
forest? What were the rights of the Indians?

Langille’s first efforts at timber sales management
in 1905 were concerned with settling timber trespass
cases. Cutting had continued on the Alexander Archi-
pelago Forest Reserve in the interim period between its
creation in 1902 and the time it came under active
management in 1905. With characteristic zeal and
energy, Langille tracked down and settled trespass
cases. Most of the cases settled in 1905 involved cut-
ting in 1903 or 1904 and were settled on the basis of
unintentional trespass. In each case, the trespassers
denied any intention of wrongdoing. They professed
that they did not know reserve regulations applied, or
thought they might cut for their own use, or assumed
canneries had free use of timber for cordwood. Lan-
gille assessed them the stumpage value of the timber:
fifty cents per thousand for sawtimber, one-half cent
per linear foot for piling, and twelve and a half cents
per cord for cordwood.

There were, however, two cases of intentional
trespass; in these Langille took strong and drastic
action. One case involved the Alaska Copper Company
at Coppermount, one of the centers of antireserve sen-
timent. Langille seized the logs at the mill, shutting
down operation for the time being. Of this action Olm-
sted wrote, “‘I believe that strong and decided action
was necessary in order to convince this company that a
certain respect for law and the officers of the Forest
Service were matters not to be overlooked, and that
Mr. Langille’'s action was quite justified.”” The other
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case involved the Wilson and Sylvester mill at Wran-
gell. Timber cut by one A. M. Tibbets on Zarembo Is-
land was towed in a raft to Wrangell by the Wilson and
Sylvester tug. Tibbetts at first denied, then admitted,
cutting the timber, but all persons connected with the
mill, in Langille’s words, ‘‘denied any knowledge of the
logs coming from reserve land, denied ownership of the
logs, or making payment when in their possession, and
payment had been made on them.” Langille seized the
logs, scaled them, and posted warnings to all persons
against removing them. He recommended to Pinchot
that the Wilson and Sylvester Company pay full value
on the logs at time of seizure ($4 per thousand board
feet) and that Tibbetts pay fifty cents per thousand
stumpage value. On the authorization of the secretary
of agriculture, Langille posted notices offering the logs
for sale to the highest bidder—the sale to take place
before the Wrangell courthouse at 2 rm, November 20,
1905. At this point the Wilson and Sylvester firm
acknowledged ownership of the logs, and settlement
was made on the basis of intentional trespass ($3 per
thousand).*

In 1905 Langille made sales of 526,371 board feet
of sawtimber, 976 cords of wood, and 93,820 linear feet
of piling. Twenty-two cases of trespass were settled,
amounting to 1,173,528 feet of sawtimber, 43,186 feet
of piling, and 733 cords of wood. Sales for 1906 (from
January until October) amounted to 6,881,070 feet of
sawtimber, 35,600 feet of piling, and 2,310 cords of
wood. With the additions to the reserve in 1909, sales
exceeded 15 million board feet.”

‘'Operations were primarily handlogging; as late as
1905 there was only one cable operation on the re-
serve. The loggers, Indians and whites alike, cut trees
under contract with the mill, mining company, or can-
nery concerned. Trees were cut close to the coast—in
almost every case so close that the tops reached the
water. Hemlocks eighteen inches to two feet in diame-
ter were felled to use as skids to ease the logs into the
water. Logs were rafted and towed in rafts of up to
200,000 board feet to the mill. In the raft they were
priced at $4.50 per thousand; stumpage was fifty cents
and towage from fifty cents to $1 per thousand. The
cutting was wasteful; there was a great deal of break-
age and poor utilization of the tops. The hemlocks cut
for skids were left in the woods. There was no attempt
to clear up the debris from logging, but there was also
no fire danger. Logs were scaled in the raft, usually at
the site of cutting.

Langille was concerned with the effect of logging
on the fishing industry, and in 1909 he worked out regu-
lations with the Bureau of Fisheries to preserve salmon
runs. These regulations included prohibiting logging on
streams with established salmon hatcheries, such as
the Naha River, McDonald Lake and stream, and rivers

and creeks in the Boca de Quadra, Klawak, and Hetta
Inlet areas. On all other streams with runs of salmon,
logging was prohibited between August 1 and Decem-
ber 1. No logging would be permitted in stream beds
and no debris or obstructions should be left in the
water.*

In his inspection report of 1906, F. E. Olmsted
recommended various changes in the Use Book to apply
to Alaskan conditions. He recommended, for example,
a liberal interpretation of the free-use clause. He felt
that the confusion in the law, with one law forbidding
export of lumber from Alaska and another permitting
export of lumber cut on forest reserves, should be
clarified. He advised that it be advertised widely that
timber cut on the reserves could be sold outside Alas-
ka, and that the Treasury Department instruct its col-
lectors to clear timber from any point on the reserves
to foreign ports or those in the United States. He saw no
need to mark trees for selective cutting, since the hand-
loggers took single trees located on the shores of a
beach or inlet. Rather, the forest officer should only
designate the general area in which the trees were to
be cut. Olmsted suggested that cutting small trees to be
used as skids should not be considered as unnecessary
damage, provided that spruce not be used when hem-
lock was available.

By 1910 Forest Service cutting policies were be-
coming accepted by logging interests on the Tongass
National Forest. Governor Walter E. Clark, investigat-
ing a complaint by F. S. Wilson on the handling of tim-
ber sales, found no complaint as to the charge for
stumpage, or in general to Forest Service management
policies. He found the only justifiable complaint to be
that which Olmsted had noted: inadequate transporta-
tion, resulting in delays in cruising and scaling the logs.
Aside from this, Clark felt the Forest Service did an
adequate job. Fred Ames, in his inspection tour of
1909, noted that the sale sites were characterized by
high stumps and inadequate utilization of tops. Like
Olmsted, he recommended more boats. Ames noted an
increased amount of cable logging, largely limited to
areas within a thousand feet of the beach. Most of the
cutting was still for local use, though the Ketchikan
Power Company had found a market for clear spruce in
Seattle. George Cecil, in a 1910 inspection, felt that the
main needs were for long-term sales and establishment
of a pulp mill. He suggested revision of the land laws
and regulations to suit Alaskan conditions, including
that of permitting purchase of land for business pur-
poses. Scaling. he said, should be at the mill rather
than at the place of cutting.*
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Land Titles

The question of land title was complex. It involved
the status of alienated land within the national forest,
the validity of land titles, the manner by which land
could be acquired within the forest boundaries, and
the relationship of the Forest Service to the General
Land Office.

When the reserve was established in 1902, there
were no perfected land claims within its borders. Some
of the lands were held through squatters’ rights, still
others through purchase or intermarriage with Na-
tives, and others through application of the Trade and
Manufacturing Act—largely for speculative purposes.
Law permitted application of the soldiers’ additional
homestead scrip (a benefit for veterans), but the scrip
was expensive and apparently was not used. There
was virtually no use of the Homestead Act (though later
the Forest Homestead Act of 1906 was extensively
used), and the Timber and Stone Act did not apply in
Alaska. Many tracts had been filed on as mineral
claims by 1906, and two islands were operated as fox
farms under Interior Department leases. The Trade
and Manufacturing Act had not, by 1906, been applied
to the national forests of Alaska.*

One of the first needs, then, was establishment of
rules governing occupancy of national forest lands.
This gave Pinchot the opportunity to establish a prece-
dent for charging grazing fees for livestock in the
national forests, a plan sure to meet with opposition
from western stockmen. He needed a legal opinion from
the attorney general as to the right of the Forest
Service to charge such a fee, but he hesitated to raise
such a controversial issue. Early in 1905 an application
came for a permit to occupy an area on Grace Harbor
for a salmon saltery. Secretary of Agriculture James
Wilson sent a letter, prepared by the Forest Service,
asking the attorney general if the Forest Service could
issue such a permit or lease for the occupancy of forest
reserve land, and whether the Forest Service could re-
quire compensation for the occupancy. Attorney Gen-
eral William H. Moody replied that such leases or per-
mits could be given and a fee charged. This precedent
permitted Pinchot to charge for occupancy of the
range, as well as for the shoreline.”

Given the authority to issue such permits, Langille
received fifteen special occupancy requests in 1905
and granted five. The requests involved land for tool-
sheds, stores, mineral springs bathhouses, fox ranches,
houses, fish canneries, a powder house, a cold-storage
plant, gardens, and rights-of-way for tramways. A
lease was usually granted for a year; it was renewable
and terms were nominal.*
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The question of mining claims became vexing.
Alaska operated under United States mining laws. Pre-
vious to the creation of the reserve, it had been an easy
matter to get any claim patented. Officials of the re-
cording districts considered it desirable to allow
patent whether or not a claim contained mineral—and
without regard to assessment work. The creation of the
reserve changed all that.

Because surface rights, including timber, went
with the mineral rights, Langille made his own exami-
nations and reported actual conditions as required by
law and regulation. This stirred up opposition to the
reserve. Olmsted wrote:

I have carefully looked at his [Langille's] re-
ports on mining claims and believe them to be
just in every way. The difficulty is that the min-
ing laws are not complied with and Mr. Langille
so reported. To put it plainly, and to touch on a
delicate subject, the Deputy Mineral Surveyors
made reports which were not in accord with
the facts, and the local Land Office took favora-
ble action on these reports. Mr. Langille report-
ed actual conditions, and upon his recommen-
dation the General Land Office refused patent.

In most of these cases it was desired to secure

lands for purposes other than those contem-

plated by the law under which entry was

made.®

Two cases may be cited. The Alaska Copper Com-
pany was refused patent on a mill site claim at Copper-
mount, and the claim was cancelled. There were two
saloons on the claim. One was, in Olmsted’s words, “‘an
exceeding low down resort in every way; it may be
called, in polite language, a saloon, but in actual fact it
is nothing but a house of ill fame.”” The saloon was on
ground occupied by a squatter in 1900. He had sold
whatever right he had to the land in 1902, and the new
owner in turn sold out to the saloon owner in 1906. The
company claimed that the squatter’s rights extended to
present occupants. The other saloon occupied land
under a lease from the president of the Alaska Copper
Company—a company that had not title to the land.»

A second case resulted in the elimination from the
forest of a tract of 11,878 acres on the Kasaan Penin-
sula. The background of this matter involved the claims
of the Brown-Alaska Company and its subsidiaries.
This company had established Hadley, a mining town,
at Lyman Anchorage on the Kasaan Peninsula. On the
mining claim were a hotel, store, and smelter. Langille,
on examining the claim, recommended that it be re-
fused patent because there had been no discovery of




minerals or assessment work on the claim. An addition-
al complication was that one Hans Anderson ran a
saloon on a mining claim leased by the company. Robert
Pollock, an employee of the Brown-Alaska Company,
also had established claims and done the necessary as-
sessment work but was using the claims for purposes
not wholly consistent with their development. In addi-
tion to the mining, Olmsted reported, ‘‘there are two
cabins on the claim, which are inhabited by various
and sundry women of ill repute from whom, it is report-
ed, the claimant receives a rental of $100.00 per
cabin.'"*

In February 1907 the Brown-Alaska Company be-
gan to put pressure on the Forest Service to eliminate
the area from the national forest. The officers of the
Brown-Alaska Company and its subsidiary, the Alaska
Smelting and Refining Company, made solemn affidavit
that there was little timber on the area and that they
needed the land to develop their claims. Langille in-
formed Pinchot in March that he opposed any elimina-
tion. The sole purpose of the Hadley interests, he
wrote, was to avoid a forest officer report on the claims
soon to come to patent. The company, he asserted,

wanted the claims for townsite purposes, not mining.
He believed that the Brown Alaska Company was vio-
lating the law and opposed the elimination of any area
from the reserve until the right of the company to the
land was determined.

The company brought political pressure to bear.
Attorneys Brown, Leckey and Kane of Seattle protested
Langille's action in filing information with the General
Land Office that there had been insufficient assess-
ment work to bring the claims to patent. This was, M. C.
Brown wrote, ‘‘a piece of officious intermeddling.’” The
company apparently protested to Senator Francis War-
ren of Wyoming, a leading foe of the reserves, and he
protested to Pinchot. In May Pinchot recommended re-
ducing the reserve area by eliminating most of the
Kasaan Peninsula. Apparently he thought the value of
the timber involved was not great enough to risk a polit-
ical battle.*

There is a sequel to the episode. In 1924 the claims
and town were abandoned. In that year, J]. M. Wyckoff,
Ketchikan district ranger, recommended that the area
be restored to the Tongass National Forest. On June 10,
1925, the area was reacquired.”

Grazing, Game, and Totem Poles

Grazing was a major problem in reserves in the
West, but in southeastern Alaska the problems were
nonexistent. F. E. Olmsted's report on grazing in 1906
deserves to be quoted in full:

Foxes are the only live stock on the reserve,
and they graze on salmon at the rate of 4 cents
an acre.

There is a trespassing mule somewhere in
the Klawak region but he cannot be located.

Attempts at grazing cattle have absolutely
failed on account of the ruggedness of the coun-
try and the prohibitive cost of winter feeding.
The same holds true for sheep.®
In southeastern Alaska, as in the north, Langille

knew that the game laws were shamelessly abused.
Many camps hired men to hunt deer, and these men
killed does in and out of season. On occasion Langille
took drastic action; at Shakan he seized two does killed
by Indians for the Alaska Marble Company. When the
company denied any knowledge or responsibility for
killing them, Langille turned the deer over to some poor
Indians. He believed that the forest officers should be
deputized to enforce game laws and also be made as-
sistant fish commissioners. At Indian villages, he
warned Natives that any dogs caught running deer
would be shot.*

Langille also played an important part in the pres-
ervation of American antiquities. The Antiquities Act
of 1906 permitted the president to set aside as national
monuments areas containing natural wonders or his-
toric and prehistoric sites if they were on federal
lands. Administration of such monuments was to be in
the hands of the agency having jurisdiction over the
lands. The secretaries of the interior, agriculture, and
the army agreed to allow the Smithsonian Institution to
pass on all applications for archaeological excavation
or collection. Gifford Pinchot, in his Forest Reserve
Order No. 19, required all field personnel to report on
natural curiosities in their districts and to recommend
suitable sites as national monuments.*

F. E. Olmsted examined many such areas during
1906 on his inspection trip through the West. When
Olmsted arrived in Alaska, Langille recommended to
him that the totem poles and community houses at
Tuxekan and Old Kasaan be set aside as monuments.*
Olmsted strongly supported the recommendation and
further suggested that the poles be preserved in situ
rather than be removed to another place, even though
the Indians had lost interest in them. Title to the poles
rested with the individual owners or clans, though the
land belonged to the United States. Olmsted’s recom-
mendations were put in a letter from the secretary of
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agriculture to the secretary of the interior, but no ac-
tion was taken for a decade.®

Langille later played an important part in the cre-
ation of Sitka National Monument. The governor of
Alaska had recommended in 1890 that the site of the
Indian village at Sitka, where the Russians won a battle
in 1804, be set aside as a public park. It was so de-
clared on June 21, 1890, but the lands were not protect-
ed from vandalism. The Arctic Brotherhood, Sitka Post
No. 6, desired better protection and in November 1908
asked Langille's advice. He recommended that they
prepare a petition asking for national monument

status, together with photographs. He volunteered to
prepare a sketch map of the area and see to its trans-
mission to the president. These were duly prepared.
Langille then sent the petition and illustrated report to
the district forester, who transmitted the documents to
Pinchot with an approving note. The area was not
within the national forest, but rather within the Sitka
elimination. Langille called the project to the attention
of Governor Walter Clark, and he heartily approved it.
Secretary of Agriculture Wilson submitted the reports,
recommendations, and photographs to the secretary of
the interior, and on March 23, 1910, Sitka National
Monument was created by presidential proclamation.®

Inspections—Olmsted, Ames,
and Kellogg

As mentioned earlier, Pinchot sent F. E. Olmsted
on an inspection trip to Alaska in 1906. Olmsted had
graduated from Yale in 1894 with a degree in engineer-
ing and went to work for the U.S. Geological Survey. He
met Pinchot while the latter was forester for the Van-
derbilt estate in North Carolina, and Olmsted too decid-
ed on a career in forestry. He studied at the Biltmore
Forest School and at the University of Munich and then
went to work for Pinchot in the Division of Forestrv in
1900. He was in charge of boundary work from 1902 to
1905. He then wrote The Use of the National Forest Re-
serves and the Use Book, the latter a manual of infor-
mation, directions, regulations, and instruction for
forest officers.®

Olmsted was the first professionally trained fores-
ter to make a detailed examination of the forests of
southeastern Alaska. His inspection report of 1906 is a
mine of information on the forest.®s It is also basic
source material on the social, economic, and intellec-
tual characteristics—the ‘‘political ecology,” to use the
terminology of George Rogers and Ernest Gruening, of
the region.*® Cruising in the launch Walrus, Langille
and Olmsted visited all the settlements in the area.
They made a special effort to see everyone connected
with the forest reserve and to discuss relevant matters
with them.

Olmsted, a strong proponent of decentralization,
praised Langille highly as an able, conscientious, and
trustworthy forest officer who had been criticized
much the same as forest reserve officers had been in
the western states a few years earlier.

He has had to contend with just the same op-
position, due largely to ignorance and misun-
derstanding of the objects of the reserve, and
besides this has had to meet the universal feel-
ing that still clings in Alaska to some extent that
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all laws are pretty well out of place “‘north of
fifty-three” and that the people should be left
alone to do as they like. I believe that the “Pio-
neer’’ plea is somewhat unduly cherished in
southeastern Alaska and that the industry and
energy of the people have already lifted the
people out of that stage in a great many ways.
Criticisms of Langille had centered around his re-
ports on mining claims and timber trespass. Olmsted
thought Langille's actions were proper and thoroughly
justified, but his *‘abrupt, outspoken and occasionally
mildly terrifying manner” sometimes antagonized
people. Olmsted recommended that Langille be com-
mended for his work and given a salary increase of
from $1,800 to $2,000 per year—but be urged to be
more diplomatic.*”

At the time of Olmsted’s visit in 1906, Langille was
running the reserve single-handedly. Olmsted recom-
mended the appointment of a deputy supervisor to han-
dle matters in the northern part of the reserve, from
headquarters in Juneau. There were, he wrote, ‘‘none
of the ordinary ranger duties of those officers in the
states; no road or trail building, no fire patrol nor fire
fighting, and no stock to look after. Their chief duties
are to sell timber, scale logs and report on mining
claims (together with a good deal of special privilege
work) and they must be able to do these things well and
without help.”” He emphasized, however, that the key
was not men but transportation. He echoed Langille's
plea that the proper running of the reserve depended
upon the acquisition of satisfactory boats, writing,
**Spike the supervisors of the Sierra Reserve to a rock
at the top of Mt. Whitney and instruct them to run the
reserve; that's the position of the officer in Alaska
without a boat.” He recommended a sixty-foot boat,




with an engineer and a cook, to be used by the super-
visor both for transportation and as an office afloat.
The vessels for his deputies, he thought, could be aux-
iliary-engine yawls, but they must have sleeping
quarters on board. The costs ordinarily put into re-
serves with roads, trails, cabins, telephone lines, and
protection should be put into transportation in Alaska.
The candidate for deputy supervisor should be able to
demonstrate skill in boat handling and navigation,
which, in coastal Alaska, were the equivalent of horse-
manship in the states.®

In administrative use, Olmsted advocated extend-
ing the Trade and Manufacturing Act to land within
the national forests, so that fishermen, settlers, and
canneries could obtain title to the land they occupied.
Regulations should also permit settlers to take up home
lots. No permits would be required to build trails within
the national forest, and the free-use clauses in the Use
Book should be liberally interpreted.®

In regard to timber sales, Olmsted advocated
changing some of the rules in the Use Book to suit Alas-
kan conditions. The provisions regarding logging and
piling of tops and limbs did not need to apply. Logs
should be scaled in sixteen-foot lengths, sawtimber
should be cut to a minimum diameter of twenty inches,
and piling to eight inches. Sawlogs should be utilized to
a twenty-inch top and stumps cut low. He approved the
price of sawlogs at fifty cents per thousand, but felt
cordwood should be priced at twenty-five cents per
cord and yellow-cedar at $2 per thousand.

Olmsted recommended a survey of timber resourc-
es in the forest, immediate advertising in the states of
10 million feet for sale, and encouragement of export of
Alaskan timber. The Forest Products Section of the
Forest Service should make timber tests of hemlock and
spruce to determine their qualities, and also of yellow-
cedar to examine its value as cabinet wood. He sup-
ported Langille’s recommendation that the reserve be
enlarged to include most of southeastern Alaska, but
reported there was no need to extend the reserves to
the Prince William Sound and the Kenai area. Like
Langille, he was highly critical of the Department of
the Interior's failure to protect the forests of interior
Alaska.™

Three years later another inspection was carried
out, this time by the district office in Portland. In 1909
District Forester E. T. Allen sent the head of the Silvics
Section, Fred Ames. Ames, a tall, slender graduate of
Yale Forest School, had come out to Portland in 1907.
He had earned the respect of lumbermen in the North-
west by his competence, judgment, and honesty. Ames
kept a personal diary during his youth and much of his
maturity; his Alaskan diary is a delightfully written ac-
count of the work of the forest officer.”

Ames met Langille at Ketchikan in July 1909 and

then left for Wrangell on the newly acquired Forest
Service launch Tahn. The Tahn had been built to Lan-
gille’s specifications in 1908; it was a sixty-four-foot
vessel with a fifty-horsepower gas engine and a sheet-
iron strip at water’s edge to protect the hull when run-
ning through thin ice on winter trips. It had electric
lights, a galley, a head, seven bunks, a bookcase, and a
desk. On the trip with Ames were Langille, engineer
Lyle Blodgett, a Japanese cook named Joe, and Royal S.
Kellogg, who was on assignment to examine the forests
of Alaska. Ames noted the wreck in the Wrangell Nar-
rows with its sign, *‘Drink Yellowstone Whiskey,”" and
the addition, ““We did.”" He scaled log rafts at Wrangell
and Portage Bay and examined sales (a standard op-
eration)—''stumps pretty high and tops not well uti-
lized"—and traveled on to Juneau. At Juneau he at-
tended some hearings involving trespass cases, visited
Taku and Norris glaciers, and then traveled to Hoonah
and to Sitka. Ames attended the Russian church at
Sitka (he was an inveterate, eclectic, and highly criti-
cal churchgoer), shot his first deer at Silver Bay, visited
the whaling station at Tyee, scaled rafts at Port Beau-
clerc and Shakan, and visited Indian villages at How-
kan and Klinkwan. He returned to Ketchikan in August,
where he received new orders relating to mining
claims in the Chugach National Forest—claims that
will be described in detail in the next chapter.”

Ames, like Olmsted, gave Langille very high marks
as forest supervisor. “‘Few men,”” he wrote, "‘could
have done what he did.” By this time Langille had a
number of assistants, and Ames also rated them favor-
ably. W. E. Babbitt he characterized as hardworking
and conscientious, James Allen as competent, and Lyle
Blodgett as a capable engineer. Like Olmsted, he
stressed the need for deputy supervisors who had the
authority to act in the absence of the supervisor. He
also urged better transportation.”

Assistant Forester Royal S. Kellogg made the trip
for the Washington Office of the Forest Service in 1909
to collect material for a bulletin on the Alaskan forests.
He examined both interior Alaska and coastal forests
and accompanied Ames on his tour of the Tongass. The
result of his research was published in 1910, the first
Forest Service bulletin ever devoted to the forests of
Alaska. By contrast, the other “‘peripheral’ areas of
American forestry, Puerto Rico and the Philippines,
had been the subject of a series of studies before 1910.

Kellogg estimated the coastal forest, including
both the Tongass and that added by the creation of the
Chugach in 1907 and 1909, at about 75 billion board
feet. Stands of 25,000 feet to the acre were not uncom-
mon in southeastern Alaska. There the trees were over-
mature, with a great deal of decay and stagheaded-
ness. Handlogging and rafting still remained the com-
mon practice. His report shows a photograph of one
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The Chugach National
Forest Through 1910

Regarding this country I have this to say that it suits me to perfection and I am going to
stick to it right here as far as this depends on myself. Here we have an absolutely virgin coun-
try, unscarred by fires and uninhabited and unexplored except for those little spots where man
has put up a few shacks. The land is covered by timber, snow and glaciers, and in the wilds
there roam the bears, and the porcupines, the mosquitos, the crab, the shrimp and the whale.
The rainfall is amazing. It rains 24 hours a day and after the rainy season is over the snowy
season begins. We do not mind that, however. Imagine a country where for a thousand miles—
from Cook'Inlet to Ketchikan—there is not, nor ever was, a dry spot large enough to set a weary

ass on,

—Lage Wernstedt to Arthur Ringland,
August 20, 1908, in Historical File,
Cordova Office, U.S. Forest Service.

We're too slow for the new breed of miners,
Embracing all classes of men,
Who locate by power of attorney

And prospect their claims with a pen;
Who do all their fine work through agents
And loaf around town with the sports,

On intimate terms with the lawyers,

On similar terms with the courts.

—Sam C. Dunham, “The Lament of the Old
Sourdough,” quoted in S. A. D. Puter and
Horace Stevens, Looters of the Public Domain
(Portland, 1908), p. 439

Boundary Work: The Norton Bay Area

n 1904 W. A. Langille received his field orders for
the year from Pinchot:

the “Proposed Norton Bay Forest Reserve.”
Upon the conclusion of this examination you

Dear Sir:

During the season of 1904 you will undertake
the examination of the forest lands contiguous
to the coast of western Alaska from Lynn Canal
to the Alaskan Peninsula, including Kodiak Is-
land and other islands lying in the forest region;
then proceed to the Norton Bay country via
Dutch Harbor and Nome to examine the lands
included in the withdrawn area designated as

will return to Dutch Harbor and proceed to the
Sushitna Valley, make an examination of this
and the tributary valleys, and return to this of-
fice upon the conclusion of the season's work
unless otherwise ordered.

Your route of travel will be to Juneau, Alaska
(via Seattle, Washington), where you will pro-
cure, if possible, a small seaworthy sailing craft
with an auxiliary gasoline engine to be used in
case of emergency, and will cruise along the
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*] met me Waterloo in the Norton Bay region,”
Langille wrote:

Most of the time the weather was intolerable.
My camp hand proved incompetent, and to
make bad matters worse I cut my instep with
the axe, laid up ten days, traveled too soon,
opened the wound, it developed proud flesh, we
got out of supplies then had to raft down the
Tubutulik, found some Scandinavian fishermen
who took us in, were stormbound on Norton Bay
six days, but arrived in Nome in time to catch
this ship for Unalaska.

For 26 days we never saw a soul, white or
Eskimo, until we reached the coast, then I
couldn’t get a native to cross country with my
man—‘too much wet'—he never would have
found his way alone, I couldn't walk, so it
forced me to trade the horse for passage up the
coast, all regulations to the contrary not with-
standing, very joyful?

He took the St. Paul from Nome to Unalaska Island
but missed passage on the Dora to Valdez by a day, thus
facing the prospect of laying over at Dutch Harbor for
thirty days. Rather than do this, he persuaded the cap-
tain of the St. Paul to take him all the way to Seattle,
from which he could take passage to Valdez in the San-
ta Ana.t

The Norton Bay area had been withdrawn from
settlement on June 30, 1903, pending an investigation to
determine its suitability for forest reserve purposes.’
The area involved was the southeastern portion of the
Seward Peninsula, covering Norton Bay, Norton Sound,
Golovnin Bay, and extending inland approximately fifty
miles. This encompassed an area of 3,497,611 acres.
The area is of mixed topography, with the Darby Moun-
tains reaching elevations up to 3,000 feet. The many
stream valleys are swampy and filled with a great deal
of detrital material. There are poorly drained sloughs,
numerous ponds and swamps, and, in addition, there
are areas of high land and tundra.

The trees were restricted in area, poor in quality,
and limited to a single species, white spruce. The tim-
ber bodies existed in the lower stretches of the Koyuk
and Tubutulik rivers, in the meanders of the streams,
and on the better-drained slopes. The trees were of al-
most equal height and diameter throughout, with slim,
tapering outlines and short, scraggy limbs reaching
nearly to the ground. The crowns were light, the rapid
taper giving them strength to withstand winter winds.
Hence, there were relatively few windfalls. In addition,
a few stands of cottonwood, some reaching heights of
sixty feet and diameters of eighteen inches, were found
east of the Darby Mountains. The gross volume of
spruce he estimated at 1,500 board feet per acre. Al-
lowing for decay, this gave 900 feet per acre of spruce

over eight inches in diameter. The total volume for the
area he estimated at 30,127,000 board feet of commer-
cial forest and 1,071,508 cords of wood.

There had been no lumbering in the area of the
proposed reserve, and the only sawmill on the Seward
Peninsula was at Council City. The mill had cut 30,000
to 50,000 board feet per year from 1902 to 1904, for lo-
cal mining purposes and house logs. Logging was done
by horse during the winter months when miners were
idle. Although the logging operations were near the
border of the proposed reserve, Langille thought that
completion of a railroad in the area would make *'out-
side’” lumber in a position to compete favorably with
that locally produced.

Langille realized that there was grave danger of
fires in the area:

While there is a general absence of the usual
forest litter, and the trees are not close, there is
a period in the early summer of each year when
the prevailing north winds dry the surface of
the tundra and forest mosses to such an extent
that they readily ignite, and once caught, fire
spreads rapidly, generating sufficient head to
take hold of the resinous bark, the thin sap
trees being easily killed. Where burned, every
living thing, even to the heavy sphagnum moss
was killed, the moss being succeeded by a scat-
tering growth of grass, one variety, similar to
the western bunch grass, much liked by the
pack animal, in places the blueberry bushes
(V. uliginosum), then loaded with fruit, were re-
newing themselves as were the willows and
dwarf birches: but not a single spruce seedling
was seen in the areas burned four years
before.®

A further danger in fire was the slowness of reproduc-
tion. The trees were not prolific cone barers, and many
of those cones that did develop were immature. In addi-
tion, small seedlings were often killed by the browsing
of the Arctic hare.

In considering whether there should be a forest re-
serve made from the area, Langille weighed the vari-
ous factors and recommended against it. Mining, he
wrote, was the only occupation that would ever attract
a population to this cold, inhospitable area or create a
demand for timber. Placer mining locations would,

.under existing laws, absorb most of the timber along

the streams, in gulches, and ravines. On the other
hand, if no mining development occurred, the forest
would not be destroyed. On these grounds, therefore,
Langille recommended that the Norton Bay Forest Re-
serve not be created.” The area remained withdrawn
until 1907 and then was restored to the public domain.
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Boundary Work:
The Kenai Peninsula, 1904

Langille made an examination of the Prince Wil-
liam Sound area during September of 1904. He traveled
from Valdez to Seward on the steam launch Annie in
late September and made a short trip to Kenai Lake, re-
turning October 7. October was spent in examination of
the Kenai Peninsula. Purchasing a twenty-foot dory at
Kenai Lake, he floated down the river. From Kenai he
proceeded to Seldovia, hired a native, Alsenti Roman,
as guide and packer, and traveled to the head of Coal
Bay by boat, thence overland to Tustumena Lake and
back. He then went by boat from Seldovia to Resurrec-
tion Bay, arriving at Seward on the Dove on November
27, 1904. Later he made a trip up the Resurrection
River to investigate homesite locations.’

The Kenai Peninsula at the time was just begin-
ning a twenty-year boom period involving land, re-
sources, and railroad building. In 1903 Seattle capital-
ists had formed the Alaska Central Railroad Company
with plans to build inland across the peninsula and
then north to tap the Matanuska River coalfields and
eventually to reach the Yukon. It was one of several
such projects to reach interior Alaska by rail from the
coast. Like most of the others, its promoters were high
in optimism and low in capital. In the wake of the rail-
road, there had come a group of mineral and land
speculators who hoped to gain from the railroad ven-
ture. In addition, the Kenai area had become famous
for its population of the larger carnivores and herbi-
vores of the North American continent; members of the
Boone and Crockett Club and similar sportsmen’s
groups came to shoot bear, Dall sheep, caribou, and
moose. The permanent human population was sparse—
200 at Seward, mostly connected with the railroad; 200
at Kenai; 100 at Hope; and a scattering of smaller set-
tlements inland and fishing villages along the coast—
but it was a time of great expectations, with a boom-
town atmosphere at Seward.

On the peninsula Langille found a region of transi-
tion between the coastal type of forest and that of the
inland area. The topography was divided between
rugged mountains on the east, heavily glaciated, and a
central and western plateau, poorly drained and with a
network of streams, marshes, and lakes. Here were for-
ests of mountain hemlock, white spruce, birch, aspen,
and cottonwood, with some Sitka spruce and western
hemlock near the coast. He found the forests bordering
Prince William Sound to be of poor quality. At Port
Wells he found a woodland type of forest that would be
suitable for railroad ties but not for sawtimber. West of
Kings Bay the timber improved. In Resurrection Bay
there was an overly mature stand of spruce: the best

stands along the railroad line were being cut rapidly
for railroad purposes. Inland he found evidence of ear-
ly forest destroyed by fire before the Russian occupan-
cy. There the swamp had steadily encroached on what
had formerly been forestland. Reproduction in the
forests on the coast was good, though the new trees
were not so clear of limb or free from defect as the old
had been. In the interior and the mountains, on the other
hand, he found the reproduction of conifers after fires
“almost hopeless.’’ There were very few spruce seed-
lings in the burns; reproduction consisted of deciduous
shrubs and trees.®

Fire was an ever-present menace. As in the Norton
Sound area, the forests were particularly susceptible
to fires, and on the Kenai Peninsula they had taken
their toll. Fires were prevalent for a number of
reasons. One large fire had been set to get rid of mos-
quitos. The timber was destroyed, but the mosquitos re-
mained. Some fires, set to free the land of dry grass,
had spread into the forest. The railroad was a particu-
lar threat. In cutting ties and timber, wood crews left a
great deal of slash, and the locomotives were wood-
burning engines without spark arresters.®

Much of the lumber used in the area was imported
from Puget Sound. Local wood was consumed as fire-
wood. At Homer, a Philadelphia coal company had es-
tablished a dock and facilities, although the quality of
the coal was poor. Two sawmills had been established
at and near Hope—one of 10,000 feet capacity per day,
the other cutting 20,000. They had evidently been es-
tablished in the hope of profiting when the railroad
reached the area. The Alaska Central Railroad had in
1904 completed eleven and one-half miles of track, es-
tablished a sawmill and a cable logging operation, and
had cut about 13,000 feet per day, with a great deal of
waste in the milling. Most of the timber was cut from
land claimed by homesteaders, over the strong objec-
tion of the claimants. Their protests, however, were to
no avail. The chief engineer and manager of the Alaska
Central Railroad said he had been informed by the reg-
ister of the General Land Office that he could cut on
any location. The U.S. commissioner had told the
claimants that there was no legal resource. A large
number of the entries had been made for the timber
alone, Langille observed, with the intention of holding
up the railroad."

Much of the land on the Kenai had been alienated
under various land laws. The Alaska Central Railroad
had a right-of-way franchise, but it had difficulty build-
ing the required amount of track each year to keep its
franchise. It also had permission to take timber from
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the public domain to build bridges, trestles, and to
make ties. At the Land Office the practice was to re-
cord homestead and mineral locations, even though the
descriptions were incomplete. Langille listed 32 home-
stead entries, 32 coal land entries, 340 gold placers, 80
quartz mines, and 240 placer oil claims. However, no
assessment work had been done on the oil claims.
Groups of twelve to twenty men would associate to file
on claims, let them lapse, and then refile under a new
name, having no oil rigs or developments of any kind.
The Alaska Colonization and Development Company
had been organized to establish a Finnish colony on
Coal Bay, acquiring the land by use of soldiers’ addi-
tional homestead scrip. Langille condemned the ven-
ture as purely speculative. No paying gold prospects
had been found, and Langille reported abandoned
workings and unused hydraulic outfits."

Big game, Langille noted, was an important re-
source of the Kenai Peninsula. The moose range was in
the white spruce area near Coal Bay, that of the few re-
maining caribou in the same area, sheep were in the
Sheep Range, and bear were scattered throughout. Ac-
cording to Langille, the settlers in the area killed little
game, but Indians were wanton killers and visiting
trophy hunters were wasteful. The latter stayed for a
short time, killed as many good heads as they saw, and
then took out the best. Traders also hired Indians to kill
trophy-sized heads for sale to sportsmen. Langille rec-
ommended a stricter permit system, with all game
bagged reported, permits recorded, and licensed
guides to prevent abuse of the game laws. Settlers, he
reported, believed that a bounty on wolves would help
the game to survive. ‘‘The game of the region,”” Langille
wrote, ‘‘'should be a source of revenue to the people
and of pleasure and sport to the outsiders who wish to
hunt, and there should be some meeting place where
the game can be conserved, clashing interests har-
monized and trophy hunting permitted."

Public sentiment on a forest reserve in the area
varied. **Old-timers”’ feared restrictions on their fron-
tier privileges, but they recognized the need for timber
conservation and prevention of fire. Of the railroad fol-
lowers, some were transients but others who lived in
the immediate area were interested solely in develop-
ments that offered immediate profit. They opposed a
reserve. A few people recognized the importance of the
forestry movement, but most were indifferent.”

With many qualifications, Langille recommended
creation of a reserve encompassing most of the Kenai
Peninsula. Although there were no large settlements in
the area and the timber was not of high quality as com-
pared with that in the coastal area, he thought that the
needs of the future, plus the necessity of protecting the
area from fire, justified its creation. He recommended
that its boundaries run from Passage Canal to Prince
William Sound, thence southwest to Cape Puget, thence
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west to Coal Inlet, and north to Turnagain Arm, and
across the portage to Passage Canal. He said a portion
of the reserve should be made a game preserve,
stating:

...it is further recommended that certain por-
tions of the area included in the bounds of the
recommended Kenai Forest Reserve be made
game preserves, for perpetuating the game spe-
cies of the region, one to be located so as to in-
clude the favored habitat and breeding ground
of the mountain sheep (Ovis dalli kenaienses),
another to include the year round haunts of the
moose {Alce americanus gigas] and the range of
the few remaining caribou. For the first, I
would respectfully suggest an area to include
the headwaters of both branches of Sheep
Creek Valley, extending ten miles in an easterly
direction from the timber line at the east side of
Sheep Creek Valley; for the second I would sug-
gest an area 20 miles long by 13 miles wide, the
center of its northern end about opposite the T
spit, one mile south from the shore line of
Kasiloff Lake, to include the Caribou Moun-
tains."

Langille’s report is an important document from
several points of view. First, in making one of the first
recommendations that game preserves be established
in the region, it is closely connected with the history of
wildlife preservation in Alaska, particularly with
establishment of the Kenai Moose Range. In this, as in
his efforts to preserve the totem poles, Langille played
a pioneering role.

A second matter, which came to be of major im-
portance, was that of agricultural land. Langille
doubted that the area would have agricultural possibil-
ities. Writing to Pinchot in November 1904, he stated:

In my reports I shall hold these glacial valleys
with a covering of alluvial sediment supporting
a forest growth, forest lands, and not classify
them as possible or actual agricultural lands,
considering the possibility of anyone using them
for farm lands or grazing purposes is so small
as to preclude their possible classification in
this way."

Besides an uncertain climate and thin soil, there was
no market for farm produce or any forseeable growth
of such a market. Yet, the matter of land classification
troubled Langille. In the established states and terri-
tories, he wrote Pinchot, there was a precedent, based
on experience, for classifying agricultural land. But in
the Kenai area, where no one had ever made a living by
farming and the agricultural possibilities of the land,
when cleared, were unknown, there was no precedent
to follow. Who, in such circumstances, was to make the
decision? Langille operated on the assumption that all
well-forested lands were better for timber growing




than for agriculture, but he recognized that the ques-
tion of agricultural land in national forests would arise
not only in the Kenai area but also in the Matanuska
and the Susitna valleys: ‘I don’'t know where to begin
to call timbered lands cultivable and should like to
know who will settle the question finally.”

Another question raised in the same letter, one
that was to have repercussions for the future, was that
of revenue. Langille asked what the policy of the

government was in regard to making money. Should
revenue cover only the cost of administration, or should
it be based on the value of timber in the reserve?
Should the value of the timberlands be based on the
costs of their production and protection, or on the
value of the timber as set by competitive bid? In an
area of sparse volume per acre and a high cost for pro-
tection, the problems were far different from those in
the wet forests of the south.'

Boundary Work, 1905:
From Cook Inlet to Circle

During the late fall and early winter of 1904-1905,
Langille enthusiastically made plans for his winter trip
from his headquarters in Seward. He wrote his reports
on Norton Bay, Prince William Sound, and the Kenai
Peninsula and mailed them to F. E. Olmsted, who at that
time was chief of the Section of Reserve Boundaries.
He sent specimens of plants, cones, and leaves to Chief
of Dendrology George Sudworth. He straightened out
his accounts with Chief of Records James B. Adams and
wrote to Pinchot of his reflections on forestry in
Alaska. The injured foot, which had given him trouble
during the Kenai reconnaissance, had an opportunity
to heal so that by November 30 he could write, *its in-
ability to do its work is but a faded memory.” He se-
cured the services of an old friend, James Watson, as a
trail companion on the journey. During early winter he
began to collect the equipment for the trip—tents, a
sled, film, snowshoes, mapping equipment, and a .22 ri-
fle which, he wrote to Adams, ‘‘though unusual in your
accounts, is a most necessary part of a winter outfit, it
being a large item in the sustenance of a winter trip.”
He had difficulty acquiring suitable dogs, writing, **The
Tanana stampede has created a great demand and
raised the price of good dogs out of reason, almost as
bad as Dawson's palmy days, when I paid $300 for a
yellow hound, but he was worth it then.”"’

Langille's winter campaign involved travel up the
Matanuska River in advance of the railroad survey and
timber speculators, exploration of the Susitna and the
Talkeetna river valleys, and travel on to Fairbanks and
Circle to look at the interior forests. Watson set out
early in January, and Langille joined him at Kenai Lake
on January 26. One incident illustrates the spirit of the
place. Langille had purchased a quart of Hennessey
brandy for trail emergencies. On the day he left, every
saloonkeeper and storekeeper saw Langille to wish him
farewell and each brought a parting gift, a quart of the
finest brandy available. He departed with thirteen bot-
tles. Langille and Watson were accompanied as far as

Knik by two Indians who had been accused of murder-
ing a white man in the Kuskokwim Valley and brought
to Seward for trial. No evidence had been found
against them, so the deputy marshal asked Langille to
take them as far as Knik in exchange for their
assistance on the trail.

Langille and Watson explored the Cook Inlet area
for a time, then traveled up the Matanuska Valley and
down the Tazlina River to Copper Center, traveling
under excellent trail conditions. From Copper Center
Langille mailed film to the Forest Service in Washing-
ton and samples of coal and fossils to Alfred Brooks of
the Geological Survey. They then traveled up the
Gakona and down the Delta and Tanana rivers to Fair-
banks, which they reached on April 14, and from there
made the trip to Circle.'

The Cook Inlet area was geographically and topo-
graphically an extension of the area Langille had ex-
amined on the Kenai Peninsula. Cook Inlet, Knik Arm,
and Turnagain Arm are flanked on the eastern side by
a spur of the Chugach Mountains. On the north shore of
Turnagain Arm, the mountains approach closely to the
water. Rounding Point Campbell, he found a limited
amount of plateau land along the shore, narrowing as
the head of Knik Arm is approached, until below the
Knik River the Chugach Mountains rise abruptly from
the water's edge. The Knik River, in its lower reaches,
is a narrow glacial floodplain, devoid of timber or even
soil. The Matanuska River, with sources in both the
Chugach and the Talkeetna mountains, broadens in its
lower stretches, varying from seven to eight miles wide
further downstream. The valley is of uneven surface,
with traverse tributary streams and valleys, and has a
gravel and sandy surface soil that assumes a loamy
character near the foot of the mountains. Climatically,
it is the most favored section of the Cook Inlet area,
with warmer and drier winter seasons than are found
in other parts of the valley. From this standpoint,
Langille regarded it as the area best suited for agricul-
tural purposes of any part of Alaska.
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The area was virtually uninhabited in the winter
of 1905. The only settlements were a few small Indian
villages and the trading post at Knik, with a population
of four white men. George Palmer, the trader at Knik,
purchased skins from the Indians and also grew a
garden, which, Langille observed, demonstrated the
agricultural possibilities of the area. Unlike those of
the Kenai Peninsula, the Indians were not wanton
slaughterers of game, living instead mostly on rabbits.
Langille feared, however, that the coming of the rail-
road would encourage market hunting and debauch the
Indians.

The timber in the Cook Inlet area was of varying
quality and quantity. On the north shore of Turnagain
Arm were excellent stands of black hemlock and
spruce. These were on or near the railroad right-of-
way, however, and Langille feared that ‘“‘indiscriminate
cutting’’ by the railroad threatened the existence of the
forest. There was, he wrote, immediate need to protect
this forest in order that the mining interests might have
lumber. Beyond Point Campbell the timber deteriorat-
ed. Both sides of Knik Arm were devoid of commercial
forests, and there was a large amount of fire damage
on the eastern side. In the vicinity of Knik Station, there
was a 2,000-acre stand of pure birch containing 1.5
million board feet. The rest of the forest in the area
consisted of typical mixed inland stands of white
spruce, black spruce, birch, and aspen, not suitable for
sawtimber. Stands in the Matanuska Valley were es-
sentially of the same type, but with some good growth
of cottonwood on the river bars. There had been exten-
sive fire damage, both recently and in the remote past.
In view of the need for fire protection, Langille suggest-
ed cutting or burning fire lines around the better tracts
to protect them.

In 1905 there were few alienated lands except for
the coal land locations on the Matanuska and its tribu-
taries. The coal locations covered a large part of the
western side of the main valley, especially on Granite,
Moose, King, and Chickaloon creeks. The claims, Lan-
gille reported, were of questionable legality, having
been recorded ‘‘by and without power of attorney,”
and the locations ‘lapped and overlapped on the
ground and the recorded descriptions are so indefinite
that it is impossible to determine the located area until
surveys and amended location have been made.''"

In the Susitna and the Yentna valleys, Langille
found swampy floors having black spruce; the higher
ground had white spruce and birch. The forests were
of the woodland type, with the best stands carrying
1,000 to 2,000 board feet of spruce and 300 to 500
board feet of birch to the acre. Reproduction, he re-
ported, was slow, with development of willow, alder,
and birch before the spruce reproduced itself.»

Near Fairbanks Langille visited the lumber camps
on the upper Chena, from which 10 million board feet
had been cut in recent years to supply the needs of the
city. There were at the time eight sawmills in Fair-
banks, cutting from 5,000 to 20,000 board feet each
day. Many homestead locations had been made for
speculative purposes on the timbered land. Finding a
high fire hazard and slowly growing timber, Langille re-
garded restocking burned areas as hopeless. On the
question of reserves, he found opposition to any exten-
sion of the system into the interior. He hoped other
methods than the reserve system could be used to pro-
tect the forests.”

The Forests of the Interior, 1905-1911

The problems of Alaska’s interior forests, with
their high vulnerability to fire and the failure of the
government to establish a sale or management policy,
concerned the Forest Service continually for many
years. F. E. Olmsted, in his 1906 report on the Alexan-
der Archipelago, described the forests of the interior
as being scattered in strips along the streams and pro-
miscuously over the hills and mountains. The timber
was small and scrubby but of great local value in con-
nection with the mining industry. The interior was so
large and so little known, however, that it would be im-
possible to establish reserves without including great
areas that should, from the timber-producing view-
point, be left outside. The innumerable mineral loca-
tions would create chaos in reserve administration.
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Olmsted compared the American and Canadian
systems of handling the boreal forest. In Canada the
timber was sold for revenue at a minimum cost of $2
per thousand, a figure based on the assumption that
the average life of a placer district is from five to fifty
years and that it would be foolish to provide for a
future supply of timber when the area would later be
abandoned. Assuming that the locality would be aban-
doned, Olmsted wrote, this policy made sense. On the
other hand, in the United States the General Land Of-
fice had the same policy in the interior that it had in
southeastern Alaska; namely, that of allowing cutting
without supervision and settling at twenty cents per
thousand on the basis of innocent trespass. Olmsted be-
lieved it was foolish of the government virtually to give
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away its timber, particularly in an area where common
lumber sold at $50 to $70 per thousand and finished
lumber at $100. It was also foolish to be unable to sell
the timber without making a trespass case out of the
transaction. Olmsted recommended that the secretary
of the interior appraise the timber of the Tanana and
Yukon watersheds, set one price for the district, and
call for bids, thus ending the ‘‘innocent trespass’ fic-
tion. He assumed that such power could be legally dele-
gated to the local Land Office agents.?

A large number of scientific reports during this
period also gave the Forest Service a better evaluation
of the interior forests. These included reports by mem-
bers of the U.S. Geological Survey, such as Alfred
Brooks, Fred Moffitt, W. C. Mendenhall, and E. C. Bar-
nard; Wilfred Osgood of the U.S. Biological Survey; Jo-
seph Herron of the War Department; and Judge James
Wickersiam. One report, that of E. C. Barnard of the
Geological Survey, on the forest conditions in the Forty-
mile Quadrangle, was made at the request of the Divi-
sion of Forestry, which had under consideration a
forest reserve there. These reports gave the Forest
Service a better knowledge of the forest conditions in
the interior and aided it in planning for future reserves
and recommendations for forest policy. #

Royal S. Kellogg, in preparation for his monograph
on the forests of Alaska, examined the forests of the in-
terior in 1909 and reported them to be of the woodland
type, covering about 80 million acres, of which proba-
bly half had timber of a size suitable for cordwood or
sawlogs. The better stands, he reported, might carry
twenty cords per acre of birch and aspen, or several
thousand feet of sawtimber. The major use of timber
near Fairbanks was for fuel, with an annual consump-
tion of 15,000 to 20,000 cords. Steamboats on the
Tanana and the Yukon also consumed much fuel. Fair-
banks at that time had three sawmills, two with a
capacity of 20,000 feet per day and one smaller. They
were supplied by loggers who did their cutting on the
Chena River, seventy-five miles above Fairbanks, and
floated the logs down. In the interior there were mills
at Council, Rampart, and on the Copper and the Susitna
rivers, but Kellogg estimated that the total cut of saw-
timber in the interior did not exceed 4 million board
feet per year. The Land Office, by 1909, had raised its
price on stumpage to $1 for sawtimber and twenty-five
cents per cord for fuelwood.

Fire was a major hazard. As Kellogg wrote, ‘It
probably would not be far from the truth to say that in
the Fairbanks district ten times as much timber has
been killed by fire as has been cut for either fuel or
timber.” Fire was caused by miners and hunters leav-
ing campfires or mosquito smudges burning, by miners
clearing land so they could follow the rock outcrops,
and by others who deliberately set fires to secure dry
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timber. All of this loss was aided by the dry hot sum-
mers and by trees particularly susceptible to fire. The
greatest need in the interior, Kellogg wrote, was for
some system of fire protection.*

During the early fall and winter of 1903-1904, Lan-
gille had pondered the problems of forest administra-
tion and protection in the inland forests. On the basis of
his own observations and experience, he later present-
ed Pinchot with a provocative plan for the management

.of the Alaskan forests, adapting the law to Alaskan

conditions. The letter deserves to be reproduced in its
entirety. It summarizes the dilemma of the Alaskan re-
source manager in reconciling the need for conserva-
tion with the necessity of development. His plan for the
forests of Alaska foreshadowed those developed later
by Harold Ickes and the Bureau of Land Management.

Seward, Alaska, Jan. 10, 1905
Chief Forester
Bureau of Forestry
Washington, D.C.
Dear Sir:

In a recent letter I intimated sending to you
my reasons for asking the setting aside of all
forest lands of Southeast Alaska as a forest re-
serve. I will even go farther now and say that
all the forest lands of Alaska if not set aside as
forest reserves, should at least be placed
under the control and care of foresters, and the
cutting carried on under their supervision, with
such regulations as the different districts with
their varying conditions demand.

It is difficult for one not acquainted with the
forests of this region to comprehend their gen-
erally impoverished condition and the small
amount merchantable timber that really exists
in a territory so generally forested as this is. In
moving to the north and west the study of the
forest always results in favor of those previous-
ly seen, there being a constant decadence in
size and quality, but still of relative value to the
community where it exists and needs the same
attention. Observations on the Kenai Peninsula
this fall, coupled with previous experience on
the Yukon, brings to mind a realization of the
really small amount of saw timber which exists
away from the coast and this subject to fire
which is generally fatal to the thin barked
white spruce whose slow reproduction—in
places almost hopeless—with the slow growth
of the trees after they do start, puts the time
that they will attain a size suitable for use so
far in the future that it makes a forester's
arguments for forest protection seem farcical
to the layman with utilitarian tendencies who



sees only the need of the hour. It is these condi-
tions of slow reproduction and growth which
emphasizes the necessity of cutting timber
under regulations and demands the protection
of the living trees whose existence represents
so0 many years of time and though small are in-
valuable to the people where every new re-
source is a new demand for timber and at the
same time an added menace to the living forest.

The existing forest reserve law does not ex-
actly meet the requirements of Alaska. It is too
restricting and in a measure unjust to so new a
country to include in a forest reserve an entire
region with its latent possibilities so little devel-
oped or understoad which at the same time is so
much in need of forest protection to maintain its
forests.

I would propose a measure placing every foot
of timber in Alaska under government control
and provide for its disposition and care under
forest reserve regulations, without with-
drawing the land from settlement, the one
drawback to the present reserve law. The Alas-
ka Code, Carters Annotated Alaska Codes, Sec.
11 P460 provides: '‘That the Secretary of the In-
terior under such rules and regulations as he
may prescribe may come to appraise the timber
or any part thereof upon public lands in the
District of Alaska and may from time to time
sell so much as he may deem proper for not less
than the appraised value thereof, in such quan-
tities to each purchaser as he shall prescribe to
be used in the District of Alaska but not for ex-
port therefrom.”

This law makes no provision for cutting
under regulations nor for the classification of
the lands to segregate the agricultural areas as
would be necessary under a new measure nor
does it provide for the administration of the
forest lands in any specific manner.

It strikes me that the withdrawal of large
areas of wild land with no development to
demonstrate its possibilities, especially in this
region with its future all before it, there is a
weakening of the reserve policy if reserves are
created, administration provided for and, later
it is found necessary to reopen to settlement
any part of them, whereas my idea would pre-
pare for this and at the same time protect the
forests for the future settler and care for those
which would surround him.

I would be pleased to have an expression of
your view on this matter and if you thought it
worthy of consideration, the earlier it could be
brought about the better it would be for all
concerned.

The time for a sentimental consideration of
the time honored privileges of the pioneer has
passed, the conditions which have brought
about a relaxation of law in his favor are no
more, Civilization in Alaska anyway, follows too
closely in his footsteps with an element who
abuse every right and privilege ever granted in
his name without them deriving any of the bene-
fits and he should no longer be considered a
factor in the enactment of the laws for frontier
communities or regulations under such laws.?

The Chugach National Forest, 1907:
Initial Proclamation

In accordance with Pinchot’s instruction, W. A.
Langille made an examination of the Prince William
Sound area in 1904 and made recommendations to the
chief of reserve boundaries in January 1905. He stated
in an accompanying letter that the report was incom-
plete and was only intended to give an idea of condi-
tions there.® A year later he discussed the area with
F. E. Olmsted when the latter came to Alaska on his in-
spection trip. Olmsted was indifferent about the pro-
posed reserve at the time. There were, he said, no
strong reasons either for or against creating the
reserve.”” In 1907, however, there came a flurry of ac-
tivity within the Forest Service regarding new re-
serves, partly because of a movement within Congress

to curb the president’s power to create reserves by ex-
ecutive proclamation. The Alaska reserves came up for
consideration, and by March the Forest Service had de-
cided to create new reserves both in southeastern
Alaska and in the Prince William Sound area.

The proposal met with strong opposition from
Richard Ballinger, commissioner of the General Land
Office. In a meeting with Forest Service officers, he dis-
cussed the reserves, succeeded in cutting down on the
size of that in the Panhandle, and objected strongly to
that in Prince William Sound.* He quoted Langille's re-
port to the effect that there was relatively little sawtim-
ber in the Prince William Sound district in proportion
to its area and that there was no danger that the forest
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would fail to perpetuate itself. Ballinger expounded at
length on his belief that the reserve would nullify most
of the laws used to acquire land in the area and would
render the existing laws more difficult to enforce. He
quoted Langille's statement, in his 1905 report, that
creation of a reserve might be premature and incon-
sistent with the sparse population and lack of economic
development in the area. He referred to Langille's as-
sertion that it would be better to regulate the forest
lands in Alaska by forest officers, without withdrawing
the area from settlement ‘‘when the resources are en-
tirely undeveloped and might be retarded by reserva-
tion."'®

Despite Ballinger’s objections, the Chugach Na-
tional Forest was proclaimed on July 23, 1907; it
extended from the Copper River on the east to the bor-
ders of the Kenai Peninsula on the west and inland to
the Chugach Mountains.*

Langille received news of the proclamation at his
headquarters in Ketchikan. He made plans to visit the
area but had his usual difficulties with transportation.
The Alaska Coast Company steamers did not stop in
Ketchikan, so he had to arrange for transportation to
Juneau. He left Ketchikan on August 7, caught the Port-
land at Juneau a week later and arrived at Valdez the
morning of August 20. There he spent a week inter-
viewing people and explaining forest policy. He caught
the Portland on its return from Kodiak on August 28,
reached Juneau on September 2, and Ketchikan on Sep-
tember 6.

The Chugach National Forest, comprising 4,960,000
acres, consisted of the narrow coastal plain and exten-
sions back from the coast to the crest of the Chugach
Mountains. It was located on Prince William Sound, a
magnificent body of water, protected from ocean swells
and storms by large offshore islands—Montague, Hin-
chinbrook, Hawkins, Latouche, and many smaller ones.
The largest river then marking the eastern border of
the reserve was the Copper, a glacial stream with a
wide delta. The Lowe River, at the head of the Valdez
Arm, was next in size. The principal mountain range
was the Chugach, rough and rugged, with peaks up to
13,000 feet and many glaciers. There was but little
level land, and this mainly on the flood plains of gla-
ciers. The climate was one of excessive rain in the sum-
mer and fall and heavy snow in the winter; in the
winter of 1906-1907, Valdez reported twelve feet of
snow on the level.

Valdez was the most important town. Located on
an excellent harbor, it had been the scene of a major
mining rush in 1898-1899, when thousands of men
crossed the Valdez Glacier in search of gold in the in-
terior. In 1907 it had a population of 500 to 700. It was
the coastal terminus of the all-American mail route to
the interior, the connecting point of the U.S. cable with

44

the telegraph lines that kept interior Alaska in touch
with the world. Valdez was the supply point for fisher-
men and for prospectors working toward the head-
waters of the Copper River.

There were a few other settlements. Cordova had
experienced a railroad boom a few years before but
had declined in population until, in 1907, it had only a
half-dozen inhabitants. Ellamar, a post office twenty-
eight miles from Valdez, had a few miners in residence.
Latouche and Reynolds were small towns on Latouche
Island. Orca, near Cordova, was a cannery site, inhab-
ited only in the summer. There was, in addition, Lan-
gille reported, a floating population of 500 to 1,000
miners and prospectors.*

Langille went to Valdez during a railroad boom. In
this area, as in Seward, projects were under way to
reach the interior by railroad. Also, just outside the
eastern edge of the reserve, two railroads, one con-
trolled by the Bruner interests and the other by the
Guggenheims, were planned to reach the interior by
way of Copper River from Katalla. The Valdez and
Yukon Railroad had an established right-of-way from
Valdez about twenty miles inland and had completed
about five miles of grading by 1907. Just prior to Lan-
gille's visit in that year, however, another promoter
entered the race to the interior. H. D. Reynolds, of the
Reynolds-Alaska Development Company (a company
backed by Boston capital and with Governor Wilford B.
Hoggatt as one of the directors), announced his plan in
August to build an electric railroad to the interior. He
asked the town for moral and financial support. The
Alaska Home Railway Company was formed, stock is-
sued, and construction begun on a narrow-gauge rail-
way with the intention of reaching the summit of the
Chugach Mountains before winter. The H. D. Reynolds
interests also purchased copper properties and formed
subsidiary companies to control virtually every busi-
ness in town, including the sawmill and roadhouses. Lo-
cal men whose businesses were absorbed were gen-
erally put in charge of their former concerns if they
purchased sufficient stock. With all these fireworks,
Reynolds lacked a right-of-way across the newly creat-
ed national forest. Langille gave him tentative permis-
sion to go ahead on construction of the line, pending a
formal application.

The chief economic activity of the Prince William
Sound area was copper mining. Four mines were active
in 1907 at Landlocked Bay, Ellamar, and Latouche Is-
land. The Reynolds interests also had developed prop-
erties at Landlocked Bay, Boulder Bay, and Latouche Is-
land. There were, in addition, many mineral locations
“made for all sorts of purposes.’ Fishing was carried
on principally near Orca, where there was a cannery,
and, prior to 1907, there had been fox farming on some




of the islands. Transportation, as in the Alexander Ar-
chipelago, was mostly by boat. The Northwestern
Steamship Company, owned by the Guggenheims, car-
ried mail to Katalla, Valdez, and Seward. The Alaska
Coast Company's steamers, owned by the Reynolds in-
terests, carried mail to the same ports and also to Sel-
dovia and Kodiak. Local transportation was by small
boat, costing for charter $60 per day for short trips and
$45 per day for charters of ten days, everything fur-
nished, or $15 to $20 per day if the charter party fur-
nished everything. There was relatively little alienated
land in the forest, since most of this land had been ex-
cluded by the proclamation creating it. Langille report-
ed, however, that there were some homestead entries
evidently designed to control the timber sought by the
railroads.

The timber in the area was largely Sitka spruce,
black spruce, and black hemlock. Good bodies of timber
were infrequent and largely confined to the settled
bays of the islands. But, while not abundant or of the
best quality, the timber was needed to supply the
mines. There was a dense undergrowth, as was typical
of the coastal forests. Reproduction was spontaneous;
forest fires were unknown. Though good sawtimber
was limited, there was an abundance of material for
ties, piling, and mining timbers.

Only a limited amount of lumbering was being car-
ried on in 1907. Most of the lumber used was imported
from Puget Sound. The Copper River Lumber Company
operated a mill in Valdez and also sold Puget Sound
lumber. The mill was a fairly modern circular-saw out-
fit, with combination planer, edger, and cutoff saw, and
a capacity of 14,000 board feet per day. There was an
inactive mill near a cannery on Galena Bay, and a per-
mit was pending to set up a mill on Latouche Island to
supply local mining needs. Handlogging was the com-
mon practice. The Copper River Lumber Company owned
the only steam logger on the sound; it operated from a
scow and moved from place to place. The loggers re-
ceived $7.50 per thousand for logs at the place of cut-
ting, ready for rafting; towage was about $3.50 per
thousand. Spruce was the sawtimber most sought;
hemlock was little used. In scaling logs and observing
the mill operation, Langille noticed that the timber was
free from heart shake, unlike that further to the south,
and that the spruce, though small, was sound.

Langille found that creation of the reserve had not
brought about much antagonism in Valdez. Mining in-
terests regarded control of cutting by the government
as a right and preferred the businesslike handling of
sales by the Forest Service to that of the Land Office.
There was an undercurrent of hostile feeling among
the mining men on the Sound, based on a rumor that the
reserve was created at the request of the Guggenheim

interests and that the timber would not be sold or dis-
posed of until the big operators could use it. Langille
made a ‘‘complete and emphatic’ denial of this rumor
and secured the miners' support. H. D. Reynolds also
supported the reserve idea.

Langille's recommendations regarding the reserve
reflect the dominant political and social tenets held by
the Roosevelt conservationists. Langille claimed that a
national forest was justified in *‘the surveillance the
Forest Service will maintain over the location and
usage of its public lands by vested interests, who would
exploit them for their own selfish interests to the exclu-
sion of the individual. While it is true,” he wrote,
*‘[that] the mineral resources of such a region cannot
be brought to the producing stage by the individual, he
still has his rights and should be encouraged in his ef-
forts; no less should capital in its efforts at develop-
ment be protected from unscrupulous individuals who
seek by every known method of extortion to obstruct
and hinder every enterprise undertaken."” Roosevelt
himself could not have expounded more eloquently the
tenets of his ‘‘Square Deal.”

Langille believed that Latouche and Knight islands
might be excluded from the reserve in view of their
mineral locations. He anticipated that the railroad
boom would lead to large sales of sawtimber, ties, and
piling. In such cases, the settlements for trespass
should be on the basis of those then charged in the
Alexander Archipelago; later, when the forest was or-
ganized, prices should be based on accessibility and lo-
cal needs. He recommended that headquarters for the
forest be established in Valdez, which had cable con-
nections with Ketchikan, and that a powerboat be pur-
chased for transportation.”

With characteristic energy, Langille settled timber
trespass cases in the area before he left. He made a
settlement with the Valdez and Yukon Railroad Com-
pany for 10,000 feet cut in trespass, with the Valdez
Dock Company for 3,170 feet of piling, and with the
Copper River Lumber Company for 560,290 feet. In ad-
dition, he made sales amounting to 403,000 feet of
sawtimber.®
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IV. Chugach National Forest boundaries in 1909




Additions and Eliminations
in the Chugach, 1907-09

Shortly after the initial proclamation of the Chu-
gach, some areas were eliminated in the vicinity of
Valdez. Made at the request of business interests, they
included an area one mile back from tidewater on
Valdez Arm, amounting in all to 83,000 acres, on which
mineral locations had already been made.*

In his 1907 report on the Chugach National Forest,
Langille also recommended that additional areas be
withdrawn from entry and added to the forest: the
north shore of Turnagain Arm; Knik Arm; and up the
Knik River to the junction with the Chugach. His reason
was wasteful cutting by the Alaska Central Railroad,
notably in the Rainbow, Indian, Bird and Glacier creek
areas. Excellent stands of spruce and black mountain
hemlock were located in these areas. The Alaska Cen-
tral Railroad, between 1905 and 1907, had set up two
sawmills and cut 3 million feet of timber, which had
been left in the woods to decay. The railroad itself
would need timber for construction purposes, and it
was also the most available sawtimber in Alaska for
the coal mines to be developed on the Matanuska River.
Failing other means of preventing such ‘‘wanton
waste’’ of timber, Langille recommended addition of
this area to the Chugach National Forest.*

In another change, President Roosevelt added the
Afognak Fish Culture and Forest Reserve to the Chu-
gach National Forest by executive order July 2, 1908.
Afognak Island, however, remained under joint
jurisdiction of the Forest Service and the U.S. Fish Com-
mission, with the dominant use of the island being for
fish culture.*

In 1909 Langille submitted to E. T. Allen, the dis-
trict forester of District 6, further recommendations on
the Cook Inlet area. He reported that since 1905 there
had been little general development in the area except
on the tributaries of the Yentna, where gold had been
discovered. In consequence, there was some interest in

steamboat transportation on the Yentna and the Susit-
na. He warned that the rush of prospectors for gold
and the need of timber by coal miners made an addi-
tional threat to the forests. ‘‘This year is an opportune
time,” Langille advised, *‘to begin a system of forest
production that will so far as possible save the live
timber.”” He ended his report by writing:

This is a region vast, isolated, almost unin-
habited, possessing a rigorous climate and
meager forests, but it has latent possibilities,
and although it may seem a far cry to their de-
velopment and the interests of the intervening
period unworthy with little hope of a sustaining
income, the project is nevertheless a worthy
one.

His recommendations for a Talkeetna National
Forest included a 10,294,720-acre tract, including the
valleys of the Talkeetna, Yentna, Susitna, and the
Matanuska rivers from Cook Inlet to timberline along
the divide.” .

With the creation of the Chugach National Forest,
Langille received additional help. A man named H. M.
Conrad, a Forest Service employee from Wyoming, was
sent to Valdez in January 1908. More important, Lage
Wernstedt came to Ketchikan in 1908 and was sta-
tioned at Cordova. Wernstedt, a graduate of Yale Uni-
versity, had studied in Sweden where the forests re-
sembled those in Alaska. He had great physical endur-
ance, liked Alaska, and was a good physicist and math-
ematician, as well as a capable forester. He was also
the bane of government inventory and property clerks
because of carelessness with both personal and gov-
ernment property. His major duties in Cordova were to
administer a large timber sale on the Copper River and
Northwestern Railway, do boundary work, and make
silvicultural reports.* In 1908 Wernstedt reported on a
proposed addition to the Chugach National Forest
along the coast between Copper River and Icy Bay. This
area was one in which there had been a great deal of
speculative interest. Langille had reported in 1904 that
everything was staked well up the side of the range,
wherever free from ice, including most of the forest
area of the region. It was held as coal lands or placer
oil claims, much of it not recorded but restaked from
time to time to avoid paying recording fees. Recorded
claims were renewed under new company names by
the same individuals to avoid payment for assessment
work. The recording was done by agents, operating
under powers of attorney given them by individuals
who never saw the land.
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Ballinger and Pinchot

The years of 1909 and 1910 were crucial in the
history of the Alaskan forests. They were marked by
the transition of power from Roosevelt to Taft, the af-
fair involving Ballinger and Pinchot, and the replace-
ment of Chief Forester Pinchot by Henry S. Graves. The
crisis in conservation during the first year of Taft's ad-
ministration has been variously evaluated by histori-
ans. Some, like John M. Blum, have dismissed it as
sound and fury, signifying nothing, Others have treated
the matter as one of profound political significance.® It
is appropriate in this study to deal with the matter from
the standpoint of resource management and forestry in
Alaska. Seen from a regional rather than a national
viewpoint, the affair marks a watershed in Alaskan
conservation history."

The changing of the guard led to concerns about
conservation policy. Conservation work had been car-
ried on smoothly with Roosevelt as president, Pinchot
as chief forester, and James Garfield as secretary of
the interior. The two departments, Interior and Agri-
culture, had a working arrangement and cooperative
agreements regarding examination of claims within na-
tional forests, forestry on Indian reservations, and the
like. Pinchot became concerned over the possibility
that Taft would fail to follow the Roosevelt-Pinchot
policies. He became even more concerned when he
learned that Garfield would be replaced by Ballinger
as secretary under Taft. One result of this concern was
an effort to secure the gains already made. Admin-
istrative withdrawals of ranger station sites were
made to protect power site possibilities. In view of Ball-
inger’s hostility to the creation of the Tongass and the
Chugach national forests, it may be conjectured that
additions to them in February 1909 were made to con-
solidate the position of the Forest Service in Alaska.

With the acquisition of Ballinger’s papers by the
University of Washington, historians have tried to get
at the roots of his personality and ideology. The inter-
pretation that emerges, and which is probably correct,
pictures Ballinger as a self-made man. He came from
humble beginnings, went west, and grew up with the
country, becoming a successful lawyer, a reform mayor
who cracked down on gambling and prostitution in
Seattle, and a capable and efficient administrator.
Though he enjoyed the company of men of power, posi-
tion, and wealth, he was without personal political am-
bition. He was reticent, controlled, self-righteous,
proud, and considered himself a good Republican in the
Roosevelt tradition. He managed the Land Office with
efficiency from the businessman’s point of view, remov-
ing superannuated clerks and inefficient employees,

replacing pens and ink with typewriters, simplifying
forms for homestead applications, and reorganizing
where necessary.

The Roosevelt tradition embraced elements other
than business efficiency. In resource management,
Ballinger's ideas represented reaction rather than
progress. He believed in the traditional function of the
Land Office—that it existed to get the public domain in-
to private hands. He was ignorant of resource prob-
lems and management and tended to misinform him-
self. In the Pacific Northwest’s major struggle for fire
control—which involved state, federal, and private
cooperation—Ballinger actively opposed such coopera-
tion. He believed in departmental autonomy and a
chain-of-command administration, and he disliked
what he considered to be Pinchot's empire-building and
close association with Roosevelt. He had the distrust of
the self-made westerner for the easterner of inherited
wealth, and of the common-sense businessman for the
expert.*

There are other aspects of Ballinger’'s environ-
ment and character that deserve further research. He
was a Republican, but a Puget Sound Republican. Puget
Sound was the center of opposition to Pinchot and to
the Forest Service. Cornelius Hanford, John Wilson,
William Humphrey, J. J. Donovan, E. W. Ross, and
others were among the men with whom Pinchot and E.
T. Allen had to battle in order to implement their pro-
grams. These doctrinaire opponents to the Forest Serv-
ice were Ballinger's customary associates, and they
undoubtedly told Ballinger what he wanted to believe.®

Historian James L. Penick has stressed economic
colonialism as a factor in Ballinger’s opposition to Pin-
chot. His thesis is that the Puget Sound area became
frustrated at the invasion of eastern capital—the Hills,
the Weyerhaeusers, and others, and at the draining of
the West's wealth by the East. Ballinger emerged as a
champion of the small local businessmen and capital-
ists who desired their own opportunities to expand.*
Whether or not Penick’s thesis is true, the fact should
be noted that Puget Sound protests against economic
colonialism did not extend to their own activities in
regard to Alaska. Since the gold rush of 1898 (and even
before), Puget Sound entrepreneurs had looked upon
Alaska as an area for their own exploitation. Some of
these have already been noted—the Rush and Brown
group and the promoters of the Alaska Central Rail-
road—and others will appear on the scene. Ballinger
knew these men as friends and colleagues, and he
shared their views. Evidence of this affinity include his
statements protesting creation of the Chugach and the
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The Cunningham Claims

As early as 1904, Langille noted that most of the
Controller Bay area, from the coast back to the gla-
ciers, was blanketed by coal and oil placer claims,
many of questionable legality. Several groups of claims
were located in the area tributary to Bering River, an
area bounded by Bering Glacier, Martin Glacier, Mar-
tin River, and Bering Lake. At least 1,100 separate
groups of claims were involved, most of them staked in
the names of men who never saw them but gave power
of attorney to some prospector or agent. The English
Syndicate, Harling group, Chezum group, Hunt-Harri-
man group, and Green-Young group are among those
that appear on the records.

The Cunningham claims were a group of thirty-
three claims situated near the 144th meridian and in-
land from the coast about twenty-six miles. Of these,
twenty-one were included within the Chugach National
Forest under the 1909 addition. The claimants were
businessmen, many from the state of Washington, for
whom Idaho mine owner Clarence Cunningham had
staked claims under power of attorney. The plan of the
Cunningham interests was, in addition to working the
claims, to take up sufficient timberland, as mining
claims, to supply their construction timber and stulls
and to utilize the waterpower of Bering Lake and Ber-
ing River. Plans were also made to acquire more timber
by use of scrip. Access to the claims was by the Bering
River and by a series of trails through a jungle of
devilsclub and willow. Elevations on the claims ran
from 200 up to 2,500 feet, and the terrain was dissect-
ed by steep-bank streams, including the Stillwater,
Canyon Creek, and Trout Creek.

The claims had first been explored in 1903. Pros-
pecting was done on some of the claims, a survey run,
and a wagon road built. But no actual mining was car-
ried on. In due time, the claimants paid $10 per acre
for their parcels and applied at the Juneau branch of
the General Land Office for entry of all thirty-three
claims. All that remained was the clearlisting of the
claims and issue of patents.®

Meanwhile, rumors of possible fraudulent prac-
tices in obtaining Alaska coal lands reached the Gen-
eral Land Office. In 1907, when Ballinger was commis-
sioner of the General Land Office, he received conflict-
ing reports on the claims from field agents. Horace
Jones recommended a rigorous investigation on rumors
that the claims were tending to the Guggenheims; H. K.
Love said the claims were bona fide. Meanwhile, the
claimants did sign an agreement with the Guggenheim-
Morgan group, agreeing to consign a partial interest in
the claims when they came to patent.

During Ballinger's period of private law practice,
between his term as commissioner of the General Land
Office and his appointment as secretary of the interior,
he advised the claimants. A question remains as to
whether he consulted with them as a friend or as a law-
yer with clients. On becoming secretary of the interior,
Ballinger requested the clearlisting of the Cunningham
claims. Louis Glavis, the field officer of the General
Land Office in Seattle, wished to delay clearlisting of
the claims pending field examination in the summer of
1909. He became convinced that Ballinger and his suc-
cessor as commissioner, Fred Dennett, were erecting a
roadblock to his investigation. James Sheridan, another
agent appointed to look into the Alaskan claims, sup-
ported this view.

Glavis's objections to clearlisting the claims rested
on three major grounds: first, that the claims would be
worked as a unit rather than as individual holdings;
second, that the coal mine laws applicable were violat-
ed; and third, that the mining laws were being used to
obtain timber.® In regard to the last matter, the admin-
istrative decision pertinent was Grand Canyon Railway
v. Cameron, a case involving fraudulent claims on the
rim of the Grand Canyon. The decision stated: ‘'Lands
belonging to the United States cannot be lawfully locat-
ed or title thereto by patent legally acquired, under the
mining laws, for purposes foreign to mining or the de-
velopment of minerals.” Pinchot had felt this decision
to be of such importance that he had it printed in the
Field Program of the Forest Service for 1908.%

The Forest Service became concerned with the
Cunningham claims through a series of circumstances,
accidents, and mishaps. In 1908, with the establish-
ment of a regional system of administration, District
Forester E. T. Allen initiated the practice of conferring
with the chief of the Field Division of the General land
Office for the Pacific Northwest and Alaska. This prac-
tice was necessary for the transfer of timber sales
from Land Office jurisdiction to that of the Forest Serv-
ice, as well as to keep the Forest Service informed on
land claims within the boundaries of national forests.*

On July 13, 1909, a disturbed Louis Glavis met with
Allen in Portland. Five days earlier Glavis had sent his
superior, H. H. Schwartz, a letter stating the necessity
for a field examination of the Cunningham claims be-
fore clearlisting them for a patent. The letter was re-
ferred to the wrong file and did not reach Schwartz un-
til July 17. Meanwhile, Glavis received orders to pro-
ceed with the hearings. Allen asked Glavis for informa-
tion on claims work within the national forest and be-
came alarmed at his account. Allen’s alarm stemmed,
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first, from the intimations of fraud, which tended to
substantiate previous reports by Lage Wernstedt and
W. A. Langille on speculative activities in the area. Sec-
ond, the Land Office had failed to inform him of the
pending hearings, an omission of established practice.
Third, Glavis reported that the claimants were taking
up four of the claims for timber rather than mineral
values—a violation of the law. Allen realized that a
field examination of the claims was necessary, with
Forest Service participation to determine the truth of
the allegations. He decided to write a letter to Pinchot,
requesting a field examination, and he asked Glavis to
send a supporting telegram to A. C. Shaw, the Forest
Service law officer, to make certain that there was no
misunderstanding.

Allen wrote the letter on Thursday, July 15. It
could not have arrived in Washington before Saturday,
and probably not until Monday, July 19. Glavis, mean-
while, waited until Friday, July 16, and then sent his
telegram to Shaw. Therefore, the first word that the
Forest Service in Washington received of the matter
came from Glavis. The result was very much of a mix-
up. Shaw, much alarmed, requested the Land Office to
hold off any further hearings and asked Allen for fur-
ther information. Allen was out of the office on July 16,
and George Cecil, acting district forester, knew nothing
about the situation. The Land Office, meanwhile, was
deeply alarmed and affronted. It appeared to the Land
Office that Glavis's telegram was designed to initiate
action by an appeal to another department.*

The misunderstanding was never cleared up.
Glavis was removed from charge of the Alaska coal
cases. His visit with Allen and the telegram to Shaw
were among the charges on which Ballinger asked for
his dismissal. Ballinger wrote:

I call attention to the fact that Glavis went in-
to conference with the office of the Forest Serv-
ice in Portland, who are his subordinates, and
wired Mr. Shaw, of the Forest Service in Wash-
ington, without authority from the Chief of the
Special Agent Service, Mr. Schwartz.»

In a long letter to Pinchot, which deserves to be
quoted in full, Allen explained the matter:

September 4, 1909

The Forester

Washington, D.C.

Dear Sir:

The newspaper stories about the Cunning-
ham Coal cases seem to agree pretty well on
one point which I fear may be an injustice to
Mr. Glavis. Certainly it will be if he fails to sup-
port his contentions. This is the statement
which, if not originally made by the Forest Serv-
ice, at least has not been challenged by it, that
the first information received by it of the true
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and acute situation came from a personal tele-
gram by Mr. Glavis to Mr. Shaw of July 16. It
may easily be charged that such action by
Glavis was both wrong and irregular and in it-
self showed questionable motives.

Mr. Glavis told me personally the whole story
on July 13. It came about as the result of our dis-
covery that some of the claims involved were in
the Chugach National Forest. We discussed the
best method of delaying the precipitate action
which seemed imminent and agreed that I
should notify you officially, while in the mean-
time he sent a telegram to Shaw to make sure
there would be no misunderstanding. In short,
my official notice to you was to be used as a
means of securing delay and hence would prob-
ably have to be shown in its entirety to the
Department of the Interior and require
cautious wording. This was particularly true
because Mr. Glavis requested protection
against the very sort of compromising charge
which has actually resulted—that he acted ir-
regularly in an attempt to enlist the Forest
Service against his superiors. The real truth is
that as Chief of Field Division in charge of the
cases, he gave their status upon the request of
the District Forester, responsible for the
Chugach National Forest, who demanded this
information immediately [when] he found that
the Forest was involved, and Glavis could not
refuse to give it to him without official
discourtesy.

I had no opportunity to write to you the fol-
lowing day, being obliged to attend a lumber-
man’s meeting, but did so upon the 15th. I also
added a personal letter to Mr. Shaw explaining
Glavis' request that we make it very clear how
he came to give me the information.

In spite of all this, the public impression has
been given that Glavis wired Mr. Shaw per-
sonally and that as a result, I was informed of
the case and instructed to help him.

I think it should be made very plain that the
way the whole thing came to us was through my
taking it up with Glavis as a District Forester
naturally would with the Chief of Field Division
when he found that a case in a National Forest
under his jurisdiction was soon coming to hear-
ing and desired all possible knowledge as to
how the Forest interest was being taken care
of. Any other public impression is very unfair to
Glavis under the circumstances and conse-
quently weakens his position and ours.

Very truly yours,
E. T Allen
District Forester




However, the matter was never clarified. In a let-
ter dated September 4 to Associate Forester Overton
Price, Allen explained that the position stated in his let-
ter was the true one and tactically the strongest for the
Forest Service. In view of the existing situation,
however (Glavis had just presented his case to Presi-
dent Taft on September 3), Allen feared that it might be
too late. If the record was to be called for, it might look
like a frame-up. Allen asked Price to treat the letter to
Pinchot as a personal letter and to decide for himself
whether to put it in the record. Later, in a telegram to
Pinchot dated September 13, he asked him to disregard
the letter and to take it as a personal one, because
Glavis had said that it would only complicate affairs.*

The failure to clarify the relationship of Allen's
letter and Glavis's telegram was unfortunate from sev-
eral points of view. It has led generations of historians
to believe that Glavis behaved in an unorthodox or
questionable fashion in telegraphing Shaw; that he
acted, as Pinchot’s biographer put it, *in a mood of des-
peration,” rather than being a victim of the communi-
cations system.** The interests of the Forest Service in
the affair were not made clear at the subsequent inves-
tigation. Though mentioned, they were lost in a mass of
extraneous material, to the extent that the most recent
account of the affair does not clarify the matter.>

Had E. T Allen's testimony been called for, he
would have been an ideal witness for the Pinchot
forces. A westerner who strongly supported the Pin-
chot policies, he became secretary of the Western
Forestry and Conservation Association in 1910. Allen
was popular in the business community of the North-
west and could have effectively countered Ballinger's
claims that the Forest Service hindered development in
the West and in Alaska.

During the time that the Glavis misunderstanding
developed, Fred Ames of the Portland office was in
Alaska on his inspection trip. On July 29, 1909, he re-
ceived a letter at Ketchikan from George Cecil, acting
district forester, who wrote:

There is considerable evidence that the
claimants in the above cases are not only trying

to get valuable coal land fraudulently, but are

attempting to secure in addition to the coal

claims, timber land for the purpose of supplying
timber to work their mines. Clarence Cunning-
ham, in one of his reports to the stockholders,
admits that four of the claims are more valua-
ble for timber than coal, so the department has
secured a continuance in the cases in order to
investigate this more thoroughly.
Cecil went on to direct Ames to proceed to the area
with Langille and a coal expert named Gabriel
Wingate, who was hired to work with the Land Office
coal experts.

Definite charges will be preferred against
each claim not containing coal. The claims are
located on the meridian line at the extreme
eastern boundary of the Chugach National For-
est about 23 miles northeast of Katalla. Mr.
Langille undoubtedly knqws the location.”
Langille, Ames, Wingate, and Lage Wernstedt
traveled to Cordova on the Ohio, then by gas launch
toward Katalla, until they stranded on the mud flats
and carried their gear ashore. They went up the Bering
River as far as possible in ‘‘Billy the Kid's'' gas boat,
then hiked the remaining distance to the Cunningham
cabin on the Lucky Baldwin Claim. For the next two
weeks Ames and Wernstedt cruised timber while Lan-
gille and Wingate investigated the coal claims. Then
they headed out for the coast and south to Portland.®

Ames found a fair stand of spruce and hemlock on
nine of the claims. He reported that the timber had ob-
viously not been taken for commercial purposes, since
the nearest market was Cordova, one hundred miles
away. It had, therefore, been taken for use by the
miners. However, since no assessment work what-
soever had been done on some of the most heavily tim-
bered claims—the Lucky Baldwin, Ansonia, Adrian,
and Avon—there was evidence that the claims had
been taken up for their timber, rather than for their
mineral value.®

Langille spent much of his time during 1910 mak-
ing a survey of coal claims in the Controller Bay area.
He had the assistance of a Professor Day, a geologist
from the University of lowa. At the close of the field
season, every known deposit in the field had been ex-
amined, and measurements of all the openings had
been made, giving their strike, dip, and discernible
widths.®

Pinchot, meanwhile, supported Glavis's views as
to complicity between Ballinger and the Cunningham
interests. The drama of the firing of Glavis and Pinchot
and the subsequent hearings are not central to our
main theme. They did disclose that Ballinger was not a
good resource manager and that the mineral laws were
unsatisfactory. The issue of the Alaskan forests did not
enter in to any great degree. One senses a feeling of
frustration when Ballinger's attorney stopped his ex-
amination of Pinchot with the creation of the Chugach
National Forest. The investigation of the validity of the
claims themselves indicated that the Glavis contentions
were well taken. Walter Figher, Ballinger’s successor
as secretary of the interior, sums these up admirably in
the 1911 decision invalidating the claims.®

There are a number of unsettled questions in rela-
tion to the Ballinger-Pinchot affair. The relationships
among the field officers and the administrative bureau-
crats of the Land Office were, by Forest Service stan-
dards, unusual. A characteristic of the Forest Service,
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then and now, has been to give great weight to the opin-
ions of field officers, the men in the area or region who
know the situation and can evaluate it. Ballinger’s ac-
tivities, in the face of reports by Glavis, Jones, and
Sheridan, represent different standards of administra-
tion than those within the other resource agency. A sec-
ond question is Ballinger’s place among the Puget
Sound Republican hierarchy. A man is known by his
associates; a keener understanding of Ballinger’s char-
acter and interests may be found in an examination of
his clients and friends. These are tempting byways but
not pertinent to the main purpose of this study.

In Alaska the Ballinger-Pinchot affair had serious
repercussions. The Cunningham claims were cancelled
in 1913 by the Department of the Interior. Press reac-
tion was strong against Pinchot and the Forest Service
as a whole. A wave of anticonservation sentiment
swept the territory. Angrily, Langille wrote of

..a biased antagonism toward the Forest
Service which is the outgrowth of the more or
less radical anti-conservation movement in

Alaska, engendered by the delays in the settle-

ment of the pending coal claims or legislation to

relieve this situation, conceived to be so
radically unjust to Alaska and its development,

a sense of wrong that has been fostered by sel-

fish personal interests until the public or even

those who should know, no longer have any just
conception of the actual existing conditions

||
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which are so much at variance with those facts
that should be the basis of a spirit of fair
mindedness in dealing with a question of forest
preservation which is only indirectly connected
with the coal or mineral land around which has
centered so unjust a spirit of opposition to the

Forest Service and the now firmly established

policy of the government regarding timber

preservation....*

Langille resigned as supervisor in 1911. His im-
portance in the forestry movement in Alaska can
scarcely be overestimated. He established the bounda-
ries of the Chugach and the Tongass national forests
and opened the reserves to use. He began the silvical
and scientific study of forests that was necessary to
their proper management. His reports, letters, and
recommendations are of tremendous value for histori-
ans and scientists who seek an understanding of con-
servation and its problems in Alaska. He started a
movement to save the totem poles from destruction and
made one of the first suggestions toward reserving a
moose range in the Kenai Peninsula. He was a Roose-
velt and Pinchot progressive in his views: applying the
rule of reason in regard to business, enforcing the law
fairly and impartially, idealizing the frontiersmen and
frontier virtues but recognizing that the day for an
orderly management of resources had come. Langille
was a unique combination of talents—woodsman,
scholar, scientist, writer, artist, and philosopher.®
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The Weigle
Administration, 1911-1923

The Politics of National Conservation,
1911-1923

he years from 1910 to 1923 were crucial for the

Forest Service. It was subjected to stronger at-
tacks than in any previous period in its history, and its
very existence was threatened. Much of the storm cen-
tered over Washington, but the regions were subjected
to their own attacks—Alaska more than most.

When Gifford Pinchot was removed as chief for-
ester in 1910, he was succeeded by Henry Solon
Graves, dean of the Yale Forest School and Pinchot’s
close associate for many years. Graves had planned at
first to return to his post as dean after a year of ser-
vice. Events changed his mind, however. A strong sense
of duty and the need for professional management of
the national forests led him to continue in office for a
decade.!

Graves, a graduate of Yale in 1892, had studied
forestry abroad at the University of Munich. He had ac-
companied Pinchot on the National Academy of Sci-
ence's tour of forest reserves in 1896 and, later the
same year, worked as consulting forester for the Cleve-
land-Cliffs Iron Corporation in Michigan. He was as-
sistant chief of the Bureau of Forestry under Pinchot
from 1898 to 1900. With the establishment of Yale
Forest School, he became its director and later dean.

Graves became an outstanding chief forester and
was a worthy successor to Pinchot. He broadened the
scope of Forest Service activity into the fields of re-
search and recreation. He was able to maintain morale
in the agency and did much to professionalize the re-
gional and field forces by replacing many old-time for-
esters, whose education was in the ‘“Univerity of Hard
Knocks,” with academically trained men. He concen-
trated on internal affairs rather than publicity. At
times he tended to underestimate the strength of local
public opinion in favor of the forests and hence made
sacrifices of forestland where none were needed, but
in the larger issues he was a shrewd promoter of good
public relations.?

Both Graves and his successor, William B. Greeley,
took a deep and personal interest in the Alaskan for-
ests. Pinchot had, for the most part, delegated authori-
ty to Langille and followed his recommendations to the
letter. Graves not only inspected the forests of Alaska
himself—and wrote well and wisely about them—but
also sent a series of inspectors from the Washington
Office (Earle H. Clapp, James B. Adams, and Arthur
Ringland) to bring him recommendations and informa-
tion to supplement the regional and district reports. He
believed, as had Langille, that the Forest Service
should be a force for the orderly, rather than haphaz-
ard, development of the country. He fought fearlessly
for the forest interest in Alaska against forces in Con-
gress, the General Land Office, and the Alaska Rail-
road. His trip to Alaska was a successful goodwill tour,
and he strongly supported Langille's ideas in regard to
recreational management in Alaska.

In Washington he faced a great deal of political
and bureaucratic infighting. When he took office, he
had some difficulties with Secretary of Agriculture
James Wilson on determining the sphere of his authori-
ty, and only by appealing personally to President Taft
did he obtain the authority he thought necessary. After
this episode his relationship with Secretary Wilson
was excellent. David F. Houston, President Woodrow
Wilson's secretary of agriculture, strongly supported
Graves and the Forest Service. In the Department of
the Interior, Ballinger was succeeded in 1911 by
Walter L. Fisher, a strong conservationist who made a
trip to Alaska and settled the Bering River coal claims
but felt that the Forest Service might logically rest in
his department. President Wilson believed that the
post of secretary of the interior should go to a western-
er and so chose Franklin K. Lane of California. Lane
was reputed to be a friend of conservation, but his rec-
ord was indifferent. His main accomplishment was the
creation of the National Park Service, an agency at
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first opposed, then favored, by Graves. A greater
enemy of the national forests was Clay Tallman, com-
missioner of the General Land Office. Like Dennett and
Ballinger before him, Tallman was suspicious of the
Forest Service's actions and motives.?

In the political realm President Wilson was indif-
ferent to conservation. He had carried some of the
western states in part because of the assumption that
he would be friendly toward a states-rights philosophy
in regard to resource management. In the Congress,
Representative William E. Humphrey of Washington
and A. W. Lafferty of Oregon, along with Delegate
James Wickersham of Alaska and Senator Albert Fall
of New Mexico, were all highly critical of the Forest
Service. Graves and William B. Greeley spent a great
deal of time testifying before congressional commit-
tees. Bills were introduced to turn the national forest

lands over to the states, or to cut appropriations. But
there were countervailing forces. Conservation had
good friends in Congress, such as Senator Miles Poin-
dexter of Washington and Senator Charles L. McNary
of Oregon. Of the several good pieces of legislation
passed, one of particular importance to Alaskan
forests was the Agricultural Appropriations Act of
August 10, 1912. One part of the act provided that 10
percent of all receipts from national forests should be
used for the construction of roads and trails within the
forests. Another part of the act authorized the secre-
tary of the interior to select, classify, and segregate all
lands that might be opened to settlement under the
homestead laws. Even more important, however, were
court decisions in support of conservation. In a series
of decisions between 1911 and 1920, the Supreme
Court gave constitutional validation to most of the
Roosevelt-Pinchot conservation policy.*

The Politics of Alaskan Conservation,
1911-1919

The backlash against the national forests during
Graves's administration took different forms in differ-
ent regions of the United States. Thus, grazing prob-
lems in Colorado and Wyoming, timber claims in Wash-
ington, agricultural lands in eastern Oregon, and light
burning in California all represented local crises for
Graves and for the district foresters.®

Guild-group resolutions and public land confer-
ences all served as forums from which to publicize
grievances. Alaska had its own peculiarities. The
rhetoric involved in most cases was the time-honored
cry of the frontiersman against the ‘“‘Broad Arrow"’ pol-
icy of the government: locking up resources that rightly
belonged to the farmer or the miner, red tape in getting
land, faulty allocation of resources (favoritism showed
to the big interests, the Morgans and Guggenheims),
and lack of self-government for Alaska. Selfish person-
al interests were involved, as well as misinformation.
The strained relations between the Interior and the
Agriculture departments, and between the General
Land Office and the Forest Service, were often reflect-
ed in their field divisions.

Attitudes toward the national forests and the
Forest Service varied from place to place in Alaska.
Generally speaking, the people living on or near the
Tongass National Forest were not unfriendly. They had
no particular grievances; timber sales flourished and
were satisfactorily managed, and there was a boom in
salmon fishing after 1914. The staff in the area—

Supervisor William G. Weigle, George Drake, Roy Bar-
to, George Peterson, Kan Smith, and William Bab-
bitt—were generally liked. Farther north, on the Chu-
gach, there was sporadic hostility. In the Bering River
country the Forest Service was unjustly blamed for
cancellation of coal claims and lack of development.
There were timber trespass difficulties in the Katalla
area. Inland, Andrew Christensen and C. W. Ritchie of
the General Land Office pursued a vendetta against
the Forest Service, and by 1915 the Alaska Engineering
Commission (predecessor of the Alaska Railroad) had
begun its long era of bad feelings with the Forest Serv-
ice in the Kenai area. Yet, public opinion is difficult to
evaluate. The Service had such disparate friends as
Jack Dalton, the Cordova bad man, and John E. Bal-
laine, the Seattle-Seward capitalist. There was certain-
ly no monolithic wave of ill-feeling against the Service,
and after 1915 general relations tended to improve.
Opposition to Alaska national forests took many
forms. In Congress a bill was introduced to abolish the
Chugach National Forest and another to eliminate
funds for its operation. The argument was made that
the national forest held up development, was unnec-
essary, had no commercial timber, and had valuable
agricultural land. Graves and Greeley spent many
hours at committee hearings defending the Forest Ser-
vice and its policies against the uninformed questions of
Senators Wesley Jones and Thomas Walsh, and the hos-
tile questions of Delegate Wickersham. The annual
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RED TAPE AND CIRCUMLOCUTION IN ALASKA

Nine National departments, through twenty-three separate offices or bureaus, deal with the
public business of Alaska. Their several duties and responsibilities are graphically shown below:

DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE

Forest Service. Controls use and sale of lum-
ber, homesteads, mineral rights, power sites,
etc., in Chugach and Tongass National forests,
with combined area of more than 25,000,000
acres.

Blological Survey. Has charge of bird re-
serves; controls scientific investigations and
experiments in propagation and development
of animal life.

Experiment Stations. Maintained for encour-
agement of agriculture, experiment and demon-
stration of farming methods, crops, battle
breeding, etc.; sells crops grown on experi-
mental farms.

NAVY DEPARTMENT

Maintains buildings, conducts coaling sta-
tion, and makes tests of native coal; sends ves-
sels to coast In course of cruises; maintains
and operates wireless telegraph stations along
coast.

WAR DEPARTMENT

Road Commission. Controls building of
roads and trails with funds appropriated by
Congress and set aside from license receipts.

Engineer Corps. Controls surveys, esti-
mates, and work on river and harbor improve-
ments.

Signal Corps. Controls construction, mainte-
nance and operation of cable between Alaska
and the United States and inland telegraph
lines and wireless telegraph stations.

The War Department also maintains bar-
racks and troops in Alaska.

TREASURY DEPARTMENT
Controls collection of customs duties, inter-
nal revenue, income tax; supervises and plans
construction of public buildings; maintains
revenue cutter service; makes public heaith
regulations; maintains life-saving service.

POST-OFFICE DEPARTMENT
Controls mail service.

DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE

Bureau of Fisheries. Protects seals and fox-
es and sells sealskins and fox skins on Pribilof
Islands; controls leasing of certain islands in
Aleutian group for fox ranching; employs war-

dens and makes regulations for protecting fur-
bearing animals; supervises and regulates
fisheries, canneries, etc.

Census Bureau. Takes the decennial census.

Bureau of Lighthouses. Constructs and
maintains lighthouses, fog and light signals
along coast.

Coast and Geodetic Survey. Charts and
channels rocks and obstructions to navigation
along coast.

Steamboat inspection Service. Inspects and
licenses steamboats, engineers and officers of
steamboats.

Navigation Bureau. Makes and enforces
navigation rules and regulations.

DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

Controls court machinery, marshals, United
States attorneys and commissioners, and gen-
erally administers law and justice in the Terri-
tory.

DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR

General Land Office. Controls entry, patent,
and disposal of public domain; controls and
disposes of timber on public lands outside the
National forests; disposes of applications for
homesteads, mill sites, mineral claims, trade
and manufacturing sites, town sites, coal and
oil sites, and rights of way in public lands; con-
trols water power and power sites outside of
National forests; handles accounts and re-
turns of Surveyor-General's office.

Geological Survey. Investigates mineral for-
mations, coal and oil fields, water supply and
stream flow, hot springs, etc.; makes topo-
graphical and geological maps of the Territory.

Bureau of Mines. Supervises inspection of
mines and mining; enforces mining laws.

Bureau of Education. Supervises education
of Eskimos and other natives and reindeer in-
dustry among natives.

Secretary’s Office. Supervises care and cus-
tody of insane; handles general correspondence
as to Alaskan atfairs; disburses appropriation
for protection of game by wardens appointed
by the Governor under rules and regulations of
Departments of Commerce and Agricuiture;
acts as clearing-house for general Alaskan
matters, and performs other functions not spe-
cifically charged to other departments.

from Franklin K. Lane (Secretary of the interior), “Red Tape in Alaska,” The Outlook. January 20, 1915. p. 139




reports of Alaskan governors also called for abolition
of the Chugach, as did the first territorial legislature.

A greater threat was the suggestion of Secretary
Franklin Lane of the Interior Department that an Alas-
kan Commission, similar to the Philippine Commission,
be set up to manage all resource matters in Alaska. The
commission would consist of five members, including
the governor of Alaska, the surveyor general, and three
others, to replace the federal agencies. In a 1914 arti-
cle in the National Geographic, Lane blamed all the
trouble of Alaska on the numerous uncoordinated
agencies with overlapping functions in the area.
Graves opposed the commission and enlisted the aid of
Herman H. Chapman in fighting it. Chapman, a Yale
professor of forestry and a noted fighter for forestry
and conservation, enlisted the support of the American
Forestry Association, which passed a resolution pro-
testing the idea. The commission idea had a hardy life;
it was revived again during the Harding administration
by George Curry of New Mexico.’

A minor furor arose over a proposed elimination in
Controller Bay; for a time it gave reporters a field day.
Richard Ryan, a Seattle capitalist, wanted to have 320
acres on the west side of the Bering River eliminated
from the national forest to be used as a site for a rail-
road terminal, pipeline, and docks for his projected
Controller Bay Railway and Navigation Company. He
planned to use soldiers’ additional homestead scrip to
obtain the land. In December 1909 Ryan made the re-
quest to Pinchot, who referred it to the local officers.
Langille conferred with Ryan, examining Ryan’s maps
and the intended elimination. The area consisted solely
of untimbered mudflats, and Langille had no objection
to the elimination. However, the Catalla and Carbon
Mountain Railway Company had already applied for a
special-use permit to set up a terminal in the same
area. The Alaska 80-Rod Law provided that a settler or
manufacturer could not take up more than 80 rods of
the coast or a navigable stream, and a space of 80 rods
was required between each occupant. Under this law,
a 320-acre elimination would have given Ryan a monop-
oly on the tract. Langille recommended a larger elimi-
nation, that of twenty square miles of mudflats. The
Forest Service at that time was in the process of elimi-
nating untimbered land from the Chugach Forest, and
the larger tract would avoid giving Ryan a monopoly.
Langille also insisted that the Navy be consulted, but
the Navy had no interest. Ballinger consulted with the
Forest Service and, after consideration, recommended
a 12,800-acre elimination. This was made in 1910.

Unfortunately, the newspapers, their appetites
whetted for scandal after the Ballinger-Pinchot affair,
printed erroneous reports on the elimination to the ef-
fect that it was a scheme to aid the Guggenheim monop-
oly. The Senate passed a resolution asking for an inves-
tigation. Miss M. F. Abbott, a newspaper writer, was

given permission to examine Land Office files. She
claimed to find a letter showing a fraudulent con-
nivance in the elimination involving Ryan, Ballinger,
and the president’s brother, Charles P. Taft. An investi-
gation was held, and in the end Congress decided that
the Abbott letter was a hoax.®

Gifford Pinchot became concerned with the Con-
troller Bay incident and decided to make a trip to Alas-
ka to see for himself the area that figured importantly
in his recent firing. In September 1911 he traveled to
Ketchikan, where the Forest Service impressed him
with the size of large spruce logs brought into the Ket-
chikan Power Company mill. At Ketchikan he met U. S,
Rush, who he characterized as a ‘‘kicker against the
Forest Service.”” He traveled to Cordova and acquired
Jack Dalton as a traveling companion or, the less chari-
table said, a bodyguard. Dalton was a colorful charac-
ter; he had traveled to Alaska in the 1880s. During the
gold rush of 1897, he had established a toll road to the
interior, the Dalton Trail, over much of what now is the
Haines cutoff. In an early encounter Dalton had threat-
ened to shoot Langille, but the unarmed ranger had
faced him down. Since then Dalton had become a friend
of Forest Service policy. Pinchot then went to the Kenai,
where he traveled on the Alaska Central Railroad—a
“badly built and badly laid line’’—and spent some time
in and around Katalla, inspecting the Cunningham
claims. He helped W. G. Weigle, George Johnson, and
T. M. Hunt get the Forest Service launch Restless off
the beach where it had suffered one of its frequent mis-
haps. He traveled on to Chitina and explained Forest
Service policy at a mass meeting there, returning to the
states in October.?

The attacks on the Alaskan forests prompted a
large number of inspections from the Washington Of-
fice. James B. Adams and Earle H. Clapp made inspec-
tions in 1913. Graves himself, with E. A. Sherman,
traveled around the national forests and inspected the
forests of the interior in 1915. Arthur Ringland made a
reconnaissance of the Kenai Peninsula in 1916. In addi-
tion, there were inspections from Portland. To a large
extent, the inspections concerned Forest Service ef-
forts to eliminate untimbered areas from the forest and
to classify agricultural land. They were also concerned
with administration, timber sales (especially pulp pos-
sibilities), recreational development, game refuges, set-
tlement, and personnel.

Graves went to Alaska to get firsthand information
with which to meet attacks from the Department of the
Interior. He obtained copies of Langille’s reports, espe-
cially those dealing with the Chugach and the interior
of Alaska, and also reports from Adams and Clapp. His
journal of the Alaskan trip is a fascinating account of
the state of the region and of Alaskan forest conditions
in 1915; it deserves publication. He started his journey
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Graves examined agricultural possibilities both in-
land and in the southeast. In the coastal area, he noted,
farmers usually cultivated gardens to supplement
fishing. He felt that the Forest Service could render
service to farmers by building farm-to-market roads,
using proceeds from timber sales. He was interested in
the possibilities of farming combined with ranching in
the interior.!

Graves's visit, as well as his recommendations,
had a salutary effect. One of his purposes was to make
a goodwill tour; this he achieved. He talked with influ-
ential men, explained Forest Service purposes, and
succeeded in persuading people that Washington had
their welfare at heart. His success was particularly
marked in the interior, where his visit had a good press.
Under Pinchot, concern with the national forests in
Alaska had been largely delegated to Langille, whose
recommendations were usually accepted in the Wash-
ington and Portland offices. Under Graves and his suc-
cessor, W. B. Greeley, Washington took a direct interest
in the national forests of Alaska.

One of the men not impressed by Graves's visit
was Andrew Christensen. He had grown up in Nebras-
ka during the homestead era, had become a railroad at-
torney, and was favorably impressed with the land and
immigration policies of the land-grant railroads. He
joined the General Land Office in 1908, first working
near Portland, and then coming to Alaska as chief of
the Field Division. He believed sincerely that the Land
Office should hold to its historic function of disposing
of the public domain. He believed that the future of
Alaska was in agriculture and felt that the Forest Serv-
ice hindered Alaskan development. His views in these
respects were similar to those of Ballinger, but with
two exceptions: Christensen was concerned with the
local settlers, rather than with keeping Alaska an
economic dependency of Puget Sound, and he was high-
ly self-assertive, in contrast to the reticent Ballinger.
Aggressive, loquacious, self-righteous, and sometimes
unscrupulous, Christensen was a highly effective ad-
versary of the Forest Service and an able propagandist
for disposal and development.” His battles with the
Forest Service are revealing and deserve consideration
at length.

On August 15 and 29, 1915, C. W. Ritchie, special
agent of the General Land Office in Fairbanks, sent
Christensen letters relating to the Graves journey and
clippings from the Fairbanks Daily Times. Ritchie was
under the impression that Graves and his party were
planning to establish national forests in the Yukon and
the Tanana valleys. The Daily Times, he reported, was
impressed by their plan to hire men to fight fires and by
the fact that local districts in Alaskan national forests
participated in funds from timber sales. Graves had ad-
vocated setting up a chief of fire protection, or fire

62

warden, in each of the judicial districts, paying men to
fight fires, and following the California plan of allowing
wardens to draft men to fight fire.

Ritchie referred to Graves’s trip as ‘‘a junket pure
and simple.” Christensen wrote to Clay Tallman, com-
missioner of the General Land Office, on October 18
and 19, enclosing Ritchie's letters and clippings. He
stated that the Forest Service did nothing to protect the
forests that could not be done at less expense by the
General Land Office, that the Forest Service delayed
settlers who wished to get title to land, and that much
of the land was better for agriculture than for growing
timber and should be burned off, both to clear the land
and because the ash would be good fertilizer.

Probably at Tallman's request, Robert Leehey, of a
Seattle law firm, wrote to Tallman urging abolition of
the Chugach National Forest, both to open it up to agri-
culture and to open up the Bering and Katalla coal
fields. Leehey asserted that the land could be better
handled by the General Land Office. Tallman gave the
file to Secretary Lane, who forwarded it to Secretary
of Agriculture Houston, asking for his comments.

Houston's response was firm support of the Forest
Service and of Graves. He felt that there were three
questions involved: requests for abolition of the Chu-
gach National Forest; fire protection in the interior of
Alaska; and the propriety of Graves's visit. On the first,
he stated firmly that the Chugach should not be abol-
ished. He felt that there was need for further decen-
tralizing authority but pointed out that 95 percent of
the problems were settled locally—and most of the
others in the Portland office. Only a small percentage
of the problems came to Washington. There was, he
wrote, apprehension as to the extent and value of the
Chugach. The rugged terrain and glaciated mountains
gave the impression of an untimbered land, but below
the timber line there were 6 to 8 billion feet of commer-
cial timber of great potential value as sawtimber, ties,
and piling. )

Secretary Houston then turned to the Christensen
protests. He denied Christensen’s statement that the
Forest Service did little to protect the forest and that
the General Land Office could do a better job. He point-
ed out that the Forest Service had a fire suppression
force, though it was inadequate in size, and that the
Land Office had no suppression force whatsoever. He
suggested that there might be cooperative fire control
in the Lynn Canal area, where Graves had seen untend-
ed fires on the public domain adjacent to the national
forest. ‘“The handling of forests is not mere routine ad-
ministration,”” Houston stated. ‘‘Practically all the
work involved specialized knowledge and experience.”
Scaling, cruising, and timber-sale work involved skills
and education that the average Land Office employee



lacked. He denied that the Forest Service held up set-
tlement or hindered individuals from taking up forest
homesteads. ‘‘The existence of the Forest does head off
timber speculators,’”” Houston wrote, ‘‘but it substitutes
orderly and permanent development for hasty and ill-
considered occupancy.” Finally, as to the Graves trip
being lacking in propriety, he asserted that it was made
‘‘with my entire sanction and partly at my suggestion.”
Commenting on the letter, Tallman wrote to Christen-
sen that he was ‘‘more or less impressed by it.”

But Christensen was not impressed, as he ex-
plained in a forty-two-page letter to Tallman. He dealt
with his boyhood in Nebraska and how he had wit-
nessed the drama of the railroad, under liberal land
laws, opening up the West and conquering the frontier.
Acknowledging that the General Land Office had no
timber sale officers, he stated that they could hire some
and do the job more cheaply than the Forest Service
could because of a unified administration. He denied
that the cruises had really showed 6 to 8 billion feet of
timber on the Chugach; the volume, he stated, had been
grossly overestimated. The land, moreover, would pro-
duce more revenue if put to potatoes instead of raising
spruce. In regard to fire protection, he felt that there
was no need for a withdrawal into a national forest for
fire protection; the Land Office could do the job on the
public domain. Christensen took exception to Houston's
term, ‘‘ill-considered occupancy'’; the history of the
West showed that the liberal land policy of the govern-
ment had resulted in creation of prosperous farmers
and thriving industrial communities. There was, he
stated, more ill-considered occupancy within the na-
tional forest than without. He cited the report of Hugh
Bennett on agricultural land on the east side of Cook In-
let, suggested that the answer to cooperation in fire
control on Lynn Canal was to abolish the national for-
est in that area, and stated that if the forests were to
be opened to homesteading, they should be abolished.
Finally, he regarded Ritchie’s statement on Graves's
“junket” as unfortunate.

Christensen continued his attacks during 1916.
Supervisor Weigle reported to the district forester in
Portland that Christensen had asked C. B. Walker, reg-
ister of the General Land Office in Juneau, to submit a
statement showing how *‘the National Forests of Alas-
ka interfered with the development of Alaska.’’ He had
also requested a letter from Charles E. Davison, the
surveyor general, on the same subject. Walker drew up
a rather mild statement, a copy of which he submitted
to Weigle. The statement ended, *'I have seen no fric-
tion or want of cooperation between the Land and For-
est Bureaus since | have been in Alaska, or any just
reason for it.”

On March 26, 1916, a conference was held in the
office of Assistant Secretary of Agriculture Carl Vroo-
man to deal with the problems of Alaska. Attending

were representatives of the Forest Service, Bureau of
Mines, General Land Office, and Alaska Engineering
Commission. Christensen was one of those in attend-
ance. The conference was too short for him to say all
that he wanted, so he wrote a 150-page statement to
supplement his spoken remarks. He delayed submitting
it to the Land Office, because the next day, March 27,
he was appointed land manager to the Alaska Engi-
neering Commission."?

Christensen’s magnum opus, entitled ‘*A State-
ment of Facts Relating to the Chugach National Forest
Reservation with Reasons Why the Lands Within it
Should be Restored to Entry So as to Encourage Devel-
opment,” is an interesting piece of work. He dealt with
the creation of the reserve, citing Langille’s doubts and
speculations in regard to the Kenai and the Knik Arm
areas and Langille's statements that the area might
well be preserved without withdrawal. Christensen ex-
pounded at length on the idea that the purpose of the
railroad was to develop the country and that there was
a conflict between the railroad and the reserve ideas.
He cited local petitions criticizing the reserve and the
committee hearings of 1914, which had been highly
critical of the Chugach. He felt that the reserve should
be abolished on many grounds: there was no danger of
fire or of timber monopoly; no need for grazing regula-
tions or watershed protection; there was a large
amount of agricultural and mineral land in the national
forest; the existing eliminations from the reserve had
been of no value to the public; and the railroad needed
traffic from agricultural and mining lands to make it a
success. He questioned the estimates of Langille and
Graves as to the commercial timber in the area and
substituted estimates of his own from reports of Alfred
Brooks and George A. Parks, mineral examiner of the
Land Office in Alaska. He pointed out that the Alaskan
timber was poor for construction purposes, as com-
pared with that of Puget Sound, and that Alaska im-
ported a large volume of timber. He cited the recent
studies of Hugh Bennett and E. C. Rice on agricultural
land in the Knik Arm area, claiming that if the timber
were burned over the land would come up with grass
and be suitable for agriculture.”

Arthur Ringland of the Forest Service was as-
signed the task of answering Christensen. Ringland had
been in Alaska the year before and had been very
much impressed with the possibilities of the Kenai for
recreation and for photographing of wild game. He an-
swered Christensen with a 150-page report of his own.
About Christensen he remarked, ‘‘He has designedly
conveyed wrong impressions, with no doubt the pur-
pose of stirring up prejudice.” Ringland stated that
Christensen had ignored the Forest Homestead Act of
1906 and the Agricultural Appropriations Act of 1912
in his claims that the Forest Service hindered settle-
ment. He pointed out that Alfred Brooks, whose timber
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Supervisors, Rangers, Boats,
and Sporting Women

During this period of interdepartmental and inter-
agency infighting, the basic work of the Forest Service
went forward. Much of the infighting appeared primar-
ily as froth and bubbles, while real work of substance
was going on.

William G. Weigle was the successor to Langille,
who resigned from the Service on July 31, 1911. Weigle,
like Langille, came to Alaska with a varied career be-
hind him. In age a contemporary of Langille, he had
taught in a normal school and worked on a railroad be-
fore being attracted to forestry by an advertisement
for a course at the Milford Summer Forest School of
Yale University. The school was run on the Pinchot
estate at Milford, Pennsylvania. He took the course
there and then continued at Yale. He worked as a stu-
dent assistant for the Bureau of Forestry in New Hamp-
shire in 1903, spent 1904 examining woodlots in Ohio
with Raphael Zon, and gave lectures in forestry at the
state universities of Utah and Ohio. He became a mem-
ber of the Forest Service in 1905, making pulp mill stud-
ies in Pennsylvania and examining woodlots in New
York.

Later in 1905 Weigle took charge of a timber sale
to the Anaconda Copper Company in Montana and then
a railroad tie sale in Wyoming and Colorado. He subse-
quently did timber sale work in Wisconsin and had a
series of assignments in western New Mexico, Nevada,
Oklahoma, and southern Oregon. In 1909 he became
supervisor of the Coeur d'Alene National Forest at
Wallace, Idaho. One of his first jobs was to clear
saloons and other unlawful dives from the national for-
est land—a task that foreshadowed later work at An-
chorage. He was a hero of the famous 1910 fire in
Idaho and Montana. Early in 1911 he went to Alaska.
Langille gave him in-service training in running boats
and navigation until Weigle succeeded him as super-
visor.

Weigle was a large, powerful, redheaded man of
German ancestry. He was a man of action rather than a
philosopher, a practical forester who liked fieldwork.
He was well liked by his staff, and inspection reports
give him good ratings. Graves had him as a student and
later enjoyed his rough frontier humor and store of
jokes. Arthur Ringland wrote of him: ‘‘He has served
for five years in Alaska under adverse and often trying
conditions. He is a very human type of man, well liked
and respected. Above all, he has the essential quality
of aggressiveness tempered with push.”

To the men who worked with him, Weigle was of-
ten a figure of fun. Langille had the capacity for un-
bending, but at times and places of his own choosing;

his relations with men under him were somewhat for-
mal, with the exception of such intimates as Blodgett
and Wernstedt. Weigle, on the other hand, was on more
relaxed terms with his men. His foibles, stubbornness,
bachelorhood, style of doing his job—all were matters
of comment, and a large number of stories and legends
have grown up around Weigle. George Drake remarked
of him:

I learned a lot about how to get along. I didn't
push things. If I wanted to do things a certain
way, I'd talk to him and if he'd rebuff it, I'd just
clam up and wouldn’t say any more; then I'd
just go ahead and do things as I thought it ought
to be done, and he could see the results. If they
worked, he never said anything. But if you
asked him, he’d have to tell you how to do it.*
Forest Service staff in Alaska increased during

Weigle's tenure. George Drake came to Ketchikan in
1914 as forest examiner. A New Englander who was ed-
ucated at Penn State, he was a highly competent sur-
veyor and the only man in the Service in Alaska who
could run a transit. In the Kenai area, Thomas M. Hunt
came in 1911 as deputy supervisor. He had several
assistants and scalers and rangers at Cordova and at
Katalla. George Peterson became ranger at Sitka in a
large district that extended to Yakutat. His diary has a
great deal of unconscious humor in it. Some men came
on special assignments, as did Kan Smith, a timber ex-
pert who examined pulpwood shows, or Asher Island,
who came from eastern Oregon to classify land.”

Alaska remained under the jurisdiction of District
6, with headquarters in Portland. The district forester
during this period was George H. Cecil. A native of Bal-
timore, Cecil had graduated from the Biltmore Forest
School and went to Wyoming and Montana, where in
1906 he did some of the first roadside beautification
work in the Forest Service near Yellowstone National
Park. He came to the Portland district in 1909 and suc-
ceeded to the post of district forester in 1911, when
C. S. Chapman resigned to work for the Weyerhaeuser
Timber Company. Redhaired, freckled, and youthful in
appearance, Cecil was an able and popular district
forester. He had a deep interest in Alaska and made
several inspection trips to the area.'

With additional staff came more boats. The belov-
ed Tahn remained the supervisor’s boat and the flag-
ship of the Tongass navy. For the Prince William Sound
area, the thirty-three-foot launch Restless was built at
Ketchikan and sailed up. A tender, the Prospector, was
also used there. The Restless was an unfortunate boat,
highly accident-prone. Its log and the diaries of rangers
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carry many accounts of broken propeller shafts. Once
the Restless drifted helplessly for three days until it
was taken in tow by a fishing vessel. In 1911 Weigle
made a miscalculation and ran the Restless onto rocks
near Katalla, punching three holes in the hull. Tem-
porary repairs were made with canvas, thin boards,
and tar, but it cost the Forest Service $50 to have it
pulled into the water again. In Anchorage, while being
loaded with gasoline, the boat caught fire and was
damaged. The Restless was taken out of commission in
1919, having completely worn out.

Three boats of the Ranger class, thirty to sixty feet
long, were purchased and brought up from Puget
Sound. They were of good construction but underpow-
ered. The original motors were 12-horsepower engines,
“‘as the result,”’ wrote Ray Taylor, “of a decision made
by some clerk or accountant somewhere in the states.”
For this reason they sometimes went backward in a
**skookum-chuck” or when faced by strong winds, end-
ing up on the beach in some isolated inlet. The motors
were replaced with 25- or 30-horsepower engines. The
Ranger 4 was built in Ketchikan, according to George
Drake, ‘‘by some house carpenter from a knockdown
plan you could get out of Detroit.”” It had a good motor,
but the hull construction was such that it shipped
water in a headwind. With these boats, the rangers
were at least mobile.

In addition, a wanigan house scow was built in
1909 as a portable field station. It was towed around
by the Tahn or one of the other boats to timber sales
and other projects that involved a stay in one place for
a period of time. It was much more comfortable for a
small crew than tents on the beach. As fieldwork in-
creased, the small wanigan could no longer take care
of large crews and equipment; in 1920 a much larger
one was built. The smaller one was taken over in 1948
by the Alaska Forest Research Center.'*

Handling the boats called for special skills. *‘In the
administration of the forests,”” Weigle wrote, “the
motorboat takes the place of the saddle and pack
horse, hip boots and a slicker the place of chaps, and it
is much more essential that a ranger know how to ad-
just his spark plug than be able to throw a diamond
hitch.” E. A. Sherman wrote:

With its 12,000 miles of shoreline the Tongass
National Forest is completely equipped with an
admirable system of waterways. The Forest
Ranger in most of the National Forests in the
United States depends usually upon his saddle
and pack horses for travel and transportation.
Not so the Forest Ranger in Alaska. Here...he
rides a sea-going motor boat. His steed may do
just as much pitching and bucking, but this is
prompted not by a spirit of animal perversity
but by the spirits of climatic adversity. He

guides his steed by means of a wheel instead of
reins; feeds it gasoline instead of oats; tethers it
at night by means of an anchor in some shel-
tered cove instead of a picket rope in a moun-
tain meadow, and uses a paint brush in lieu of a
curry comb....

The Alaskan ranger is just as proud of his
boat as the Bedouin horseman is of his steed,
and the Ranger boats in Alaska are the most
distinctive craft sailing the waters of the Alex-
ander Archipelago. They are named Ranger
No. 1 to 5, consecutively, have yellow sides and
decks, with carmine trimmings. They are
staunch boats, several of them having been
built at the Bremerton (Washington) Navy
Yards according to a special design which gives
strength, seaworthiness, and special ability for
the particular service expected to them. In case
of any trouble or disaster in southeastern Alas-
ka, shipwrecks, sickness, or sorrow, the public
appeals to the nearest Ranger boat, and if the
request is a proper one or a reasonable one, the
appeal is never in vain.*®

The fieldwork of the men varied a great deal.
Usually in pairs, sometimés with a cook if several men
were in a party, the Forest Service men did a tremen-
dous variety of work and put in a good deal of ‘‘coal oil
time"’ in addition to the regular day's work. They sur-
veyed occupation sites, or sites of June 11 homestead
entry (Forest Homestead Act), mapped power sites, set
up gauging stations, marked timber sales, cruised
timber, scaled log rafts, and taught the loggers to abide
by Forest Service cutting rules. They enforced the fish-
ing regulations, especially preventing fishermen from
setting nets at the mouths of streams. They surveyed
and mapped fox farms, rabbit farms, saltery and can-
nery sites, an aerial tramway, cabin sites, hay
meadows, net racks, pastures, powder houses, resi-
dences, sawmills, railroads, whaling stations, town-
sites, roadhouses, hot springs, and Indian villages.
They furnished transportation for a large number of in-
dividuals on business or on junkets, including inspec-
tors for the district or Washington offices, the governor
of Alaska, the head of the experiment station at Sitka,
senators and representatives from the Lower 48 and
the Alaska legislature, employees of the Lighthouse
Service, Fish and Wildlife Service, Bureau of Fisheries,
Geological Survey, Bureau of Soils, General Land Of-
fice, National Park Service, and businessmen looking
for pulp prospects.

The men did a great deal to break down the isola-
tion of the scattered villages and settlements and
cabins around Alaska. A ranger, going into one of the
larger settlements would carry with him a shopping list
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‘‘as long as a peace treaty,” one ranger wrote, ‘‘and in-
volving about six months pay.”” Usually the individuals
didn't know what the items cost, promising to pay the
ranger when he got back. Tobacco, whiskey, 45-70
shells, materials for making a dress, toys and books,
nursing bottles and nipples, stovepipes, nails, hip
boots, net floats—all were typical of the items ordered.
They carried on rescue work, towing in boats whose
engines had broken down and organizing search mis-
sions for men missing or lost. When a flu epidemic hit
Hoonah, George Peterson ran nonstop from Hoonah to
Juneau and back to get serum, going seventy-two hours
without sleep. Sometimes they found tragedy. Ranger
]J. M. Wyckoff once found a lonely handlogger who had
got his foot pinned by a log and had starved to death
while waiting rescue.”

Work was hazardous, with danger from storm,
tides, and accidents in isolated areas. There were
other difficulties as well. ‘“The ground cover is mostly
mosquitoes,’’ Asher Ireland remarked of his classifica-
tion work in the Kenai. Though the men wore veils and
gloves, the mosquitoes were active during most of the
long daylight hours. Bears were a hazard in many
areas, particularly in the thick forests of the Tongass;
there were many close calls.

Cruising timber on the Tongass was difficult.
There was a thick undergrowth of skunk cabbage,
huckleberry . brush, and, above all, devilsclub. Trees
had huge buttressed roots, so the traditional method of
taking the tree's diameter at breast height (DBH) was
difficult if not impossible. Here is one forester’s
description:

To correctly measure the DBH of a tree, one
must locate the ground, a point 4% feet above it
on the bole, and finally the calipers or diameter
tape. This is so simple a procedure that all
seems hard to apply. Many of us have missed
too many boats, it is agreed, but it is also a fact,
that S. E. Alaska as a whole has rather a weird
appearance.

The man with the calipers in D.8 must be a
man of courage and resourcefulness. He must
be able to climb great heights on slender roots;
he must cling with his knees to the bark of trees
and jump 12 feet from DBH to the ground. He
must exercise judgment and know where the
ground is. He must be able to land from great
heights with one foot on a down log and the
other extending through it three feet, retaining
the calipers in one hand and the scribe in the
other, and a smile on his lips; all the while
repeating aloud the diameter obtained so the
tallyman will finally get it. He must know that
moss covers abysmal caverns, and how to fall
easily on his face in the mud when slipping from
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a log with only devil’s club to grab. He must
learn to walk mostly on his knees and be able to
pull himself up out of slimy rock-strewn chasms
hand over hand on a devil’s club.

The tallyman must be a man of great judg-
ment and patience. He must be able to stand
poised on one foot on a slippery log with no-see-
ums in each ear while receiving diameters from
loft. He must be able to pick diameters from
streams of adjectives heard in anguish from the
line of battle. He must know, as a gymnastic
teacher does, the little touches necessary to
land a man properly on his stomach when fall-
ing from DBH in awkward positions. He must be
able to jump from rotten log to mossy rock with
eyes glued to note book, and without hesitation
or oaths tally the numbers as they come, even
while hysterical, cold and wet and full of devil's
club thorns,—and when no-see-ums are explor-
ing the tonsils.

If there were any known ground and the
trees grew anywhere near it, DBH could be
reached on stilts or with a step ladder, and
foresters in Alaska wouldn’t have to visit the
States so often to recuperate.”

Another major problem of the national forest was
“sporting women.’’ Prostitution flourished on the
Alaska frontier, and policies ranged from setting up
restricted areas, as in Ketchikan and Juneau, to having
a highly permissive society, as at Tenakee. George
Peterson, whose ranger district included Tenakee, had
many difficulties with the whores. A typical diary entry
reads:

Dec. 10, 1919

Went to Mr. Flory to see U.S. Attorney in re-
gard to sport. Ladies and bootleggers at
Tenakee.
Dec. 11, 1919

Told Mr. Ed. Snyder, Tom Turke, Lewis
Thompson and could not find Nels Pherson that
they would have to clean up other place of
sporting ladies dives and bootleggers. Ed Sny-
der said that it was up to the Marshal. And I
told them it was not up to Marshal but up to
property holders or that we would cancel their
permits and left Tenakee at 1:30 PM. Arrived at
Chatham at 5:30 PM. Very rough out in
Chatham straits.

One problem that occurred was that some
madams tried to take up land in order to practice their
profession. Though the Forest Service had regulations
regarding a great number of special-use permits, it had
none to fit this type of goods and services. The result



was what the Service emphatically called ‘‘nuisance
trespass.”” One woman tried to take advantage of the
Forest Homestead Act. George Drake recalled:

We had a ranger at Juneau named Babbitt
who came into the Forest Service in the early
days....When he asked his supervisor what his
job was, he was told to go out and range....I had
a tough time to get Babbitt to submit reports,
especially June 11 reports. We had a flood of
applications for June 11 claims come in from
several fishermen around Auke Bay—no report
from Babbitt so I set a deadline. In came a
single page report with all the claims listed. The
substance of the report was as follows:

“These applicants are fishermen who were
attracted to Auke Bay by Mrs. X [a well known
lady of easy virtue], who was living there. Mrs.
X has moved back to Juneau and there is no
more interest. The Gordian Knot is cut. I recom-
mend these applications be cancelled and the
cases closed.”®

The most embarrassing problems in regard to
“*sporting women'’ came in Anchorage. In 1914 the fed-
eral government began work on the Alaska Railroad.
At Ship Creek, on Knik Arm, a construction site was set
up and a townsite laid out by the General Land Office,
with Andrew Christensen in charge. Lots were sold un-
der Alaska townsite regulations, which provided,
among other things, that lots and payments for them
would be forfeited if ‘‘used for gambling, prostitution,
or any other unlawful purpose.”

With the construction work came a large number
of pimps, gamblers, and sporting women. They former-
ly had occupied land at the mouth of Ship Creek, along
with others, before the Alaska Engineering Commission
formally took possession of the area. The commission
notified the trespassers that all available land at the
mouth of Ship Creek would be needed for headquarters
and railroad terminal purposes and ordered the tres-
passers to move. Meanwhile, the new city of Anchor-
age had been located on a flat bench above the valley,
at the mouth of the creek, and those with legitimate oc-
cupations purchased lots and began improvements.
The first sale of lots was in mid-July 1915.

The question arose as to the prostitutes, who,
under terms of the sale of lots, were barred from pur-
chase. Deputy Supervisor T. M. Hunt was emphatic that
under no circumstances would they be allowed to oc-
cupy national forest land. (The Forest Service still
maintained administrative control of the area inside of
the Ship Creek withdrawal, but outside the specific An-
chorage elimination.) This left the question up to Chris-
tensen. The women had to be moved but could not be
admitted to Anchorage. The group reached no solution

for the moment and left it temporarily until the commis-
sion had need of the land they occupied. Hunt, mean-
while, plotted a free campground outside the Anchor-
age elimination to take care of the transient workers
who followed construction and could not be expected
to purchase lots.

Hunt soon left Anchorage for another section of
the national forest. During his absence Christensen
took advantage of the situation. In conjunction with the
deputy U.S. marshal, who himself owned a lot on which
a gambling house was located and who lived with a
lady bootlegger not his wife, Christensen had a blind
street built to the area adjacent to the campground. He
permitted the sporting women to set up their establish-
ments there, on land under jurisdiction of the Forest
Service.

Henry Graves, with E. A. Sherman and W. G.
Weigle, visited the red-light district in 1915. It had
been named ‘‘Hunt’s Addition’’ or ‘‘Huntsville.” Graves
was furious, but Christensen thought it solved their
problem. Deputy Marshal Wardell assured Graves that
his office would police and maintain order in the two
areas and that proper sanitation would be maintained
by two doctors, one a public health officer. Graves pro-
tested strongly, but the situation remained during the
fall and winter.

In July 1916 the Alaska Engineering Commission
ordered the area vacated, so that the land could be sur-
veyed into lots and sold. All persons occupying the
campground and the lots where the prostitutes had
their cribs were ordered out before October 1. The
women sold their houses, the buildings were torn down,
and practically all the women left the area, some going
to Seattle, some to other parts of Alaska. The Forest
Service considered the problem solved. In early fall,
however, word was quietly passed to the scattered
women that they could return. It is not known who
passed the word, but it was evident that those in
charge of the complicated administrative structure in
Anchorage knew of the invitation. Hunt knew nothing
of the matter, nor did the local ranger.

This time an area under Forest Service jurisdic-
tion was openly selected as the red-light district. Two
streets a block or so long, with twenty-five lots, were
plotted. This was immediately south of the area recent-
ly vacated and close to the south boundary of the reser-
vation, beyond which the land had been taken up by
homesteaders. By November 1916 there was an estab-
lished settlement, with houses going up, community
wells, and plank sidewalks. There were no telephones,
but an electric signaling system had been set up con-
necting each house with the railway station and res-
taurant. Lots were distributed among the women at a
public drawing. There were about sixty houses in all,
most of them cribs but two of substantial size.
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When Hunt discovered the plot, the Forest Service
was faced with administrative control of a large red-
light district. Though innocent as a party to the condi-
tion, it could be subject to public criticism. The problem
of removing the district as a nuisance trespass was
also difficult. Navigation to Anchorage had closed in
November, and it was impossible to send the women out
overland. Drastic action by the government in trying to
remove them by force would result in fights with the
unsavory elements and, at best, would lead to unfavor-
able publicity. The U.S. deputy marshals in the area
were allies of the pimps and prostitutes and would be
of no aid. Christensen admitted that Hunt had *‘caught
him with the goods’’ but offered no remedy.

Weigle and Charles Flory, chief of operations for
District 6, discussed the matter. They finally agreed

that the Forest Service would formally and immediate-
ly renounce all jurisdiction over the withdrawal area
of the original Ship Creek Townsite and ask for its
elimination from the forest by presidential proclama-
tion. There was little timber in the area and little land
available for homestead purposes. Elimination of the
specific nuisance area would be interpreted as a slap
at Christensen and thus the Alaska Engineering Com-
mission and General Land Office; but elimination of the
entire area from the forest would not be so interpreted
and thus could be handled as regular departmental
procedure. The Forest Service could ‘‘quietly with-
draw from the scene without scandal.” The Forest
Service renounced jurisdiction over the area, but not
until 1919, with the Ship Creek elimination, was the
Service free from this embarrassment.*

Boundary Work

Boundary work was a major task of the Forest
Service during the period 1910-1920. During the spring
of 1909, Secretary of the Interior Ballinger and Secre-
tary of Agriculture Wilson agreed to classify land with-
in the national forests and remove agricultural land.
Generally speaking, the lands to remain within the for-
ests would include timbered land, land necessary to
check erosion, cutover or partly timbered land more
valuable for timber production than agriculture, and
land above the timberline in the mountains. Lands not
timbered and not in the above categories would be
eliminated from the forests. In 1912 appropriations
were made for classification of the lands within the
forests and the U.S. Bureau of Soils did the work.?

Langille, in laying out the boundaries of the Alas-
kan national forests, had been working on unsurveyed
lands. Rather than the usual legal descriptions by
township, range, and section, he had established easily
recognized boundaries such as watersheds, crests of
mountain ranges, streams, mountain ridges, and lati-
tude and longitude lines. There was, therefore, a con-
siderable amount of tundra, barren mountain ridges,
and some agricultural land within the forest bounda-
ries. The task, particularly in the Chugach, was to re-
duce these areas and at the same time protect national
forest objectives. A second aim was to eliminate areas
around villages and towns, so that they could grow.

Two eliminations were made from the Chugach
during Langille’s administration. The first was the
12,800-acre elimination by presidential proclamation
in Controller Bay, already mentioned. Also, near Cor-
dova, a townsite of Nelson Bay was eliminated from the
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national forest by congressional action. A town and rail-
road terminal were projected, but neither materialized.?

In a report on the Chugach in early 1911, Langille
stated that the national forest had no agricultural land
worth note, save for a few points on Cook Inlet and
Knik Arm. Areas of tillable land, he noted, existed in
isolated areas of a few acres each. There was no mar-
ket for the produce, and the hardy vegetables that
might be raised could be imported more cheaply than
they could be grown. The areas of land were not large
enough or contiguous enough to permit close settlement
and development of villages and schools. Subsistence
agriculture, as a supplement to fishing, was probably
the greatest development that could be expected. Such
agricultural land as was available could be listed
under the Forest Homestead Act of.June 11, 1906.

Langille expanded on this in a letter in May. There
was, he wrote, some agricultural land at Knik Arm that
might be eliminated from the forest. There was also
some agricultural land around Tustumena Lake and
the Kenai River. The cost of clearing land, however,
was $800 per acre, the season was short, and agricul-
ture did not have a great future. Langille also pointed
out the unique value of the Kenai as a wildlife and
hunting preserve, writing, *There is room for the fron-
tier settler and fishermen on the shore land; there let
them abide in peace and prosper, but keep out the fire
and wanton game destroyers.”

On the 1909 addition to the Chugach, from Copper
River to Cape Suckling, then under attack, he pointed
out that it had been made to preserve the timberlands.
“If this action ultimately prevented non-resident




claimants from fraudulently acquiring coal lands and
kept a guileless public from investing huge sums in the
many claims that will never produce coal, this work
was well done.” But all this had no bearing on the real
reason for the addition. ‘It was alone to control the use
and prevent wasteful destruction of the limited supply
of not too good, but most necessary timber and hold it
available for future citizens and operators."

Langille’s formal recommendations included elimi-
nations along the northern boundary of the Chugach
National Forest, including mountains above timberline,
tundra, and glaciers. He also recommended elimina-
tions around some of the towns, such as Cordova, and
enlargement of the Controller Bay elimination to in-
clude more of the mudflats and tidelands in that vicini-
ty. He also suggested some additions to the forest; these
included the southern shore of the Kenai Peninsula
from near Seward to the head of Kachemak Bay, Kayak
Island, Shuyak Island, and Marmot Island.

In the Tongass, Langille reported on a petition for
elimination of the settlement of Hyder at the head of
Portland Canal. There had been a mining boom at
Stewart, located at the head of the canal on the Canadi-
an side, and a rush to the area began in 1909. On the
American side, a man named Dan Lindeborg had
patented a homestead in 1905. Americans joined the
rush, and a settlement named Hyder grew up near the
Lindeborg homestead. When Langille visited the area
in the winter of 1910, a settlement had grown up of fif-
teen to twenty tents, three or four rough lumber build-
ings, a house scow, and four cabins—all on the Linde-
borg claim. Plans were made to erect buildings on the
pilings. Langille was critical of the Alaska Boundary
Commission for its decision on the boundary line. It ig-
nored, he wrote, the Russiun Ukase of 1821 and the
English-Russian convention of 1824-1825 in drawing
the boundary. The decision, wrote Langille, gave the
Bear Creek Valley with its mineral resources to ‘‘our
Canadian cousins,” leaving to the United States barren
granite. However, Langille recommended building a
wagon road up the Salmon River to divert business to
the United States. For the present, he wrote, the tide-
flats and the Lindeborg homestead would be sufficient
land for the mining settlement, and he recommended
that the proposed elimination be rejected.”

Intensive boundary work began in 1913, following
the provision of funds by Congress. The Forest Service
was under particular attack at this time from the Sen-
ate Committee on Territories. Graves asked George
Cecil, district forester of District 6, for all available
material on Alaska, including commercial timber
areas, maps, reason for establishment of boundaries,
probable alienation of lands if they had not become na-
tional forest, and present and prospective uses of the
forests. Cecil replied that there were large untimbered

areas in the west Kenai, both muskeg and areas burned
by prospectors in 1898. The west Chugach, west of the
Valdez trail in the mountains, had never been explored
and had no inhabitants. He estimated the total volume
of timber on the Chugach at 8 billion feet of commercial
timber. These boundaries had been set up on the basis
of natural features, so well defined that they could not
be mistaken. The addition in the Kenai of February 23,
1909, had been planned to include the south coast, but
commercial interests in Seward objected, so the crest
of the range to Kachemak Bay was used. It should have
included the south coast, Cecil reported, since there
was more timber south of Kachemak Bay than to the
north. Two thousand acres had been located near
Katalla with the use of soldiers’ additional homestead
scrip, and about 1,000 acres near Seward. More scrip
would have been used near Knik Arm if the national
forests had not been created. He reported some
agricultural lands near Knik Arm and in the Cook Inlet
area. Finally, he suggested that the Forest Service re-
examine timber values in the Susitna, Matanuska, and
Chitina areas for a possible new national forest.»

James B. Adams of the Washington Office traveled
to Alaska in 1913 in company with George Cecil and
E. H. Clapp. They traveled over the right-of-way of the
Alaska Northern Railroad to the east end of Kenai
Lake, explored the Kenai area, examined Prince Wil-
liam Sound, and then returned to the Panhandle. Clapp
recommended elimination of an area east of Seward
and another in the Tustumena Lake area. He also rec-
ommended elimination of the Ellsworth Glacier and
Chugach Mountains, the lower Copper River, the lower
Kenai, the Susitna, Matanuska, and Chitina areas, and
also Afognak Island. Clapp recommended additions to
the Tongass. These included reannexation of the Ka-
saan elimination of 1907, an addition of the Mansfield
Peninsula on the northern end of Admiralty Island, the
area on the mainland to the west of Lynn Canal, as far
as the mountains, and the area to the north of Icy Strait
and Cross Sound, as far north as the Yakutat and Dry
Bay additions to the Tongass.”

The problems of boundaries were particularly
complicated on the Kenai Peninsula, west of the rail
line, and in the Cook Inlet area. The nature of the tim-
ber was different here from that in the Prince William
Sound area afid in the Tongass. The yield was sparser,
and it was of poor quality—comparable with that of the
Rocky Mountain West rather than the Pacific North-
waest. This relative lack of timber was a favorite reason
given by Delegate Wickersham and Senator Walsh for
their efforts to eliminate the Chugach National Forest.

The boundary examinations, moreover, took place
in an era of economic and social change. In 1915 the
federal government got into the business of railroad
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building and set up the Alaska Engineering Commis-
sion. Andrew Christensen, formerly with the General
Land Office, became head of its Land and Industrial
Department, a promotional agency for encouraging set-
tlers to come into the area. It was similar to the land
boards of the transcontinéntal railroads. The work of
Christensen's department was to propagandize the
values of the area for homesteads. His efforts to estab-
lish a permanent agricultural colony were largely un-
successful, but he did bring a nucleus of settlement into
the Matanuska Valley and along Knik Arm, which cre-
ated more pressure for elimination of national forest
lands in that region. Christensen’s constant barrage of
propaganda about agricultural possibilities stimulated
the Forest Service’s land classification work, though it
had been authorized as early as 1912.

To aid in this classification effort, the U.S. Bureau
of Soils sent Hugh H. Bennett to Alaska. Bennett, who
would later gain much fame as a soil conservationist,
made two trips, one in 1914 and another in 1916. On
the first trip Bennett was accompanied by Thomas D.
Rice, a fellow employee of tae Bureau of Soils. They
began their soil reconnaissance along Knik Arm, trav-
eled up the Susitna and Matanuska valleys, visited the
Kenai Peninsula, and concluded with studies of the
soils of interior Alaska and adjacent areas of Canada.
They worked closely with the Forest Service, the Alas-
ka Engineering Commission, and the Alaska Agricul-
tural Extension Station.

In 1916 Bennett made a detailed reconnaissance
of the Kenai Peninsula and the Prince William Sound
area. He traveled through Cook Inlet with Keith Mc-
Cullagh of the Forest Service on the launch Wilhelmina,
hiked through the interior of the Kenai with Arthur
Ringland, examined the soils work that T. M. Hunt and
Asher Ireland were doing between East Foreland and
Kachemak Bay, and took Lage Wernstedt to Afognak
Island for topographical mapping. Bennett's reports
are valuable historical documents, not only for the soil
maps but also for descriptions of other aspects of the
country—its timber resources, game and fish, hunting
practices, and scenic and recreational values.*

The net effect of Bennett's soil studies and land
classification work was to give the Forest Service more
reliable information about agricultural possibilities.
Thus, eliminations could be made on a sound basis,
rather than in response to Christensen’s propaganda.

The Forest Service conducted much other field-
work between 1913 and 1918 in an effort to redraw
boundaries of the Chugach National Forest. H. W. Fish
made a reconnaissance of the Cape Suckling area in
1913. He found good stands of spruce and recommend-
ed additions to that far southeastern part of the
forest.® Asher Ireland, a dry, humorous, laconic man
from Oregon’s Umpqua National Forest, came to the
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forest in 1916 to further the land classification effort.
He recommended a small addition of 8,641 acres of
land on the Resurrection River, adjacent to the south-
ern border of the Chugach, near Seward, as being of
value for both timber and protective cover.* The area
contained 42 million feet of spruce and hemlock and
was, in Ireland’s opinion, ‘‘the best body of timber in
southwestern Alaska.” The tract was within the Land
Office withdrawal for Seward, but Ireland felt that the
land was needed to prevent the timber from falling into
the hands of speculators. Weigle and Cecil both en-
dorsed this proposal.

Ireland and T. M. Hunt also examined an area to
the north, between Indian Creek and Bird Creek and
beyond the Knik River and Knik Arm. They found an
area of great fire danger along the right-of-way clear-
ing for the railroad and believed that it should be re-
tained within the national forest. The soil values were
as yet untested, and the timber was of potential value
for the railroad and building. *“The seemingly poorer
stands of today may become the valuable stands of
tomorrow,”’ they noted. Later, with intensive classifica-
tion, the area might be eliminated. They thought that
such classification might take place when the Alaska
Railroad’s free-cutting permit expired on July 1, 1919.
Cecil and Weigle, however, believed that the area
might be eliminated because of the low timber values.*
Charles Flory, to the contrary, felt that the area should
be retained for pulp and timber needs.* Weigle favored
an elimination from Knik Arm to Potter Creek and along
the Knik River, as well as the area already homestead-
ed.* He favored a new survey of the Matanuska and
Susitna rivers for possible reserves, as well as reserv-
ing the timber along Indian, Rainbow, and McHugh
creeks. Ireland also examined the land to the head of
Knik Arm, between the Matanuska and the Knik rivers,
an area of 169,240 acres. He found the land to be pri-
marily agricultural in nature, with settlement on the in-
crease, and recommended that the area not be includ-
ed in the national forest.*

To the southwest, a major area of controversy was
Kachemak Bay and the coastland up to Kenai. Lage
Wernstedt and H. Nilsson examined the area in 1916
and recommended elimination of a three-mile-wide
coastal strip from East Foreland to the head of Kache-
mak Bay, totaling 205,670 acres. The area was tim-
bered with spruce, birch, and aspen, with a volume of
80 million feet of spruce suitable for sawtimber and pil-
ing, and 315,000 cords of wood. The area had been
heavily culled, however, and tie timber was not of the
best quality. Bennett and Rice had classified the lands
as having agricultural possibilities, and Wernstedt and
Nilsson recommended its elimination from the forest.”
George Cecil also recommended its elimination.* In all,
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Timber Sales

Timber sale activity in Alaska increased during
Weigle’s years as supervisor. Wartime demands for
fish increased the sale of timber for piling, fish boxes,
and construction timber. Some Sitka spruce in Alaska
was logged for airplane construction, and a mill was
established at Craig for cutting it. The Alaska Railroad
also used several million feet of Forest Service timber
per year under a free-use agreement. The amounts
varied as follows: 1916, 2,267,000 board feet; 1917,
7,358,000; 1918, 5,576,000; 1919, 5,758,000; and 1920,
4,067,000.* The total national forest cut grew from 9 mil-
lion board feet in 1909 to 20 million feet in 1920, with a
large amount for free use by the railroad and others.

Cable logging had largely replaced handlogging by
the 1920s, and stands of spruce near the shore were
diminished in most areas. ‘*‘Most of the timber accessi-
ble to tidewater,”” Kan Smith wrote, ‘*has been culled
over at least once, 8o that the remaining stands do not
make practical hand logging areas....The hand loggers
as a class invariably waste as much timber as they get
into a raft.” Logs were usually cut by contractors,
many of them Indians, for mills. They were scaled in
the raft by scalers using large calipers.+

There were generally protests against the scale—
folklore persists that any government scaler is out to
mulct the operator—and rangers often had to learn the
local Indian language to answer such protests. Clyde
Nettleton, in the Cordova area, was alternately threat-
ened and offered bribes by ‘‘Crooked’’ Nelson, one of
the Copper River and Northwestern Railway lumber
contractors, for having taken his scaling duties too
seriously. On one occasion George Peterson, the ranger
at Sitka, mislaid two pages of his scale book and
charged an operator for 250,000 feet instead of 350,000
feet in his log raft. The operator said nothing. Later,
Peterson found his error and added the 100,000 to the
next raft. The operator protested, calling Peterson a
crook, but Weigle backed Peterson. Threats were not
uncommon. A sawmill operator in the Kenai tried to
threaten J. P. Williams with a Winchester when the
ranger found him cutting without a permit. Williams
out-bluffed him.*

One of the major tasks of the rangers was to super-
vise timber sales and to see that Forest Service stan-
dards of utilization and slash disposal were met.
Diaries and sales reports are full of stories of poor
utilization, high stumps, long butts, and logs left in the
woods. One diary entry is typical; at a sale on Farragut
Bay, the sales officer reported:

Went up the creek and looked over the old
cutting area....On the south side the stumps in
some places average six feet in height and
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there is about 60,000 feet of logs left in the

creek that could easy have been floated out and

about 100,000 left in the wood sales cut and left

in the woods.*

As time went on, however, there was greater com-
pliance with the sales regulations. Sales up to 2 million
feet were made by the supervisor; larger sales were
made by the Portland or Washington offices. Customar-
ily, sales called for stumps cut either above the butt
swell or no more than double the diameter of the tree.
Logs were cut to a ten-inch top, and, increasingly,
hemlock as well as spruce was specified. Sales were
advertised for competitive bidding, usually with a mini-
mum price of one dollar per thousand for spruce and
fifty cents per thousand for hemlock. Some timber was
priced at a sliding scale, depending on distance from
tidewater. Logs were scaled either at the mill or the
booming ground.*

Milling operated under many handicaps. The
crews were small and fluctuated in number. Equipment
was generally in poor repair, and shutdowns were fre-
quent. Freight rates to the mill were typically double
that from Seattle to Ketchikan. A large amount of con-
struction timber was shipped in to the Alaska Railroad
from Puget Sound, because it was cheaper to buy from
Seattle and Tacoma mills than from local ones. Rail-
road construction engineers also preferred Douglas-fir
to spruce and hemlock.*

Sitka spruce was in demand for airplane construc-
tion during World War I, and mills on the West Coast
did a large business in processing clear spruce. Wil-
liam Weigle made a trip to Lituya Bay in 1917 to ex-
amine the spruce reservation.® Meanwhile, other
areas of spruce timber were surveyed, but the amount
of timber suitable for airplane construction was limit-
ed. The stands were decadent and defective, often
mixed with hemlock, and would not produce the requi-
site number of clears desired for aircraft production.
In November 1917, however, Jay Williams reported on a
tract near Howkan on Long Island. The only cutting, he
reported, had been old handlogging shows along the
shore. He estimated the stand to contain 24 million
board feet, of which a little over one million was hem-
lock. The logs, he said, would cut 70 percent No. 1
(clear), 20 percent No. 2, and 10 percent No. 3. The
area could be logged readily by donkey engine. Weigle
corresponded with the district office, recommending a
sale at not less than $3 per thousand, and the sales no-
tice was sent out in January 1918.

The only mill nearby was that at Craig on Prince of
Wales Island. This mill, of about 35,000-feet capacity,
had recently been bought by F. J. Tromble. Tromble
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wrote to Weigle that he ‘‘simply had to have that tim-
ber” but found himself in competition with-two other
men. One, a man named Thane, thought he might ship
the logs out by Davis rafts. The other, Henry Shattuck,
said that if he got the tract, he would build a mill. A
third man, William Bricker, who apparently was asso-
ciated with Shattuck interests, got the Signal Corps to
apply pressure on the Forest Service. Eventually the
bids were let on January 26, 1918, and Tromble ob-
tained the sale at the cost of $3.85 per thousand for
spruce. Shattuck then leased the Craig Lumber
Company.

The sale had difficulties almost at once. The For-
est Service scaler, E. L. Erickson, reported that not
more than 20 percent of the cut was clear timber, suita-
ble for airplane stock. The rest would have to be used
as box shooks. Two bargeloads were sent to Vancouver,
Washington, in August; they totaled about 400,000
board feet. Of that, 50 percent was rejected for air-
plane stock. By August 10, loggers had not been paid
and quit work. Weigle inspected the sale, reporting
that the mill was under capacity and that the company
had paid too much for the timber. Williams, meanwhile,
reported that by ‘70 percent No. 1" he meant not
clears, but 70 percent merchantable logs. Shattuck
asked that the terms be modified to permit long butting,
since the butt logs often had twisted grain, which led to
rejects. This was not allowed. A request that the terms
of the sale be modified to permit a selection cut, rather
than clearcut, was likewise rejected. By September
1918 the mill could no longer make payments; in No-
vember operations were suspended. Government
timber contracts for spruce were cancelled on Decem-
ber 11, 1918, and the company was in the hands of a re-
ceiver by January. The logs cut but not shipped out were
sold at auction at $2.25 per thousand board feet to the
Ketchikan Power Company. Due to the collapse of the
airplane spruce market, no damages were assessed,
but the contract was cancelled.* After the war a new
sale on the tract was made, and the timber was sold to
the O. W. Brown Box and Lumber Company of Craig for
$2.60 per thousand for spruce and $1 for hemlock.*

The pulp timber potentialities of the Tongass were
the subject of a major reconnaissance during this
period. George Drake, working with Roy Barto, set up a
series of stream-gauging stations to study water flow.
When B. Frank Heintzleman came to Alaska in 1917, he
succeeded Drake at this work.*? Stream traverses,
waterflow, dam sites, and potential mill sites were
studied. Meanwhile, Kan Smith made a series of timber
reconnaissances of pulpwood potentialities, assisted
by Jay Williams and R. A. Zeller. The men traveled in a
launch (Ranger 4), with two twelve-foot skiffs and Evin-
rude motors, and made a series of strip cruises of
Prince of Wales, Admiralty, and Revillagigedo islands.

Onv of Smith’s major accomplishments was a detailed
base map of the Tongass on a scale of one inch to the
mile. It was based on surveys of the General Land Of-
fice, Coast and Geodetic Survey, Geological Survey, and
private sources.®

Some operators from outside Alaska investigated
the possibilities of establishing pulp mills in Alaska. In
1910 a Norwegian company became interested in es-
tablishing a mill in the Thorne Arm area, but it desired
freedom from cutting regulations and title to the land.
Roy Barto cruised the area and examined the water-
power possibilities in 1911. On the basis of his report,
the Forest Service attempted to interest other com-
panies. L. A. Stockley of the San Francisco Chronicle
examined the area in 1912, and negotiations were car-
ried on for a sale. A tentative sale contract was signed
in 1913, but various obstacles arose. Stockley desired a
twenty-acre plat for his plant, and Weigle reserved an
area for this purpose. Other problems arose over a
waterpower permit and charges for the water. Negotia-
tions continued and Henry Graves made a personal ex-
amination of the area during his 1915 trip to Alaska.
But by 1917, the Chronicle lost interest. Some 300 mil-
lion board feet were offered for pulp on the Stikine
River in 1913 and a billion feet in the Behm Canal area,
but there were no takers. In the north, Jack Wilson,
who had a copper mine on Latouche Island, had a proj-
ect for putting up a twenty-five-ton pulp mill, and T. M.
Hunt made some surveys. But the economic climate
was not yet right for establishment of pulp mills in
Alaska.*

In the Cordova, Katalla, and Valdez areas, one of
the major problems was the settling of trespass cases
inherited from the Department of Interior. These in-
volved cutting operations by the railroad companies
that had been pushing their lines into the interior. They
had done their original cutting under the jurisdiction of
the Department of the Interior, but, with the creation of
the Chugach National Forest and the extension of its
boundaries in 1909, the Forest Service had inherited
their sales. The Alaska Pacific Railway and Terminal
Company of Katalla, which represented the Bruner in-
terests, had cut 650,000 feet of spruce sawtimber in
1907 and left it in the woods. The Willoughby interests,
a subsidiary of the Copper River and Northwestern
Railway, cut more than 2.5 million feet of timber, plus a
large amount of piling, in two separate trespasses.
They wanted, wrote Wernstedt, ‘‘to grab the timber for
construction purposes ahead of the Alaska Pacific Rail-
way and Terminal Company, who were doing the same
thing."” These cases were referred to the Department of
Justice in 1913. In addition, there were small trespass
cases by the Reynolds interests on Fidalgo Island in the
Valdez area. These were settled on the basis of inno-
cent trespass. The Alaska Northern Railroad, before it

77



went into receivership, cut 21 million feet of timber
near Turnagain Arm and left it to rot in the woods.®

In the Kenai, timber sale relations revolved about
the Forest Service relationship with the Alaska Rail-
road. A predecessor, the Alaska Central, financed by
the Ballaine interests in Seattle, had built slowly north-
ward from Seward until 1807. It was a victim of the
panic of that year but reorganized with Canadian back-
ing as the Alaska Northern Railroad and continued
building slowly to the north. These railroads had diffi-
culties with the Forest Service from the first. The Alas-
ka Central had been careless with fire and had cut
recklessly. The Alaska Northern’s application for a
right-of-way on Turnagain Arm was turned down for
failure to meet Forest Service standards for fire pro-
tection and timber utilization.*® The Alaska Northern
was soon purchased by the federal government to
become part of the Alaska Railroad.

From 1915 to 1917, there arose a series of contro-
versies regarding timber use and fire protection. The
Alaska Railroad, by agreement with the Forest Service,
cut 2 million feet of timber per year from the national
forest for ties, bridge timbers, and piling. Cutting was
to be under Forest Service supervision, following agen-
cy standards for cutting, utilization, and slash disposal.
These regulations included: use of dead timber, if avail-
able, for cabins and corduroy roads; eighteen-inch
stumps, trimmed tops, and full utilization; cutting only
in areas designated by Forest Service officers; and as-
sistance of railroad workers in case of fire near the
railroad right-of-way. The timber was cut by contrac-
tors and sold to the Alaska Engineering Commission,
which was in charge of the railroad. In July 1915 Keith
McCullagh complained to Deputy Supervisor T. M.
Hunt that the contractors were making no effort to fol-
low regulations regarding cutting and brush disposal.
Weigle, on examination, found a pattern of high
stumps, long butts, untrimmed tops, and bad utilization.

He asked permission to close down the operation if the
contractors did not obey regulations. Hunt and George
Drake also found failure to obey regulations and even
failure of the commission to notify operators of the
terms of the agreement.”

By 1917 most divisions of the railroad had cooper-
ated with the Forest Service. The major exception was
in relation to R. J. Weir, engineer in charge of the
Seward-Turnagain Arm section, and Frank Youngs,
timber inspector. Weir was hard to deal with; he dis-
liked Hunt, ignored Forest Service regulations, and
would not order spark arresters put on the donkey
engines and locomotives. Protests went up from rang-
ers and field men to Deputy Supervisor Hunt, Super-
visor Weigle and finally District Forester George Cecil.
Cecil wrote to Graves about the matter on April 13,
1917, and the chief forester in turn wrote a formal pro-
test about Weir and Youngs and their lack of coopera-
tion to William Edes, head of the Alaska Engineering
Commission. Edes denied the charge but at the same
time instigated corrective measures. Spark arresters
appeared on the donkeys. The cutting and forest fire
regulations, formerly passed by word of mouth, were
printed in the Alaska Railroad Record, and the major
difficulties were ironed out.*

Fire was an ever-present menace in the area, and
most of the fires were man-caused. The country was
dry from the end of April to August, with tall grass, dry
vegetation, and high winds in July and August. The
coal-burning locomotives, formerly used on the Panama
Canal, presented real fire hazards. Engineers were
ordered to use spark arresters, but they often took
them off when going up grades. The Forest Service set
up a protective service involving the use of speeders
for transportation, but between 1914 and 1924 there
was an average of twenty-six fires per year. The worst
fire year was 1915, when sixty-seven fires covered
14,823 acres.®

Claims, Amenity Values
and Administration

As the business of the national forests increased,
the problems relating to claims became more complex
and time-consuming. In addition to the agricultural
land boom, there was a speculative boom in 1914 and
1915 that complicated the Forest Service's claims
work. In the Tongass, before the 1807 proclamation,
30,000 acres were taken up near Ketchikan under the
soldiers’ additional homestead scrip. The New York De-
velopment Company acquired the area for its timber
values. It was the only substantial area of alienated
land in the Tongass.* In the Chugach, near Katalla,
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some 20,000 acres of timberland had been acquired by
the Cunningham, Green, and other companies before
the creation of the national forest. In the Turnagain
Arm area speculators interested in producing piling
desired to locate on 100,000 acres of forestland; they
pressed for removal of this land from the national for-
est.® The Cunningham interests, hoping to compete
with the Alaska Northern for a route to the interior and
the Matanuska coalfields, projected the “‘Flour Sack™
Railroad from Passage Canal. In 1913 Supervisor T. M.
Hunt reported that the whole shoreline was staked



with timber claims and placer claims and that the Gug-
genheim interests had applied for a right-of-way, filing
the application in Juneau. Henry S. Graves, on his trip in
1915, reported that a New York man had plastered 140
townsite, trade, and manufacturing sites and timber
claims along Passage Canal; a Bostonian had staked 18
eighty-acre claims along the same canal.* When the
federal government took over railroad building in 1915,
the speculative excitement died down somewhat.

The era was also marked by a close examination
of mineral, oil, and coal claims in the Bering River
area. During his last year as supervisor, Langille and a
geologist from the University of Iowa examined and
reported on every coal claim opening in the area. Some-
times Langille was assisted by Lage Wernstedt or
Bruce Hoffman. He found some claims, particularly in
the Christopher group just to the north of Bering Lake,
that had been taken up for timber rather than coal
values. Court tests were made of some speculative
claims. The decisions, particularly that for the case of
United States v. Munday in 1912, ameliorated the situa-
tion and lessened the backlash from the Cunningham
cases. Registers and receivers supported the new in-
terpretations of the law. By 1921 Melvin Merritt found
that sentiment toward the Forest Service on the part of
claimants had become friendly rather than hostile.®

0il claims also presented a problem in the Katalla
area. Both Langille and Wernstedt had made reports
on the claims there and south to Cape Yakataga. Under
Weigle's administration the Forest Service and the
General Land Office cooperated in studies of these
claims.

The first of these oil claims in the Katalla area
were located in 1897 by the Alaska Development Com-
pany, a Seattle corporation whose directors also had
interests in local coal claims. In addition to 30 coal
claims of 640 acres each, this syndicate located more
than 150 oil claims of 160 acres each in the Katalla
area and more tha 100 in the Yakataga fields. Several
years later other claims were located by W. A. Aber-
nethy Associates, by J. W. Ivy, and by Harry White. The
result was that practically all the accessible land not
claimed as coal land between Cape Suckling and Mar-
tin River was claimed as oil lands by some company or
syndicate.

Oil land was located under the Placer Act of 1897.
This, like the law on metalliferous minerals, required
annual assessment work and gave the prospector no le-
gal right to his discovery until he had begun to produce.
But oil required drilling, which was expensive. The
result was that the companies, to avoid spending the
$100 worth of assessment work required by law,
relocated the land claimed by them each year. Usually
the same ground was relocated each year, but some-
times lines were redrawn or areas abandoned. Drilling

took place on only thirty sites. Assessment work and
improvements consisted largely of building roads and
cabins and cutting rig timbers or firewood. Some of the
firewood was sold in Katalla. Often the timbers were
left to rot, or the roads were abandoned.

More than a half million acres were filed on be-
tween 1897 and 1911. Much of this was relocation of
claims, however, and the total never exceeded more
than 100,000 acres at any one time. The companies, all
incorporated in Oregon or Washington, had a total
stock of about $100,000,000. Their main interest was in
selling stock to the gullible, not in drilling for oil. Only
four wells were brought in, all near Katalla; they each
produced about twelve barrels per day. A small
refinery was built near Katalla, and the gas and oil
was sold locally.

The General Land Office had been lax in enforcing
the law or checking the authenticity of the claims. With
the creation of the Chugach National Forest, land on
which assessment was not performed had to be aban-
doned. Consequently, about one-fourth of the land held
in 1911 was abandoned in 1912.

Weigle determined to settle the oil claim question.
Two rangers, John H. Schurr and H. W. Fiske, exam-
ined claims in the vicinity of Katalla in the fall of 1912,
collecting data and making maps. In 1913 Andrew
Christensen, chief of the Alaska Field Division of the
General Land Office, sent a field agent, Stanley
Hindricks, to work with the Forest Service. After a
searching investigation, Hindricks made his report.
There was, he said, no discovery of oil prior to creation
of the Chugach; therefore, there were no prior claims
to patented land within the national forest. All pending
claims, he believed, could be canceled—first, because
no oil had been discovered as of that date, and, second,
because dummy entrymen had been used. However,
Hindricks urged holding off on any action. The promot-
ers had made their money out of selling stock, not pro-
ducing oil. They had done little or no prospecting and
lacked the financial resources to do so. He feared that
they would welcome the opportunity to *‘pass the buck
to the government for their own failures.” In another
year or so, Hindricks predicted, oil stock sales would
fall off and the companies would abandon their claims.

District Forester George H. Cecil agreed with the
field agent’'s conclusions. Cecil was already faced with
a movement to eliminate the Chugach and *‘open up”
Alaska. A highly publicized investigation of or action
against oil claims at this time, Cecil thought, would
“complicate a situation which, to say the least, is at
present very acute.’’ As predicted, the oil claim ques-
tion died a natural death.

Homestead applications began to mount during
this era, and they were processed more rapidly than
before. The Forest Service had been criticized by
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Christensen and others for delay in processing home-
stead applications, and genuine efforts were made to
speed them up. Increased use of the Forest Homestead
Act arose from the fact that the Forest Service paid the
cost of surveying the forestland. On the public domain
the cost of surveying to the men who filed amounted to
about $500.*

There were various technical and jurisdictional
problems connected with all claims. The interpretation
of the 80-rod law was difficult. This law provided that
no entry of land would be allowed extending for more
than 160 rods along the shore of any navigable stream,
with distances of 80 rods between each claim. There
were disputes concerning the definition of navigable
streams. And there were problems concerning prior
Native claims. In the Tongass, particularly, cleared
areas had often been occupied by Native villages or
cabins. These were often filed on by whites. The Forest
Service generally accepted as evidence of past occu-
pancy garden spots, houses, burial grounds, and the
like. The agency worked closely in such matters with
the Office of Indian Affairs.*

Another use of the forest during this period was
fox raising on islands, an activity that had begun in
Alaska during the 1890s. The Treasury Department
had leased islands under an act that permitted grant-
ing five-year leases to ‘‘unoccupied and unproductive’
land. The Treasury Department delegated jurisdiction
over the fox ranches to the Commerce Department,
which established a leasing system. Langille received
his first application for a fox island in 1910. More ap-
plications followed, and several hundred head of foxes
were shipped to Alaska from eastern Canada, where
fox raising was well established. District Forester
Cecil decided that a price of $25 per year for each
island would be fair rental. By 1913 there were eight
fox ranches on the Chugach and four others on the Ton-
gass. By 1920 there were fourteen on the Chugach and
eleven on the Tongass. Various jurisdictional problems
arose. The Forest Service rented islands for a cheaper
rate than did the Commerce Department, which charged
$100 per year. This disparity led to petitions by some
fox ranch operators outside the national forest that
their islands be included within the forest. Controver-
sies also arose over the proper payment for islands
that had been used for fox raising before they came
under national forest jurisdiction—would the old or the
new rates apply? The solicitor of the Department of
Commerce held that the old rates would apply to these
islands, because the Chugach withdrawal proclama-
tion had made the land subject to prior reservations.®

Yet another new problem was that of hot springs.
Hot springs in Alaska had been withdrawn from entry
in 1899. National forest land could not be leased if
there were hot springs on the land. But settlements
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grew up around the hot springs, and problems of sani-
tation and vice developed at Tenakee, Warm Springs,
and Bell Island. In the interest of good administration,
the policy was reversed, and on January 24, 1914, the
Forest Service secured jurisdiction over hot springs on
national forest lands. The Forest Service then found
itself in the position of investigating and validating old
claims in the vicinity of hot springs, surveying lots, and
aiding in the management of recreational areas.*”

Laws were modified to grant recreational sites by
lease within the national forests. There had been an in-
creasing demand for such sites for resorts, summer
homes, stores, and the like. In 1915, on Graves's recom-
mendation, legislation was passed authorizing the
lease of five-acre sites for not more than thirty years.
Much of the land classification work in the Juneau area
had to do with recreational sites. By 1920, 22,288 acres
of land and two miles of railway were under lease in
the Chugach, and 13,355.6 acres in the Tongass. The
listing of uses was diversified, including agriculture,
cabins, camps, drift fences, fox and rabbit farms,
hotels and roadhouses, mills, a logging railroad, a
tramway, a park, a school, wharfs, wells, telephone
lines, cemeteries, canneries, ice plants, and water
transmission facilities. * Many resorts, however, took
advantage of the townsite law. The Forest Service ad-
ministered them as special-use towns. Streets and
water systems were put in, and road money was used
for constructing plank walks. Lots were mapped and
frontage provided.

The Forest Service continued to be active in game
and fish conservation. It prevented seiners from
placing salmon nets at the mouths of streams to catch
schools of fish (and thus prevent spawning).*® In 1912
T. M. Hunt opened three major streams that had been
closed in this way by fishermen.™ Ringland recommend-
ed in his 1916 report that rangers be made fish ward-
ens, and he repeated Langille’'s recommendations re-
garding establishment of a game refuge in the Kenai.
He attempts to enlist the aid of Harold McCracken and
the Biological Survey in this enterprise.” Other Forest
Service men reported on game poaching by trophy
hunters in the Kenai.”

Historic preservation’ work also concerned the
Forest Service. An old Russian settlement on Russian
River near Kenai Lake was identified and marked as a
historic site.” More important, of course, was the crea-
tion of Old Kasaan National Monument under the An-
tiquities Act. As mentioned previously, Langille had
recommended preservation of the totem poles at Old
Kasaan and Tuxekan under this act, and F. E. Olmsted,
in his inspection report of 1906, had forwarded the
idea to Pinchot. Pinchot in turn had made a recommen-
dation to the secretary of the interior. The president
reserved the tract by executive order in 1907, but no



formal proclamation was made.™ No particular super-
vision of the area was made, except by casual patrol
work.

In 1913, however, the Alaska Cruise Club revived
the effort to give the area formal national monument
status. The club, which had about 1,000 members from
all parts of the country, made a cruise in Alaskan
waters in 1913. It adopted a resolution to petition for
creation of a park or national monument at Old Ka-
saan. The resolution was endorsed by the whole mem-
bership in July 1914, and copies were then sent to the
president of the Senate, speaker of the House, and to
senators and representatives of the western states.”

Kan Smith, in his reconnaissance report of Sep-
tember 1914, recommended protection of the ‘“‘ex-
quisite specimens of native art” in the pole and house
construction at Old Kasaan. District Forester Cecil
wrote to Weigle on the subject, and he in turn talked
the matter over with a special agent of the Department
of the Interior. Weigle also prepared a map and plan of
the area and made an inventory of graves, buildings,
and poles. He suggested that the best poles be taken to
the Sitka National Monument for preservation and pro-
tection and recommended that about $5,000 be spent in
constructing cement bases for the poles. Weigle agreed
that national monument status for Old Kasaan would
be desirable.

The movement to create a monument gained mo-
mentum. Chief Forester Graves got in touch with the
Smithsonian Institution on the matter, stating that the
major needs were for a custodian and for protective
money. Andrew Christensen of the Alaska Field Divi-
sion of the General Land Office favored creation of a
national monument, as did Land Office Commissioner
Clay Tallman. Territorial Delegate Wickersham lent
his support. On October 25, 1916, the proclamation
was made.”

Assistant Forester James B. Adams suggested that
a special appropriation for protection could be added
for fiscal 1919. Meanwhile, he authorized the super-
visor to make some repairs at the monument. At this
point, however, the Alaskan foresters belatedly in-
formed the Washington Office that a fire had swept
through the village in the summer of 1915. It had de-
stroyed three houses and three totem poles and had
damaged others. The Washington Office literally *hit
the ceiling” at this news. Acting Forester Alfred Potter
and E. A. Sherman severely criticized both Weigle and
Cecil for not informing them sooner. They felt that the
appropriation could not be justified since the main pur-
pose for establishing the monument had been to protect
the buildings, now burned. What, asked Sherman,
could be done with the area? How much worthwhile
material was left? How could this be protected? Should
the monument order be revoked?”

Shortly after taking office as the new district
forester in 1919, Charles Flory made an examination of
the area. In a detailed report he stated that the Natives
had been influenced by missionaries to go to villages
where they could acquire educations. They had aban-
doned villages, the whites had pillaged the settlements
in search of artifacts (even breaking into graves and
coffins), and the totem and house poles had been used
for rifle practice. The poles themselves were neglected
and had decayed; those that had fallen lay rotting in
thickets of devilsclub. Flory felt that the poles should
be preserved through some agency, but the Forest Ser-
vice had neither time, money, nor staff to act as cus-
todians and restorers. He felt that there should be ac-
tion at an early date. There were, he thought, enough
pieces of lumber remaining to reconstruct some of the
old houses. However, these were privately owned by
the Indians, and the Forest Service could not proceed
without their permission. He suggested that the best
poles and house material be moved to Sitka National
Monument and placed under Park Service custodian-
ship. There a Native village could be constructed. this
could be accomplished, he thought, at a cost of $10,000.7

The Forest Service corresponded on the matter
with the Smithsonian Institution, which approved the
project of moving the poles to Sitka. It was suggested
that each pole be photographed before moving and that
records be kept of the history of each pole. Greeley,
commenting on the fact that some poles had been sold
to Ketchikan businessmen, expressed the view that if
the Indian seller could prove bona fide ownership, such
sales were valid. H. W. Krieger of the Smithsonian In-
stitution made an archaeological survey of the site in
1926 and did some restorative work on the poles by
removing decay. He, too, felt that the poles should be
moved to Sitka. Not until 1932, however, was anything
further done to save the totems.™

William Weigle's tenure as supervisor of the Ton-
gass and Chugach national forests came to an end in
1919. No longer a bachelor, having married a Ketchi-
kan schoolteacher, he left Alaska to become supervisor
of the Snoqualmie National Forest in Washington. He
was later involved in the creation of Washington’s
state park system.

Weigle was a worthy successor to Langille, and his
administration was marked by many achievements. He
opened the forest to agricultural as well as to timber
use. The Forest Service during that time was under fire
almost continually, and Weigle stood firm against many
pressures. He gave the forests strong administration
and through the use of common sense settled many dis-
putes amicably. Sometimes a heroic and sometimes a
comic figure, he was admired for his best qualities and
loved for his foibles.

81



Original from

UNIVERSITY OF MINMESOTA



Original from

UNIVERSITY OF MINMESOTA



Original from

UNIVERSITY OF MINMESOTA



Team Management:
Flory, Heintzleman, Merritt,
1919-1937

December 4, 1930

Reference is made to your letter relative to butter received in the last Seattle purchase.
The brand received here is marked Montequilla Marc. Brookfield. Was probably made some
years ago for export to Mexico but the Mexican government refused it. I believe it is butter. or
would prove to be on analysis, but it has been removed from the cow for too many years. There
are rust spots through and on it, it does not taste very good, and has a queer grainy effect when
placed in the mouth. It looks more like tallow than butter but this is probably an optical illusion.

Never saw butter like this before.

Chas. Burdick to R. A. Zeller, quoted in
Sourdough Notes, October 1, 1951

Politics of Forestry: The 1920s

he Taft and Wilson administrations had been

marked by political battles over forestry and con-
servation—battles in which Alaska was prominently
involved. This was also the case for the first three
years of the Harding administration. Harding chose
Albert B. Fall of New Mexico to be his secretary of the
interior. Fall had as a goal the transfer of the Forest
Service to the Department of the Interior. As an open-
ing wedge, he testified in 1922 before the Senate Com-
mittee on Territories in favor of transferring the Forest
Service in Alaska to the Interior Department. This
would, in his opinion, make mining and homesteading in
the territory much simpler and would at the same time
allow forest use. The project found some friends in Con-
gress, particularly in Fall's successor in the Senate,
Holm O. Bursom, and from George Curry, a former con-
gressman and governor of New Mexico, now Bursom'’s
“private secretary.”’ However, it was characterized by
the American Forestry Association as a land grab. Pin-
chot used his considerable political influence against
it, as did Secretary of Agriculture Henry C. Wallace.
Dan A. Sutherland, Alaska's delegate to Congress, also
opposed the transfer. This controversy was probably a
factor in Harding's decision to visit Alaska in 1923. The
president became a convert to Forest Service views
while in Alaska, and in a Seattle speech he strongly
supported Forest Service management and advocated

development of a pulp industry in Alaska.' The political
threat to Alaska's forests disappeared during the
1920s, and it was in general a period of quiet but
steady progress.

Calvin Coolidge, Harding's successor, was pledged
to economy in government and to noninterference with
the existing governmental departments. He provided
no leadership to conservation, but he offered no ob-
stacles. Herbert Hoover was more knowledgeable re-
garding resource administration. His philosophy in-
volved businesslike efficiency, scientific management,
cooperation with the states, and decentralized adminis-
tration. These were not antithetical to the Forest Service
objectives. Hoover was unfortunate in the time in which
he served, however, spending much of his energy ex-
plaining and dealing with the economic depression.

In Congress there emerged a strong leadership for
forestry and conservation. Senator Charles L. McNary
of Oregon, with his strong personal interest in forestry,
his legislative skill, and his working alliance with E. T.
Allen, was the notable leader. Others included Louis C.
Cramton and Arthur H. Vandenberg of Michigan, Hen-
rik Shipstead of Minnesota, and George W. Norris of
Nebraska. The decade witnessed important legislation,
especially in the area of state and federal cooperation.
The Clarke-McNary Act, the General Exchange Act,
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the McSweeney-McNary Act, the Knutson-Vandenberg
Act, and the Copeland Report were among the accom-
plishments.

The two chief foresters of the period, William B.
Greeley (1920-1928) and Robert Y. Stuart (1928-1933),
built substantial records. Greeley was a graduate of
Yale who came to Washington after service in Califor-
nia and Montana. A capable, competent man who had
earned the respect of the lumber industry, he had a
good relationship with both the administration and the
Congress. He rejected Graves’s idea of federal regula-
tion of private cutting, preferring voluntary coopera-
tion. He gave high priority to fire control—the result of
his personal experience in the big fire of 1910 in Mon-
tana. He continued Grave’s emphasis on recreation in
the national forests, which involved both road building
and reserving of primitive areas. Scientific research
was advanced greatly during his term as chief. In all
these areas, except the regulation issue, he followed
the views of his predecessor. Graves had been denied
full achievement of his goals by political hostility.
Greeley, on the other hand, took advantage of the era of
good feelings in politics to get through the legislation he
wanted. Greeley faced minor clashes with the grazing
interests over the matter of fees, and there was some
infighting with the National Park Service in recreation-
al areas, but his was an administration of substantial
accomplishments. He retired from the Forest Service in
1928.’

Robert Y. Stuart, successor to Greeley, was anoth-
er Yale man. He entered the Forest Service in 1906,
served until the United States entered World War I, be-
came a major in the 20th (Forest) Engineers, and re-
turned to the Forest Service in 1920. Shortly thereafter,
he went to Pennsylvania to serve as assistant commis-
sioner of forestry; Pinchot was commissioner. When
Pinchot was elected governor of Pennsylvania in 1922,
Stuart was advanced to commissioner and then to sec-
retary of forests and waters, when the name of the
state agency was changed. Stuart returned to the For-
est Service when Pinchot’s term as governor expired in
1927, and in 1928 he became chief. During Stuart's
administration, the important legislative accomplish-
ments of the Greeley era were continued; he made no
real break with the Greeley policies. In the latter part
of his term, Stuart pushed for emergency relief work on
the national forests in order to carry out projects
primarily in construction and recreational areas. He
died in office on October 23, 1933.

Stuart was succeeded as chief forester by
Georgia-born Ferdinand A. Silcox. After graduating
from Yale, he went into the Forest Service, serving as
district forester in Missoula. He served in World War I
and then went into labor management for the govern-
ment. He was called back from his assignment to be
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chief forester. Silcox was intensely sympathetic with
and loyal to the New Deal—so sympathetic that Ickes
sought to have him transferred to the Interior Depart-
ment. He favored public ownership and management,
public cooperation, and public regulation. In addition
to the existing relief and reform work during his term,
several new pieces of legislation were passed, includ-
ing the Norris-Doxey Cooperative Farm Forestry Act.
He supervised the Shelterbelt Project in the prairie
states, ordered a study of the western range, and es-
tablished a timber salvage project after the great blow-
down of 1938 in New England. Silcox favored federal
regulation of cutting and devoted much time to working
for this, until his death in 1939.}

In Alaska, the 1920s were a period of transition
for the Forest Service. Recommendations for creation
of a separate administrative district appear all
through the inspection reports of the Weigle adminis-
tration. Graves favored the change, and in 1919 the
area was divorced from the Portland office and made
District 8, later to become Region 10. Part of the pres-
sure came from within the Forest Service, but part of it
came from outside demands for further decentraliza-
tion of the agency.* With this transition, Charles H.
Flory, who had succeeded Weigle as supervisor in
1919, now became Alaska's first district forester.

The Alaska District had a curious relationship
with the Washington Office. Chief Forester Greeley
traveled to Alaska and made a firsthand examination
of its forests. Early annual reports are filled with plans
for Alaska, particularly plans for pulp mills that did
not materialize. Meanwhile, Alaska's national forests
were underfinanced and understaffed; transfers of
personnel out of the forest were infrequent. It was the
most neglected of all districts, but there were many
who liked the Alaskan way of life and completed long
terms of service there.

Charles H. Flory, the first district forester in
Alaska, had a curious career. He was a Yale graduate
who went out to District 6 and served as chief of opera-
tions in Portland until coming to Alaska in 1919. His ti-
tle was superintendent of Alaska forests until 1921,
when Alaska was made a separate district, District 8.
Though he had been a good lieutenant for George Cecil,
he proved to be a poor captain. He was too imaginative
and had too low a boiling point to be an outstanding ad-
ministrator. He had many sideline activities that took
time away from his regular duties, and his health was
not robust. He was generally looked upon as a man of
great qualities that were not fully realized.

Flory had two close and able associates. Melvin L.
Merritt, assistant district forester in charge of opera-
tions, was the very model of a career forester. Born in
Iowa in 1870, he became a professor of horticulture at
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In April 1920 an Interdepartmental Alaska Ad-
visory Board was set up, consisting of members of the
various federal departments with interests in Alaska.
The board recommended establishment of an Interde-
partmental Alaska Committee to coordinate the work
of the various departments in the field. E. A. Sherman
of the Forest Service strongly opposed establishment of
the committee, but it was set up nevertheless in 1920.®
It had a large membership, and Charles Flory was the
Forest Service representative. Greeley spoke on the
need for cooperation, pointing out that in fur farming
there were three agencies involved: the Forest Service,
the Biological Survey (in the Aleutians), and the
General Land Office. There was need for a coordinated
policy. In settlement there was no conflict, but the Gen-
eral Land Office was too inefficient. The Land Office in
Alaska was the office of record, but the other
steps—allowance of entry, acceptance of final proof,
survey, issuance of certificate, and final patent—all
had to go through Washington. The Land Office had
three branches—the Land Office proper, with its regis-
ters and receivers, the surveyor general, and the Field
Division in charge of inspection—and all operated
independently.®

The Alaska Committee was abolished by the presi-
dent on April 1, 1922. It probably had no great effect,

but it may have helped to get Flory together with the
Land Office on boundary matters.

In 1930 an Alaska Commission was set up to coor-
dinate activities of the Department of Agriculture, De-
partment of Commerce, and the Land Office in Alaska.
Charles Flory served as chairman of the commission
for a time. He was listed in the Forest Service Directory
as ex-officio commissioner for the Department of Agri-
culture for Alaska, as well as regional forester. (All dis-
tricts were renamed regions in 1930; all district forest-
ers became regional foresters.) Flory accepted the
commission post feeling that it would not interfere with
his regular duties. From a study of inspection reports,
however, it is evident that the job did take Flory away
from his office a great deal, constituted about half of
his work load, and may have contributed to his reputa-
tion as a weak administrator.*

Of more importance than any of these things, how-
ever, was Forest Service membership in the Alaska
Game Commission, which was established by act of
Congress in 1925. This participation helped to coordi-
nate the work of the Forest Service and the Fish and
Wildlife Service in regard to fish and game manage-
ment. W. A, Chipperfield, as a member of the commis-
sion, gave outstanding service."

The Politics of Conservation
and the 1930s

The 1930s and the New Deal marked the revival
of conservation as a crusade. Aside from the
Republican Roosevelt, Franklin D. Roosevelt probably
had more firsthand experience with forestiry than any
other president. He had operated a tree farm at Hyde
Park, New York, and had a practical knowledge of for-
estry in all its technical and economic aspects. He had
served in the New York legislature as chairman of the
Senate Committee on Forestry, and as governor he had
pushed a program for reforesting and managing aban-
doned farmlands. Roosevelt's presidential programs
took many forms. They involved the emergency conser-
vation work of the early 1930s and later the Civilian
Conservation Corps (CCC), with its philosophy of using
relief funds both to rehabilitate men and for socially
desirable conservation work. The Shelterbelt Project,
the NRA Forest Conservation Code, and the Taylor
Grazing Act were other monuments to his administra-
tion. He pushed creation of national parks and monu-
ments, and with the Reorganization Act of 1933 put all
national monuments under the Department of the In-
terior. In the national forests, primitive areas were es-
tablished and fish and game sanctuaries set up.

Roosevelt had his personal quirks and idiosyncra-
cies in conservation. Some advisors outside of the ordi-
nary chain of command influenced his decisions, as did
Rex Beach in regard to mining in the Glacier Bay Na-
tional Monument, John Holzworth with the proposed
Admiralty Island National Monument, and Irving Brant
regarding the Mount Olympus National Monument. He
alternately pleased and tormented Secretary of the In-
terior Harold Ickes, probably relying on him more for
advice than on any other single cabinet officer but frus-
trating Ickes's desire to transfer the Forest Service to
the Interior Department. He had a weakness for park-
ways—possibly because of his physical infirmity—and
probably had more of them built than was desirable.

Roosevelt surrounded himself with outstanding
men. Ickes, a Bull Moose Republican turned Democrat,
was one of the strong men in the cabinet. Irascible,
honest, suspicious, committed to democracy and minor-
ity-group rights, and hungry for power, he was the most
colorful of the Roosevelt group. Henry A. Wallace, as
secretary of agriculture, was a quietly capable indivi-
dual. The son of Henry C. Wallace, who had served so
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Boundaries

Boundary problems on the Chugach continued af-
ter the 1917 eliminations. Associate Forester E. A.
Sherman wrote in 1921 that he considered the chief
timberland of value to be in the Prince William Sound
area and in the area east of 150 degrees of longitude
and south of Turnagain Arm. These areas, he wrote,
should be retained. North of Turnagain Arm, from the
head of the arm to Indian Creek, the values were low.
There was some timber near Bird Creek and Indian
Creek, but these areas were isolated. Sherman suggest-
ed eliminating Turnagain Arm and all the area north of
Turnagain Arm and west of 150 degrees of longitude;
he also questioned the value of retaining Afognak Is-
land. Answering his letter, Heintzleman favored keep-
ing the *‘fishhook' from East Foreland to Kasilof River.
He felt that the south side of Knik Arm could be elimi-
nated, but not the area south of Turnagain and west of
150 degrees until more was known of the area.”

In 1923 efforts were made to reach a final settle-
ment on the boundaries. On the way back from Alaska
on the Harding trip, William Greeley conferred with
Secretaries Henry C. Wallace and Hubert Work and
Land Office Commissioner William Spry on bounda-
ries. The Forest Service was particularly interested in
the Icy Straits-Lituya Bay area. The Land Office, on the
other hand, wanted eliminations from the Chugach Na-
tional Forest in the Kenai and the Copper River areas.
An agreement was reached that Charles Flory of the
Forest Service and George Parks, head of the General
Land Office’s Field Division in Alaska, would meet and
work out boundary adjustments on a give-and-take
basis. Parks apparently went on the erroneous assump-
tion that Flory would be given a free hand to make addi-
tions in the Tongass, while he would be given a free
hand in the Kenai.'

The Forest Service carried on investigations in
1924 and 1925. Wellman Holbrook made a reconnais-
sance of the Chickaloon Flats area and the strip along
the coast from East Foreland down to Kenai, recom-
mending its elimination. Melvin Merritt recommended
elimination of the Knik Arm area because of its inferior
timber, settlement, and fire danger. Chief Greeley was
opposed to these eliminations from the forest, but he
finally agreed. W. J. McDonald, supervisor of the Chu-
gach, made a trip to Afognak Island and reported
favoring retention of this area and adding to the na-
tional forest some of the adjacent islands, including
Raspberry, Shuyak, Whale, and Marmot. There was an
increase in demand for use of the islands. These includ-
ed a saltery application on Redfox Bay and two fox
farms. The Bureau of Fisheries had no objection to For-
est Service administration on Afognak, but there was

no agreement between the Forest Service and the Com-
merce Department over administration of fox farm
islands. Parks objected to the proposed addition on the
ground that the General Land Office had timber sales
on Raspberry Island, so the plans for additions were
dropped. However, Latouche Island was added. and
fox farmers on Wingham and Wooded islets petitioned
for annexation by the national forest. Langille had al-
ready recommended the addition of Kayak Island. In
addition to these, the Orca and Ellamar eliminations
were cancelled. Also, at Eyak and Tabulik rectangular
eliminations were substituted for circular ones. In the
Copper River Delta there were no changes; McDonald
and Merritt examined the area and felt it should be
held for recreational purposes. These changes were
made by proclamation on May 29, 1925, and the bound-
aries were stabilized."

From time to time, there was some demand that
the Anchorage Ranger District, the 1,063,673 acres
along the Alaska Railroad, be eliminated. Charles
Flory, in a report of February 19, 1931, declared
against it. By that time, however, public sentiment had
changed. The Forest Service was managing the area
not only for its timber values but also in cooperation
with the Alaska Game Commission for game and recre-
ational values. George Parks, by now governor and
head of the Alaska Commission, favored Forest Service
management.'®* There was also some local support for
establishing national forests in the interior, particular-
ly around the Susitna River area where John Ballaine
was making plans for a birch veneer manufacturing
plant.”” In 1938 Heintzleman recommended an addition
for recreational purposes in the Russian River drain-
age, and he was supported by Ernest Gruening, who
was then director of the Office of Territories in the In-
terior Department. There was need for the addition,
Heintzleman said, to reduce fire danger and to check
fishing regulations. But the addition never came
through.™

In the Tongass, a major addition was made to the
north of the existing forest. In 1917 Asher Island had
made a reconnaissance of the area to the north side of
Icy Straits and up as far as Cape Fairweather. He re-
ported good stands of spruce and hemlock and an ex-
cellent stand of pure spruce at Lituya Bay. This latter
area with withdrawn, on Weigle's request, as a mili-
tary reservation in 1918. Heintzleman examined the
area in 1923, taking with him a group of the Seattle
Mountaineers, and was impressed with its recreational
as well as economic value. At the time of Harding's
visit to Alaska, Wallace, Greeley, and Work conferred
on the matter; Greeley urged addition of Lituya Bay, the

89



north side of Icy Strait, the west side of Lynn Canal,
and the Mansfield Peninsula to the national forest.” In
1924 Flory and Parks conferred on boundaries. The
main task was to determine the relative boundaries of
the Glacier Bay National Monument, now being
planned, and the new national forest area. Meanwhile,
on their return from Alaska, Greeley, Leon Kneipp, and
E. A. Sherman conferred with officials of the Interior
Department. Lituya Bay was restored to the national
forest in 1924, and on June 12, 1925, the Icy Straits ad-

dition to the Tongass was proclaimed.

There were also numerous small additions and
eliminations. These included changing the boundaries
in Sitka, Wrangell, Skagway, Ketchikan, Hydaburg, and
Juneau from circular to rectangular survey. Later,
there were numerous small boundary changes within
the national forest. These included a military reserva-
tion near Sitka, an administrative site near Petersburg,
lighthouse eliminations, and townsite eliminations in
Hoonah, Tenakee, Hyder, and Warm Springs Bay.*

State of the Region, 1920-1937

During its first years as a separate district of the
Forest Skrvice, Alaska was one of many anomalies. As
in forestry nationwide, there was a shift from the use
of westerners (who had gained their experience in the
“University of Hard Knocks'’) to professionally trained
foresters from Yale, Penn State, the University of
Washington, and other forestry schools. The old-timers
became boatmen, as did George H. Peterson of Sitka, or
trail and road construction foremen. The number of
personnel increased, both in the field and in the office
staff.

The Alaska District was poorly financed. In the
Tongass, timber sales were more than the cost of forest
administration. Promotion was slow and transfers diffi-
cult. There were, consequently, some feelings of frus-
tration and a large staff turnover. Annual leave was
hardly sufficient to permit trips to the states, consider-
ing the poor transportation. The work schedules were
difficult, with long hours in the field. On the other
hand, there were compensations. Alaska offered a
unique way of life for those who loved the out-of-doors.
Some of the problems of the states were lacking, par-
ticularly fire (except in the Kenai area) and grazing
problems. It was good country for those who liked to
live off the land and who were interested in photogra-
phy and outdoor sports. There was also a large degree
of independence for men in the field; ranger districts
were large, as large as some national forests in the
states, and inspections were few. The result was the
growth of a core of men who remained in the Forest
Service and who became devoted to Alaska—men like
C. M. Archbold, W. A. Chipperfield, and Lee C. Pratt.®!

Administration after 1921 was based on a system
of a forest supervisor for the Tongass in Ketchikan and
a forest supervisor for the Chugach in Cordova. When
Alaska became District 8 in 1921, Flory's office was
moved from Ketchikan to Juneau, which has remained
headquarters for the district and region ever since.
From a technical standard, the Alaska District was
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poorly administered. Flory spent a great deal of time
serving on the Alaska Commission. He also had a great
number of sideline activities, including rock collecting.
He was a founder of the Juneau Garden Club, then a
largely male organization. He spent much of 1928 com-
piling a history of the Ballinger-Pinchot dispute from
sources in Alaska; the manuscript is now unfortunately
lost. Merritt was an extremely capable and tireless
field man as assistant district forester, but he left
Alaska in 1934. Heintzleman spent much of his time in
the states promoting pulp sales and in the 1930s was
called there to assist in NRA work. Fortunately, the
caliber of the field men was high, and there was proba-
bly less need for formal supervision than in most dis-
tricts in the states.

There were also localized administrative prob-
lems. Before 1921, both the Tongass supervisor and
Flory were stationed in Ketchikan, and the latter took
on some of the former’s functions. The supervisor was
not given full responsibility, as on other national for-
ests. Later, Tongass Forest Supervisor Robert A. Zeller
was not consulted about road plans, the proposed pulp
sale to Alaska Pulp and Paper Company, or land classi-
fication work; the supervision of timber sales was giv-
en to B. F. Heintzleman. There was no orderly planning.
Assistant Forester E. E. Carter wrote in 1924 that the
state of the Chugach ‘‘averaged with that on most na-
tional forests about 1907 or 1908, with the work in
some lines not even on standards which would have
been regarded as suitable then.” Carter did not blame
it on the staff—Supervisor W.]. McDonald, Deputy
Supervisor Pratt, and Rangers John G. Brady and
Thomas E. Murray were excellent men—but rather on
the district and on Washington, which ‘‘failed to ascer-
tain or take proper action on the Chugach in regard to
such fundamental matters as fire protection, the ad-
ministration of timber cutting, and the adjustment of
boundaries.” Carter felt the need for both fire control
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Alaska, as elsewhere, Forest officers are al-
most invariably outstanding and highly respect-
ed members of their small communities, and
such investigations are embarrassing to them
and detrimental to their standing with the
public and with their subordinate Forest Serv-
ice employees. I strongly urge that such type of
investigation be restricted to serious charges
and not be made a routine practice in the

Department.

On the specific charges, he pointed out that it was
desirable for the field men to see the country outside
the national forest. He termed false the charges
against Smith, those relating to the vouchers, house
building, and lax office hours. He pointed out that the
Forest Service had always permitted field officers to
take their wives to see the country and that the privi-
lege was not abused. Such travel was also used to
check the winding of streamflow recorders, saving a
special trip to do this on official time. He acknowledged
the charges involving the condemned blankets but felt
it trivial at best. As far as the charges against Flory
were concerned, it was not necessary to meet them.
Flory had just been transferred, but Heintzleman im-
plied nonetheless that the charges were false.

Chief Forester F. A. Silcox supported Heintzleman
on several of the points. In regard to leave, he wrote, ‘'
think there is sometimes a tendency on the part of audi-
tors to forget that the humanities of certain situations
merit some consideration in applying the rules as to
leave or similar matters.” On the boats: “‘If occasional
water trips are denied Service residents in Alaska, one
of the few sources of pleasure they will have will be
taken from them.”” On Flory, he ‘‘questioned the wisdom
of such interrogations by inspectors or auditors,”
while he dismissed the charges against Smith as
‘‘gossip.’'®

Inspections notwithstanding, the work of the
rangers and supervisors was ordinarily in the field.
W. A. Chipperfield reported that his usual routine was
three weeks in the field followed by one week in the of-
fice writing up reports. Hours were long, with twenty-
hour days not uncommon. It often took a long time to go
by boat from the ranger station to work. George Peter-
son noted that he had worked 291 hours and traveled
700 miles by boat in March 1921. The men faced the
hazards of storm, shipwreck, and inclement weather.
The work itself involved scaling, cruising, surveying
town lots, patrolling, and the like. During the 1930s an
increasing amount of time was spent on CCC projects.
They also did rescue work, as revealed by a typical en-
try from the diary of Harold Lutz:

July 16, 1925

Found a scow boat from the Nellie Juan can-
nery wrecked just outside of the skookum
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chuck. Men intended to go in late p.m. before
the high tide, wind rolled boat, broke mast and
boom. Men camped on beach lagoon. Gave cof-
fee, bread, matches, etc.
As before, the boats were put to the service of a variety
of people—members of the Game Commission, Park
Service men, visiting dignitaries, archaeologists, re-
searchers, and the like.?®
Boatmen accompanied the rangers on their work.
They were responsible for seeing to the upkeep of the
boats and also aided the rangers. Boatmen were a dis-
tinctive breed of men, as individualistic as the old-time
packers of the Forest Service in the states. Their logs
are a good source of information on day-to-day activity.
They vary in content. Bernie Aikens, in the logs of
Ranger 1, comments cheerfully on a colleague's sobrie-
ty and on the quality of Ranger Kane's profanity. On the
other hand, there is occasionally stark tragedy, as in
the log of the Weepose dealing with the death of Jack
Thayer:
Oct. 16
Elija Harbor. Thayer killed by bear. Thayer
and Fred (Herring) left about 8.15. Fred back at
3 p.m. Report bear got Jack about 2.10. Carl Col-
lins of Weepoose and Fred left to get Thayer
and found him at dusk. He was pretty bad.
Passed on at 10.30 p.m. Tried packing him out
and got ¥z miles and had to leave him and go for
help. Too much for two men. To Weepoose.
Oct. 17
Weepoose left Elija Harbor 11.15 a.m. Went
to Pybus Harbor for help, got 5 men.
Oct. 18
Left Pybus Bay 4.30 a.m. got to Elija at 7.10
and 5 men left at 730 and got back with
Thayer’s body at 11.30 p.m.
Oct. 19
Arrived Juneau at 8:30 p.m. running all night.”
The number of boats in use on the Tongass in-
creased. By 1921 there were five boats of the Ranger
class, from thirty-five to forty feet long, powered with
20-25 h.p. engines; these were the workhorses of the
Forest Service. The Tahn continued in service. A
ninety-eight-foot yacht, the Hiawatha, was purchased
in 1921; it had twin 80 h.p. motors. It had been a patrol
boat for the Navy. The Hiawatha was a bad investment;
the engines were in poor shape, and it was too large
and expensive to run regularly. It was used to some ex-
tent to take visiting dignitaries around and as a floating
camp, but eventually it was traded for the sixty-five-
foot Chugach. The Weepose was also purchased in
1921. It was a sixty-five-foot boat with an 80 h.p. motor.
Its log indicates that there was continual trouble with
its engines and toilets. There was also a tender, twenty-
two feet long with a 5 h.p. engine. The marine station




on Gravina Island near Ketchikan was a busy place,
and its facilities for boat building and repair had to be
enlarged.?

Skiffs with Evinrude outboard motors were used
for station work and for work on the rivers. This, too,
had its hazards, as one diary entry indicates:

August 2

Started up river after noon and found river
overflowing banks, making progress very slow.

Caving banks fill the river with sweepers. At 3

p.m. the boat swamped and entire outfit

washed away. Succeeded in rescuing Mr. Ball

after narrow escape. Beached the boat and re-
covered tent, bedding and a few other articles.

Lost rifle, all clothing, ax, tools for engine, oars

and all provisions, notebooks, papers, etc.

Cached recovered property in trees near lake

and walked to lake, where we found an old

skiff, in which we crossed to south shore, where
there is an old trail. Walked to Ray’s cabin and
camped without food. Mr. Nettleton and Mr.

Ball will return for the boat when river falls

again.®

Air travel came to be of increasing importance
during this period. The Navy played a major role in the
development of the region before 1928 by making aerial
photographs, which were of tremendous importance in
developing the timber resources of the country. As ac-
curate as ground surveys, the photographs located

bodies of timber, waterpower sites, streams, lakes, and
logging shows, and were a major asset in planning.
Airplanes were also used increasingly for inspection
trips by supervisory personnel. A several-day inspec-
tion trip over enormous areas—the Juneau Ranger Dis-
trict alone covered 9 million acres—could be done in a
day by plane. Planes also supplied CCC camps, espe-
cially those on the inland lakes of Admiralty, and
isolated trail crews. They began to be used in the Kenai
for spotting fires.®

Motorized transportation also became more im-
portant in the forests. After the building of roads,
trucks were used to haul equipment within the forests.
Trucks became a key part of the protective picture in
the Chugach, where roads to Moose Pass and Hope
made it possible to move men more quickly than by rail-
road.

The public relations of the Forest Service also im-
proved during this time. The road-building program
was particularly popular in the coastal cities, where
the highways gave breathing space to the people, and
in the Kenai with the development of that region’s enor-
mous recreational possibilities.* The CCC programs
were well liked, particularly the totem pole program.
The Forest Service took an active part in National Fire
Prevention Week in the Anchorage area. Both the over-
head and the rangers were well liked as individuals
and as members of the community.

Forest Research
(written by Raymond F. Taylor)

When Frank Heintzleman was put in charge of
forest management in the new District 8, he was well
aware that the Tongass lacked many technical tools.
The volume tables used for cruising were those used
for spruce and heinlock in Oregon and Washington.
There were no growth tables to show what second-
growth stands would do after the decrepit and ancient
climax forest was cut. How best to get reproduction of
desired species or to treat cutover areas was more or
less unknown.

Efforts had been made to get funds for forest re-
search, but not until 1928, when a pulp operation on
the Tongass looked very promising, did Congress au-
thorize a forest experiment station for Alaska. Then,
when the Depression caused the pulp company to lose
interest, no funds were appropriated for the station.
That’'s the way it stood for twenty years. Heintzleman,
in the meantime, using timber management money, had

started studies of forest reproduction on small cutover
areas and of growth of young stands of various age.
Measurements were taken of trees being cut for saw-
timber and piling in order to make local volume tables.

James M. Walley and Harold J. Lutz, young techni-
cal assistants, were assigned to this work in 1924. No
transportation was furnished, so they had to descend
on the local ranger and crowd into his boat for short
periods in order to work on promising areas in his dis-
trict. Sleeping under a tarp draped over the boom in
wet weather or lying alongside a leaky gas engine did
not put the researcher in the best of moods to go forth
with enthusiasm. But they did, and they ate wet sand-
wiches, standing up, at noon.

In 1925 Lutz transferred to the Chugach, and Ray-
mond F. Taylor took his place on the Tongass. There
was some ‘‘boarding out” with rangers, to their dis-
gust, but later a boat was assigned for research and a
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**Available Nitrogen As a Factor Influencing the Occur-
rence of Sitka Spruce and Western Hemlock Seedlings
in the Forests of Southeastern Alaska.’’* Fieldwork for
this study was in addition to the regular studies of re-
production. Also in 1934, Taylor's work on growth and
yields of future stands was published as a technical
bulletin.*

The dissertation was published in Ecology in 1935
and pretty well summarized what had been revealed in
the reproduction studies; namely, that clearcutting and
tearing up the raw acid humus resulted in a good stand
of new young trees with adequate stocking in about ten
years. There were other reports on the details. The
growth and yield bulletin summarized the work of ten
years and showed that the climax forest, in which
decay and mortality offset any growth, would be re-
placed, when cut for pulp, by a new stand of fast-grow-
ing trees, which in about a century would have twice
the volume of the climax stand. The tables, charts, and
manuscript for these were all worked up in the Juneau
office. On the side, new volume tables were issued for

the main species. The figures for the yield tables were
borrowed by the Pacific Northwest Station to add to
Walter Meyer's vield tables for the Pacific Northwest.

It was lucky that all this work was completed by
1934, as emergency conservation work had taken over
in Alaska and there was no money for research. Taylor,
not wanting to boss CCC crews, transferred to the
Washington Office as assistant chief of the Division of
Silvics. He escaped to the newly formed Rocky Moun-
tain Forest and Range Experiment Station a year later,
and, after fourteen years at three stateside stations,
returned to Alaska in 1948.

This research work, though old, is still of great
value. Old reports and publications should be studied.
There has always been a tendency for new researchers
to discard as valueless anything that is over ten years
old. Because of that, they ‘‘discover’ that seeding cut-
over areas by helicopter is, after all, not necessary.
That was known in 1930, but using helicopters and
treated seed is wonderful public relations.

CCC Projects

General Projects

The Civilian Conservation Corps was one of the
major accomplishments of the New Deal. During the
closing days of the Hoover administration, funds were
made available for putting men to work in conservation
projects, largely road and trail and construction proj-
ects. Incoming President Roosevelt called for full-scale
use of manpower in work relief to conserve, protect,
and renew natural resources. The Emergency Conser-
vation Act was passed on March 31, 1933. Roosevelt
used the term ‘‘Civilian Conservation Corps’ as an
equivalent for the emergency conservation work, and
the name gained currency. The act was extended by
Congress and in 1937 was supplemented by formal es-
tablishment of the Civilian Conservation Corps, set up
for a period of three years.

The CCC program was administered by resource
agencies in the Departments of the Interior and Agri-
culture. The Department of Labor did the recruiting,
the War Department operated the camps and ran the
educational program, and the resource agencies car-
ried on the field activities. Enrollment was open to
young men from eighteen to twenty-three years of age.
Foremen were largely local men, often loggers or For-
est Service retirees.

The venture was a new and a challenging one for
the Forest Service. As Chief Robert Y. Stuart pointed
out, the Forest Service had always been able to be se-
lective in choosing its personnel. With the establish-
ment of the Forest Service, the old Land Office policy of

allowing political appointees had been dropped for the
merit system and for standards for retention and pro-
motion. The new men in the CCC program were chosen
by another agency, on criteria other than merit; they
were untrained and unmotivated. The Forest Service
had the test of giving both technical and vocational
training and working with somewhat refractory human
material.

The program proved highly successful, and it is
generally regarded as one of the most successful of the
New Deal efforts. It achieved its basic goal of relieving
unemployment; it gave 3 million young men a new start
and a new outlook; it awakened the public to a new con-
cern for conservation; and it aided in its main objective
of conserving and renewing natural resources. There
were many factors that accounted for its success. The
Army career officers, in the doldrums and out of public
favor because of the isolationist temper of the times,
found the work challenging and brought great profes-
sional ability to bear on the project. The Forest Service
worked with imagination and judgment. It developed
new techniques, such as the progressive method of fire
fighting in which it was able to make maximum use of
untrained men.®

In Alaska the CCC program was unique in many
ways. There was unemployment in Alaska, and the For-
est Service was given authority by the government to
handle disbursement of relief funds voted by Congress
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By 1937 there were 1,037 men enrolled in the na-
tional forest area: 262 in the Southern Division working
out of Ketchikan; 101 at Petersburg; 245 in the Ad-
miralty Division working out of Juneau; 77 in the Prince
William Sound area; and 240 in the Kenai. In addition
to continuation of the work projects noted earlier, there
were many special projects. These included a trout
hatchery at Ketchikan to provide trout to plant in near-
by lakes; at Sitka, landscaping the U.S. Coast and Geo-
detic Survey station, restoring the old Russian ceme-
tery, and building trout traps and floats in cooperation
with the Bureau of Fisheries; building a dock and a
small boat harbor in Cordova; building a bear observa-
tory on Admiralty and skiffs for use on the inland lakes;
and wing dams for channel control and a suspension
bridge ‘on Eagle River near Juneau. At Little Port
Walter, houses were built for the Bureau of Fisheries,
along with shelter cabins, floats, a salmon weir, and a
fifteen-room biological laboratory.

In the Kotzebue area Heintzleman worked out
plans with the Office of Indian Affairs for the wolf-
reindeer project. He conferred in September 1927 with
officials of the U.S. Biological Survey and the Indian Of-
fice. The program emphasized trapping, shooting
wolves, and teaching the Natives to close-herd rein-
deer. Logan Varnell was put in charge as foreman. One
hundred-eighteen Natives were hired in the Kotzebue
area; their salaries were paid from November to July
by the Biological Survey and the rest of the year by the
Forest Service.

The wolf-reindeer project was not particularly
successful. Varnell felt that the Eskimo community
ownership of the reindeer lessened their feeling of indi-
vidual responsibility. Many herds were unattended.
The wolves were not under control, reindeer would
elope with caribou, and there was need of a few large
herds, rather than many small ones, for control to be
effective. Varnell recommended putting the herds
under individual ownership, building line cabins or ig-
loos for the herders, and giving the Eskimos formal
training in range management. The project was aban-
doned in September of 1938.

Other work in the Kotzebue area was more suc-
cessful and lasting. This included building drainage
ditches, community wells, landing fields, herders’
shelter cabins, and cold-storage facilities.*

Nowhere was the work of the CCC more appreciat-
ed than in the isolated Native villages and missions in
the interior. Seventy-six enrollees worked on the lower
Yukon. The CCC built a muskox corral on Nunivak
Island. They razed the Army barracks at St. Michael.
Lumber from the barracks was used to build a work-
shop for Father P. C. O’Connor’s mission at Kaulurah.
At Galena there was extensive flood damage; the
debris was cleared away, the land cleared, and pre-
pared for a garden. Community houses and sanitation
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drainage projects were common. A telephone line was
built between Nulato and Unalakleet. These projects
broke down isolation and supplied some amenities. Let-
ters written to the regional forester from the teachers
and missionaries are among the most touching docu-
ments in the entire history of this enterprise.*

A forty-man camp was set up in Fairbanks, and
W. A. Chipperfield was placed in charge of it. A variety
of work was carried on, including salvaging twenty
miles of fence that had been used to enclose muskox
pasture before the herd was moved to Nunivak. Land-
ing fields were built, and fire and flood control was in-
troduced on the Chena.*

Totem Pole Project

The CCC work took on other aspects by 1938. The
Forest Service had always been interested in Indian
antiquities. W. A. Langille had been partly responsible
for the creation of the Sitka National Monument, and
he and F.E. Olmsted had initiated the movement
toward setting aside Old Kasaan. Boat logs contain
some accounts of early efforts to preserve Indian an-
tiquities under the provisions of the 1906 act.®

Between the creation of Old Kasaan National
Monument and 1938, a great deal of planning for totem
pole preservation took place. Flory visited the national
monument in 1921 and suggested the necessity of get-
ting an overall plan of preservation to prevent artifacts
from being looted and to protect totem poles from the
weather. He felt that the most practical thing would be
to move the outstanding poles in Old Kasaan and else-
where in the Tongass National Forest to Sitka National
Monument and there to set up a primitive Native vil-
lage. The Smithsonian Institution favored the program,
as did the Bureau of American Ethnology. Territorial
Delegate Dan Sutherland introduced a bill to finance
the operation, but it died in committee. Other attempts
failed for lack of funds. After the Reorganization Act of
1933 transferred jurisdiction over all national monu-
ments to the National Park Service, that agency’s offi-
cials sought appropriations to move the best totems in
Old Kasaan to Sitka. This effort also failed for lack of
funds.

In 1934 the Forest Service and the Park Service
developed new plans to move the Old Kasaan poles to
Sitka. Flory pointed out that although the Sutherland
Bill for a special appropriation to move the poles had
not been approved, he nevertheless hoped to get the
project funded through the general appropriation bill.
It would be a waste of time, he thought, to try to re-
habilitate Old Kasaan. The poles should instead be
shipped to Juneau.or Sitka and Native labor used to re-
habilitate them. Meanwhile, Wellman Holbrook exam-
ined the Sitka poles and found them in bad condition.



Some sections had rotted away, and there was a great
deal of decay in the wood, particularly at the bases of
the poles. He recommended that expert help be brought
in to rehabilitate the poles, with the CCC furnishing
manual labor, and that action be started in Washington.

In Washington, Associate Regional Forester Mel-
vin Merritt called on Harold C. Bryant, head of the
Park Service's Branch of Recreation and Education.
Merritt urged the abandonment of Old Kasaan, the
assembling of the good totems at Sitka, and the transfer
of qualified men to the area for the repair work. The
Forest Service pledged its cooperation. Merritt sup-
ported Flory's recommendation that a community
house be constructed out of the remains of existing
ones. Forest Service photographs and descriptions of
Old Kasaan were transferred to the Park Service. In
June W.]. McDonald examined Old Kasaan and esti-
mated that there were about twenty serviceable to-
tems. He recommended repairs on the poles to consist
of cutting them off at ground level, replacing rot with
sound wood, and replacing the poles on concrete bases.
He estimated costs would be from $5,000 to $7,000.

By the fall of 1934, the Park Service had made
plans to move four of the best totems to Sitka. These
were large poles, about fifty feet high, three and one-
half feet at the base, and one and one-half feet at the
top. Native owners were sought out. They asked $125
for each pole, saying that they had originally cost
$2,000 at the potlatch in which they were erected. The
Forest Service estimated that the cost of shipping the
poles to Sitka would be about $2,500. The Park Service
abandoned the project for lack of funds.

The Forest Service became involved during this
time, both directly and indirectly, in archaeological
work. In 1932 Frederica DeLaguna made the first of
her many expeditions to Alaska. She sought an ar-
chaeological permit to do work in the Tongass and the
Chugach national forests, and the Forest Service aided
her in transportation to the archaeological sites. Flory,
in commenting on her work, complained that too much
of the material recovered from such excavations went
out of the territory; he suggested that half the Indian
artifacts recovered be donated to the University of
Alaska. No agreeinent was reached, and after the ex-
ploration was over, Flory again commented un-
favorably on this failure.

The second enterprise involved using CCC money
to excavate Old Sitka, site of a fort established by
Baranov in 1799. A stockade, bath house, and various
buildings had been built at the site, on a bay to the
north of Sitka, but the settlement had been wiped out
by Tlingit Indians in 1802. The site had been occupied
by a cannery in 1878 and a smokehouse in 1910. In
1907 it became part of the Tongass National Forest. In
1914 Father Sergius George Kostrometinoff of the Sitka

Cathedral was issued a special-use permit by the For-
est Service to erect a cross at the burial site of the
Russians.

Charles Flory had a deep interest in Alaskan his-
tory. In the fall of 1934, he used CCC funds to start ar-
chaeological excavations on the site of Old Sitka. W. A.
Chipperfield supervised the project; it was directed by
John Maurstad, CCC foreman. A fifteen-man camp was
set up in the vicinity. Bancroft's History of Alaska and a
translation of an account of the massacre by George
Kostrometinoff were used as background. The area
was mapped, with notations as to the sites of the build-
ings from postholes, relics, and Native traditions. In the
year's work about 1,000 artifacts, some Russian and
some Indian, were located. The most important find
was a copper plate bearing a cross and an inscription
claiming the land for Russia, probably buried there by
Baranov in 1795.

The artifacts were first stored in the basement of
the capitol building for safekeeping. On Flory’'s sugges-
tion, they were transferred to the University of Alaska
in 1937. They remained there until 1963, when they
were shipped to the Western Regional Office of the Na-
tional Park Service for study by the regional archaeolo-
gists. They were then transferred to the museum at
Sitka National Monument, where they are now located.

Recent critics have stated that this operation was
not carried out by trained archaeologists, and indeed
the work lacked some of their refinements. The records
show, however, that Chipperfield and Maurstad exer-
cised all the care and skill one could reasonably expect
of the intelligent layman. In any everit, the excavation
was carried out in the nick of time. During the war a
Navy installation was planned for the area, and exten-
sive bulldozing was carried on.

There was a lull in the plar.ning between 1934 and
1937. The first two years of CCC work revolved around
badly needed recreational work in the southeast and
the archaeological work on Old Sitka. In 1937, however,
there was a revival of interest in totems. It came partly
from requests by the Alaska Native Brotherhood,
through William Paul, Sr., that more Indians be em-
ployed on relief projects. Also, Charles Flory was
transferred to the Mount Baker National Forest and
was replaced by B. Frank Heintzleman, a skilled public
relations man who dedicated his entire life to Alaskan
interests and gave the movement more momentum than
it had had previously. Heintzleman found support in the
higher echelons through Chief Ferdinand A. Silcox of
the Forest Service; Secretary of the Interior Harold
Ickes; Ernest Gruening, director of the Office of Terri-
tories in the Department of the Interior; and Arno Cam-
merer, director of the National Park Service. Through
their efforts, most of Flory's dreams were realized.
Early in 1937 a series of letters was exchanged and
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conversations held among Silcox, Gruening, and Heint-
zleman. Silcox informed Gruening that the poles, in-
cluding those on the national monuments, were private
property and that the Indians asked large sums ($1,000
each) for them. Ownership was also often in dispute, so
the validity of a given purchase was unpredictable. Sil-
cox suggested use of CCC work on villages on deserted
shorelines along the lines of travel, building totem vil-
lages, and buying totem poles at public subscription.

During 1937 and 1938 field examinations were
made of villages. Forest Service men photographed
poles and community houses, evaluated their condition,
talked with Indians over matters of title, and outlined
plans to get title to the poles and move them to central
locations. To support this work, Heintzleman borrowed
a large number of books and photographs on the In-
dians of southeast Alaska from the Smithsonian Institu-
tion, American Museum of Natural History, National
Museum at Ottawa, and American Geographical Socie-
ty. Meanwhile, he kept the mails and wires to Washing-
ton busy, seeking money for the project. He initially
sought $51,760 in WPA money for rehabilitating poles
and constructing community houses. But these applica-
tions failed, and most of the money spent was from CCC
funds, except for the Sitka project.

Eventually, the Sitka project got started when the
Forest Service made an agreement with the National
Park Service to restore the Old Kasaan poles. This in-
volved their removal from the site and restoration with
WPA money. The Park Service recommended that a
trained ethnologist be in charge of the work. Mean-
while, Heintzleman conferred with the head of the Of-
fice of Indian Affairs, Claude Hirst, who recommended
that meetings be held with the Indians and that blanket
authority be given by all claimants of the poles, making
them the property of the entire community. The poles
could then be set up on a public site dedicated to that
use. The Forest Service, for its part, agreed to meet
costs of inspection, transportation, reconditioning, and
erection from CCC and Forest Service funds. With all
the concerned agencies in agreement, the Forest Ser-
vice experiment in totem pole preservation and restora-
tion was ready to begin.*

Sitka National Monument

In January 1939 the Forest Service secured a WPA
allotment for totem pole restoration. Heintzleman
wrote to Arthur Demaray of the National Park Service,
offering to use the funds to restore the poles at Sitka
National Monument. He asked if the Park Service could
furnish a technically trained foreman. The Park Serv-
ice had no specialist available and suggested that
Heintzleman hire one from the University of Washing-
ton or the University of Alaska; it told him to go ahead
with the project if he found none available. Support
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came from other institutions. The Alaska Road Commis-
sion gave the Forest Service use of its dump truck, and
the Forest Products Laboratory sent advice on the use
of Permatox D, a flat, colorless preservative similar to
spar varnish. It directed that the poles be soaked in the
solution when dry; if soaking were impracticable, the
poles should be brushed with the solution. The purpose
was to prevent moisture from entering the pole and
causing rot. Charles Burdick, associate regional forest-
er, made a survey of the poles in March, sending pic-
tures and reports on the condition of each pole. With
the expiration of WPA funds in the same month, CCC
funds were used to complete work.

The project was carried on with nine Indians as
workers, John Maurstad as foreman, and George Ben-
son as chief carver. Some of the poles were badly de-
teriorated; they had for years been held together by
wire and were hollow shells under the ground. A com-
plete photographic record was kept of all poles, both
originals and duplicates. A community house designed
by Forest Service architect Linn Forrest was built, and
most of the work at Sitka was completed by March
1940.

Sitka National Monument received a full-time
superintendent for the first time in 1940 when Ben
Miller arrived from Glacier National Park. Miller was
highly enthusiastic about the totem restoration and the
caliber of the work being done, writing, ‘' After we have
Sitka National Monument in the shape it should be in,
there should be erected a monument to the Forest Ser-
vice and Regional Forester Heintzleman.”” There was
some debate as to the fate of the old poles. Frank Been,
regional park superintendent, wrote, ‘‘Personally, I
don't think they are worth building a shed for, especial-
ly after we have exact duplicates.”” Even if they had a
shed, he noted, it would be hard to guard them against
theft, and poles so rotten could be destroyed. Pending
design of a shed, however, it was decided to store the
old totems in the open on skids.

Been and Forrest thought that a new historical to-
tem giving the history of Sitka would be appropriate. A
pole was commissioned to show Baranov and his deal-
ings with Chief Keeks-Sady. This was planned to be
placed at the Sitka dock site, an area set aside for na-
tional forest use by executive order in 1920 and amend-
ed by executive order in 1933 to establish a public
park. The Baranov pole was duly commissioned, but it
ran into all sorts of difficulties. George Benson, the
head carver at Sitka, took another job. The cedar log
was taken to Wrangell and fashioned by another
carver using the Benson design. But Sitka Natives pro-
tested when it was erected; it did not, they said, repeat
the true story of the peace between Baranov and
Keeks-Sady. Baranov was placed on top of the pole, dis-
honoring the Indian chief. Also, the double eagle given
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Careful measurements, with calipers, were taken of
parts to be replaced. Indians felled cedars of suitable
size for new totems, and these were rafted to the totem
worksite. The Forest Service vessel, Ranger 7, was
used for transportation. The new log would be laid
alongside the old pole to be copied. The old men them-
selves knew the stories of the totems, and they took
great pride in their work, making every effort to strive
for authenticity. They.inspired the younger men, too,
with much of their own pride in craftsmanship, and the
communities became devoted to the project. As one
carver, Charles Brown, said:

The story of our fathers’ totems is nearly
dead, but now once again is being brought to
life. Once more old familiar totems will proudly
face the world with new war paints. The mak-
ers of these old totems will not have died in
vain. May these old poles help bring about pros-
perity to our people.

Both the Smithsonian Institution and the National
Park Service had suggested that the work be directed
by a trained ethnologist. Heintzleman sought one, but
no agency could provide him with one. He finally hired
Dr. Viola Garfield (Mrs. Charles Garfield) as a part-
time collaborator. Garfield was well acquainted with
Alaska. She had traveled there with her husband and
had done research among the Tsimshians along the
coast of British Columbia. As a member of the Depart-
ment of Anthropology at the University of Washington,
she had for eight years been taking students to Alaska
on field trips for university credit. Heintzleman hired
her to collect stories of the totems and Indian folklore
as she went around the area. She traveled to each of
the areas—Klawock, Hydaburg, Ketchikan—talking
with people, taking photographs of old totems, and get-
ting their stories. She collected twenty-seven volumes
of notes and pictures.

Linn Forrest, meanwhile, collected stories on his
own. Like Garfield, he found the Indians to be great
storytellers. He collected the stories dealing with the
totems located in the parks and mailed them to Garfield
for editing. They were collected in the book published
by the University of Washington Press, The Wolf and
the Raven. Some of Linn Forrest's stories appeared in
the Alaskan, official publication of the Alaskan CCC;
others still remain in manuscript form.

Once the poles were completed, they were placed,
for the most part, in totem parks laid out by Forrest in
harmonious settings. Some poles were set in the ground
with the bases buried about six feet deep; the poles
were raised by block-and-tackle apparatus. Others, es-
pecially the small poles, were set on blocks.

This is the general pattern the project followed.
Each of the totem parks and locations had its own his-
tory, however, and we may here look briefly into the his-
tory of each separate project.
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Wrangell, because of its strategic location and
early occupation, had become a major center for totem
collection and display. Two dealers and collectors,
W. Waters and Alex Rasmussen, lived there. There
was interest in retaining Indian arts at Wrangell In-
stitute, where Edward L. Keithahn, then a teacher for
the Office of Indian Affairs, taught his students totem
carving.

Alex Rasmussen was one of the major latter-day
collectors of Indian artifacts. Of Scandinavian descent,
he was born in Indiana in 1886. As a young man he was
ordained a Presbyterian minister and preached in
North Dakota. In 1917 he became a teacher and in 1921
resigned his pastorate to give full time to teaching. He
came to Alaska in the late 1920s. As superintendent of
schools at Wrangell, he became interested in Indian
arts and began to collect. He gained the confidence of
the Tlingit Indians, notably Mrs. Kay Shakes and Mrs.
Fred Wiggs. Eventually, he bought the late Chief
Shakes’s house on a small island on the outskirts of
Wrangell and used it to display his collection. In 1937
he went to Skagway as superintendent of schools, tak-
ing his collection with him. Ultimately, his collection
went to the Portland Art Museum.

The Wrangell Women's Civic Club and Library As-
sociation became interested in the task of totem resto-
ration. In 1938 the president of the club, Mrs. M. C.
Johnson, wrote to J. M. Wyckoff, district ranger at
Petersburg, suggesting that a plan be developed for
protection of the old totems in the Wrangell area. She
felt that they would have to be moved from their pres-
ent location. The club also apparently corresponded
with Rasmussen, since he telegraphed to Wyckoff that
he would sell Shakes Community House for $1,700. This
sale would include four corner totems inside the house
and two totem poles and one marble marker outside.

There followed a long period of negotiation. Ras-
mussen owned the northwest end of the island on
which the house was located. A part of the other end
had been sold, and a central strip sixty to seventy feet
wide was still in possession of the heir of Mrs. Shakes.
Heintzleman wrote to Wyckoff, stating that no money
was available for purchase of land or poles. He made
several alternative suggestions, one that a Forest Serv-
ice recreational site, a mile outside town, be used. An-
other was that the island be acquired with funds avail-
able under the Wheeler-Howard Act, which authorized
federal acquisition of lands to distribute to tribal units.
Rasmussen suggested that he be left in possession of
the house and that the rest of the island be made a na-
tional monument.

Territorial Delegate Anthony Dimond supported
the idea that the island be made a national monument,
as did the Wrangell chapter of the Alaska Native
Brotherhood. Regional Forester Heintzleman, however,
had other thoughts. He pointed out that the Indians of
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laid out a totem park near the Whale House; in all,
eight totems were transferred from Old Kasaan to New
Kasaan. They were restored there; rotted parts were
cut out and replaced with new wood, missing or rotted
pieces were duplicated exactly, and the poles were
painted and coated with preservative.

At Hydaburg the town council reserved lots for a
totem park, and the project got under way with Walter
Aiken as CCC foreman and John Wallace as chief
carver. Old poles were brought in from Howkan, Klink-
wan, and Sukkwan by the Ranger 7. Most of these were
badly deteriorated. Of the twenty-one poles, five
originals were restored and the others copied. The
basement of the town hall was used as a shop for carv-
ing the totems. Forrest laid out a totem park, 125 by
250 feet. Blanket agreements were made by Charles
Burdick, assistant regional forester, with the Indians of
Klinkwan, Klawock Creek, Hydaburg, and Sukkwan for
transfer of the poles to the park.

At Klawock the town council, acting through
Mayor Robert Petratrovich, reserved town lots for a to-
tem park. There, twenty-one poles from Tuxekan were
duplicated. Walter Ketah was the chief carver. The
carving on these poles was of exceptionally high
quality.

In addition to these totem parks, plans were made
to set up work at Klukwan, a small village of 112 in-
habitants on the Chilkat River, twenty-one miles west of
Skagway. During 1939 and 1940 there were discussions
with the Office of Indian Affairs about setting up a
park near the village, where there were twenty totems
and a community house worth restoring. The project
did not get under way, however, partly because of the
difficulty of finding a satisfactory carver.

The Forest Service also decided to establish totem
sites in the vicinity of Ketchikan. One was designed as
a primitive Indian village, fulfilling a plan Charles
Flory had suggested some years before. A suitable site
was found for it at Mud Bight, an old Tlingit campsite
about seventeen miles from Ketchikan. It had a gravel
beach and salmon stream, with the forest in the back-
ground, and a headland on which the village would be
in full sight of steamers. Mud Bight was thought to be
an inappropriate name for the site, so it was changed
to Totem Bight.

A second site was chosen at Saxman, a Native vil-
lage at Tongass Narrows, accessible to Ketchikan and
within view of the steamers. At Saxman, Forrest laid
out a rectangular plot with an approach to be bordered
with poles and a square bordered with hand-adzed logs
ornamented with frog heads. Two stairways were
planned to lead to the area, one flanked by raven fig-
ures, the other by bear figures, in token of the two
phratries of the Tlingit. An obstacle to establishment of
the park occurred in the shape of a much dilapidated
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Presbyterian church that stood on a part of the ap-
proach. The pastor, David Christensen, was willing to
have the church moved to a new site, but the building
was so shaky that there was doubt that it could stand
the moving. Meanwhile, the move had to be approved
by the Presbyterian Mission Board in New York, and
the board had difficulty getting a clear picture, through
correspondence, of just what was wanted. The matter
was finally settled by a fire, which burned the church.
The building was insured; the CCC cleared up the de-
bris and the church was rebuilt on a new site.

Agreements also were made in 1938 with the own-
ers of poles at Cape Fox, Pennock Island, Metlakatla,
Old Tongass, Cat Island, and Dog Island for the trans-
fer of poles to public totem parks. The poles were
brought in from these outlying areas and a totem shed
built for carving.

The community house at Totem Bight was designed
by Linn Forrest and modeled on those built in the begin-
ning of the nineteenth century. The inside was one
large room with a central, square fireplace, around
which was a planked platform. The smoke hole was
protected by a movable frame for keeping out wind and
rain. Charles Brown, the chief carver, designed a
housefront painting of a stylized raven with each eye
elaborated into a face. On each of the four corner posts
sat a man wearing a spruce-root hat. The carved posts
within symbolized the exploits of a man of the raven
phratry. The house was beautifully done in its framing
design and joinery workmanship. It was put together
with wooden pegs; no metal went into its construction.

The poles brought to Totem Bight were mostly in
poor condition and had to be duplicated. The majority
were carved by Charles Brown, though some were
carved at Hydaburg by John Wallace and shipped to
Totem Bight. In all, twenty-seven poles were erected on
the site, all copies of originals. At Saxman, thirteen of
the original poles were repaired and ten original poles
copied; three new poles were carved.

In addition, there was miscellaneous totem pole
work. The Seattle totem, which stood in Pioneer Square
for many years, had originally been stolen from Ton-
gass Island. It was in poor-repair, and the city of Seat-
tle asked that a duplicate be carved. The totem was cut
into ten-foot sections for shipping and was duplicated
at Totem Bight. The duplicated was a better pole than
the original.

In Ketchikan, near the junction of Mission and
Stedman streets, stood the Chief Johnson Pole—the on-
ly pole in town in its original position. It stood on a
campsite of the Kajuk House of the Raven Clan, on land
owned by the clan. It was erected in 1901. The title to
the pole and land was clouded, but the citizens of Ket-
chikan thought it appropriate that the pole be restored.
They managed to get title to the land and then to convey
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Annette Island

A final CCC project was the building of the An-
nette Island Air Field. CCC Director Robert Fechner
made a trip to Alaska about 1939. He felt that the CCC
should make some contribution to national defense. In
1940 corpsmen were brought up to build the airfield,
along with the Army engineers, at Annette Island. The
plans were drawn up by the Corps of Engineers, while
the Forest Service was in charge of construction work
under an outstanding foreman, Walter Peterson. Arch-
bold and A. E. Glover supervised the work, which was
performed under difficult climatic conditions in swamp
and muskeg. Rivalry developed between the Engineers
and the Forest Service men to the extent that the
latter's hours of work were lengthened, at their re-
quest, to coincide with those of the former. Troops were
recruited from Washington and Oregon, where the
climatic conditions were similar to those in Alaska.
Special transportation was provided to get weekend
trips into Ketchikan for the workers. The airfield job
gave the CCC men a great deal of experience running
heavy equipment and they made a good safety record.
The project was completed on December 1, 1941.¥

With few exceptions, the CCC projects were
strongly supported by the communities in which they
were located. Morale in the camps was generally high.

Camps varied in quality; tent camps were generally
used for summer work on Admiralty Island and the Ke-
nai fire control area, but, for the most part, more per-
manent buildings were built or rented, since drying
clothing was necessary in the southeastern region. In
Juneau, old mine bunkhouses were utilized. Camps
were generally adequate, though Charles H. Forward
was quite critical of the facilities at Kenai Lake.* Rec-
reation grounds and ball parks were built, and hunting
and fishing were favorite pastimes. Six CCC men got in-
to the toils of the law for illegal killing of ptarmigan and
caribou—a low record considering the opportunity and
the size of the operation. Libraries were established in
the camps. One library list included such books as
Dupuy's Green Kingdom, Sudworth's Forest Trees of
the Pacific Slope, Sargent’s Sylva of North America,
F. A. Loomis's Field Book of Rocks and Minerals, vari-
ous field guides to fishes and birds, Colby's Guide to
Alaska, Sheldon's Wilderness of the Denali, Kephart’s
Camping and Woodcraft, and various technical and en-
gineering books. Other educational facilities were pro-
vided, too. The University of Alaska Extension Service
gave instruction in cooking, truck maintenance, car-
pentry, logging, bridge construction, drafting, and road
surveying. Many CCC enrollees took instruction as cat
operators or boat engineers. Opportunities to obtain
high school diplomas were provided.*

Timber Sales

Timber sales flourished during the 1920s and
1930s. In 1913, 84 percent of the timber used in Alaska
was imported and 16 percent was produced locally; by
1925 this proportion was reversed. Demand grew for
spruce lumber, and by 1923 the mill at Ketchikan was
exporting merchantable clears to Seattle for transship-
ment to the East and to the United Kingdom and Aus-
tralia. After 1933 CCC construction work increased the
demand for timber, and after 1940 defense construc-
tion further increased it. The main mills were those at
Juneau and at Ketchikan; the Wrangell mill had busi-
ness difficulties and underwent several reorganiza-
tions. There were small mills at Craig, Sitka, Seward,
Cordova, and other places.

The Forest Service tightened up regulations for
timber sales. Handlogging had formerly been conduct-
ed on request of the logger, without much supervision
of cutting. Logging was now put under revised regula-
tions that required inspection of the area and marking
of trees. After 1917 there were relatively few handlog-
ging shows left. Ordinary sales were made by competi-
tive bidding, with payment in advance of cutting, in-
spection after the cutting, and a penalty scale for logs
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left in the woods, poor utilization, and high stumps.
Scaling usually was performed on the raft. Check scal-
ers were brought in and scalers were trained to ex-
amine logs on the mill deck to see how they cut out in
order better to allow for defect. Cruising was usually
done in the winter months of February and March,
when snow was still on the ground and had crusted.
This covered up the thick underbrush and devilsclub
and allowed cruisers to get around more freely. Log-
ging was usually done by donkey engine, working in-
land from the shore as far as 4,000 feet. There are
some records of river drives on suitable streams. Log-
ging work was aided tremendously by aerial surveys of
the forest that the Navy made from 1919 to about 1928.
These surveys, when interpreted, allowed the Forest
Service to map the area more accurately, to locate tim-
ber bodies and estimate their volume, to locate streams
and watercourses for power development, to map out
logging shows, and to develop a timber inventory.*

In the early 1920s Alaska was highly optimistic
about the possibilities of a pulp sale. Fourteen separate
zones, each with timber and a mill site, were mapped
out by this time, and a thorough survey of waterpower
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companies, the San Francisco Chronicle and the Los
Angeles Times. The Ketchikan contract was won by the
Crown Zellerbach Corporation over the International
Paper Company. The sale involved 1,670,000.000 cubic
feet of timber, but, once again, the Depression put an
end to the sales.”

In the Chugach the Forest Service continued to
have a bad relationship with the Alaska Railroad and
its contractors. Harold Lutz wrote in his diary for No-
vember 3, 1925:

With Ranger Brady—also saw Mr. Smith
General manager of the RR. Spoke to him re-
garding his cleaning up the brush left along the
telephone and telegraph line. He said that the
railroad would not do it unless they were
forced to, and under no circumstances would
he take orders from the Forest Service.

Several days later he warned one contractor that he
would close down his operation if he did not lop the
tops. A week later he told another contractor that if his
cook did not stop throwing cans and garbage into the
lake, he would close down the operation.® Orders from
the railroad general manager regarding spark arrest-
ers and burning on the right-of-way were disregarded.
In 1923 there were fifty-eight right-of-way fires. *“The
only thing that surprises me,”” Merritt remarked, *is
that we have any forest at all north and west of the
Seward-Kenai Lake divide.”” The railroad recognized
its responsibility but was operating at a loss, so it was
not interested in reducing fire hazard. The troublesome
situation continued into the 1930s.*'

Some improvements in fire control and suppres-
sion were made during this period. Supervisor W.].
McDonald, aided by Rangers Brady and Murray, car-
ried on an effective public relations program in the An-
chorage and Seward areas to alert the public to the
need for fire prevention. As roads were built to Hope
and Moose Pass, Ford trucks were used for transporta-
tion. Telephone and telegraph lines were installed and
a dispatcher system set up at headquarters. The CCC
workers made fine fire suppression crews.®

Fire protection for interior Alaska was finally
organized in 1939—more than three decades after Lan-
gille had recommended it. When Secretary of the In-
terior Harold Ickes made his Alaska trip in 1938, he
was horrified at the ravages of fires. He conferred with
Ernest Gruening and B. Frank Heintzleman about it. Be-
fore long, W. J. McDonald was transferred to the Gen-
eral Land Office to set up a protective organization,
and people trained in fighting fires in Montana were
shifted to Alaska. An appropriation of $38,000 was
made for fire control, and the Forest Service gave fur-
ther advice on a protective system.*

There was also need for timber management on
the Chugach, especially in the Kenai area. The major
aims had been to provide the Alaska Railroad with
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timber for free use, to keep the country from burning
up, and to have minimum standards of utilization.
There was need, E. E. Carter reported in his 1923 in-
spection, for a ‘“hard-headed technical man” who
could introduce silvicultural practices into the area.
W.]J. McDonald recognized this problem but had no
technically trained men; he himself was an engineer.
He administered the sales competently but could not
manage the area as a tree farm. In response to Carter's
request, Harold Lutz, a young and talented Yale
graduate, was sent to the area.

Lutz’s diaries show that he accomplished a great
variety of work. Early in 1925 he examined timber in
the Cordova area, developing volume tables and esti-
mates of defect from butt rot and porcupine damage.
Later, he cruised Prince William Sound in rented
launches, the Shamrock and the Buckeye, getting
growth data, taking increment borings, cruising, and
seeing to the possibility of using the area on the east
side of the Kenai Peninsula as part of a working circle
for the Alaska Railroad. He concluded that the timber
in the area was too sparse and inaccessible for this
purpose. During the summer and fall months, Lutz set
up sample plots in the Kenai and developed volume
tables for that area.®

Meanwhile, in the interior of the Kenai, J. P. Wil-
liams carried on a study of the forests to develop a
working circle tributary to the Alaska Railroad. Wil-
liams was a major figure in Alaska conservation during
the first half of the century. A University of Wisconsin
graduate, he was a veteran of the Spanish-American
War, a former hunter and packer for the International
Boundary Survey, and had served in the Forest Service
in Washington State before coming to the Tongass. Dur-
ing the 1920s he was a district ranger and forest exam-
iner. Later, he became a wildlife specialist and took an
active part in the bear census and the bear manage-
ment plan of the Forest Service.®

Others preceded Williams in research, however.
James M. Walley and Harold Lutz began in 1924, as
noted earlier, and Ray Taylor came along a year later.
Melvin Merritt studied plant succession before the
Mendenhall Glacier from 1929 to 1934. In 1923 E. E.
Carter wrote that, as a result of examination of old cut-
tings, a definite body of knowledge about reproduction
and growth was becoming available for development of
timber management policy. Increasingly, however, the
need was felt for an experiment station for research on
a continuing basis.

In the Tongass, timber values were gradually inte-
grated with other uses, including game management and
recreation. Some aspects of this have already been men-
tioned, including the recreational developments carried
on by CCC labor. This movement would also include plans
worked out by the Forest Service with the Alaska Game
Commission, the Biological Survey, and other groups on



the relationship of cutting to game management (par-
ticularly bear), and the bear census work, in which J. P.
Williams was particularly important.

Studies of the recreational possibilities of the
Alaska forests, from a wilderness standpoint, began by
1925 but did not become intensive until 1939. One rea-
son for this delay was the large amount of wilderness
and the fact that much of it would remain de facto wil-
derness. Regional Forester Flory was extremely sensi-

tive to public opinion and press criticism; the Juneau
newspapers had been hostile to the national monument
and the national park ideas. But with the accession of
Heintzleman in 1937, there was a new shift. Part of this
may have been due to Heintzleman’s own keenly devel-
oped aesthetic sense and partly with his energy and his
ability to dominate public opinion instead of being
swayed by it.%

Recreation: Glacier Bay and
Admiralty Island

The Forest Service in Alaska has always been in-
terested in recreational values. Langille, in his 1904
report on the Kenai; had recommended addition of this
area because of its value as a game sanctuary and a
wilderness. In 1908 he had recommended creation of a
national monument in the Wrangell Mountains. Ring-
land and Graves also had been concerned with recrea-
tional potentialities in the Kenai. Roads, particularly
the Mendenhall Glacier Highway, were constructed for
scenic purposes.

During the 1920s the Forest Service set up several
wilderness areas in the stateside national forests.
Greeley, as chief forester, asked Flory to review the
forest road plan and to make arrangements for safe-
guarding the wilderness. Flory replied that there was
no particular problem in Alaska since some of the area
would be de facto wilderness in perpetuity, especially
above timberline. Chief Stuart asked in 1932 that na-
tional forest planning take wilderness areas into con-
sideration. Two years later, Chief Silcox stated that
public sentiment was pro-wilderness and that the
Forest Service must recognize the need to reconcile lo-
cal population needs with this sentiment, especially in
road building.

The regional response to this national directive
took several forms. The roadside screen idea, devel-
oped first in Montana and in Oregon, was extended to
Alaska. The Forest Service cooperated with the Bureau
of Roads in road location to see that they were back
from the water’s edge and that a screen of trees and
brush protected the roads from views on the water. Es-
tablishment of game sanctuaries began in 1931. By
1939 there were 2,448,144 acres of game sanctuaries
on the Chugach and 830,320 acres on the Tongass, in
addition to several bird sanctuaries.”

The major controversies that occurred during this
period were in relation to Glacier Bay and Admiralty
Island. The original proclamation of Glacier Bay Na-
tional Monument occurred about the same time as the

Icy Straits addition to the Tongass. Its immediate cause
was a recommendation by William S. Cooper of the
Ecological Society of America. In 1923 Cooper had
been studying plant succession on the glacial moraines,
and he recommended that Glacier Bay be reserved for
scientific reasons. The Ecological Society of America
endorsed the idea, as did other scientific organizations.
E. C. Finney, assistant secretary of the interior, recom-
mended that a national monument rather than a na-
tional park be established, since a national park would
require an act of Congress. Gifford Pinchot supported
the movement, though he thought the area deserved na-
tional park status. George Parks, head of the Field
Service of the General Land Office in Alaska, recom-
mended the park, provided it be limited to the basin of
the bay, north of a line from the summit of Mount
Wright to Peak 4030, near Geikie Inlet. He opposed a
larger area because of settlement and commercial tim-
ber values. Support was obtained from the American
Association for the Advancement of Science, the Na-
tional Resource Council, the National Park Association,
and the U.S. Geological Survey. The monument was
created in 1925.%

The possibility of extending the boundaries of the
monument came up almost immediately. As early as
1923, Heintzleman had under consideration the recrea-
tional as well as economic values of the Icy Straits ad-
dition and the Lituya Bay area.® Joseph Dixon, field
naturalist for the National Park Service, made a field
examination of the area in September 1932 and recom-
mended extending the boundary to the west to include
forested land and the habitat of the brown bear. During
that year, Heintzleman conferred with Paul G. Reding-
ton of the Biological Survey, Joseph Dixon, Frank Du-
fresne of the Alaska Game Commission, and Horace Al-
bright on the park possibilities. Arthur Demaray of the
Park Service made a field investigation of the area in
1936 and sought the advice of W. S. Cooper of the Eco-
logical Society of America.



Heintzleman favored extension of the monument to
include the coastal timber, including Lituya Bay for its
scenic beauty, value as a bear sanctuary, and for its
salmon streams. He desired that Excursion Inlet be ex-
cluded because of its canneries and its value for pulp
production. As head of the Alaska Planning Board,
Heintzleman enlisted its support and also that of the
territorial legislature. He also got the support of
George Parks and Ernest Gruening. The Forest Service
put its boats at the service of Park Service examiners.
In 1938 Harold Ickes took a trip to Alaska and exam-
ined the proposed addition with Heintzleman and
Gruening. The extension to the national monument was
proclaimed on April 18, 1939.”

The chief problems of the Glacier Bay area came
not with the Forest Service but in regard to mining in
the national monument. This is an interesting way trail
that deserves a full treatment, but is not directly relat-
ed to our story. Here is a brief summary.

At the time extension of the boundary was under
consideration, Rex Beach was writing a novel with an
Alaskan setting. One of Beach’s main themes in his
Alaska writings had been the problems the hardy pio-
neer faced with the dead hand of federal bureaucracy.
In The Spoilers it was the alliance of outside capitalism
with a corrupt federal judge. In The Iron Trail a theme
was the uninformed attacks of conservationist journal-
ists on business enterprise seeking to develop Alaska.
During the 1930s, Beach was writing a sequel to The
Spoilers to be published in Cosmopolitan. He based it
on the experience of Joseph Ibach, a prospector then
living on Lemesurier Island. Ibach apparently had be-
come acquainted with Beach while the latter was
writing The Iron Trail. During the 1930s, Ibach was
operating a claim in the Glacier Bay withdrawal and
complained bitterly to Beach about the way the federal
government was hindering his mining operations.
Beach took the case to Delegate Anthony Dimond and to
President Roosevelt. Beach touched Roosevelt's roman-
tic streak, and the president supported the efforts of
Dimond to open the monument to mining and permit
miners to carry firearms for protection against bear.”

The problems related to Admiralty Island were
much more complex and disruptive. Admiralty Island
had been the scene of logging and mining operations,
especially on its west coast, since before creation of
the Forest Service. The federal agency was especially
interested in the resources of the island, particularly
waterpower and pulp timber. Kan Smith, Heintzleman,
and others thoroughly examined the island between
1917 and 1930, and plans were made to develop the
area as a pulp producing unit. A few squatters, fisher-
men, and hunters lived on the periphery of the island,
and there was an Indian village, Angoon. Moreover,
there were as many as seven salmon canneries scat-
tered along the island’s shores.
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Many of the problems on Admiralty related to
bear. Early in the century, C. Hart Merriam collected
specimens of the island’s fauna, especially the large
brown bear. A “'splitter,”” Merriam identified five
species of brown bear, of which two were unique to Ad-
miralty Island. Allen Hasselborg, a squatter, built a
cabin at Mole Harbor on the island’s eastern coast. He
became a collector of bear for eastern museums and
cultivated the looks and style of a backwoods sage.”
Meanwhile, sportsmen came in larger numbers to
Alaska in search of trophy bear and other game. The
majority went to Kodiak Island, where the sparse vege-
tation made hunting more feasible, but a sizable num-
ber came to Admiralty.

Brown bear presented an everyday problem for
Forest Service men on cruising or reconnaissance
trips. The men had their hands full of equipment (axes,
calipers, tapes, and compasses), the undergrowth was
thick, and bear traveled the same trails as men. When
startled, bear were apt to charge, and there were fre-
quent close calls. After Ranger Jack Thayer was killed
by a bear, foresters were required to carry rifles and
sometimes had to kill bear in self-defense. Elsewhere in
Alaska, the policy of the game commission was to con-
trol their numbers by the bag limit, but it passed an or-
dinance allowing residents to kill bear within a mile of
their homes in defense of persons and property.”

Between 1927 and 1930 John M. Holzworth photo-
graphed bear and collected hides and skulls on Ad-
miralty for the New York Zoological Society. He lived
with Hasselborg, used him as a guide, and admired him
tremendously as a self-taught philosopher and authori-
ty on bear. In 1930 Holzworth published a lavishly illus-
trated book, Wild Grizzlies of Alaska, in which he pic-
tured the grizzly as being in danger of extinction be-
cause of hostility of the Alaska Game Commission, the
Forest Service, and the people of Alaska. In an appen-
dix to the book, Harry McGuire of Qutdoor Life dealt
further with the bear as an endangered species. The
Mammalogical Society of America passed a resolution
in May 1930 asking that Admiralty be set aside as a
bear sanctuary.”™

Heintzleman dealt with this proposal in the Serv-
ice Bulletin of May 2, 1932. He considered the ‘‘Save
the Bear Movement™ to be overenthusiastic. If with-
drawn as a bear sanctuary, Admiralty Island would be
the “world’s largest zoo.”” He admitted that bear had
been a problem to the Forest Service, but, he claimed,
the agency had not attempted to exterminate them. It
had killed only twenty-two bear in a ten-year period—
most of these in self-defense. Heintzleman proposed
that the Forest Service and the Alaska Game Commis-
sion work out a bear management plan for Admiralty,
limiting the kill and working on the sustained-yield
philosophy used for timber crops.



The plan was soon put into effect, and certain
kinds of areas were treated as refuges. According to
an Alaska Game Commission report in 1937, these in-
cluded National Park Service areas (Mount McKinley
National Park, Katmai National Monument, and Gla-
cier Bay National Monument), bird refuges on Unimak
Island in the Aleutians and on Afognak Island, and in
national forest areas. The latter included an area con-
tiguous to Glacier Bay and two areas on Admiralty Is-
land—the Thayer Mountain unit of 38,400 acres, and
the Pack Creek unit of 13,400 acres. Heintzleman report-
ed in a letter to H. H. Chapman that the bear manage-
ment plan on Admiralty Island was working well. H. L.
Schantz, chief of the Forest Service's Division of Wild-
life Management in Washington, was also satisfied.”

Meanwhile, the movement for monument status
had increased. Stewart Edward White, the well-known
writer and big-game hunter, entered the fray with an
article in the Sierra Club Bulletin in 1932. He praised
Allen Hasselborg as “‘perhaps the most informed bear
man in Alaska.”” The Forest Service, he said, was using
Ranger Thayer’s death as an excuse to exterminate the
bear. Regardless of what was officially stated, Forest
Service men killed bear whenever possible, he said,
and this policy was ‘‘quasi-official.” Bear were also at
the mercy of residents, fox farmers, and visiting
yachtsmen, and the use of planes, he claimed, would
make them even more vulnerable. He asked that a bear
sanctuary be created on Admiralty, Chichagof, or
Baranof island. The Glacier Bay area, he said, was too
small and too inaccessible. Finally, he asked that
pressure be put on the secretary of the interior, the
Biological Survey, and Congress to -create such a
sanctuary.”®

White's article was followed by others in outdoor
magazines, and the Forest Service received letters sup-
porting the project. Roosevelt received communications
regarding bear being shot from yachts. He referred
them to Ickes, who replied that the Alaska Game Com-
mission had been notified and that plans were being
made for an enlarged Glacier Bay National Monument.”

By 1937 the agitation was in full swing. In April
Roosevelt received a letter from Representative Caro-
line O'Day of New York, a close personal friend. She
asked that something be done about the bear on Ad-
miralty before the hunting season began. Roosevelt
passed the suggestion on to the Department of the In-
terior. The National Park Service informed Ickes that it
had never urged Admiralty as a national park or monu-
ment. There was commercial development on Admiral-
ty. In addition, Glacier Bay offered a bear sanctuary
because the Forest Service had closed the adjacent na-
tional forest land to bear hunting. A copy of the Forest
Service bear management plan for Admiralty was en-
~losed, and it was suggested that an addition to Glacier

Bay be made instead. Harry Slattery, Ickes’s aide, in-
formed Fairfield Osborn that he was opposed to Ad-
miralty as a national park. Suggestions were made for
a joint study by the Interior Department and the De-
partment of Agriculture, but the latter resisted this
suggestion until the Alaska Territorial Board was
organized.”™

When Ickes traveled to Alaska in 1938, he refused
to commit himself immediately on the desirability of a
national park, but by early 1939 he was convinced that
a national park would be desirable. He drafted a proc-
lamation stating that the climax forest, the five varie-
ties of bear, and geological and ecological features
justified park status. In a separate note to President
Roosevelt, Ickes pointed out that the only town was An-
goon and that there were very few other settlers. There
were, he said, archaeological features of note. He re-
peated the points in his proclamation and stated that
the whole area was a ‘‘natural outdoor laboratory."”

Ickes had earlier sent Roosevelt a 1932 editorial
by Irving Brant of the St. Louis Star that pressed for the
addition of Admiralty to the national monument system.
Brant had repeated the false charges of the New York
Zoological Society that the Forest Service had given
5,000 square miles of virgin timber on Admiralty to San
Francisco capitalists. Brant, apparently informed of
Ickes's action, wrote to Ickes to say that Crown Zeller-
bach had abandoned its pulp plan and that Admiralty
was eliminated for consideration as a pulp production
area for many decades. However, he repeated the
charges that Alaskans disliked grizzly on the grounds
that they killed salmon and raided fox ranches. Roose-
velt, meanwhile, sounded out Secretary Wallace. He
raised the specter of timber monopoly, stating that in
Hoover's day there had been attempts at such monopo-
ly and “‘you and I blocked this.”” He asked what Wal-
lace thought of setting up a tract as a wildlife sanc-
tuary. Wallace replied that the pulp sale had fallen
through but that there were numerous small local
sales. Less than half the island, he wrote, was commer-
cial timber; the volume was about 8.5 billion feet or
about 11 percent of the volume in southeastern Alaska.
He felt that timber production, as well as bear protec-
tion, deserved attention. Bear protection could be man-
aged without withdrawal of the area from commercial
use. Wallace suggested that the president create a
primitive area on the island and said he would confer
with Chief Silcox and Secretary Ickes.®

Delegate Anthony Dimond of Alaska, meanwhile,
got wind of the matter. In a strong letter to Roosevelt,
he termed the proposal for a national monument ‘“‘con-
servation gone mad.”” He wrote: “‘There is no more oc-
casion to withdraw Admiralty Island into a national
park or national monument than there is to build a trap
to capture the aurora borealis. I earnestly hope you
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The Heintzleman
Administration, 1937-1953

National Conservation Background

n 1937 B. Frank Heintzleman succeeded Charles H.
Flory as regional forester in Alaska. He served until
1953, when he became governor of Alaska. His tenure
as regional forester coincided with the second and
third terms of Roosevelt's presidency, and that of FDR's
successor, Harry S. Truman. It would be well to ex-
amine the trends of national politics and the develop-
ment of forest administrative policy during this period.
Forest Service Chief F. A. Silcox died in 1939 and
was succeeded by Earle H. Clapp, who had been associ-
ate chief since 1935. During his four years in office,
Clapp served as acting chief. His failure to gain the ti-
tle of chief of the Forest Service was probably due to
his militant resistance to the efforts of Harold Ickes,
secretary of the interior, to have the Forest Service
transferred to his department. Clapp fought the move
vigorously, aided by Pinchot and by friendly members
of Congress. In defeating Ickes, the Forest Service had
to spend time and energy it would have liked to devote
to more immportant matters. Clapp had headed the Of-
fice of Research when that branch was founded in
1915, and he had been a capable administrator. He and
Silcox had been dedicated to public regulation of the
forest industry. He carried on an uncompromising pro-
gram for regulation, even asking the president to force
compliance with Forest Service regulations under the
presidential war power authority, but these efforts
failed.

In January 1943 Clapp was succeeded by Lyle
Watts. Watts was a graduate of Iowa State University
who had worked both as a director of a research station
and as a regional forester. He served as chief until June
1952. During this period much of the Forest Service's
work was devoted toward the war effort. Procurement
of timber. cooperation with other agencies. work with
the Aircraft Warning Service program. and close
cooperation with the War Production Board on a variety
of projects occupied Watts during the war years. With
the end of the war. he took a major part in helping to

organize the Forestry Division of the Food and Agricul-
ture Organization of the United Nations, participating in
a number of international conferences on conservation.

Watts had other achievements to his credit. The
Timber Resource Review, a comprehensive appraisal of
the forest conditions in the United States, was started
by Watts early in 1952. The six-year study was com-
pieted by Assistant Chief Ed Cliff in 1958; it examined
in depth the current status and projected future of the
nation's wood supplies. Also during his term of admin-
istration, the Sustained-Yield Forest-Management Act
of 1944 was passed, calling for federal-private sus-
tained-yield units under which federal stumpage could
be sold to responsible bidders without competitive bid-
ding and thus support communities and industries de-
pendent on federal forests. The Cooperative Forest
Management Act of 1950 expanded the Norris-Doxey
Act. The Forest Pest Control Act of 1947 established
the principle that the government had responsibility to
protect all forestlands from destructive insects and
diseases.

Like Silcox and Clapp, Watts was an advocate of
public regulation of cutting. His program called for fed-
eral acquisition of timberlands, federal cooperation
with state and private owners, and federal regulation.
By this time, however, the states had passed laws regu-
lating forest practices, including cutting, and the U.S.
Supreme Court upheld the constitutionality of a Wash-
ington State law. After Watts's administration, the cam-
paign for federal regulation of cutting was dropped,
and state regulation took its place.

Ickes resigned from his post in 1946, and his suc-
cessors, Julius Krug (1946-1951) and Oscar Chapman
(1951-1953) were less troublesome to the Forest Serv-
ice than Ickes had been. Truman, Roosevelt's suc-
cessor, was a man of the soil and made a creditable
record in conservatior.. His secretaries of agriculture,
Clinton P. Anderson anc ‘’harles Brannan, were capa-
ble administrators. Nevertheless, political attacks
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For Angela C. Janszen, a young Forest Service
statistical clerk, this was a period of high adventure.
She had transferred from Washington, D.C., to the
Seattle office of the spruce program and then, at Bur-
dick's request, took a job as accountant and clerk at
Edna Bay. She was initially the only woman on the For-
est Service payroll there. Angela went to Edna Bay
toward the end of March 1943 and lived in a twelve-by-
twenty-four-foot prefabricated house consisting of liv-
ing room, kitchen, and bath. Hers was one of the few
bathrooms in camp, so it was frequently used by
guests. She ate at the mess hall with the loggers and
Forest Service staff. Her work was varied; in addition
to clerical work, she helped out in the hospital and
made a good photographic record of the operation.

Angela's ‘*Sprucelogue’’—letters home to her fam-
ily—gives a singularly fresh and vivid account of the
work, through the eyes of discovery. She learned the
technical vocabulary of the loggers and what they
meant by a schoolmarm, widow-maker, flunkey, cold
deck, corks, A-frame operation, spar tree, and wanigan.
She acquired a skiff and rowed around the area. She
accompanied the brass when they arrived on official
trips to the camps, took the loggers’ children for walks,
or went into the woods to watch the topping of a spar
tree. There was a lively social life at Edna Bay, with
poker a favorite pastime and dancing to music from an
old nickelodeon. High points were the arrival of the
mail boat with letters and packages from Sears or
“Monkey Wards,"”" the occasional visits of Father Mat-
thew E. Hoch on the Coast Guard boat to celebrate
mass, the unloading of barges carrying machinery, and
rafts taking off for the south. Occasionally, she was
able to take a flight in to Ketchikan where she visited
Ward Lake, then an evacuation center for the Aleuts.
Angela took an active part in the jokes and horseplay
that mark any Forest Service community. She and
others who ate at Table 5 in the mess hall formed the
Order of Poland China. Here is one of their typical
verses:

EDNA BAY
(Written by the cook after one of the loggers on the
Alaska Spruce Log Program complained about burned
bacon.)

Oh! The dark clouds frown
And the clouds swoop down
On the shores of Edna Bay,
While the Bull Cook’s song
Rings loud and strong

In the wild Scottish way.
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If the loggers howl,

And the loggers scowl

For each my heart is achin’;

But who in hell

Would dare to tell

Who burned the breakfast bacon.

If the boss gets drunk

With the Whistle Punk

And the Buckers hold a meeting
Who gives a rap

For Wop or Jap

If we can have good eating.

We are sick of fish

For a Friday dish

And hot cakes in the morning.
Grouch on! Good Friend!

The bitter end

May come without warning.

It was, for Angela and the others who took part in the
enterprise, a period of high purpose and high adventure.

By February 1944 the program began to come to
an end. The War Production Board said that metal
would take the place of spruce planes and that the cut-
ting was to cease on March 15. The last rafts of logs
were shipped out to Puget Sound or towed away by tug
to the local mills, and the camps began to close down.
By August 1944 Edna Bay, which formerly had a popu-
lation of 250, was a ghost town, down to 15 men and 1
girl. Equipment was sold off—cats, miles of cable, don-
keys, floating camps, buildings, mess halls, and the like.
By October 1944 the operation was closed. In about a
year and a half of existence, 38.5 million board feet of
high-grade spruce was sent to the states, and 46 million
board feet of grade 3 spruce and hemlock went to local
mills. Heintzleman, meanwhile, once the operation was
finished, renewed his search for investors in pulp
production.®



Possessory Rights

During Heintzleman's term of office, his ambition
to establish a pulp industry in Alaska was badly com-
plicated by the question of Native claims and pos-
sessory rights. This issue had come up during the ad-
ministrations of Langille and Weigle. By Flory's adminis-
tration, it became a major concern. The story is compli-
cated, involving as it does legal questions, administra-
tive policies, ethnic aspirations, and personal ambi-
tions. It involved relationships of the Forest Service
with the Alaska Native Brotherhood (ANB), Alaska Na-
tive Sisterhood (ANS), and the changes that took place
within these organizations.

Theodore Roosevelt had been interested in the
status of the Native Americans in Alaska and asked
Lieutenant George Thornton Emmons to make a report.
Emmons did so, stating that the Indians in southeastern
Alaska were a relatively advanced class of people,
capable of self-support and mainly needing supervi-
sion, education, and moral support. They worked in
mills, mines, and lumber camps and were able to
bridge the gap between civilization and tribal life. They
needed, however, technical education, hospitals and
dispensaries, and legal status to acquire land and
practice professions. Roosevelt echoed these recom-
mendations in his State of the Union message in 1904.%

Several land laws were passed with application to
Indian rights. Indians were entitled to take up land
under the Forest Homestead Act of June 11, 1906. In
addition, an act of May 7, 1906, permitted the secretary
of the interior to make allotments of up to 160 acres to
Indian family heads. No money was appropriated, how-
ever, to carry on the survey work. Secretary of the In-
terior James R. Garfield urged its implementation in
1908, and Richard A. Ballinger, in 1911, secured a new
bill repeating the principles of the old and setting up
machinery for acquiring land through the General
Land Office. In 1915 some Land Office surveys were
made for this purpose in the Tongass National Forest,
and Land Office officials worked out arrangements
with the Forest Service to avoid conflicts with the sur-
veys made under the Forest Homestead Act.’

The Forest Service men concerned with Indian
claims developed common-sense practices. Native vil-
lages were surveyed and roads built under both
revenue-sharing statutes and special appropriations.
Indian claims of prior occupancy and consequent title
were based on physical evidence, such as garden
spots, graves, fish houses, and smokehouses. Such oc-
cupancy did not need to be continuous. Areas occupied
by Indians prior to creation of the Tongass National
Forest, and then abandoned, could be reopened for en-
try if the Indian allotment were valid. If a tract had no

history of prior use, it could be opened for settlement
under the Forest Homestead Act.?

During the 1920s there was a great deal of classifi-
cation but little real difficulty in regard to Indian land
claims. Two crises did arise. One, relating to the J. T.
Jones claim to a pulp mill site, has already been de-
scribed. Another related to a fox-farming project on
the west side of Prince of Wales Island.

In 1921 a petition reached District Forester Flory,
signed by 180 people in the Anguilla Island area. They
protested the leasing by the Forest Service of the island
for fox farming, alleging that they had used it as a
campsite and garden spot. Flory called for a field in-
vestigation. Meanwhile, H. H. Butler, vice-president of
the Anguilla Island Fur Company, protested the trespass
of individuals on the island. He stated that the leasee
could not physically prevent people from landing but
that he had a right to have his fur farming free from in-
terference. The Forest Service suggested that he post
trespass notices. At the same time, E. W. Nelson, chief
of the Biological Survey, informed Chief Greeley that he
was having similar reports from islands leased by his
agency.

In a long letter to Greeley, Flory outlined the prob-
lem. Alaska, he reported, was overrun by a *thieving
class of whites and natives who seem to make their liv-
ing by robbing fish traps, slaughtering game for sale,
bootlegging, robbing launches, poaching on fox farms
and similar acts of depredation.” Flory felt that the
problem was one for the Justice Department. The For-
est Service could give aid but already had too many de-
mands on its boats. The governor, attorney general,
and U.S. marshal, he complained, insisted on the right
to use Forest Service boats for bringing to justice peo-
ple accused of civil offenses. Flory recommended that
the fox farms keep armed guards on duty, as did fish-
trap owners, and that the fur raisers organize for
mutual protection. J. M. Wyckoff made a field examina-
tion and recommended that the leases be cancelled.
The San Lorenzo group of islands, of which Anguilla
was one, was, Wyckoff reported, an Indian fishing site
with 2,000 seasonal campers and 20 buildings. It was
the only safe anchorage in the vicinity. Merritt, mean-
while, suggested that the fur company fence off Indian
garden sites on the island. The lease was canceled on
the basis of prior Indian use.?

By the 1920s some Natives were playing parts in
territorial politics, electing one of their own to the ter-
ritorial legislature. The Alaska Native Brotherhood
acted as a pressure group to insure civil and political
rights for Indians. Territorial Delegate Anthony Di-
mond, who served from 1933 to 1944, was particularly
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interested in Indian affairs. The Wheeler-Howard Act
of 1934 and supplementary legislation in 1938 gave to
the secretary of the interior the right to set up reserva-
tions and to enlarge existing ones but forbade owner-
ship in severalty. The creation of a reservation, how-
ever, had to be endorsed in a special election by 30 per-
cent of the Indian residents thereon.

In southeastern Alaska local reservations were
used largely for school purposes. Native villages were
governed by tribal councils, and self-government,
rather than wardship, was their goal. During the
1940s, however, a new concept of Native rights was
adopted by the Department of the Interior. This was an
interpretation of possessory rights giving to the Indians
lands or waters on which their ancestors had hunted or
fished; these would include virtually all of southeast-
ern Alaska. Ickes appointed R. H. Hanna, a former
judge of the Supreme Court of New Mexico, to hear the
testimony on native possessory rights, especially in
regard to Kake, Klawock, and Hydaburg. Hanna's
report did not support the departmental views, but
Ickes reversed Hanna and in a July 1945 ruling de-
clared that the public domain was both land and water
and that submerged lands were available for Native
possession. He asked that land to the extent of 176,000
acres be reserved for three villages. Decision on an ad-
ditional 2 million acres was postponed. Ickes further
affirmed the rights of the Indians to sue under the
Haida-Tlingit Jurisdictional Act of 1935, which entitled
Indians to sue in the court of claims for any claims they
might have against the United States."

The judgments of the Department of the Interior
were alarming to the Forest Service. If Ickes's views
were realized, the whole timber industry in southeast-
ern Alaska would be jeopardized. Pulp companies
would be discouraged from making investments, since

the right of the Forest Service to make timber sales
would be in doubt. Heintzleman expounded his views in
a letter to Harold Lutz. The effort to give Indians title to
southeastern Alaska, he wrote, was ‘‘under the theory
that they are the owners of all the lands and resources
through their heredity of aboriginal rights and that
these rights have never been extinguished by the fed-
eral government.” Heintzleman blamed the Depart-
ment of the Interior for the matter, particularly Secre-
tary Ickes. **With the assistance of the Interior Depart-
ment, and on the basis of some legal opinion given by
the Secretary of the Interior by the Solicitor's office of
that department,” he wrote, ‘‘each village, as S. E.
Alaska has never had a tribal organization, has made
application for hundreds of thousands of acres of land
and tidewater fishing areas that blanket all the fishing
sites and large areas of trolling grounds.”” He went on
to summarize the existing laws under which the In-
dians could acquire land. He concluded, *‘The thought
is often expressed by private citizens that the move to
set up vast Indian reservations in S. E. Alaska is based,
in large part, on a desire to eliminate the National For-
ests in Alaska.”"

In order to permit timber sales without danger of
the sales being terminated because of clouded title, a
Tongass timber bill was introduced into Congress. It
provided that the secretary of agriculture might make
contracts for timber sales but that receipts from the
sales be put in a special fund to remain untouched until
the issue of Native claims was settled. Senator Warren
Magnuson of Washington and Delegate E. L. Bartlett of
Alaska played a major part in developing the bill. The
draft bill was agreed on by the departments concerned
—Agriculture, Justice, Interior, and the Bureau of Indi-
an Affairs. The Tongass Timber Act was finally passed
on July 27, 1947.»

Pulp Mills at Last

During Heintzleman's administration the timber
cut increased from 43 million board feet in 1936 to 60
million in 1950. Heintzleman continued his search for
pulp investers, and his efforts were finally successful.
American Viscose Corporaticn, the largest manufac-
turer of rayon in the United States, became interested
in the possibilities and formed a combination with a
Bellingham firm, Puget Sound Pulp and Timber, to form
the Ketchikan Pulp Company and to set up an operation
at Ward Cove. There were numerous obstacles to cir-
cumvent. The site of the mill was the former location of
a real estate speculation called Wacker City, after its
founder Eugene Wacker. When in need of money, Wack-
er had sold lots, sometimes selling and reselling the
same !ots numerous times and letting each purchaser

think he had clear title. Local attorneys were retained
by the company, titles were finally cleared up, and op-
tions on the land obtained. A preliminary award was
made on August 2, 1948, and the final contract was
signed on July 26, 1951. The mill agreed to purchase 1.5
billion cubic feet of timber on a fifty-year contract,
which called for 85 cents per cubic foot for wood cut
for the manufacture of pulp prior to July 1, 1962, and
for review by the Forest Service every five years. The
company also agreed to pay $3 per thousand board feet
for spruce, $1.50 for cedar, and $2 for other species."

Water pollution was a major concern for the For-
est Service, and intensive studies of this problem were
made on each of the sites examined for possible pulp
mills—Sitka, Ketchikan, and Wrangell. These studies
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were carried on from 1948 to 1956. Heintzleman
worked closely with the Alaska Water Pollution Board.
Edward G. Locke, a chemical engineer from the Pacific
Northwest Forest and Range Experiment Station, and
Gardner H. Chidester, chief developer of pulp and
paper for the Forest Products Laboratory, gave him ad-
vice. Raymond Taylor of the Alaska Forest Research
Center and officials of the Fish and Wildlife Service
were consulted about the possible effect of logging on
the salmon streams. Locke and Chidester reported that
if a magnesium-base process were used at Ketchikan,
there would be no damage. But they recommended that
the effluent pipeline extend into the Tongass Narrows.
They saw little possibility of ecological damage at
Wrangell and felt that the projected site in Sitka was a
good one. The question of water pollution was also
raised by Samuel Ordway of the Conservation Founda-
tion; he called on C. M. Granger for information and
later wrote to Heintzleman about the matter. Heintzle-
man told of his conference with the Alaska Water Pol-
lution Board, and Ordway was apparently satisfied.*

The first pulp mill was the fruition of long-standing
dreams. These included the early suggestions of Bern-
hard E. Fernow, made after his first trip to Alaska on
the Harriman expedition; the recommendations of Wil-
liam A. Langille after his long and lonely trips through
the archipelago; the studies made by William Weigle;
the arduous work of George Drake and Roy Barto, who
set up stream-gauging stations; the timber estimates of
Kan Smith; the aerial mapping of the Navy; and above
all, the efforts of B. Frank Heintzleman. They included
frustrations, such as the failure of the Speel River
plant. The mill was a major triumph for Ketchikan. But
Heintzleman's administration saw new developments
in timber and pulp production that arose from immedi-
ate political, trade, and economic conditions.

As a result of World War II, Japan:lost a major
part of the timber resources (namely, Manchuria and
Sakhalin) on which she had relied for domestic use and
manufacturing. The postwar military government in
Japan set up a system of forestry within the country,
but the amount of available timber was insufficient.
Japanese interests first turned to the Philippines as a
source of round logs, but the Philippine government
curbed export in order to develop its own industrial
forestry. In 1951 Japanese groups approached the For-
est Service for sales in Alaska. Their suggestion was
that the Japanese furnish the labor and build the log-
ging facilities. The Forest Service refused on the
grounds that it wanted to use Alaskan timber locally.
The next year, on February 22, a formal petition was
made to the supreme commander of the allied powers,
asking again for softwood timber from Alaska to be
harvested by Japanese workers. It was pointed out that
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the timber deficit for home industry amounted to 3 bil-
lion board feet, plus 400 million cubic feet of timber
needed for fuel. The plea was considered by the De-
fense, Interior, Agriculture, Labor, and State depart-
ments, but it was turned down on a variety of grounds.
In October 1952 a Japanese mission came to the
United States to investigate the possibilities of a mill to
export sawed timber and of a pulp mill in Alaska. They
were told that the enterprise must meet specified con-
ditions. It would have to fit into national and regional
Forest Service timber-sale policy and meet sustained-
yield standards. It would have to aid in the economic
development of the territory, which meant compliance
with the primary processing requirement. The enter-
prise would also have to be an American corporation
and get the timber required by competitive bidding.

By 1953 the Japanese were ready to act. They sent
a team of technical experts to the United States to ex-
amine alternative mill sites. The Japanese were well re-
ceived in southeastern Alaska and were given highly
favorable publicity in the press. They particularly liked
Sitka because it had a good location at Sawmill Creek,
a power site, and a climate and atmosphere attractive
to the Japanese. They were astonished at the waste in
American wood processing and asked if the waste
could be baled and shipped instead of being discarded.
Public sentiment in Alaska grew in favor of the ven-
ture; Charles Burdick made talks before the Chamber
of Commerce in Juneau and O. F. Benecke, president of
the chamber, was one of its strongest supporters. He
performed yeoman service by writing to other cham-
bers of commerce in Alaska, informing them of the proj-
ect and giving reassurance. Only from the Pacific
Northwest came objections. Representative Walter
Norblad of Oregon protested the project. In a public
letter to Secretary of State John Foster Dulles, he
characterized the affair as ‘‘improper,” and ‘“‘an out-
growth of a secret agreement FDR had made at Yalta"
to give the Russians Sakhalin Island. Development of
such a mill, he said, would hurt the Oregon economy,
since Oregon mills needed the Japanese market. How-
ever, the Alaskan press backed the project, and the ter-
ritorial Senate supported it by resolution.

In September 1953 the contract was finally made.
A Japanese company, Toshitsugu Matusi, formed the
Alaska Pulp Development Company, incorporated in
the United States and financed in part by a loan from
the Export-Import Bank. The plan called for building a
large sawmill and a pulp mill at Sitka. Meanwhile, by
the end of 1953, wood scraps were being compressed
and shipped to Japan. By 1959 the Alaska Lumber and
Pulp Company was in operation.'



Research

Forest research in Alaska got under way during
this period. In 1928, at the time Crown Zellerbach was
considering pulp production in Alaska, Congress
passed an authorization for a research center in
Alaska. No funds were appropriated, however. In 1948,
when prospects were bright for a pulp mill, Congress
appropriated $50,000 to be used for research in
Alaska. The Forest Service decided to set up the Alas-
ka Forest Research Center, and Raymond F. Taylor won
the job of director.

As noted in the previous chapter, Taylor had first
arrived in Alaska in 1925. Working as a scaler, he be-
gan research on defect analysis and extended the re-
search interest, shared with Jim Walley, to growth and
yield studies on Admiralty and Prince of Wales islands.
These early years of forestry work enabled him to trav-
el widely over southeastern Alaska. He wrote several
articles for forestry journals and published a pocket-
book of Alaska trees. After holding research positions
at several forest experiment stations and in the Wash-
ington Office, Taylor returned to Juneau in 1948 to take
up the job of director of the new research center in the
regional office.

An early problem was to keep the research center
under the Branch of Research. There were several who
wanted the regional forester to be in charge—among
them B. Frank Heintzleman. Upon arrival, Taylor dis-
covered that Frank had just found out that Ray Taylor's
nearest boss was to be in Washington, D.C. This may
have caused the sudden unavailability of a ranger boat
that had been promised for research use. One of the
older boats, however, the Ranger 7, was provided for
the cost of running and maintaining it. After a brief in-
terval to store equipment and files in a corner of the
sign shop, and to find living quarters for the family,
Taylor started fieldwork.

No new boats had been built during the fourteen
years Taylor had been away, so he knew the Ranger 7
well. It was the first diesel boat built for the Alaska Re-
gion. A skipper-cook was hired, and Richard M. God-
man was transferred to Alaska from the Massabesic
Experimental Forest in Maine. In October, Betty Corey,
a secretary in the Division of Forest Management in
Washington, D.C., transferred to the research center.
By then, two rooms in the ‘‘crewhouse’’ at the sub-port,
a part of the Admiralty Division set of buildings, was
loaned to the research center. The U.S. Geological Sur-
vey shared the quarters. These frame buildings were
on a gravel fill, formerly part of the tide flats. The CCC
had laid the sewer lines level; when the spring and fall
tides came, the toilets backed up. During the war, the
National Guard had occupied these buildings. Whether

‘crewhouse’’ refers to them or to CCC groups is
unknown.

As the Alaska Forest Research Center grew, it
gradually took over the whole crewhouse and then
moved to a leased office uptown. Soon after Taylor's
retirement in 1959, the new Federal Office Building
was constructed, and all Forest Service agencies
moved into it. The name was changed to Northern For-
est Experiment Station, and the forester-in-charge be-
came a director. Later still, the station was taken over
by the Pacific Northwest Forest and Range Experiment
Station in Portland and renamed the Institute of North-
ern Forestry.

According to Taylor, research organizations are
most productive when they have small staffs, simple
quarters, and are hard up for money. When expansion
comes, overhead grows and the ‘‘idea-men’ are pro-
moted to an overheated office with good-looking secre-
taries and have no time for fieldwork.

The first job was to bring old work up to date. Old
sample plots, transects, and reproduction study areas
were revisited. At Traitors Cove reproduction plots es-
tablished on land clearcut in 1924 were remeasured.
Rod-square plots that had hundreds of two-inch tall
seedlings in 1926 now had one or two trees, but they
were ten to twelve inches in diameter. The yield tables
on which the cutting rotations were to be based were
checked by actual growth on the plots over a twenty-
year period, and the tables were found to be fairly ac-
curate. Areas clearcut in the early 19208 were almost
impenetrable stands of second-growth, with trees six
inches to a foot in diameter.

During the next few years, the Maybeso Experi-
mental Forest was established at Hollis, where the first
pulp timber cutting was to start. Here studies of regen-
eration before and after cutting of a large area were
begun. Regional Forester Heintzleman wanted an an-
swer to one question as soon as possible: would clear-
cutting on watersheds of salmon streams ruin these
streams for spawning? There were many who were
certain that this would be the result of any logging near
such streams. The Hollis area had three salmon
streams—Maybeso Creek, Indian Creek, and Harris
River. A study was set up with the cooperation of the
Water Division of the U.S. Geological Survey, the Fish
and Wildlife Service, and the Fisheries Research Insti-
tute of the University of Washington. After five or six
years, it was apparent that the salmon were still
spawning in as great numbers as ever, although the
usual variations due to unknown causes occurred. At
the conclusion of logging in these large watersheds, a
yes or no answer should have been broadcasted, but by
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Administration, Lands,
and Amenity Values

As an administrator, Heintzleman clung to the old
ways of keeping the division system and a relatively
small staff. The old familiar officers—C. M. Archbold
(who played an important part in helping to develop the
pulp mill sales), Alva Blackerby, Charles Burdick,
Spencer Israelson, and Ralph Ohman—were the main-
stays of the staff. Some retired—J. P. Williams, who
had been a tower of strength in the organization, both
in timber cruising and in wildlife management, and
E. M. Jacobsen, who served long in the Chugach as
ranger and boat skipper. His district suffered from the
usual chronic lack of funds, especially needed in recre-
ational planning. The boats were growing old, and
planes were not always available. In the period be-
tween 1934 and 1948, not a single new boat was added
to the Forest Service fleet.

In 1931 the regional office in Juneau was moved
from the Goldstein Building to the Federal and Terri-
torial Building. In addition, more land was acquired for
a warehouse site at Juneau, on the tidelands. In 1921
the Forest Service had acquired some property from
the Alaska Road Commission and had built a wharf,
which was used not only by the Forest Service but also
by the Coast Guard and other boats. CCC labor was
used to raze the old buildings and to build a rock fill,
construct a garage, and a warehouse. These were
loaned to the Army in 1942 but came back to Forest
Service ownership in 1946."

A variety of problems relating to lands arose dur-
ing the Heintzleman administration. One has already
been dealt with, that of possessory rights and Indian
reservations. In addition, a series of bills was intro-
duced in Congress, usually sponsored by Representa-
tive William Lemke of North Dakota and designed to
give war veterans homesteads in the national forests.
Title would be granted on seven-month habitation and
the building of an eight- by-ten-foot cabin. They were
similar to other bills introduced in the period after
World War 1. None of them passed.®®

A major change came in 1941 with the establish-
ment of the Kenai Moose Range. The proposal had been
initiated by W. A. Langille in his 1904 report on the
Kenai. The attempted agricultural boom of Andrew
Christensen at Anchorage, however, stopped this move-
ment and helped force the Forest Service to relinquish
a great share of the area. But agriculture did not thrive
there. Ira Gabrielson, as head of the Fish and Wildlife
Service (successor to the Bureau of Fisheries and the
Biological Survey), pressed for creation of a game ref-
uge in the area and was successful in getting it by
1941. There was close collaboration with the Forest

Service in the Kenai, as well as with the Alaska Game
Commission, in regard to fire control study of the moose
habitats, regulation of hunting, and apprehension of
poachers.®®

Fire remained a continuing problem in the Kenai.
The Alaska Railroad by this time had become more
cooperative than in the past. Right-of-way burning was
controlled, and section gangs were given suppression
and presuppression training. However, the main prob-
lem was the coal-burning locomotives. The locomotives
were old and decrepit; they had barely enough power
to get over the summit under the best of circumstances
and could not do so with spark arresters. There was no
diesel equipment; the railroad officials stated that the
roadbed was not heavily enough ballasted to carry the
heavier equipment.

Another problem in the Kenai, one that grew with
the war, was that of mining claims. The government
had declared a moratorium on assessment work on
claims for the duration of the war, and the moratorium
was extended. Consequently, fraudulent or dubious
mining claims flourished, not only in Alaska but also in
the states. Those in Alaska were commonly located on
the Kenai River and served as fishing cottages or sum-
mer homes for the claimants. They were also used for
commercial purposes. Afognak Island was used in-
creasingly as a recreation center for Army personnel
during this time. The buildings of the Afognak salmon
hatchery were utilized by the Army as fishing or hunt-
ing camps for the troops stationed at Kodiak.?

Some eliminations were made from the Alaskan
national forests during this period, mostly at the recom-
mendation of the secretary of agriculture or for
transfer to the Bureau of Land Management. In the
Tongass these included areas for suburban develop-
ment, highways, small homesites, public services, and
the like—places where national forest values were out-
weighed by settlement values. Such areas were recom-
mended for elimination by the secretary of agriculture
in June of 1950 and eliminated on January 25, 1952.
The amount eliminated from the Tongass amounted to
29,000 acres, mostly on the outskirts of Juneau, along
the Glacier Highway, and near Ketchikan, Craig,
Petersburg, Wrangell, and Sitka. At the same time
76,000 acres were eliminated from the Chugach. These
included areas along the railroad, on the highway, and
on the north side of Turnagain Arm, for disposal under
public land laws and the Small Tracts Act.”

There were a few sporadic revivals of the Ad-
miralty Island affair. Writer John M. Holzworth did not
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The Greeley, Hanson and Howard
Administrations, 1953-1970

It was the best of times, it was the worst of times, it was the age of wisdom, it was the age
of foolishness, it was the epoch of belief, it was the epoch of incredulity, it was the season of
Light, it was the season of Darkness, it was the spring of hope, it was the winter of despair, we
had everything before us, we had nothing before us, we were all going direct to Heaven, we

were all going direct the other way.

Charles Dickens, A Tale of Two Cities

The Politics of Conservation, 1953-1968

he historian who tackles the recent history of the

Forest Service—that is, the history of the period
during the last twenty years—finds himself in strange
terrain, where the bearings are confusing, the topogra-
phy rough, and the lay of the land hard to determine. It
was a period of transition from extensive to intensive
management, with both a larger amount of money spent
and a greater productivity; science and technology
were reaching new levels in their application to the
management of natural resources. It was a period of
brilliant legislative achievements, such as the Wilder-
ness Act and the Multiple Use-Sustained Yield Act—
both efforts to formalize the goals and achieve the aims
of the new era. It was also a period of bitter political
and administrative infighting in which the integrity of
the Forest Service, and even its very existence, was
threatened by small-minded politicians, administra-
tors, and powerful pressure groups.

New forces on the American scene made them-
selves known. The *'grab-and-get'’ element, desiring re-
moval or reduction of controls so that they might
achieve unchecked exploitation of the public land, lob-
bied in Congress and placed national and regional of-
ficers under great pressure. On the other side, recrea-
tional groups also harassed the resource managers.
Mass recreation came of age after 1952, and the land
under control of the resource agencies was placed
under increased pressure by the users of the land. Dur-
ing the previous era, the CCC had done a great deal of
work providing campgrounds, roads, and other recrea-
tional facilities. These served well during the war
years, when travel and use of the national forests and
parks was light, and during the period immediately
after the war when these had little use. With the 1950s,

however, outdoor recreation vastly increased, and
pressure on aging facilities became intense. In addi-
tion, the new generation of recreationists had grown
up during the Depression and the war; it had little ac-
quaintance with the outdoors and outdoor etiquette.
Vandalism increased, and there was increased need
for interpreting the outdoors to the public.

Another force was the wilderness elite. Concerned
with the preservation of wilderness areas in pristine
condition, the advocates formally separated them-
selves from the general run of recreationists and
sportsmen. Learning that noneconomic groups flourish
in times of crisis, they managed to establish an almost
continual crisis atmosphere. There was a tendency
toward polarization among the groups themselves: the
mass recreationists demanded increased facilities, and
the wilderness elite opposed them. There were the old
type of recreational groups, such as the Mazamas and
the Mountaineers, who had worked with the Forest
Service as advisory groups, and the newer and more
militant bodies, such as the Sierra Club and Friends of
the Earth, who rejected the advisory group approach
and sought remedy through legislation and the courts.
The emotional geology of the era would show a complex
combination of factors: the slow sedimentations that
represent continuity with the past, and the violent
eruptions that change the structure of the landscape
and leave behind them craggy outlines persisting even
after the immediate disturbance has passed.

Dwight Eisenhower’s election in 1952 marked the
end of a long period of Democratic domination. Eisen-
hower came to office pledged to economy in govern-
ment and governmental reorganization. He utilized a
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successfully the efforts to reorganize the Service and
transfer it, enlisting the aid of senators and represent-
atives in this task. He increased the number of wilder-
ness areas in the national forests and encouraged re-
gional foresters to extend their recreational activities,
especially in new directions such as winter sports. A
Research Advisory Committee was set up, research ac-
tivities were enlarged, and control over research on
forest insects was transferred from other agencies of
the Department of Agriculture to the Forest Service.
The Timber Resource Review, a national study started
in Watts's administration, completed its findings in 1958
with publication of the monumental Timber Resources
for America’s Future. McArdle wrote, ‘“The report
should convince the reader that the United States is not
faced with an acute timber shortage. There is no ‘tim-
ber famine’ in the offing, although shortages of varying
kinds and degrees may be expected.”

As sustained yield had been a major emblem of the
Watts administration, so multiple use became that of
McArdle. Articles and memoranda on multiple use as a
solution to the national forests' response to increased
pressure of man on resources became a major concern
of the Forest Service administration. The culmination
was the Multiple Use-Sustained Yield Act of June 12,
1960; signed by Eisenhower, it became Public Law
86-517.

As chief, McArdle was aware of the increased use
of the national forests during the 1950s. Timber sales
increased as private land was cut over. Mining claims
were pegged out in many of the national forests, endan-
gering timber as well as water flow. That water for
domestic use and irrigation was needed in greater
quantities was a matter of growing concern to the For-
est Service; more than half of the water in the western
states originates in the national forests. There was also
growing pressure among user groups, including those
who wanted priority or exclusive use for one group.
These included wilderness lovers, recreationists, town
fathers interested in city watersheds, stockmen, and
lumber interests. There was also pressure to overuse
the resources. Some overgrazing and overcutting had
taken place during the war years, and there had been
many questionable mining clims that went unchal-
lenged. Other pressures in regard to Forest Service ad-
ministration came from outside. McArdle sought ad-
vice from both outside and within the agency, and even-
tually he decided on legislative action.?

Edward C. Crafts has told in fascinating detail the
story of the Multiple Use Act. There was difficulty with
the timber interests because the act failed to give
priority to timber and water. The Sierra Club fought the
bill vigorously because it failed to give wilderness an
equal status with recreation. Several senators, notably
William Proxmire, Hubert Humphrey, and Philip Hart

played important parts in getting the bill passed. How-
ard Zahniser of the Wilderness Society, Ira Gabrielson,
former head of the Fish and Wildlife Service, and Ber-
nard L. Orell of the Weyerhaeuser Company played
large parts in helping the bill through Congress.

The act is a legislative directive to the Forest Ser-
vice to give equal concern to all the resources mentioned
—recreation, timber, watershed, range, and wildlife—
in planning for use of the forests. Mining was delib-
erately omitted. It does not forbid single or dominant
use but simply asks that in planning the Forest Service
give equal consideration to all these resources in com-
binations that will best serve the people. McArdle's in-
terpretation, expressed at the Fifth World Forestry
Congress in Seattle in the fall of 1960, stressed giving
equal weight to each of these uses and to planning and
coordinated activity.’

As Eisenhower’s term of office continued, the
pressures on the Forest Service lessened. MacKay left
Interior in 1956 to run for Wayne Morse’s senate seat;
he failed to be elected and left public life. He was re-
placed by Fred Seaton of Nebraska, a man with a fair
conservation record. The Republican dominance in
Congress continued for only two years. Several sen-
ators and representatives who were markedly friendly
toward forestry and conservation came into office.

A bill of almost equal importance, ultimately the
Wilderness Act of 1964, was also begun during this
period. Concern for wilderness had grown up with the
movement for forest conservation. Groups like the
Mazamas, Oregon Alpine Club, Appalachian Club, and
Sierra Club had played a large part in the creation of
the early forest reserves. Gifford Pinchot, in his
rhetoric of conversation, had deemphasized the wilder-
ness and recreational element, probably to get the sup-
port of economic groups for the forestry program. Like
Alexander Hamilton, he needed to attract the *‘rich,
the able, and the well-born’’ to the program. However,
despite his rhetoric, he also supported Langille's sug-
gestion for creation of wilderness areas in the national
forest system. His successor, Henry S. Graves, stressed
such recreational uses. Men like Arthur Ringland, Rob-
ert Marshall, and Aldo Leopold demanded wilderness
areas, free from roads and development, and a number
of them were established in the national forests during
the 1920s. Robert Marshall persuaded the Bureau of
Indian Affairs to establish recreational areas and
helped to formalize regulations on their creation and
use. There was, of course, pressure on both the nation-
al forests and the national parks from developers and
recreationists over the extent and use of such areas.
The Park Service and the Forest Service both attempt-
ed to hold a middle-of-the-road view between the ex-
tremes in each group.
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Serious agitation for a national wilderness preser-
vation system began in 1956. It was dramatized by a
bill to let the Reclamation Service build a dam in Echo
Canyon in the Dinosaur National Monument of Utah
and Colorado. The bill met organized opposition from
wilderness lovers and was defeated in Congress. The
success of the opposition encouraged wilderness advo-
cates to develop a legislative approach to the problem,
analogous to the Multiple Use bill, making the Forest
Service and National Park Service legally responsible
for preserving wilderness areas under their jurisdic-
tion. Howard Zahniser of the Wilderness Society, Sen-
ator Hubert Humphey of Minnesota, and Representa-
tive John P. Saylor of Pennsylvania played a large part
in drafting such a bill in 1954. It provided for continu-
ous preservation of existing wilderness areas, the
inc¢lusion of others by act of Congress, and that a coun-
cil be set up to keep records and make recommenda-
tions. The bill had a long legislative history. The council
was eliminated and some areas were excluded, but the
bill was finally passed in 1964.¢

Both acts were of value to the agencies involved
and to the public. The Multiple Use Act formally put in-
to operation what the Forest Service had practiced for
years. It was no new innovation but rather a formal
statement, updating the principles of previous laws
and practice. However, it did speed up and sharpen
planning and inventories. Each region and each ranger
district drew up multiple-use atlases and plans for co-
ordinated development of each area. It was well de-
signed to aid in the shift from extensive to intensive
management. The Wilderness Act, on the other hand,
focused attention on the need to preserve some remain-
ing scenic and primitive areas. It dramatized the issues
and spurred on Congress and the public to work out
plans balancing development, recreation, and wilder-
ness preservation.

Neither of the bills was a panacea; both were sub-
ject to misinterpretation and both gave rise to unex-
pected problems. By statute and by McArdle's state-
ments, multiple use was clearly defined. But the phrase
became a rationale for proposed raids by mining and
lumber interests on land dedicated to recreation. On
the other hand, the Sierra Club carefully misinter-
preted the act to be favorable to lumber interests, as
opposed to wilderness recreation; it claimed that the
training of foresters made them inadequate to make
good judgments in the field.

The Wilderness Act also created new problems.
Resource managers generally were dedicated to the
wilderness concept but wondered about the effect of
the designation on particular areas. The Huron
Islands, for example, had a fragile environment, were
accessible by powerboat, and were apt to attract
hordes of people who might destroy the very values the
bill was intended to protect. Wilderness hearings indi-
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cated a growing gap between local interest groups and
recreational clubs, which used an area on a continuing
basis, and occasional visitors, who were often associat-
ed with large and powerful national organizations. Ac-
customed as it was to working with local advisory
groups, but under increased pressure from national
groups, the Forest Service was caught in the middle.
The term de facto wilderness became popular for areas
not under the wilderness designation, and recre-
ational organizations began to resort to litigation in an
effort to achieve their ends, or to create a body of envi-
ronmental law. Lumbering interests, on the other hand,
became critical of the new regulations. C. M. Archbold,
formerly a Forest Service officer in Alaska, wrote:

Our timber industry is being squeezed out of

business by these young foresters who devote

more time to planning how to care for the in-
creasing recreational use (from now to the year

2000] than they do to caring for an industry that

provides employment to many hands when in

the woods. One old time industry man has aptly
described it as “we are being Forested out of
existence.’'"

With the end of the Eisenhower administration, a
political climate more friendly to conservation came in.
Both John F. Kennedy and Lyndon B. Johnson were acti-
vists in the area of conservation. The Peace Corps,
under Kennedy, carried forestry and park-making to
other lands; the Job Corps aided in community projects.
In Alaska the latter’s work was similar to projects car-
ried on in the interior under Chipperfield's direction
during the CCC days. New parks and recreational
areas were created, and a concerted effort was made
to save the nation’s shoreline for the future. As heads
of the departments most concerned with conservation,
Kennedy chose Orville Freeman as secretary of agri-
culture and Stewart Udall as secretary of the interior.
Both were capable in their respective fields. Udall
brought to the administration of his department much
of the energy that had characterized Harold Ickes, but
without Ickes’s irrascibility.

McArdle continued as chief of the Forest Service
until 1962, when he resigned. He will rank as one of the
best chiefs—Arthur Greeley thought him the greatest.
Secretary Freeman chose as his successor Edward P.
Cliff, who had been assistant chief in charge of na-
tional forest resource management. Cliff, who had thir-
ty-two years of service at the time he was appointed,
was a native of Utah and had served in the Pacific
Northwest, Colorado, and his home state before going
to Washington. Some of his achievements included
helping to write, pass, and implement the Multiple Use
Act; aiding in Operation Outdoors, recreational plan-
ning for vastly increased use of national forests; and in-
creasing the cut on the national forests from 4.5 to 8.5
billion feet.®



State of the Region, 1953

In the years 1953-1954, Alaska underwent strik-
ing changes. This brief period marked a shift from an
extensive to an intensive type of management. In no re-
gion of the Forest Service did the change occur so
dramatically.

In 1953 B. Frank Heintzleman resigned as regional
forester to become governor of Alaska. Appointed by
President Eisenhower, he was something of a compro-
mise candidate among the several factions of Alaskan
Republicans. His credentials were impeccable—he
was conservative from the businessman's viewpoint,
devoted to the interests of Alaska, and well known from
his long Forest Service tenure in the territory. No ap-
praisal of his work as governor has been published, but
throughout his four-year term he remained a staunch
friend of the Forest Service and aided the officers in
their work. At about the same time, Charles Burdick,
who had been Heintzleman’s right-hand man, retired.
W. A. Chipperfield became head of lands in the terri-
torial government. A new team of men came into the Ju-
neau Office in the persons of Arthur Greeley, John
Emerson, and W. Howard Johnson. Assistant Chief
E. W. Loveridge wrote:

They will appreciate that this office now knows
about the tough tightening up, as well as for-
ward looking job they have inherited—follow-
ing the extremely poor administrations of more
than 25 years of Heintzleman and Flory—with-
out belittling Heintzleman’s other accomplish-
ments. The report cries out clearly that the
region is on the verge of passing from a cus-
todial stage to one of active management.’

A survey of the area, at the eve of this transition,
may aid in pointing out its accomplishments. In south-
eastern Alaska, large-scale timber production was on
the verge of getting under way. The Ketchikan Spruce
Mills had enlarged its plant and production. The Ket-
chikan pulp sale had been completed, and the mill was
under construction by fall of 1953. The Japanese plant
at Sitka was in the planning stage, and there was talk
of setting up a mill at Wrangell to ship hemlock cants to
Japan. In addition, there were other sawmill and pulp
interests looking over the Juneau area as a site of
operation, Debate had begun over how many pulp mills
could be established in southeastern Alaska. Ray Tay-
lor claimed that the territory could not support five
pulp mills, as Heintzleman had originally estimated.

Much attention was given the question of side ef-
fects from the pulp mill operations. Heintzleman had
worked closely with research agencies and the Alaska
Water Pollution Board to get satisfactory conditions of
water purity. The problem was not so great in Alaskan

waters—with twelve to twenty-four-foot tides—as it
was in lakes or estuaries of the states.?

Raymond Taylor, meanwhile, also worked on re-
search at Hollis. By 1953 he had located on a wanigan,
built on a scow. He busied himself on a variety of proj-
ects, but silviculture and the effects of logging on salm-
on runs had the highest priority. Criticisms had been
made that the large pulp sales, with clearcut logging,
would injure the salmon runs. So Taylor and his crew
set out to find the answers, working in cooperation
with the University of Washington and the Bureau of
Fisheries. They found that logging had no discernible
effect on the spawning of salmon. Barriers formed by
debris were easily bypassed. Since the streams came
from the snowy heights, the water temperature was not
raised materially by clearcutting, and viscosity re-
mained low. The studies had been started in 1949; by
1953 Taylor had a body of information on which the
Forest Service could act. Regrettably, the results of his
studies were not widely circulated, and questions con-
tinued to be raised as to the damage done by clearcuts.?®

Amenity values had not been neglected. Tentative
cutting arrangements had been made to protect views
along steamer lanes. The work of the CCC had been
largely in recreational development, and the existing
facilities were ample to satisfy existing needs. W. A.
Chipperfield, as head of recreational planning, had de-
veloped several other areas, particularly around the
cities—Totem Bight at Ketchikan, picnic areas at
Wrangell and Petersburg, and Auke Village at Juneau.
Studies had been made of lands to be reserved as
scenic and primitive areas.

In the Chugach National Forest a number of small
mills were in operation. These included a small mill at
Seward, using timber from the national forest, and one
at Whittier, an army base, using timber floated in from
Prince William Sound. The Valley Lumber Company
had a small operation on Afognak Island and shipped
the lumber to Kodiak. This operation was unique in
that the Forest Service did not get to Afognak more
than once a year by boat; it accepted the mill records
as scale. The sale, however, was carefully laid out and
cruised.

In the Kenai, new highways from Anchorage to
Seward and to Homer had opened up the peninsula.
Though the roads were rough, people could use them
for access to recreational areas. There were as yet few
Forest Service facilities aside from a few picnic
grounds. There were numerous five-acre plots taken up
under the Small Tracts Act, and there was a townsite
elimination at Moose Pass. There were also numerous
mining claims that were actually used for summer
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homes. Chipperfield had laid out some good, well-de-
signed summer home locations on Quartz Creek, with
large lots and plenty of elbowroom, as well as concern
for aesthetic values. Fire was the main problem. In
1947, 400,000 acres on the edge of the national forest in
the Moose Range had burned; the fires were set by
road construction crews. In the forest itself the main
offender was the Alaska Railroad, which had nothing
but disdain for fire protection measures. Coal-burning
locomotives were the main problem.

In the Cordova area use centered around the
numerous shanties or hunting camps in the Copper
River flats, one of the greatest wildfowl nesting and
feeding grounds in the nation. The camps were on na-
tional forest land, and many users had only squatters’
rights. The military airport in Cordova had been put to
civilian use, and a road was pushed out to the airport
and beyond, built on the old roadbed of the C.R.&N.W.
Railway. Travel was a major factor. Clyde Maycock,

supervisor for the Prince William Sound Division, not
only had to cover his own area but scale at the Whittier
mill and make periodic trips to Afognak Island as well.
The Chugach, an old but reliable wooden boat, was
used for travel from Cordova to the outlying areas. It
was the most isolated and least used of the districts.

In a letter to Chief McArdle, written just before he
resigned to become governor, Heintzleman mentioned
some of the main problems of Alaska. Stands in the
past had been highgraded, he said, and the pulp mills
would aid in the increased utilization of hemlock. Cut-
ting rules along steamer lanes had been established. A
major need in administration was finance—more ven-
ture capital must be attracted into the area. Indian
claims on the Tongass and mining claims in the Kenai
remained problems. In a separate set of recommenda-
tions on the Cordova area, Heintzleman advised that
scattered claims be consolidated into a few localities.!

Administration

There are many paradoxes in the history of the
Forest Service as seen from a regional basis. In the
Service as a whole, the period from 1953 to 1956 was
one of trial. In Region 10, on the other hand, these were
years of fulfillment in which the dreams of past forest-
ers were realized and to which the problems of modern
times had not yet come.

With Heintzleman's resignation, a new adminis-
trative team came to the Juneau Office. Arthur W.
Greeley was appointed regional forester. Forty-one
years of age at that time, he had been born in Washing-
ton, D.C., the son of former Chief W. B. Greeley. In phy-
sical appearance he resembled his father very much.
He had served as ranger, timber sale assistant, assis-
tant supervisor, and as forest supervisor in Montana,
Idaho, and California. With him as assistant regional
forester in charge of administrative management and
engineering came John L. Emerson. He had been a
supervisor on the St. Joe National Forest in Idaho and
had served as an assistant to the Department of Agri-
culture representative on the Columbia Basin Commis-
sion. William H. Johnson, formerly supervisor of the
Snoqualmie National Forest in Washington, became as-
sistant regional forester for forest resources. Not one
of these men had ever served in a regional office. In ad-
dition, a new fiscal agent came with them, Theodore
Rollins.

The Greeley administration was marked by major
administrative changes. The Alaska Region had been
undermanned, having, in 1953, a smaller staff than
that of the Snoqualmie National Forest. The men were
hired to meet the shortage. The old divisional system of
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administration, set up years before by E. W, Loveridge,
was changed in 1956 to a standard Forest Region orga-
nization. In the north, Malcolm E. Hardy, who had been
a ranger at Petersburg, was made supervisor of the
Chugach National Forest, with headquarters at An-
chorage. He rented office space over the Malemute
Saloon. Because of the light work load in the Chugach,
he did a great deal of field as well as office work. Cor-
dova and Seward were made ranger districts, and
Afognak Island was attached to the Anchorage office
for administrative purposes instead of to Cordova. Boat
transportation was found to be inefficient, so charter
planes were used to transport men.'

In the south, two supervisor divisions were estab-
lished in the Tongass, the North Tongass and the South
Tongass. The northern area was under Clare M. Arm-
strong at Juneau, the southern under C. M. Archbold
at Ketchikan. Greeley found costs higher for plane
travel than for boats; therefore, new boats were
bought for the southern district to take care of pulp
sales. The W. A. Langille and W. E. Weigle were pur-
chased in 1954; they were thirty-eight-foot vessels,
sleeping four. Another vessel, the Almeta was bought;
the Maybeso, a forty-two-foot diesel boat, replaced the
Ranger 6. The Ranger 9 was given an overhaul.”

Ray Taylor had helped to compile figures for the
Timber Resource Review, but the estimates in Alaska
had been made on the basis of incomplete data. A more
complete timber inventory was needed, both to deter-
mine the number of pulp mills the region could use and
for management purposes. In 1948 the Navy had com-
pleted an aerial survey of southeastern Alaska, and the
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Another aspect of the Japanese development was
concern about water pollution. It had received priority
before, but the sensitivity of the Forest Service and oth-
ers was more acute because of the foreign ownership.
Agencies of the state and federal governments studied
the effects of the plant. The University of Washington
Oceanographic Laboratory made studies, gathering
data on both high and low water conditions during the
year. These studies were the basis of subsequent ap-
proval of the Alaska Water Pollution Board. They were
the most comprehensive studies of receiving waters
made up to that time."

In August 1955 the Georgia-Pacific Corporation
made a successful bid for 7.5 billion feet for pulp manu-
facture, most of the timber being on Admiralty Island.
The sale, however, was not completed. The company
failed to comply with regard to the full obligation,
asked for delays, and finally dropped the project, for-
feiting a $100,000 deposit made in 1961. There were a
number of factors involved, including its decision to
build another mill at Toledo, Oregon.?

Small mills continued operations during this time.
One-eighth of the timber cut on the Ketchikan Pulp
Company sale was cedar. There was no local market
for cedar, so a small mill was set up at Ketchikan to
manufacture lumber for export to the states. The small
mill at Yakutat continued its operations, based on rail-
road logging. In the birch timber district near Anchor-
age, where John Ballaine had once entertained dreams,
a small mill was finally established.

In September 1965 the Forest Service advertised
8.75 billion feet of timber for sale, with provisions that
a pulp mill be constructed by July 1971. For the first
time, a number of large paper producers were interest-
ed in the area, including the Weyerhaeuser Company,
St. Regis Paper Company, MacMillan Bloedel, the Cana-
dian giant, and other firms. St. Regis, which bid $5.60
per thousand with plans to cut 175 million feet per

year, was the winner. St. Regis spent 1966 examining
the area and layout of tentative road locations. It ex-
amined various plant sites and selected one near Sitka.

The St. Regis sale fell through, however, for a vari-
ety of reasons. These included the costs of labor, trans-
portation, and building the plant. The company forfeit-
ed its bond and gave up the sale. In 1968 the sale was
offered to the second bidder, U.S. Plywood-Champion
Papers, Inc., and was accepted on the same terms. This
sale was noteworthy for the fact that the company
hired an advisory commission of eminent scientists to
give it advice on avoiding damage to the environment.
It was the first time industry had appointed such a
committee to advise it on ecological matters. The com-
pany picked out a plant site at Katlian Bay, near Sitka,
but the site was rejected on ecological grounds. Then
construction of a plant at Echo Cove, north of Juneau,
was delayed by the Sierra Club suit, a subject that will
be considered later.”

Logging techniques in Alaska had progressed from
primitive handlogging to sophisticated tractor and
cable methods. In the late 1960s experimentation was
begun on balloon logging, using techniques developed
in British Columbia and in Oregon by Bohemia Lumber
Company. During the summer of 1968, Regional Forest-
er Johnson spent eight days by boat and plane examin-
ing balloon logging shows in the South Tongass. In No-
vember 1970 the fieldwork was completed, and it was
determined that balloon logging was a feasible tech-
nique for Alaska. It allows the logger to reach back
4,000 feet to previously inaccessible stands on high
slopes. In addition to making more timber available, it
reduces the impact of logging on the soil. Study was
also made during this period of converting plant
residues to chips for sale to pulp plants. Another tech-
nique studied was moving chips from the field to the
mill or onto barges using pipelines and water pressure.?

Research and Cooperation

Raymond Taylor continued to push studies at the
Alaska Forest Research Center in Juneau. He estab-
lished field headquarters on a wanigan at Hollis, log-
ging camp of the Ketchikan Pulp Company. After two
years he was able to secure transportation in the
Maybeso, a forty-two-foot boat with galley and shower,
sleeping four and making a top speed of nine knots. It
was ideal for his purposes. Harold E. Andersen, for-
merly of the Prince William Sound Division, and Rich-
ard M. Goodman, formerly from the Northeastern
Forest Experiment Station, were hired as assistants,
with Elizabeth A. Corey as secretary.

Taylor’s early work related to pulp mill opera-
tions. He developed accurate long-log volume tables for
scaling at the mill. Since the first cuttings of the Ketchi-

kan Pulp Company were at Hollis, he was able to have
silvicultural and mensuration studies conducted on the
spot. He carried on yearly studies of the effect of log-
ging on the salmon runs. In some of this work he had
the cooperation of the Fisheries Research Institute of
Seattle, the Geological Survey, and the Fish and Wild-
life Service. He worked with the Forest Survey in the
1950s, studying old plats and aiding in interpretation of
the photographs on which the Forest Service based its
estimates. He carried on research in entomology and
pathology. During the years 1948-1955, there was dam-
age done by the blackheaded budworm and the hem-
lock sawfly, causing a loss of 268 million feet. He also
studied the occurrence of spruce bark beetle on Kos-
ciusko Island.?
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In 1957 the studies were extended into the interi-
or. Taylor traveled to Anchorage to meet Roger Robin-
son, the Alaskan head of the Bureau of Land Manage-
ment. Robinson had gone to Alaska from the Forest
Service when the BLM absorbed the General Land Of-
fice and the Alaska Fire Control Service. Robinson
faced a discouraging task. Although, on Heintzleman's
advice, the Department of the Interior had set up a fire
control office in Alaska in 1939, the appropriations
were pitifully small. From 1939 to 1942, CCC labor had
aided in combating fire, but the war put an end to the
CCC. In 1947 Congress failed completely to appropriate
funds for fire control on the BLM lands in Alaska. That
year was marked by a disastrous 400,000-acre fire on
the Kenai Moose Range that swept up to the border of
the Chugach National Forest. In 1957 fires destroyed
timber worth $15 million and many acres of wildlife
and wildfowl habitat.

Robinson was curious about the effects of fire on
the ecology because of its destruction of trees, reindeer
moss, swamp vegetation, and game habitat. He trav-
eled with Taylor around Alaska, and both became in-
terested in the ways in which fire affected the ecologi-
cal succession of plants and the subsequent effects on
animal life. Robinson felt that knowledge of this kind
would be a good selling point to people in his campaign
for fire prevention. He felt that a study conducted from
outside the Bureau of Land Management would be par-
ticularly valuable. Taylor suggested Harold Lutz of
Yale as the best man. Lutz had previously conducted
studies of plant succession in New Jersey, and he had
worked in Alaska. Funds were raised and Lutz took
summer leave from Yale to make a series of studies. He
traveled about the country in a truck, sometimes with
Taylor and sometimes alone. It was an enjoyable time
for both men. Lutz was the best of camp companions
and was fascinated with the work, so much so that,
even though they were working in bear country, he
would frequently become preoccupied, lean the rifle
against a tree, and only hours later remember to go
back and recover it. Taylor had ample opportunity to
gratify his keen interest in nature and in human
nature.*

Since the 1920s, there had been periodic ship-
ments of seed from Alaska to Iceland. Conditions of cli-
mate and soil were such that the Icelandic government
felt that plantings of birch, spruce, and hemlock from
Alaska might be used in afforestation projects. After
World War I, the forestry branch of the Food and Agri-
culture Organization became interested in the project.
Taylor was invited to go to Iceland under FAO sponsor-
ship; he made the trip, examined plantations, and later
gave a paper in Rome on the project.

In 1959 Taylor retired from the research center
management. He was another of those men who con-
tributed much to the course of Alaskan forestry in the

area of research. An able, humorous, talented, and oc-
casionally sardonic realist, he helped bridge the gap
between the old and new eras in Alaska.

After an interim appointment, Taylor was suc-
ceeded by Richard M. Hurd, who served from 1961 to
1970. The center became the Northern Forest Experi-
ment Station between 1961 and 1967. Hurd's major
achievement was establishing a branch of the experi-
ment station for the study of the interior forests. The
major decision involved was whether to establish it on
the administrative site of the BLM or on the campus of
the University of Alaska. He finally decided on the
University of Alaska in order that researchers might be
a part of the academic community. In the southeast
there was continued study of regeneration of clearcuts,
soil erosion on logged areas, and the like.

Under Hurd's management there was increasing
research on fisheries. A fisheries biologist was added
to the staff of the station in cooperation with the Alas-
ka Department of Fish and Game, and the habitat of
fish streams was improved. One of Hanson's achieve-
ments as regional forester was the development of a
gravel-cleaning machine (riffle sifter), a device that
travels up the streambed to clear sediment from the
gravel, thus improving the fish spawning grounds.
Road locations were carefully planned to minimize the
washing of sediment into salmon spawning streams.?

Cooperation among government agencies was an
old story in Alaska, and it continued during this period.
It involved Forest Service cooperation with the BLM in
fire control on the public domain, particularly in the
Kenai. It also involved cooperative work with the Bu-
reau of Public Roads and Fish and Wildlife Service.
The National Park Service and the Forest Service con-
tinued their cooperation, particularly in regard to Gla-
cier Bay National Monument, and the planning of rec-
reational or wilderness areas. New dimensions of coop-
eration were entered into, however, when Alaska be-
came a state.

Statehood involved both conflict and cooperation.
Alaska state government got into the business of forest
management and recreational use. The story of the
state government’s forest and recreational policy from
1959 to the present would make a book in itself. How-
ever, the part played by the Forest Service in aiding the
development of this policy should be mentioned.

The Alaska State Constitution provided for the use
and maintenance of renewable natural resources ‘‘on
the sustained yield principle, subject to preference
among beneficial uses.” It involved the Forest Service
principles, therefore, of sustained yield and multiple
use. A Department of Natural Resources was set up in
1959. Under it was established a Division of Lands,
which in turn supervised the state forester and the
state parks and recreation officer.”
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The state had the right to select 102.5 million
acres under the General Statehood Act, 1 million acres
under the Mental Health Grant, 400,000 acres from na-
tional forests for community expansion and recreation-
al use, 400,000 acres from the public domain for these
purposes, 100,000 acres for the benefit of the Univer-
sity of Alaska, and about 108,000 acres for school land
from surveyed areas. This area was to be selected
within twenty-five years, which meant an area about
the size of Rhode Island every two months.”

Cooperation with the Forest Service came under
three headings. First was the technical advice, which
involved a wide variety of activities. Clarke-McNary
aid and fire control were given to Alaska for fire pro-
tection as early as 1961. For its fire prevention and
suppression program, the state relied heavily on an
agreement with the BLM, which had a protective orga-
nization, paying it an assessment per acre for suppres-
sion, detection, and presuppression costs. The Forest
Service set up the Forestry Sciences Laboratory at the
University of Alaska to study forest conditions in the in-
terior on a continuing basis. It aided in making the
state's forest inventory in the Susitna Valley, the lower
Tanana Valley, the Haines area, and on islands near
Kodiak. Forest Service personnel conducted classes in
log grading in the Susitna Valley. The Bonanza Creek
Experimental Forest of 8,000 acres was set up under
Forest Service direction near Fairbanks.? The state
also obtained aid from the Forest Products Laboratory
for hardwood grading and mill efficiency at Wasilla,
for use of small logs for veneer, and the seasoning of
paper birch to avoid checking.

Recognizing the need for coordinated planning for
recreation, State Forester Earl Plourde took the initia-
tive in organizing the Alaska Outdoor Recreation Coun-
cil. Its membership consisted of the state departments
dealing with natural resources, including the Depart-
ments of Natural Resources, Economic Development
and Planning, and Fish and Game, the University of
Alaska, and representatives of the various boroughs;
along with federal agencies involved: the Forest Ser-
vice; National Park Service; Bureau of Indian Affairs;
Bureau of Reclamation; Bureau of Land Management;
and Bureau of Outdoor Recreation. Beginning in 1964
the council had periodic meetings to discuss matters of
common interest: the Wilderness Act; efforts of the
BLM and the Forest Service to classify their lands; and
the development of a state park system. The Alaska
Outdoor Recreation Council was essentially a planning
and a coordinating group for all federal and state agen-
cies concerned with outdoor recreation, and it acted to
lessen friction among the participating bodies.” Its
reports are of great value for sketching progress
toward a coordinated recreational development of the
area.

148

Other aspects of state and governmental agency
relations have been less harmonious. To some extent
this had included the drive for development. Discovery
of oil in the Kenai National Moose Range led to sugges-
tions by Senator Ernest Gruening that the moose range
and the Chugach National Forest be returned to the
public domain. The more recent claim of the state to
400,000 acres of national forest land has led to
difficulties.

State selection lands were for the purpose of com-
munity development and recreation. However, the state
and the Forest Service did not see eye to eye on justifi-
cation of the areas, and the Forest Service made its
own recommendations and analyses. The procedure
followed for transfer of land to the state was by recom-
mendation of areas, survey by the BLM, and transfer of
title to the state for use or disposal. The state continued
its selection of lands largely on the public domain until
1968, when Secretary of the Interior Stewart Udall put
a freeze on further selections pending settlement of Na-
tive claims.

Native claims, a burning issue on the national for-
ests since the 1930s, came closer to settlement. In Jan-
uary 1968 Governor Walter Hickel established a
Native Land Claim Task Force with representatives of
all ethnic subgroups. They met with members of the
Forest Service and BLM and developed a legislative
proposal to meet native needs. About the same time, a
Federal Field Committee for Development Planning for
Alaska studied the matter, and in Alaska Natives and
the Lands produced a comprehensive socio-economic
report. Bills on Native claims were introduced in Con-
gress in 1969 and again in 1970. Senate Bill 1830 was
passed in midsummer 1970; it provided for a payment
of $500 million and 10.5 million acres of land to settle
Native Claims. Action was not taken in the House. Ap-
plied to the national forests, the formula was one town-
ship to each Native village. There were nine such vil-
lages in the Tongass and one in the Chugach, though
one was too small to qualify. Ironically, in 1968 the
Court of Claims had made a settlement of the Haida-
Tlingit claim on the Tongass; it created a curious legal
problem as to whether the court judgment or the pro-
posed congressional legislation were valid.*



Totem Poles, Amenities,
Recreation, and Wilderness

Interest in preserving Indian antiquities in the
Alaska region has had a long history. As early as 1888,
Ensign Albert Parker Niblack of the U.S. Navy had
recommended preservation of the Indian antiquities.
Governor John Green Brady had been interested in set-
ting up a park for their preservation, and W. A. Lan-
gille had succeeded under the Antiquities Act of 1906
in getting preservation of one village, Old Kasaan, as a
national monument and in giving the totem pole park in
Sitka protection under the same act. During the CCC
days, Heintzleman, Flory, Linn Forrest, Viola Garfield,
A. W. Blackerby, and others had succeeded in restoring
and creating replicas of a larger number of poles.*

Totem pole work had been a function of the CCC,
largely using Native labor. The CCC was phased out
during the war, however, and activity in regard to the
totems ceased. The Park Service had no boat to police
Old Kasaan or to carry on maintenance, so it was
phased out as a national monument in 1954. Regional
Forester Greeley felt that some protection should be
given to the site, so in 1964 he proclaimed it a historic
site, under Forest Service protection. In other areas,
however, existing poles were left to the elements. The
poles were private property with ownership resting in
the individual or the village;.the Forest Service had no
jurisdiction over them nor funds to take on the task of
totem pole preservation or restoration.

In 1946 an art historian and writer, Katherine
Kuh, made a confidential report on the totems for the
Bureau of Indian Affairs. The report was both critical
and ill-informed. Kuh was highly critical of the CCC for
carving new poles; because of the ‘‘native conviction
that copies can replace originals,’’ she wrote, ‘‘much of
the greatest Indian art of Southeastern Alaska has
been totally destroyed or lost.”” She reported inac-
curately that the Forest Service had no archaeologist
or trained museum technicians to advise and direct the
preparation of totems for rehabilitation and restora-
tion. The Forest Service, she declared, had been guilty
of scandalous neglect at Mud Bight, where poles had
been left to the mercy of the elements. Meanwhile, the
CCC work had not been continued, and at Hoonah a fire
had destroyed a house and its contents. She recom-
mended that the National Park Service control the
totem parks and that archaeological aid be used in
restoration work.®

During a twenty-year period, little new work was
done. Carl W. Heinmiller of the Alaska Indian Arts
Council kept up an interest in totem restoration work.
Linn Forrest continued his interest in Indian legends.
There were some attempts to purchase poles from indi-
viduals in the states, but the Forest Service itself had

no authority to deal with such requests and referred
the questions to the Alaska Native Sisterhood (ANS)
and the Alaska Native Brotherhood (ANB). The Coast
Guard, denied permission to buy a pole, stole one for its
establishment. In 1960 the poles located in villages
were classified in the National Forest Recreation
Survey as historical or archaeological sites.*

In 1966, Katherine Kuh wrote an article in the
Saturday Review, a national magazine of literature and
the arts. Like her 1946 report, it was sensational and
inaccurate. She dealt with the neglect and loss of Na-
tive art in Alaska. Destruction, she said, came from the
climate, from fire, and from governmental neglect. All
governmental agencies were attacked. She described
the abandonment of Old Kasaan as a national monu-
ment and reported that no one in the National Park
Service in Juneau could explain, or indeed, had ever
heard of Old Kasaan. As for the Forest Service:

Some twenty-odd years ago, the Forest Service,

without benefit of archeological or anthropo-

logical advice, instituted a program in which
the local Civilian Conservation Corps undertook

to rehabilitate—but, alas, more often to dis-

member or copy—old poles in Ketchikan, Wran-

gell, Sitka, Kasaan, Klawock and Hydaburg.*
No official reply was made to the Saturday Review,
though Regional Forester Johnson explained the situa-
tion in a letter to the chief forester.*

Despite its inaccuracies, the article brought ac-
tion. The wife of Secretary of the Interior Udall read
the article and called it to her husband’s attention.
George Hall of the National Park Service was brought
into the picture. In Alaska the state legislature had
passed an act dealing with artifacts and archaeo-
logical sites, essentially extending the same protection
to such sites on state lands that the Antiquities Act of -
1906 extended to antiquities located on federal land.”
The result of all this was a Conference of Southeast
Alaska Artifacts and Monuments held in Juneau on July
13-14, 1967. The meeting included representatives from
the Universities of Alaska, California, and British Col-
umbia, the National Park Service, the Alaska State
Museum, the Alaska Native Brotherhood, Alaska In-
dian Arts, and the U.S. Forest Service. C. T. Brown of
the regional forester’s staff and Jack C. Culbreath of In-
formation & Education represented the Forest Service.
Their councils were somewhat divided. As Carl Hein-
miller wrote to Brown, the arts and craft group wanted
restoration as a minimum, the Bureau of Indian Affairs
was not for anything unless it could do it, and the ar-
chaeologists were not for restoration on the site or for
reproduction. The Forest Service explained the terms
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of the Antiquities Act, giving the Department of Agricul-
ture responsibility for protection of the poles and site.
Another factor was that the poles were considered by
the Forest Service to be private property, not to be re-
moved or reconstructed without consent of the owners.*

A series of meetings was held, with Jane Wallen

of the Alaska State Museum and Erna Gunther of the
University of Alaska as moving spirits. An inventory of
the remaining poles was taken by the Forest Service
and the Alaska State Museum, and in 1970 a project
was funded for removal of the better poles from isolat-
ed villages or sites and for their preservation.”

Amenity Values—Steamship Lanes

A major problem, growing more difficult as time
progressed, was that of preserving scenic or aesthetic
values and reconciling them with economic use. Since
the controversy is a continuing one, some background
on Forest Service policy may be useful.

Forest Service regulation of cutting near roads for
aesthetic purposes began in 1906 when George Cecil
adopted such practices on Forest Service roads near
Yellowstone Park. Under Henry S. Graves and William
Greeley formal regulations were adopted, applicable to
all regions, to preserve the recreational and scenic
values along roads. These included leaving a scenic
strip of timber along the roads to keep unsightly struc-
tures or disturbances such as borrow pits from the
sight of travelers, and having permittees build their
houses or garages back from the road behind a tree
screen. On the forest highways under their jurisdic-
tion, the Forest Service enforced such regulations.*

The steamer lanes created a new problem. Clear-
cutting is silviculturally the best method of harvesting
timber on the Tongass. But the relief of the Alexander
Archipelago is rugged, and cutting areas are visible for
long distances. The cuttings met with adverse comment
from travelers. (At the same time, clearcuts in the
states also met with increasingly adverse criticism be-
cause of increased recreational travel off the beaten
path, and logging shows at higher elevations were often
visible from the lowlands.)* Heintzleman set up cutting
regulations for the steamer lanes; these called for no
clearcuts along lanes 1,000 yards or less wide and for
special treatment for those lanes more than 1,000
yards but less than two and one-half miles wide.
Heintzleman's recommendations were refined by
Greeley in 1954 and by Hanson in 1958.*

The policy, however, did not do all that it was in-
tended. As tourism increased, clearcutting areas met
increased criticism from the travelers. Part of it came
from mistaking large blowdowns, such as the one in
1968, for destructive logging. Part stemmed from ig-
norance; people who know nothing of logging practices
tend to equate clearcutting with strip-mining. There
were also many sensational and usually inaccurate ar-
ticles and letters to the editor in such diverse publica-
tions as Field and Stream, Sierra Club Bulletin, and
American Forests.®
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A major factor here, as in other national forests,
was the failure of the Forest Service to adopt an inter-
pretive program appropriate to the changing American
society—urbanized, with leisure time for recreation,
and conditioned to the ‘‘hard sell.” In an earlier age
the Forest Service had displayed great skill in working
with local and regional advisory groups, both recrea-
tional and economic. Gifford Pinchot, for example, was
an able public relations man; the CCC work of the
1930s had a good press; and publicists like Bernard De
Voto, Richard Neuberger, and Arthur Carhart kept the
accomplishments of the Service in the public eye dur-
ing the early 1950s. As time went on, however, the For-
est Service failed to publicize its aims or best accom-
plishments, such as the silvicultural benefits of clear-
cutting or Taylor’s studies of logging and fish culture in
Alaska. Not until 1961 did the agency adopt an inter-
pretive service similar to that of the National Park
Service. The delay was unfortunate.

By 1968 the Forest Service in Alaska took correc-
tive action. Under D. Robert Hakala, a Forest Service
naturalist who had had experience with the National
Park Service, plans were made to introduce an inter-
pretive program on the Alaskan ferries similar to that
used by the National Park Service in its aquatic parks.
The program was worked out in cooperation with the
state of Alaska and the Alaska Ferry System. Forest
Service information desks were set up, in the forward
lounges of the vessels; seasonal employees, fresh from
training sessions, give descriptive lectures and slide
shows, interpreting the changing scenes to the visitors.
The program has been highly successful and should do
much to interpret the forest to the visitor.*

There were other ventures in interpretation and
visitor amenities. Under Percy Hanson, a well-designed
visitor center was established at Mendenhall Glacier.
Nature trails were built and interpretive talks given.
Assistant Regional Forester Johnson, on his first trip to
the Chugach, was impressed by the possibilities of a
similar program at Portage Glacier. A road was
punched in to the area and an interpretive center was
later set up. Both sites were highly popular with the
public.®

Since 1957 a large amount of money has been
spent in planning and building recreational facilities.
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Two major study programs—Operation Outdoors, de-
signed to restore facilities that had deteriorated from
age or overuse, and the National Forest Recreational
Fund, based on studies and estimates made to the year
2000—were both carried on in Alaska. In the Kenai
new campgrounds were built and old ones restored.
Some facilities damaged by the 1964 earthquake were
restored. Under Forest Service permit, lodges were
built in the forest and some ski tows were constructed.

On the Tongass National Forest, campgrounds
were built near the cities; the campground near Men-
denhall Glacier was especially outstanding. Because of
the inclement weather in the area, however, cabins
were built on inland lakes and near harbors. There
was some experimentation with three-sided Adiron-
dack shelters, but there were not suitable and were re-
placed by four-sided cabins or A-frame shelters. With
increased demand, reservations for the use of the
cabins was required and a small fee charged. Access
to the cabins was by boat or plane; trails were still
relatively few.

Road building involved a number of factors, some
unique to Alaska. Forest Service standards in forest
highways were maintained. The Forest Service was
aware, however, of the increased popularity of motor
camping and the desire of campers to be able to go
from place to place for sight-seeing, sports, and recrea-
tion. The lack of roads near the communities made op-
portunities limited. During Hanson's administration
studies were made regarding the building of a series of
integrated forest roads in southeastern Alaska to con-
nect with state highways and ferry routes. They would
involve roads used initially for timber access but would
later link communities and be part of the highway sys-
tem. Over the years, Hanson, C. T. Brown, G. W. Van
Gilst, R. O. Rehfeld, and Vince Olson worked over the
plans.

The plan as finally developed involved upgrading
timber access roads to meet higher standards than
were customary. It involved planned timber harvest,
roadside protection, connection with towns and Native
villages, and docks from which ferries could carry
tourists from island to island. It also involved the con-
struction of trails to recreational areas and the plan-
ning of campgrounds. The road system would extend
north from Ketchikan along the west side of Prince of
Wales Island, through Kupreanof Island, along the
west coast of Admiralty Island, and on the west side of
the Lynn Canal to Haines.%

Recreation is related to game management, which
came to be of increased importance in the region. Be-
fore statehood the Forest Service cooperated with the
Alaska Game Commission, the Biological Survey, and
its successor, the Fish and Wildlife Service. With state-
hood the Forest Service became increasingly involved
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with state officials in game management and its rela-
tion to timber harvest. Agreements were made for joint
cooperation of the Forest Service, the Fish and Wildlife
Service, and the state of Alaska in the management of
the great wildfowl breeding grounds on the Copper River
Flats and the delta of the Stikine River. The elk herd of
Afognak, planted there in 1929, came to be of increas-
ing interest to sportsmen. The Forest Service built
trails and cabins in the area for the convenience of
hunters. Moose were transplanted into the Copper
River country, and the herd flourished. Here, transpor-
tation was largely by air, using the commercial airfield.
In the Yakutat area, P. D. Hanson became intensely in-
terested in the management of the moose herd. He con-
ducted a study, using planes and helicopters, and found
that the moose harvest should be increased because of
overgrazing. The Forest Service built a number of small
landing strips for the convenience of charter planes
carrying hunters, as well as some cabins and trails.*

During Heintzleman's administration there was
considerable discussion over natural areas and wilder-
ness areas. With the administrations of Greeley, Han-
son, and Johnson came concern for multiple-use man-
agement. Before going out of office, Heintzleman re-
ceived suggestions from Ray Taylor and Charles For-
ward on potential natural areas, including central
Prince of Wales Island, Whipple Creek, Limestone In-
let, Hilda Creek, and several areas on the public do-
main. Limestone Inlet, Old Tom Creek, and Rock Creek
were established in 1951, under regulation U-4,
through Taylor's recommendation. By 1957 a series of
other areas had been created or were under considera-
tion, including Excursion Islet, Esther Island, Bell Is-
land, Manzanita Bay, Telegraph Creek, Lake Shelokom,
Taku River, and the Juneau Ice Field. Between 1964 and
1970 a large number of these areas were reserved
under the multiple-use district plans.*

Consideration also grew for reservation of wilder-
ness areas. As has already been noted, Heintzleman's
administration gave protection to the Tracy Arm and
Fords Terror area. There was also consideration of
the College Fiord area on the Chugach. During the ad-
ministration of Greeley, there was continued corre-
spondence on these as, well as the Walker Cove-
Rudyerd Bay area near Ketchikan.*

With the passage of the Wilderness Act of 1964,
there were renewed efforts to set up wilderness study
areas.”® Johnson had discussions with interested local
groups, including the Alaska Conservation Society, the
Sierra Club, and the Wilderness Society. A wilderness
workshop was held at Junesu in February 1969, in
which the objectives of the Forest Service were ex-
plained and the areas discussed. Plans were made to
prepare complete studies of the major wilderness
areas before the end of June 1970. Johnson also made a



speech to the Sierra Club in San Francisco on March
14, 1969, stating the objectives of the Forest Service in
Alaska. There he announced that the chief had ap-
proved consideration of the Nellie Juan area—700,000
acres on the west side of the Kenai Peninsula. The pro-
posal was received by the Sierra Club—by this time
somewhat at odds with the Forest Service—with a no-
table lack of enthusiasm. Other area proposals in-
cluded the Tracy Arm-Fords Terror area south of Ju-
neau, the Walker Cove-Chickamin River area, and Rus-
sell Fiord, near Yakutat. Another area was under con-
sideration at the end of the year. Vince Olson, super-
visor of the North Tongass, and R. O. Rehfeld, of the
Ketchikan office, played a large part in preparing the
plans. The areas under consideration were far larger
in extent than the areas considered at an earlier date
by Heintzleman. They would total well over 2 million
acres in areas presenting a unique relationship of
water and land beauty. They would present special
problems in management. Completion of the work
would depend on thorough field examinations of the
areas concerned, including examination by the Geo-
logical Survey as well as a search for minerals by the
Bureau of Mines.*

The chief also had under consideration a plan to
create a national recreation area in the Kenai Penin-
sula. The area considered has little value for timber
harvest, but is preeminently suited for recreation.
Management proposals for the.area were drawn up.
Another consideration was that if Congress passed a
Scenic Highway Act, the Sterling and Seward-Anchor-
age highways would come under immediate study; in
the national forest portions of these highways, there
would be special management to preserve aesthetic
qualities.*

Other matters have been more controversial. Con-
servationists in Sitka proposed that the Chichagof-
Yakobi islands area be made a wilderness. Records
show that a great deal of handlogging and mining ac-
tivity had taken place there around the turn of the cen-
tury, but, with the passage of time, the area had been
deserted. The idea was supported by articles in Nation-
al Parks Magazine and the Sierra Club Bulletin. The
chief of the Forest Service, however, rejected the plea
on the grounds that the entire proposed wilderness
was included in the sale area of the Alaska Lumber and
Pulp Company and that there were other conflicting
uses. Also, near Petersburg, a local group protested
plans of the Forest Service to build a timber access
road up Petersburg Creek to connect Petersburg with
Portage Bay on Kupreanof Island.»

Admiralty Island has been the source of almost
perpetual controversy. The controversy begun by John
Holzworth flared up during the 1950s; in 1964 the For-
est Service developed a thorough and far-reaching

plan for the island. It involved protection of the 800 to
1,000 brown bear through sanctuaries at Pack Creek
and Thayer Mountain, making population studies, and
controlling the harvest. It also involved the protection
of Sitka deer. Timber harvest was planned on the basis
of a past record of seventy to eighty years of cutting 0.5
percent of commercial timberland per year and modify-
ing previously studied clearcut areas to conform with
recreational use; the continued building of cabins was
planned for the lake area.**

Despite these plans, attacks on Forest Service poli-
cy on Admiralty were revived. Ralph Young, a Peters-
burg guide, wrote a sensational article for Field and
Stream titled “‘Last Chance for Admiralty.”” Another
article dealing with the area had as its theme the
“rape’’ of the land, in particular mistreatment of land
around Whitewater Bay. The articles were sensational
in tone and were not hampered by rigid adherence to
the facts. They stirred up national interest. The Forest
Service answered hundreds of letters on the subject
and printed many brochures, but the stories were, and
still are, widely believed.*

People writing conservation history in the future
will find much to write about Sierra Club activity dur-
ing the 1960s and 1970s. With a growing militancy in
the leadership of the club, it fought to make itself the
dominant environmental organization in the country.
There was an internal struggle for leadership, and the
more militant wing split off into a separate organiza-
tion called Friends of the Earth. One aspect of their
new approach has been litigation. A series of chal-
lenges to the multiple-use philosophy in national forests
has occurred in separate cases from California to
Michigan. These have presented new problems to the
Forest Service, accustomed since 1905 to dealing with
local and regional groups as well as local communities.
One result of the litigation has been the development of
a body of environmental laws.

Sierra Club activity was not noticeable in Alaska
until the late 1960s. The Sierra Club Bulletin had pub-
lished an article by Stewart Edward White on the bear
situation on Admiralty during the 1930s, but the club
took no active part in either the movement to create
Glacier Bay National Monument or to create a national
monument on Admiralty. Its interest in Alaska, there-
fore, has been a recent development.

In February 1970 the Sierra Club brought suit
against the Forest Service, declaring the Juneau sale to
U.S. Plywood-Champion Papers illegal. Its charge was
that the sale violated administrative procedures and
the National Environmental Policy Act of 1969. The
Sierra Club was joined by local conservationists—the
Forest Service by U.S. Plywood-Champion and the state
of Alaska.
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Epilogue: 1971-1979

The application of the conservation principle necessarily moved in different directions as
one or another problem became important.
—Gifford Pinchot, ‘'How Conservation Began
in the United States,’” Agricultural History
11 (October 1937): 264.

Perhaps the biggest organizational change during my present assignment in Alaska has
been the emphasis on bringing fisheries, wildlife, and other specialists into the organization,
Early in my assignment, I met with Governor Hammond and other state officials to propose a
special fisheries-wildlife program emphasis under the provisions of the Sikes Act and other
authorities. The governor and his key staff and the congressional delegation enthusiastically
supported this program. Forest Service Chief John McGuire and Assistant Secretary of Agricul-
ture M. Rupert Cutler also strongly supported this emphasis, and we were able to obtain addi-
tional funding and manpower ceilings to get this program emphasis underway. Thirty fishery
and wildlife biologists have been added to our planning and program staffs during the past
three years, compared to four on board in 1975. This emphasis has also had substantial public

support.

—John A. Sandor, letter to the author,
December 12, 1979

Introduction

he history of the Forest Service in Alaska during

the 1970s is one of dramatic change and heated
controversy. A series of problems, accumulating over
the years, came to culmination during this period. Alas-
ka, a peripheral area in land management over most of
its history, now became the center of national interest.
The historian finds himself confronted with masses of
contradictory and confusing data, but four themes may
be stated.

First, it was a period of strong and sometimes en-
lightened leadership on the part of both Congress and
the presidents. The legislative record of the successive
Congresses ranges from correcting deficiencies in the
Organic Act of 1897 to establishing new agencies. Pres-
idential leadership, following in the paths of John Ken-
nedy and Lyndon Johnson, was also strong, and some-
times drastic. State leadership was strong, culminating
in good legislation that furthered state-federal cooper-
ation in game management and timber management.

Second, Alaska became the proving ground for en-
vironmental law. Just as the Roosevelt-Pinchot policies

met a series of legal tests in the administrations of
Roosevelt and Wilson, so the legislation of the Kennedy,
Johnson, and Nixon eras underwent legal tests during
this era. Sierra Club v. Hardin was but the opening gun
of a series of cases and controversies, ranging from
business monopoly and environmental concern to the
interpretations of the president’s power under the An-
tiquities Act.

Third, attitudes toward federal policy and state
land policy and use reflected the growing socio-eco-
nomic changes and power structure within the state.
“Environmental’’ groups had in the previous eras been
small in number and moderate in approach. In the
period from 1968 to 1979, they burgeoned and prolif-
erated. Like those in the Lower 48, they were noisy,
often ill-informed, litigious, and hell-bent on confronta-
tion. Their tactics and sense of responsibility varied
from group to group, and they deserve intensive analy-
sis. They reflect the growing economic diversification
within the state and an increasing willingness to en-
gage in participatory democracy. A second power
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group were the Alaska Natives. The Alaska Native
Claims Settlement Act of 1971 gave Native groups both
money and land, and with this increased power, rather
than operating on a tribal basis, they organized into
corporations, which became a base for political and
economic power.

Fourth, there was some loss of power in the Forest
Service as an administrative agency, both on the na-
tional and regional levels. Under Chiefs Edward Cliff
and John McGuire, the Service had to brace itself
against numerous attacks from pressure groups like
the Sierra Club, face lawsuits attacking its basic meth-
ods of operation, and ward off interagency fights by
empire builders and ambitious politicians. In addition,
legislation stressed accountability and congressional
oversight at the expense of administrative discretion.
These struggles were carried on within the region as
well, as Charles Yates and John Sandor fought to adjust
local goals to national objectives.

Within the region there were fundamental admin-
istrative changes. Multiple use, an article of faith in
the Forest Service since its inception, gave way in
many areas to single use or dominant use. The pattern
of ownership in the Alaska national forests became di-
versified with the great land rush of the 1970s. In the
post-Civil War period in the western states and terri-
tories, there was a land rush by corporations and set-
tlers to take full advantage of a generous policy of dis-
posal of the public domain. A similar rush is now
taking place in Alaska. But the similarity is
imperfect, since the early rush was by absentee
capitalists, largely from the East, carpetbaggers bent
on getting rich and making money. The present
corporations are resident capitalists with varying
views. There is some irony in the fact that the Bering
River coalfields, first filed on by absentee capitalists
under the pernicious Alaska Power-of-Attorney Law,

are now sought by Chugach Natives. The net result of
this, and of continued state selections, will be a diversi-
fied pattern of forest ownership such as has existed in
the states since the Forest Service was established.
The new diversified ownership is both a challenge and
an opportunity. The Pacific Northwest might serve as a
model for Alaska. In the beginning the Forest Service
found the diversified ownership a source of conflict,
but District Forester E. T. Allen formed a ‘‘Triple Alli-
ance’’ of private, state, and federal timberland owner-
ship in the Pacific Northwest to work on common prob-
lems and establish a model of cooperative federalism.
Alaska may well follow the same pattern; both the state
and Native groups seem at this writing to be moving in
that direction.

Those who have followed the history of the Forest
Service through the years will perceive a variety of
ironies in the course of Alaskan forestry. Afognak Is-
land, reserved primarily as a fish and forest preserve,
became a multiple-use area after World War II. Now
much of it may go into private ownership. The mud-
banks of Controller Bay, once the scene of another con-
troversy that removed it from the national forest, are
now reserved as a refuge for the trumpeter swan. Ad-
miralty Island, conceived by the Forest Service as a
multiple-use area, and the scene of some of the bit-
terest controversies, is now a national monument. Mis-
ty Fiords National Monument, the first addition to the
southeastern Alaska national forest system, was orig-
inally proposed by Will Langille as a source of timber.
The process of scientific investigation has become
steadily institutionalized, from the early recommenda-
tions of Will Langille, applying such scientific princi-
ples to the forest as he had learned from John Gill Lem-
mon and Wilfred Osgood, through the gifted Harold
Lutz and the many-sided Raymond Taylor, to team re-
search and interdisciplinary investigation.

Personnel and Planning

Howard Johnson was succeeded as regional for-
ester by Charles A. Yates. Yates was a Californian who
had spent much of his professional career in his home
state. He began as a CCC employee (1934-1936) in the
Trinity National Forest. He attended junior college
from 1937 to 1938, then worked for the Forest Service
in the Shasta National Forest until 1941. His work was
interrupted by the war; he entered as a private in the
82nd Airborne Division, served as a paratrooper offi-
cer in the United States, England, France, Belgium, Hol-
land, and Germany, and then ended the war as a cap-
tain in 1946. He then continued his education, graduat-
ing from Oregon State University in 1948.
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From 1947 to 1971, Yates worked on a variety of
jobs in California—fire control assistant on the
Plumas, assistant ranger on the Cleveland, ranger on
the Six Rivers, fire control officer on the San Bernar-
dino, and forest supervisor on the Klamath. In 1962 he
shifted his sphere of responsibilities briefly to the
Rocky Mountain Region as assistant regional forester.
He returned to California as deputy regional forester in
1966 and came to Alaska in February 1971.!

Yates came at a time of change and turmoil. He en-
dured trial 1 and 2 of Sierra v. Hardin and other en-
vironmental suits, and he answered a series of maga-
zine articles attacking the Forest Service. He stopped
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2. The Forest and Rangeland Renewable Re-
sources Planning Act of 1974 (RPA) called for
intensive planning and direction. This was
modified and clarified with the National Forest
Management Act of 1976 (NFMA), made neces-
sary because the Monongahela decision invali-
dated part of the Organic Act of 1897. It revises
that act, focusing on land-management planing,
timber management, research, public partici-
pation in decision making, and state and local
forestry. It makes no break with the past acts,
such as the Act of 1897 or the Multiple Use-Sus-
tained Yield Act of 1960, but stresses intensive
work and review, legislative oversight on the
conduct of management, and the following of
policy guidelines. Management should involve
interdisciplinary teams to provide integrated
land-management plans and revisions to over-
all plans every fifteen years. In timber manage-
ment, “‘even flow"’ policy was affirmed by law.
In silviculture it involved emphasizing produc-
tion of sawtimber size and quality rather than
pulp, scheduling final harvests in stands that
had reached the culmination of growth, preser-
vation of a diversity of plant communities and
tree species, and preservation of wildlife habi-
tat. Clearcutting was permitted if it was the op-
timum silvicultural method and consistent with
other objectives of the act.

3. The National Environmental Policy Act of 1969
(NEPA) established the Council on Environmen-
tal Quality and provided for interdisciplinary
examination and review of any action that
might effect the natural environment. Broadly
worded and far reaching, it has served as the
basis for much litigation.

4. The Alaska Native Claims Settlement Act of
1971 (ANCSA) provided for the classification of
federal lands in interior Alaska into national
interest lands, and it settled Native claims by
giving them money and land, some of it on na-
tional forests.

5. Two acts were important in cooperation be-
tween state and the Forest Service. One state
act provided for increased cooperation be-
tween state and Forest Service in forest man-
agement and protection. The Sikes Act of 1974
provided broad authority for the states to plan
and carry out fish and wildlife management
programs on national forest lands, and to con-
trol off-road vehicle use on these lands.*

Land-management planning, under the RPA and
the NFMA, required work on four different planning
levels, each of which deals with different aspects of the
decision-making process. First was the directional
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planning level—defining Forest Service responsibili-
ties, legislative mandates, and other binding mandates.
On this level, a Southeast Alaska Guide was distribut-
ed, including sections on land management, planning
direction, land-management policies, and the RPA. Sec-
ond was the land allocation level, complying with direc-
tional decisions to define where combinations of land
use would be made available. Six interagency task
forces amassed information to determine how each of
about 800 watersheds on the Tongass should be man-
aged. Four categories of designations were applied.
This, as the first step, involved public participation and
cooperation with the University of Alaska. A tentative
plan was developed for the Chugach in 1974 and for the
Tongass by December 1978. Closely associated with
this was the RARE II examination, identifying which
areas were to be recommended for instant wilderness,
wilderness study, special management, and multiple
uses. A third level was the prescriptive level, deter-
mining how management activities were to be coordi-
nated and controlled. This involved training of interdis-
ciplinary teams and a socio-economic study to be car-
ried out with the University of Alaska. A fourth was the
implementation level, involving project plans, contract
permits, and the like.

The planning process was long and complicated,
both because of the complexity of the task and because
of the turbulent political context—state and national—
during which the task was carried out. Categories of
land were divided into four land-use designations—
LUD [, II, III, and IV. LUD I was wilderness, excluding
mining exploration (after 1983), timber harvest, water
projects, and roads, but permitting boat and air access.
LUD II was wildlands, to be managed in a roadless
state, but permitting wildlife and fisheries-habitat im-
provement and recreational facilities. LUD III would in-
volve multiple-use management, including commercial
production; and LUD IV emphasized production of com-
modity and market resources.®

Several distinct pressure groups can be identified
in relation to the land-management plans and the RARE
II program. The Alaska Loggers Association favored
multiple use of forests, with limited wilderness. Two
other groups supported them: the Citizens for Manage-
ment of Alaska Lands (CMAL) and the Organization for
Management of Alaska Resources (OMAR). CMAL was
made up mostly of resource users and businessmen;
OMER had more of the chamber-of-commerce develop-
ment type. Both supported limited wilderness and sub-
mitted alternative plans. On the side of wilderness and
nondevelopment, a variety of ‘‘environmental’’ and
‘“conservation’’ groups were active. Environmental
and conservation have become shorthand for those
favoring reservation of land for noneconomic use. The
terminology turns on its head Pinchot’s definition of



conservation as wise use.) A group in the Panhandle
formed the Southeastern Alaska Conservation Coali-
tion (SEACC), with strong support in Juneau, Sitka,
Petersburg, and Ketchikan. SEACC submitted an alter-
native plan. Other conservation groups focused their
attention on the interior and the Prince William Sound
—Cook Inlet area.t

The administration in Washington, through the
secretary of agriculture, also submitted its own alter-
natives in regard to the Alaska lands, stressing the
wilderness viewpoint. In addition, the state of Alaska

worked closely in the planning process through the De-
partment of Natural Resources and the Department of
Fish and Game. In this, as in other resource matters,
Governor Jay Hammond took a deep personal interest.

The RARE and RPA studies, however, represented
only one aspect of the land-use controversy in Alaska.
It was only one ring of a four-ring circus. Another was
the allocation of land to Alaskan Natives, still another
the national interest lands, and still another the state
interests. As time went on, Congress increasingly
played the role of ringmaster, and at times, some
thought, the clown.

Alaska Native Claims Settlement Act

The Wilderness Act and the RPA related to identi-
fication of wilderness and overall management. A sec-
ond act related to land transfer to two owners—first,
Alaskan Natives, and second, national agencies. The
story is long and complicated.

The Alaska Native Claims Settlement Act (ANCSA)
was passed on December 18, 1971. It has been subject-
ed to several amendments, and more are proposed in
1979 (at this writing). It dealt with an overall settle-
ment of land claims of Alaskan Natives, and also with
classification and allocation of the public lands of Alas-
ka. In regard to the Alaskan Natives, the act gave them
a cash payment of $962 million and some 44 million
acres of land, including 2 million acres for cemetery
and historic sites. Native corporations were set up to
manage the assets. In regard to other lands, it autho-
rized the secretary of the interior to withdraw public
lands (mostly BLM lands) to ensure that the public in-
terest be protected, and in section 17 (d) 2, withdrawal
not to exceed 80 million acres as units of Forest Serv-
ice, National Park Service, Fish and Wildlife Service
lands, or units of wild or scenic rivers. The act provid-
ed for the formation of a Joint Federal-State Land-Use-
Planning Commission, with broad powers to recom-
mend on land-use planning and allocation. A series of
old acts was repealed, including the Native Alaskan Act
of 1906, giving Natives allotments on the ground of past
occupancy (like the early squatters’ rights or Preemp-
tion Act). Applications pending at the time ANCSA was
passed would be approved, but the Natives concerned
would lose their rights to land otherwise available
under section 14/h.5 of the act. In 1974, 7,500 claims
were pending, and at this writing 230 are outstanding
on national forest land.

To some in the Forest Service, the ‘‘highgrading”
of land by Native corporations was a cause for alarm.

They believed that it was obviously the intent of Con-
gress to minimize, to the extent possibly consistent with
achieving the intent of ANCSA, the impact of the act on
wildlife refuges and national forests. Such intent was
implicit in section 12 (2), which limited selection on the
Chugach to 69,120 acres per village and on the Tongass
to 23,040 acres per village, with no regional corpora-
tion selections on either forest except for historic sites
and cemeteries. This would have limited selections on
the two forests to 577,760 acres, plus cemeteries and
historic site selections. However, amendments had in-
creased national forest selections on the Tongass from
253,440 to 546,480 acres, which increased total na-
tional forest selections to 880,000 acres. At present,
proposed amendments would triple the acreage to
1,600,000, three times that arrived at in 1971. The stat-
ed objectives of the involved Native corporations, ‘‘to
consolidate ownership and to obtain land of like kind
and character to land traditionally used,”” may be very
persuasive. However, since the 605 individuals ei-
rolled to Chugach National Forest are already receiv-
ing the equivalent of 343 acres of land of ‘‘like kind and
character traditionally used,” it would appear reason-
able to believe that corporate economic interests
rather than traditional interests are the motivating
force behind these proposals. This is supported by the
fact that of the 2,106 individuals enrolled to the Chu-
gach region, only 871 or 41 percent reside in the region
and would have occasion to use ‘‘traditional’’ lands.’
Management of the land would be by two levels of
corporations: regional, based on the geographical re-
gion; and village, based on the settlement. Selection of
village lands would be contiguous to the village, in a
compact tract. In regard to cities, urban corporations
were formed, with a larger area in the hinterland to
select from, dependent on historical associations. Re-
gional corporations had a larger area to choose from.
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In the Tongass the regional corporation Sealaska
was created, with headquarters in Juneau. Nine village
corporations were formed and two urban corporations,
Shee Atika in Sitka and Goldbelt in Juneau. Sealaska
was entitled to select 270,000 acres, mainly from na-
tional forest lands; each of the village and urban corpo-
rations were allowed 23,040 acres (one township). This
was in addition to a grant by the Court of Claims of
23,040 acres, affecting nine villages.

The allocations were subjected to some changes,
and the following chart may indicate the major ones.
Acreages, as regarded by the national forests, were as
follows (provided by ANCSA and later amendments):

11 Southeastern Villages
(includes Sitka and Juneau)
3 Chugach Villages
4 Koniag Villages
(includes Kodiak)

253,400 acres
207,360 acres

116,280 acres
577,040 acres
PL 94-204 and 94-156 amended ANCSA and increased
national forest selections as follows:
12 Southeastern Villages
Sealaska 14(h) (8)
3 Chugach Villages
4 Koniag Villages

276,480 acres
270,000 acres
207,360 acres
116,280 acres

870,120 acres

Proposed increased in 1979 legislation included:
12 Southeastern Villages 276,480 acres
Sealaska Region 279,000 acres
3 Chugach Villages 12(a) + 12(b) 264,000 acres
Chugach 14 (a)8 30,000 acres
Chugach 12(c) study, up to 350,000 acres
4 Koniag Villages 116,280 acres
Koniag Exchange 340,000 acres
1,655,760 acres
This does not include the involved regions’ share of the

2 million acres for cemeteries and historic sites.®
A series of questions developed, particularly in re-
gard to the selections of regional and urban corpora-
tions. Much controversy centered around Admiralty Is-
land. Angoon, the only Native village on the island, had
adopted a way of life based on fishing and traditional
means of livelihood. On the other hand, Goldbelt, Ju-
neau’s Native corporation, also had historical claims to
Admiralty, as did Shee Atika, the Sitka Native corpora-
tion. Both desired timber production. Kootznoowoo, An-
goon’s Native corporation, feared that timber harvest-
ing would disturb the traditional way of life. After a
long negotiation, Goldbelt agreed to off-Admiralty
lands. It was conceded a value-for-value exchange,
with a premium to Goldbelt for the public interest in-
volved. Negotiations with Shee Atika are proceeding.
The recent creation of the national monument, how-
ever, makes it likely that their selections will be off Ad-
miralty. In addition, Kootznoowoo has proposed that it
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be given off-Admiralty cutting rights, in order to pre-
serve natural habitat on the monument. This matter is
still under negotiation.

There were other problems. Sealaska had pur-
posely overselected its 14/h.5 estimated acreage. To
protect itself from loss of selection opportunity, the cor-
poration overselected by about 100,000 acres. This
acreage will be returned to full national forest status.
In addition, part of Sealaska’s priority selection lay
close to the Yak-Tat-Kwaan selection near Yakutat. The
act grants Sealaska selection rights near Yakutat only
after concurrence by the governor of Alaska. The area
chosen is in a tract that the governor feels should be in
public ownership, and he has agreed to the Sealaska
selection only if the corporation and Forest Service
agree to exchange these lands for others within the
Tongass. There was also some attempt by Chugach Na-
tives, Inc., to select lands on the Tongass to compensate
for other land selections that might be included in the
proposed Wrangell Mountains National Park. The For-
est Service objected to this, and the matter has been
dropped.®

Selection in the Chugach underwent the same
process. Two regional corporations, Koniag and Chu-
gach Natives, were formed in the region. The corpora-
tions had, by 1978, identified about 15 percent of the
Chugach National Forest for selection. Village selec-
tions accounted for 638,150 acres, mainly on Afognak
Island and Prince William Sound. An additional 70,000
acres was sought on Prince William Sound. Native his-
torical and cultural sites totalled 38,365 acres, with yet
another 30,000 acres susceptible to selection. In addi-
tion, Chugach Natives sought to exchange land on the
Bremner River for economically valuable land on the
shore, including the Bering River coalfields, Icy Bay
shoreline, and Montague, Knight, and Latouche is-
lands. This would, in effect, exchange an area of main-
ly scenic value for one of great economic value.

The net effect of the selections in the Chugach
have been loss of most of its economic base in regard to
timber and recreation. Afognak, once reserved as a
forest and fish culture reserve and then used as a
multiple-use area by the Forest Service, seemed likely
to revert to Native ownership. In addition, some of the
other areas were specialized management areas, and
others were subject to state selection.

In regard to state selection, in 1977 the state had
applied for 104,907 acres in the Chugach National For-
est. They were mostly scattered throughout the Prince
William Sound area and concentrated near population
centers of Cordova, Whittier, Seward, Moose Pass, and
Cooper Landing. On the Tongass, 142,700 acres were
selected, mostly near population centers of Juneau,
Ketchikan, Sitka, Petersburg, and Wrangell. The total
amount the state can select from the national forests is
400,000 acres.™



(d) 2 Lands

The (d) 2 1and question, which still is unsettled, is
also complex. Briefly, the question of Native lands and
state claims raised conflicts about who got what. In
1966 Secretary Stewart Udall put a “‘freeze” on all
transfers of title to public land in Alaska in order to get
a breathing spell for legislative settlement. In addition
to the Native settlement land, it laid out a planning pro-
cedure for public easements and transportation cor-
ridors and continued the land freeze for ninety days,
during which time the secretary would determine
which of the public lands would be temporarily with-
drawn in the public interest, i.e., (d) 1 lands. Section
17(d)2 allowed the secretary to select up to 80 million
acres deemed suitable for national parks, national for-
ests, wildlife refuges, or wild and scenic rivers systems
in Alaska. Congress would decide to which system each
area of the (d) 2 lands would belong by the end of 1978.

In March 1972 Secretary of the Interior Rogers
Morton designated 80 million acres as (d) 2 lands and
withdrew 47 million acres as (d) 1 lands for future stu-
dy. He asked that a clear distinction be made between
the public interest lands [(d) 1] and the national conser-
vation system lands [(d) 2]. He asked that plans be rec-
ommended to him by September 1972.

The Forest Service set up the Alaska Planning
Team, headed by Bernard A. Coster and including
Verner W. Clapp, John A. Leasure, Carol B. Hutcheson,
and Hatch Graham. They prepared a series of recom-
mendations for new national forests in the interior.
Eight new national forests were proposed in September
1972—Wrangell Mountains, Fortymile, Porcupine, Su-
sitna, Lake Clark, Kuskokwim, Yukon, Koyukuk, as well
as extensions of the Tongass and Chugach national
forests."

Study teams also were created for the National
Park Service, Fish and Wildlife Service, and Bureau of
Outdoor Recreation. The NPS efforts were directed
toward areas of outstanding scenic, recreational, or
scientific interest; the Fish and Wildlife Service,
toward waterfowl and seabird nesting and staging
areas and big game range; the Bureau of Outdoor Rec-
reation, toward the rivers for wild or scenic value. All
worked closely with the Institute of Northern Forestry
at Fairbanks in the collection of data, and all presented
volumes of elaborate studies. In addition, the Soil Con-
servation Service identified 20 million acres of agricul-
tural land, plus more than 18 million acres of grazing
lands. The Bureau of Mines and Geological Survey
made reports on mineral resources."

In December 1973 Secretary of the Interior Mor-
ton announced his decisions and sent to Congress pro-
posed recommendations for the four federal systems in
Alaska. The recommendations included creation of

three new national forests, plus additions to the
Chugach. These were the 5.5 million-acre Porcupine
National Forest, including the Yukon Flats and some
substantial forestland; the Yukon-Kuskokwim National
Forest, 7.3 million acres in area with about 2.8 billion
board feet of commercial timber; and the 5.5-million-
acre Wrangell Mountains National Forest, in two units
flanking the proposed Wrangell-St. Elias National Park.
Two areas were proposed as additions to the Chugach,
both of them glaciated areas—185,760-acre College
Fiord and the 395,400-acre Nellie Juan region. These
would be managed primarily for recreation.

With these recommendations made, the Forest
Service planning team made detailed studies of the pro-
posed areas. The planning team, over the years, had a
mixed membership, as some were transferred and
others came on. Barney Coster was transferred to
Washington. Those working on the team over the years
included Marcus W. Petty, Gerald ]J. Coutant, John
Galea, Hatch Graham, Carol B. Hutcheson, Adela G.
Johnson, Michelle M. Michaud, E. Jane Mullings, Sigurd
T. Olson, Ray T. Steiger, and Pamela D. Wilson.
Elaborate area guides were prepared for each of the
national forest areas considered. Other agencies had
similar planning groups and made studies of proposed
national parks, wildlife refuges, and wild and scenic
rivers. There was obvious competition among the agen-
cies as to, first, how the area was to be used, and sec-
ond, boundaries between different agency lands.”

From the clear fresh air of the taiga and forest, we
may shift to the toxic atmosphere of Washington. Be-
tween 1974 and 1978 a large series of bills was intro-
duced annually. Their sponsors included Senator
Henry Jackson of Washington, who generally favored
balance of multiple-use and park lands; Representative
Morris Udall of Arizona, the spokesman for the preser-
vationists in Alaska; and Representative John Dingell of
Michigan, whose chief interest was in wildlife refuges.
Both the state of Alaska and the Joint Federal-State
Land-Use-Planning Commission favored setting up a
new system of lands, under joint federal-state study
and classification for primary use. Representative Don
Young and Senator Ted Stevens of Alaska also intro-
duced bills, strongly stressing multiple-use areas and
also favoring some areas under joint federal-state man-
agement. They also recognized the need for transporta-
tion corridors.

After 1977 there occurred important shifts in the
alignment. One was the fact that an Alaskan Coalition,
made up of groups such as the Sierra Club, Defenders
of Wildlife, Environmental Defense Fund, Friends of
the Earth, Western Federation of Qutdoor Clubs, Wil-
derness Society, and National Parks and Conservation
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Association, formed a strong and well financed lobby
to push for the maximum acreage in single-use rather
than multiple-use units. Those favoring multiple use
could not get a countervailing force. The Society of
American Foresters and the American Forestry Associ-
ation came out for a balanced bill, but it failed. The
second shift was in administration, with the accession
of President Jimmy Carter. Rogers Morton, as secretary
of the interior, had been a suave and skillful politician,
adept at reaching compromises; and Secretary of Agri-
culture Earl Butz had strongly defended his depart-
ment. Cecil Andrus, the new interior secretary, had
what one Forest Service officer called a *‘bulldozer ap-
proach’ to matters and was therefore harder to bar-
gain with. Secretary of Agriculture Bob Bergland
seemed to lack the decisiveness of Butz, and Assistant
Secretary Rupert Cutler was also weak in protecting
the aims of the Forest Service in the area.

With 1977 came hearings on the alternatives.
Udall had succeeded in introducing to the House a bill
strongly weighted in favor of the parks. Hearings were
held in Alaska on the proposed bills by the Subcommit-
tee on General Oversight and Alaska Lands of the Com-
mittee on Interior and Insular Affairs. The hearings
showed a deep division among Alaskans as to the uses
of the lands and their administration. Admiralty Island
status; subsistence hunting and fishing; transportation
corridors; the amount of timber harvest necessary to
the economic well-being of the southeast, and the in-
terior as well; snowmobiles, airplanes, and powerboats
in wilderness areas; ‘‘rape’ of the land, ‘‘tying up” of
resources, mining activities versus scenic beauty; de-
velopment of previously undeveloped areas; the role of
local people, and of the state, in management; relation-
ships of Indian lands to park enclaves—all these issues
were discussed in mass meetings in Fairbanks, Sitka, Ju-
neau, and Anchorage, and in town meetings in the in-
terior and on the coast, such as at Fort Yukon, Bethel,
Dillingham, and Kotzebue.

The Alaska Coalition united on HR 39, represent-
ing the strongest support of the National Park Service

and Fish and Wildlife Service. Skillfully presented in
the House by Representatives Udall and John Seiber-
ling, it was brought to a vote in 1978 and passed the
House by a large margin. In the Senate, also, it gained
ground, despite opposition by Senators Mike Gravel
and Ted Stevens. However, the deadline for a decision
on the (d) 2 lands was approaching; the Alaska
senators apparently had difficulty in agreeing on tac-
tics and strategy, and increasing support grew for the
Senate version of the House bill. Debate on the bill end-
ed, however, when Senator Gravel threatened a fili-
buster, and the session ended without any decision.'
Failure to act led to presidential action. One hun-
dred and forty-six members of the House urged presi-
dential action; both Bergland and Cutler supported ac-
tion, also. Consequently, On December 1, 1978, Presi-
dent Carter used his power under the Antiquities Act
of 1906 to set up seventeen national monuments, total-
ing 55,975,000 acres. An additional 38,930,000 acres
were designated as national wildlife refuges. It was a
clear triumph of single-use designation over multiple
use, and it was a victory of the Alaskan Coalition.
Two proclamations in the Tongass effected the
Forest Service. Both Admiralty Island and Misty Fiords
were designated as national monuments, to be adminis-
tered by the Forest Service. This represented a break
with tradition, since the Transfer Act of 1933 had
given the National Park Service sole jurisdiction over
national monuments. It ended a forty-year controversy
over the status of Admiralty. Misty Fiords represents
one of the ironies of history, since this was the first ad-
dition to the Alexander Archipelago National Forest
and the first unit of the Forest Service in Alaska to be
designated ‘‘Tongass.’” Its original creation was not
because of its scenic beauty, but as a timber reservoir
for the Ketchikan lumber industry and to curb Cana-
dian log theft across the Portland Canal. So far as the
Chugach is concerned, some of the additions are adja-
cent to the forest. They are of recreational and wildlife
value and will represent a new area of cooperation be-
tween the Forest Service and the Park Service.”

Legal Struggles

The administrations of Yates and Sandor were
marked by an unending series of legal cases and con-
troversies. A large number of issues involving the For-
est Service and other resource agencies continued dur-
ing this decade. Many pressure groups evolved in
Alaska.

Several things account for this phenomenon. One
was the vast amount of legislation passed during this
term. Some acts, such as the Multiple Use-Sustained

Yield Act, were complex and, hence, controversial. The
National Environmental Policy Act lent itself to litiga-
tion and was as deadly, and occasionally as random, in
its operation as was the Allen Pepperbox in the hands
of the frontiersman. Old statutes, such as the Organic
Act of 1897, came under attack. The Alaska Native
Claims Settlement Act of 1971 lent itself to land-grab-
bing and pressure-group action.

A second factor was changes in the composition of
the courts. Court decisions have gone through cycles,
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and courts have played important parts in shaping fed-
eral conservation policy. The courts in the 1970s be-
came as important in the development of environmental
law as was the Taft-Wilson court in interpreting
Pinchot-Roosevelt conservation policies. Traditionally,
the court had recognized ‘‘standing’’ as primarily eco-
nomic standing; in other words, individuals would have
to show direct personal injury before being allowed to
sue. The present courts give standing to noneconomic
groups and individuals, and hence broaden the base of
those who can litigate. Second, the court has taken the
bare meaning of words, rather than congressional in-
tent or administrative discretion, in interpreting
statutes. Third, the court has leaned in favor of partici-
patory democracy rather than expert opinion.'

A third factor contributing to legal disputes and
controversies has been changes in the nature and tac-
tics of pressure groups. The Sierra Club, as noted
earlier, had begun as a California organization. It be-
gan its expansion about 1940 when it took over the
Western Association of Qutdoor Clubs and made that
organization a sounding board for its own policies. By
1960 it had begun a program of national expansion.
Carefully misunderstanding the term multiple use, it
alone, of all major outdoor organizations, opposed the
Multiple Use-Sustained Yield Act of 1960. Aided by
grants from the Ford Foundation, the club began a
series of litigations against the Forest Service, begin-
ning in California and by 1968 moving to Alaska. Noisy,
unscrupulous, and adept in using the big lie and the
glittering generality as publicity gimmicks, the Sierra
Club epitomized the idea that the ends justify the
means.

The club's establishment of an Alaska chapter
spawned a large number of other organizations. Some
were apparently affiliated with the Sierra Club and fol-
lowed its lines fervently; some remained independent.
At least nine organizations formed chapters of the
Alaska Conservation Society, claiming as its objectives
wise use of renewable resources, preservation of the
scenic, scientific, recreational, wildlife, and wilder-
ness values of Alaska. The Sitka branch, established in
1968 and apparently the one with closest ties to the
Sierra Club, succeeded in obtaining a five-year mora-
torium on logging in the West Chichagof-Yakobi Island
areas. The Kodiak-Aleutian branch sought court action
against a timber sale on Afognak Island. A coalition of
clubs in southeastern Alaska kept up a constant bar-
rage of criticism of Forest Service policies.'

The major cases and their dispositions may be
summarized as follows:

Sierra Club v. Hardin. As noted in the previous chapter,
the Sierra Club challenged a Forest Service tim-
ber sale on environmental and other grounds. It
was tried in federal district court in Alaska, and
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the Forest Service won its case. Although the
court said that the Sierra Club had “standing” in
the case, the court felt that the Forest Service had
shown compliance with the Multiple Use-Sus-
tained Yield Act. Laches—unreasonable delay—
in bringing legal action was one factor in the
decision.

Then came a long series of delays and appeals.
The Sierra Club waged a war of attrition, using
all of law’s delays to postpone action, with the
aim of putting the involved company to continued
expense in the matter. An appeal was held in fed-
eral circuit court in California. However, new evi-
dence was presented. A. Starker Leopold and
Richard Barrett, in a study on the effect of clear-
cutting on wildlife, argued that large clearcuts
destroy the habitat of the Sitka deer and that cut-
ting would endanger bald eagles. The case re-
manded to the district court. Revision of clearcut
areas would lessen the timber base for the sale.
The Forest Service and Champion Plywood agreed
to a bilateral cancellation of the sale in 1976.*

Izaak Walton League v. Butz

Zieske v. Butz. Over the years there had developed
some criticism of clearcutting practices. These at-
tacks were not new; C.]J. Buck, regional forester in
the Pacific Northwest during the 1930s, had been
opposed to clearcutting. However, determined at-
tacks on the Forest Service clearcutting policy
came after studies by foresters at the University
of Montana and a propaganda campaign by the
Sierra Club. The matter came to a head in the
case of Izaak Walton League v. Butz. A loophole
was found in the Organic Act of 1897, in which the
secretary was authorized to sell dead or mature
timber, marked. In 1973 the court took the literal
words, rather than the meaning and practice used
by foresters, and held clearcutting illegal on the
Monongahela National Forest of West Virginia,
and by implication elsewhere. The Sierra Club im-
mediately added this to Sierra Club v. Hardin.
Meanwhile, in Zieske v. Butz, a suit brought by the
Sitka branch of the Alaska Conservation Society
and residents of Point Baker, the court ruled that
only mature trees on Prince of Wales Island could
be cut under a contract by Ketchikan Pulp Com-
pany, holding that the actual legality of clearcut-
ting was a matter for Congress to decide. How-
ever, the court rejected charges by Point Baker
residents that the company violated four other
federal laws, including the National Environmen-
tal Policy Act. The prohibition of clearcutting ap-
plied only on the island.®



Alaska Conservation Society, Kodiak-Aleutian Chapter

v. Forest Service. This controversy related to the
Perenosa sale on Afognak Island. A sale there
was made in 1968 for 525 million board feet. No
activity took place on the sale for five years. With
the agreement of the purchaser, the Forest Serv-
ice made an environmental modification that re-
duced the volume to 332 million board feet. The
modification reduced clearcut sizes, protected
streams and wildlife values, and in general was
more sensitive to resource values. The modifica-
tion was accepted by the purchaser in 1974. In the
same year, however, the Kodiak-Aleutian chapter
of the Alaska Conservation Society brought suit in
federal court at Anchorage, alleging that the sale
was a violation of the National Environmental
Protection Act, that the existing environmental
impact statement (EIS) was inadequate, and that
the sale would violate the Federal Water Pollution
Control Act. Meanwhile, however, Alaska Natives
in the claims settlement obtained title to about
one-third of the island, and the suit was dropped.?

Not directly related to the national forests was
the controversy over the Copper River Highway.
This involved a highway connection to Cordova
from the interior. As mentioned before, there was a
road built on the old railroad bed that before 1938
carried copper ore out from the Kennecott mines.
The 1964 earthquake, however, knocked out the
bridges, and Cordova still sought a road connec-
tion with the interior. With the revival of a pro-
posal to create a national monument in the valley
of the Chitina River, the state made studies of a
projected road and selected a route. A clause in
the Transportation Act of 1968, however, called
for studies of alternative routes over potential
park lands. The state made its own study and filed
a 4 (f) statement and a state EIS. The Alaska Con-
servation Society and the Sierra Club claimed
that alternative routes by ferry and by air had not
been fully considered and that the state EIS was
not adequate to satisfy federal standards. They
sought an injunction in March 1973. The project-
ed road also went through proposed (d) 2 lands.
The issue at this writing remains unsettled.

U.S. Borax and Chemical Corporation and Pacific Coast

Molybdenum Company v. Bob Bergland and M.
Rupert Cutler. This case was filed on May 17,
1979, and is described in some detail since it is
apt to set important precedents.

In 1974 U.S. Borax made some molybdenum dis-
coveries at Quartz Hill, forty-two miles from Ket-

eleven miles in length to take out ore for analysis.
The forest supervisor in Ketchikan sent a team of
specialists to examine the proposed road site.
They were aided by a state task force, appointed
by Governor Hammond. The completed EIS was
submitted to the Council on Environmental Quali-
ty on July 18, 1977, and the permit was issued on
November 4, 1977.

A group headed by the Sierra Club and includ-
ing the National Audubon Society, Wilderness
Society, Alaska Conservation Society, Tongass
Conservation Council, and representatives from
several fishermen’s societies and the Ketchikan
Native corporation made an administrative ap-
peal. Regional Forester Sandor held public hear-
ings on the matter in Ketchikan on February 1,
1978. On March 31, 1978, he supported the super-
visor's decision and issued a road permit. The
Sierra Club and its supporters appealed to Chief
John McGuire in written and oral statements, but
on October 4, 1978, he supported the regional for-
ester's decision. However, Assistant Secretary of
Agriculture Cutler reversed the decision, holding
that helicopters could be used for getting ore out
for bulk sampling. Meanwhile, the area was with-
drawn within the Misty Fiords National Monu-
ment. U.S. Borax and Pacific Coast Molybdenum
brought suit, alleging that helicopter access was
not feasible.?

Finally, with Carter's creation of national
monuments in the closing days of 1978, the state
of Alaska brought suit against the federal govern-
ment. Summarized, the suit had the following
points:

1. The established national monuments conflicted
with state land selections.

2. The National Environmental Policy Act re-
quires environmental impact statements and
disclosures of the effects of the action. This
was not done.

3. Creation of national monuments by proclama-
tion violates separation of powers.

4. Withdrawal should not stop the state from fil-
ing on its land selections and getting state
patent.

5. Failure of government to act on state selections
violated the Statehood Act.

6. Failure to promptly convey Native lands im-
pedes the state’s rights to select land.

7. Rejecting state land selections exceeded gov-
ernmental authority.

The outlook for the future is full employment for

chikan. A number of claims were established, and
some were transferred to Pacific Coast Molybde-
num. The companies asked for an access road

the legal profession in cases involving Alaskan lands.
The cases will involve several areas—land selection,
land fraud, and land use.

165



It was obviously the intention of Congress to mini-
mize, consistent with terms of the act, the impact of the
Alaska Native claims settlement on national forests
and wildlife refuges. However, much more land will
come from the national forests than was originally in-
tended. Also, the land has been ‘‘highgraded’; the
areas most suitable for timber production, recreation,
trade, and the like have been taken. This creates a
series of problems for the Forest Service in regard to
access to isolated areas, management of cohesive eco-
nomic or recreational units, and so on. It will place
many areas best suited for public interest lands in the
hands of private corporations.

Many cases will involve fraud. Land legislation in
the United States, no matter how well intended, has
been used by the greedy or unscrupulous for private
gain, and laws passed for the highest of motives may be
perverted. Such was the case with the Alaska Power-
of-Attorney Law for locating copper, oil, and coal min-
ing claims, or the Forest Lieu Section in the Forest Re-
serve Act of 1897 (Organic Act). The ANCSA was no
exception. Villages entitled to land, based on a popula-
tion of at least twenty-five by the 1970 census, quickly
increased in number as it became apparent that living
there would be financially advantageous. Frauds have

allegedly occurred on the North Slope, where aban-
doned settlement sites would suddenly blossom out
with mobile homes and snowmobiles, helicopter-lifted
into the area. Other areas, with few or no people, sud-
denly became populated. It is alleged that photos of
Army personnel at a rest camp on Afognak Island were
presented as evidence of Native population; and
Chenega, wiped out in the 1964 earthquake, became
the basis for land claims. There are allegations of BIA
complicity, and congressional acquiescence, in these
frauds. These phenomena will undoubtedly receive
congressional and legal investigation.*

A third area, already touched on, will be contro-
versies over whether areas are reserved for use and
from use. The U.S. Borax case will probably be fol-
lowed by others. The legality of Secretary Bob Berg-
land’s action in closing wilderness areas in Alaska to
mining, five years in advance of the statutory date
under the Wilderness Act, will come under scrutiny. A
fourth serious challenge will arise under the NEPA in
regard to hydroelectric development, mining, lumber-
ing, and road building. For the next decade, Alaska will
be a key area in the testing and development of envi-
ronmental law.?

Research

These controversies consumed much time and
energy, but the routine work of the Forest Service went
on. The 1960s and 1970s saw new directions and new
points of view in research. The Pacific Northwest For-
est and Range Experiment Station, the parent unit of
the Alaska establishments after 1967, shifted in the di-
rection of environmental concern. With the passage of
the words ecology and environment from their cus-
tomary use in the biosciences and forestry into the na-
tional vocabulary, the reconciling of environmental
quality with industrial and economic considerations
began in earnest. This battle, as we have seen, was
fought out in the political and managerial areas. It be-
came a matter of concern for the research arm of the
Forest Service as well. This involved new studies on al-
ternative means of logging, such as helicopter and bal-
loon logging; questioning of the clearcutting method of
handling Douglas-fir and hemlock forests, and experi-
ments with shelterwood or other types of management;
studies of the residual effects of pesticides and studies
of silvicultural or biological ways to control insects;
use of computer programming to give different per-
spectives to the landscape and to show the visual im-
pact of timber cutting; use of fertilizer to increase
growth; and retooling of research projects into inter-
disciplinary teams. As an elite corps, with a fair degree
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of independence, research scientists provided factual
information on which managerial judgments could be
based.

Much of the basic research in Alaska was like a
new edition of earlier projects carried out in Washing-
ton and Oregon. These included surveys of timber
stands. In the southeast it meant refining earlier fig-
urés arrived at by first observers like Weigle, Heintzle-
man, and Flory, as well as later scientists. In the in-
terior it meant a cooperative study with the state over
a period of years. Soil classification in Alaska had
lagged, as well as study of the relation of soil to timber
growth. Erosion was a particular problem. It was found
in the interior, for example, that firelines used to con-
trol forest fires in areas of permafrost grew into ruts.

The research covered two separate regions, the
coastal and the interior, with work coordinated by the
Pacific Northwest Forest and Range Experiment Sta-
tion in Portland. The areas may be studied separately.”
The Interior

During earlier years forest research in Alaska's
interior was carried on by scientists based in Juneau.
The work of Raymond Taylor and Harold Lutz, for ex-
ample, has already been treated. Others who traveled
from Juneau to study interior forests included Austin E.
Helmers and Robert A. Gregory. Gregory moved up to



Fairbanks about 1960 to head up a silviculture re-
search project. In 1962 Von ]. Johnson came to lead a
fire research project. Personnel in Fairbanks at this
time comprised a field unit of the newly independent
Northern Forest Experiment Station, with headquar-
ters in Juneau. After several years in temporary of-
fices, the personnel moved out to a new building on the
campus of the University of Alaska. Initially this build-
ing was called the Forestry Sciences Laboratory; it was
dedicated, along with the Bonanza Creek Experimental
Forest, in the summer of 1963. (To confuse historians
the Forest Service downgraded the Northern Forest Ex-
periment Station in 1967, returning Alaskan operations
to the jurisdiction of the Pacific Northwest Forest and
Range Experiment Station. For several years after that,
both Alaska project locations were known as the Insti-
tute of Northern Forestry. In 1970 this designation was
used only for the Fairbanks unit, and the Juneau unit
was termed the Forestry Sciences Laboratory. There
were several further changes in terminology in the
1970s, but it need not distract us from the actual re-
search carried on.)

In 1966 Richard J. Barney replaced Von Johnson as
fire research project leader, and LeRoy C. Beckwith
came as project leader for forest insects in interior
Alaska. Gregory left in 1970 and Leslie A. Viereck took
over as leader of the silviculture project, now called
“Ecology of Subarctic Trees and Forests.”” In 1971 the
decision was made to combine all three projects in
Fairbanks into a single, multifunctional, research work
unit titled ‘‘Ecology and Management of Taiga and As-
sociated Environmental Systems in Interior Alaska.”
Charles T. Cushwa was the program leader until 1974,
when C. Theodore Dyrness, the present program lead-
er, took over.

The work of the Fairbanks unit was multi-faceted.
A major part of its work was in regard to wildfire, and
here it worked closely with the BLM and the state of
Alaska. Staff took part in a number of professional
meetings and symposiums on the fire question.* Second
in importance to fire was the inventory of timber re-
sources in the interior. Of the 220 million acres inven-
toried in interior Alaska, the station found 105.8 million
acres of forestland, with 22.5 million acres of forest of
potential value in stands of white spruce, paper birch,
quaking aspen, and balsam poplar. The potential of the
stands compared favorably with that of the Lake
States; stands in Minnesota average 574 cubic feet per
acre as compared with 634 cubic feet per acre in in-
terior Alaska.* The Institute of Northern Forestry also
furnished much of the scientific data for the Forest
Service and other agencies investigating and making
recommendations on (d) 2 lands in the interior. It hosted
a study team of forest researchers from Norway,
Sweden, and Finland, who provided the state of Alaska

and the Forest Service with an analysis of interior
Alaskan forestlands, as compared with those of
Fennoscandia.”

The general approach to research in Fairbanks is
to study entire ecosystems and their environments,
utilizing skills of scientists from many fields of exper-
tise. Since management activities affect the entire for-
est ecosystem, research is aimed at determining man-
agement impacts on the system as a whole. Therefore,
the scientists form multidisciplinary teams to study all
aspects of the forest environment, forest protection,
and timber management on the taiga and tundra.*
Coastal Alaska

In 1972 the Forestry Sciences Laboratory in
Juneau came under the leadership of Donald C.
Schmiege, who was transferred up from Berkeley.
Schmiege, who had obtained his doctorate in entomolo-
gy. fisheries, and wildlife at the University of Minne-
sota, had also done extensive work with the Wisconsin
Conservation Department in the area of forest insects
and diseases. Indeed, Schmiege had first come to
Alaska in 1962 to do research on insects. Now, as pro-
gram leader in the 1970s, Schmiege coordinated the
multifunctional projects of fisheries, insects, and silvi-
culture in a project titled ‘“Ecology of Southeastern
Alaska Forests.”” Some of the main tasks were (and are)
to provide management with means of predicting
growth and yield of even-aged stands of Sitka spruce
and western hemlock in order to meet various objec-
tives; to provide guidelines for avoiding windthrow in
old-growth stands of these two species when harvest-
ed, so as to protect all researches; to provide a system
for predicting damage by defoliating insects to all tree
species; to provide technology for determining the role
of small streams in producing juvenile anadromous
fish, and the means of improving habitats for anadro-
mous fish through stream channel structures.

The Juneau unit is also the center for the Forest
Survey of Alaska, part of a national effort set up under
the McNary-McSweeney Act of 1928. This involves a
continuous timber inventory, study of how it is in-
creased through growth and diminished through both
use and natural causes. The survey, headed in Alaska
by O. Keith Hutchison, also determines consumption of
forest products and uses these data in helping formu-
late public and private forest policies. The survey proj-
ect is responsible for implementing the above on all
land in Alaska, except for federal and state parks.

The Juneau laboratory has a professional staff of
thirteen. They work closely with other Forest Service
personnel in the managerial areas, particularly
wildlife and timber management, and with biologists of
the Alaska Department of Fish and Game (ADF&G).
They also supervise a larger series of research grants
to universities on various specialized projects. There
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were fourteen such grants, 1977-1979, involving the
universities of Washington, Minnesota, and California,
as well as Oregon State, Montana State, and Case
Western Reserve universities. Current studies include
six separate programs in fisheries, varying from evalu-
ation of debris removal in small-stream ecosystems to
spawning criteria for coho salmon. There are seven in
pathology, several dealing with control of dwarf mistle-
toe, three in insect research, six in forest-wildlife
habitat, and eleven active silvicultural studies.®

The studies have had immediate effects on man-
agement criteria. The record has been most satisfac-

tory, probably, in regard to fisheries and management.*
Both the ADF&G and the Forest Service found through
research that logging can be conducted without having
any great impact on fish runs. The commissioner of the
ADF&G corrected erroneous statements on this subject
during hearings on HR 39.® On the other hand, wild-
life researchers found need to study modification of
existing timber-harvest methods in order to protect the
deer habitat in old-growth timber. There is no total
agreement on this point at present; the effects of
changes in timber-harvest practices will require con-
tinued study.®

Recreation

Recreation management during the 1970s
reflected the trends of the times. Planning was modi-
fied by statutory changes, particularly RPA recommen-
dations on dispersed recreation. Planning was also
modified by conflicting views on land use, as expressed
in actions by pressure groups and in public meetings.

Over the years there had come a variety of socio-
economic changes that had their effect on recreational
preferences. Both the environmental movement and the
rise of the larger leisure class increased pressures for
preservation of large areas in their natural state. A
countervailing force was the desire for organized mass
recreation, such as picnics, skiing, snowmobiling, and
conducted tours. Boating has always been popular, but
there has developed a new interest in sailing and
kayaking. New interest grew in the heritage of the
Alaskan Natives, as well as in the history and natural
history background of the state. Communities under-
went changes. Tenakee Hot Springs has been pictured
in these pages as a sink of iniquity,- inhabited by
whores, pimps, and bootleggers, where the major rec-
reation was of the bedroom variety. It has now become
a retirement village with well-to-do seniors superim-
posed on the local population.”

In the Forest Service, the Visitors Information
Service was shifted from the Division of Information
and Education to Recreation. The Visitors Information
Service continued its interpretive work on vessels of
the Alaska State Ferry System, and it plans to extend
services to cruise ships of other lines. It remains one of
the most praised and valuable programs. Visitors
centers also remain popular, and plans are made to
build one at Portage Glacier.

The network of trails within both national forests
was expanded, partly with aid from the Youth Conser-
vation Corps (YCC) and Young Adult Conservation
Corps (YACC]). Trail shelters built during the 1930s by
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the Civilian Conservation Corps were found to be suit-
able after forty years, though some needed repair.
YACC trail work included building a canoe trail across
Admiralty Island, connecting lakes with portage trails,
a program begun by the CCC. Campgrounds were also
improved. Cabins in isolated areas, accessible only by
trail, boat, or plane, continued to be popular; their
number increased to 187 by 1977. Despite rampant in-
flation, rent on these Forest Service cabins remained at
$5 per day. Sixteen campgrounds, twenty-seven picnic
areas, and seven private lodges on Forest Service land
also helped meet the needs of recreationists.

As noted previously, one of the major miscalcula-
tions of the Forest Service was to underestimate the
visual impact of clearcuts and other disturbances on
visitors. Under both Yates and Sandor, efforts were
made to alleviate disturbances by dispersal and size,
blending impacts with natural contours of the land and
requiring prompt cleanup of debris left by economic op-
erations. Starting about 1973, the Forest Service began
using landscape architects to work with management,
helping to inventory, evaluate, and set visual quality
objectives for all areas of the forests. In cooperation
with the University of Alaska's Institute of Social and
Economic Research, detailed studies have been made
to determine recreational preferences of visitors.

Two projects developed under previous adminis-
trations were delayed. Plans for the Seward Recrea-
tion Area, developed under Howard Johnson's adminis-
tration, were postponed because of the land question.
The proposal is not dead and is included in one of the
current bills on Alaska lands (S. 9). Also, plans for a
road and ferry system, connecting the islands from Ket-
chikan to Haines, were postponed—again because of
the unsettled land question.

The Forest Service acquired its first archaeologist
in 1974 and now has one on each national forest. They
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Wildlife and Fisheries

Wildlife management has always been an
important aspect of national forest management in
Alaska. It has evolved over the years from W. A. Lan-
gille’s recommendations for game refuges in 1905,
through the work of the agency with the Alaska Game
Commission, the work of L. C. Pratt with sportsmen’s
clubs in the Cordova area, bear management on Ad-
miralty Island, elk management on Afognak Island,
transplanting of deer on Hinchinbrook Island, and con-
tinuous study of the relationship of logging to fisheries.
A series of trends marked the era of the 1970s. One
was statutory. The Sikes Act of 1974 directed the secre-
tary of agriculture to develop comprehensive fish and
wildlife habitat studies in cooperation with state man-
agement agencies. This led to closer cooperation be-
tween the Forest Service and the Alaska Department of
Fish and Game (ADF&G]). A five-year program was de-
veloped, with twenty-three cooperative projects involv-
ing fish habitat, eleven big game, eleven small game,
six nongame (rodents, seabirds, and other bird commu-
nities), three threatened or endangered species, and
two aquaculture. Second, the National Forest Manage-
ment Act and the RPA reenforced the Multiple Use Act
with respect to wildlife management. Third, the YCC
and YACC offered a source of labor to carry out the
projects.

The Forest Service had previously established a
specialized management area at Pack Creek on Ad-
miralty Island. New ones were now established, includ-
ing the Stikine Management Unit on the Tongass, meant
for waterfowl primarily but including other species.
such as moose. Seymour Canal on Admiralty Island
was set aside as a bald eagle management unit. The
Copper River Delta was set aside as a waterfowl man-
agement unit. The Bering River-Controller Bay area,
scene of the famous Controller Bay sensation in 1911,
now became a special area for trumpeter swan. The
portion of Chickaloon Flats in the Chugach National
Forest was also recognized as a waterfowl manage-
ment unit. Caribou were also given special attention on
the Chugach, having spread to Resurrection Creek af-
ter being reintroduced to the Kenai Peninsula by the
state. The Portage Wildlife Habitat Management Area
was established in 1976 under cooperative manage-
ment of the Forest Service, BLM, Alaska Department of
Highways, and the Alaska Railroad. In a number of
these areas, YCC and YACC help was used extensively
—for example, in prescribed burning to improve moose
habitat.

In regard to fisheries, the habitat improvement
project instituted in 1962 under Regional Forester
Hanson has already been mentioned. It was continued.

and through 1975 more than 200 separate projects
were completed on the Chugach and Tongass national
forests. Costs of these projects were split between the
Forest Service and the ADF&G. At the present time a
complete inventory of fish habitat is being carried on in
cooperation with the ADF&G. Also, the National Ma-
rine Fisheries Service is completing a survey of deacti-
vated log transfer sites to determine persistence of
bark accumulation and its effects on estuarian life.

A long list of separate projects, some with very
high cost-benefit ratios, were planned. These included
fishways on Irish, Navy, Dean, and Thetis creeks to
open up spawning and rearing areas for chum and pink
salmon, enlarging such areas many times over. Projects
also include removal of natural barriers and logging
obstructions in the streams of the Chugach, clearing of
stream channels and conversion of borrow pits for
road construction into coho breeding grounds, and
cooperative studies of potential aquaculture sites.

The relationships of logging to commercial fishing
and to wildlife habitat was long a matter of concern to
the Forest Service. In regard to fishing, this involved
the decision to retain a vegetative canopy over the
streams to protect them against extreme temperature
changes; construction of culverts and bridges that
would not impede movement of fish; removal of logging
debris or other obstructions in the streams; and study
of the relationship of clearcutting to increase of nutri-
ents added to the streams.

Although relationships of timber harvest to fish-
eries had been a matter of concern from the earliest
days, that of logging to wildlife had not. Early wildlife
management had focused on game refuges, closed
seasons. and predator control. A shift in emphasis
came during the 1930s through the influence of such
men as Aldo Leopold, P. S. Lovejoy, and Durward Allen,
who stressed preservation of habitat as a management
tool and developed sophisticated studies of predator-
prey relationships. Coastal Alaska lagged in develop-
ment of game management, largely because the basic
research had not been done on the relationships of old-
growth forests to game habitat. Very few studies on the
effect of logging on wildlife resources other than fish-
eries had been carried on.

A case in point is the winter range of Sitka deer.
Research in the coastal forest in the south—Washing-
ton and Oregon—had indicated that the clearcut
areas, because of rapid growth of brush and other
browse, made good deer habitat. This assumption was
held by earlier managers. Studies in the 1970s indicat-
ed that this was possibly not the case in southeast
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Alaska, where old-growth forests were superior to cut-
over areas or new forests for winter range, partly be-
cause the canopy prevented heavy snow from penetrat-
ing the forest and partly because of the abundance of
browse in the understory of old-growth forests. Tenta-
tive conclusions were that deer fare better in old-
growth forests (over 200 years old) than in new ones.
Studies also were made on the need of cover for moun-
tain goats during the winter and on the effects of har-
vest of old-growth timber on birds and small mammals.

Wildlife management will continue to be of in-
creasing importance in Alaska. This will be particular-
ly true with the establishment of large wilderness
areas on the Tongass and with the increasing orienta-
tion of the Chugach toward recreation. It will involve
the Forest Service in closer relationships and possibly
conflicts with the **subsistence hunting’’ rights of In-
dians, as more and more land comes into the hands of
Native corporations.®

Human Resources

Forest Service work in human resources has in-
tensified during the 1970s. This work is comparable lo
that of the CCC during the 1930s. Under Public Law
93-408, the Youth Conservation Corps (YCC) and the
Young Adult Conservation Corps (YACC) made much
the same kind of contribution.

The YCC was designed to give work to youths fif-
teen to eighteen years old, providing employment and
at the same time giving the enrollees conservation edu-
cation. A pilot project was established in 1870 with 48
enrollees. By 1978 the number increased to 153. These
young people built recreation cabins and trails, en-
gaged in fish-habitat improvement activities, worked in
the Kenai to improve moose habitat by prescribed
burning, and improved campgrounds. Highly motivated
and energetic, they made it possible for the Forest
Service to carry on activities that otherwise would
have been too costly.

The YACC furnished jobs for 16-24 year olds, giv-
ing them gainful employment for a year in conservation
work and training in general work skills. They have
been active in heavier work, such as building a canoe
trail across Admiralty Island. In planning this work,
the Forest Service cooperates closely with the Native
corporations, the governor's office, and private corpo-
rations. The plan is to offer more than 450 man-hours
per year over a five-year period.

YCC and YACC enrollees were stationed in camps,
some of them restored CCC camps. These were of three
types—residential, nonresidential, and spike. Residen-
tial camps were seven-day-per-week, live-in camps. In
nonresidential camps, the enrollees lived at home and
reported to work on a five-day-per-week schedule.
Spike camps were those out in the remote country; they
were temporary, largely tent camps where enrollees
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resided for ten-day work periods, followed by four-day
periods at home. In 1977 there were seven residential
camps with total enrollment of 473, fifteen nonresiden-
tial camps with 230 enrolled, and nine spike camps
with 179 enrolled. Camps were managed by directors,
and work crews were led by young persons chosen
from the enrollees.

Human resources involved two other groups.
Under Title III of the Comprehensive Employment
Training Act (CETA), people are given on-the-job train-
ing. CETA will pay an important part in the develop-
ment of interpretive programs on Admiralty Island. An-
other group is called Volunteers in the National Forest.
Under this program individuals are furnished room,
board, and transportation by the Forest Service in
return for aid in evaluation and inventory of resources.
This program has to date involved fifty-one separate
projects, thirty-one carried out by men and twenty by
women. A typical study was one by John L. George ti-
tled ‘‘Some Observations on Forest Service Manage-
ment Practices in Region 10, Alaska’ (June 1979).
Others have involved inventories of birds, mammals,
and natural features.

The Human Rights Program is headed by Manuel
R. Archuleta, who joined the Forest Service in 1967 as
a teacher and job recreationist on a Job Corps center in
Colorado. He worked in North Dakota and then in Ore-
gon, where he was appointed the first Spanish-speak-
ing program coordinator for the region. In 1974 he be-
came the regional safety and training officer for the
Alaska Region, and, in 1976, director of the Civil Rights
and Human Resources Program, a new unit established
that year. The value of the program is such that it now
brings in more than it costs. It is a worthy successor to
the CCC program.®
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Timber harvest regulations were also modified.
Clearcuts were reduced to a maximum of 160 acres,
and then to 100 acres. Shelter strips were left to pro-
vide access of game to the beaches, and 200-foot
boundaries were established along salmon streams.
Culverts and roads were carefully engineered to pre-
vent erosion or stream pollution. There were some-
times conflicts with other regulations; loggers wanted
wide roads to remove ‘‘danger trees'’ (which might get
windthrown), but the Forest Service had to reconcile
this desire with visual impact.

Small logging operations declined in number dur-
ing this period for a variety of reasons. To encourage
competition, the Forest Service and the Small Business
Administration agreed to an annual set-aside program
of about 80 million board feet for small firms, in addi-
tion to the volume in long-term sales. Salvage sales
were advertised to clean up blowdowns. The balloon-
logging operation near Kake continued for several
years. The Pacific Northwest Forest and Range Experi-
ment Station recommended experiments in helicopter
logging, and Haines lumberman John Schnabel made
some, but no truly successful operation has been car-
ried out. In addition, regulations were changed to per-
mit export of chips from sawlogs made on all sales,
rather than just the fifty-year pulp sales.®

For the timber industry itself, it was a time of
troubles. It is not the intention of this work to analyze
the economics of lumber production in Alaska during
this period, though such a study would be highly desira-
ble. However, business papers, such as Alaska Con-
struction and Oil, magazines of general regional in-
terest, such as Alaska, and newspapers show a series
of discontents. With environmental statements manda-
tory, sales were harder to come by. There were thirty
sales on national forests in 1969, but the number
dropped to zero in 1973. When Regional Forester Yates
raised the price of stumpage in 1975, a howl of protest
was heard. Loggers charged that scenery regulations,
requiring narrow roadways, meant that danger trees
might fall and cause injury or block roads. They
favored falling timber for a tree's length back from the
road. Logging camps were more closely policed; one
ALPC camp was closed because of inadequate sanita-
tion. There was some falling off of foreign markets and
fear that Japan—the main customer for cants and pulp
—might seek wood from other sources. KPC had diffi-
culty in meeting environmental standards in its mill
operation.

There was dissension within the logging communi-
ty itself. Two Ketchikan firms filed suit against the Ket-
chikan Pulp Company and Alaska Lumber and Pulp
Companv. John and Jenifer Allen of Southeastern
Alaska Cedar Products. 1 small mill near Ketchikan.
chargec¢ ALPC and X7 wit® conspiracy to drive inde-
pendent loggers ou! of v siness. Alex and Marv Reid of

Reid Logging Company, a small-firm at Petersburg, al-
leged that the two companies conspired to drive out of
business independent logging and milling firms in the
southeast. The two large firms, they asserted, had 93
percent of the timber sales awarded by the Forest
Service in the past five years. Independents were being
driven out of business, they said, by ‘‘wrongful ter-
minating of timber contracts, unlawful foreclosure of
security arrangements, unlawful withholding of funds,
exclusion of loggers’ traditional sources of finances,
improper scaling and payments.”* At this writing the
suits have not been completed.

There remained some speculation as to the effect
of logging on Native lands. Though some efforts have
been made toward adopting an overall timber harvest
policy among the Native villages, it has not yet come
about. A further consideration is the fact that on
Region 10 Forest Service sales, under law, the primary
processing must be done in Alaska (with the exception
of Alaska-cedar and some western redcedar). The Na-
tive corporations are free to export round logs. The
marketing and economic potentialities of this double
standard remain to be seen. The Alaska Timber Com-
pany was founded in Klawock to utilize timber from In-
dian lands. It established a mill in 1972 and after some
shaky starts worked out a marketing arrangement with
Georgia-Pacific. It produces mostly hemlock cants and
redcedar.”

On the Chugach, where timber sales were less im-
portant, the Perenosa sale on Afognak Island became a
matter of controversy. The sale, approved in 1968,
called for a long-term contract with the intention of
harvesting 525 million board feet of Sitka spruce. It
was plagued by environmental suits instituted by the
Sierra Club and others. The Forest Service ultimately
agreed to an EIS on roadless areas and a five-year
redefinition of the sales. However, the ANCSA has
placed much of Afognak into Native management. As
on the Tongass, Sandor worked with the Small
Business Administration to have *‘set aside' sales in
the area, this time of 5 million board feet per year.*

One aspect of the past decade has been increased
cooperation in state and private forestry. It was en-
hanced during this period by RPA requirements and
also by a bill paseed by the state legislature in 1978 on
forest resources. This act established a Division of For-
est, Land, and Water Management within the Depart-
ment of Natural Resources. It was headed by the state
forester, who was appointed from professionally trained
land managers. Moreover, a Board of Forestry was estab-
lished, made up of one nominee each from the Society
of American Foresters, Native corporations, an Alaska
environmental group. Alaska Coastal Management
Council, Alaska Logg~rs Association. a union of forest
products workers, Ur:ite~ “ishermen of Alaska. Alaska
Miners’ Association, and one from the public at large.
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Strong administrative directives were drafted for the
state forester, stating principles of scientific manage-
ment, sustained yield, multiple use, and concern for the
economic life of the community.

On the part of the Forest Service, state and private
activity included work with the state forester in devel-
oping a state tree nursery, technical assistance to in-
dustry and landowners, development of a forest inven-
tory on Native corporation lands, sawmill-improvement
training and forestry workshops for industry and land-
owners, identification and training of resource manag-
ers for Native lands, work in job opportunities pro-
grams, and cooperation in insect control. The state
works closely with the research stations. David R.
Schumann took the lead in establishing clinics for saw-
mill training in Native villages on the Kenai Peninsula
and near Fairbanks. The program involved 30,000
acres of privately owned and 42,000 acres of state
land. He edited the Forest Products Newsletter, an in-
formation bulletin, in cooperation with the State Exten-
sion Service and the state forester's office. Coopera-
tion extended to fire prctection as well.*

Sales increased on state lands, though here again
there was economic dislocation. The Schnabel Lumber
Company of Haines, a producer of cants and chips,
prospered for a while, particularly during construction
of the Alaska Pipeline. The company fell on hard times,
however, and eventually ceased operations for a time.
The state made large sales on Cook Inlet of beetle-killed
spruce. Many of the forest products were exported to
Japan in the form of cants and chips, but there has
been increased production of dimension stock as well.
A search for domestic as well as foreign markets
continues.®

In summary, forest management and the timber in-
dustry is in a period of transition. The trend of the
future can be most clearly seen in regard to federal-
state cooperation in management. The net effect of
Native land ownership is hard to determine at the pres-
ent time, on either the Tongass or the Chugach. The
economic effect of an increased emphasis on wildland
management rather than timber production must also
be left to the future.

Conclusion

The history of the Alaska Region is necessarily an
unfinished story, and this account of it comes to an end
at a moment of high drama. Will the Forest Service and
the forest industries be able to withstand the legal
talent of the Sierra Club and other environmental
groups? How long will legal cases be delayed through
appeals to higher courts? Will the Information and Ed-
ucation arm of the Forest Service be able to generate
momentum enough in its efforts to interpret forest use
to outweigh misleading stories from other media? What
effects will Native claims and state selections have on
the management of the region? The 1980s may hold an-
swers to these questions.

A major theme in the history of the Forest Service
in Alaska is continuity of purpose. There has been
more continuity than change—probably more than in
any other Forest Service region. Pulp mills were fore-
cast by Fernow and Langille; Weigle, Flory, and
Heintzleman actively worked for them. They were
finally realized under Greeley, Hanson, and Johnson.
Langille’'s first recommendations on the Kenai stressed
wilderness, recreational, and wildlife values; these are
now the dominant factors in its management. Langille
also recommended the establishment of a demonstra-
tion forest to study the ecology of the interior forests;
this was realized a half century later. Management of
game by the Forest Service dates back to 1905; regula-
tion of cutting to protect fish runs began in 1909. In on-
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ly one aspect, that of the large Japanese investment
and trade, has there been a new departure. The major
success of the Forest Service has been the constancy
and drive it put behind realizing these goals. This
achievement is a tribute both to the leadership in the
Washington Office and to the regional officers in
Alaska.

Perhaps the greatest deficiency of the Forest Serv-
ice has been its failure to publicize its real achieve-
ments and to meet its critics promptly and forthrightly.
This failure has been nationwide, not limited to the re-
gion. The causes of it are complex and hard to define,
but it is a matter that the Service should try to analyze
and correct. With the benefit of hindsight, it would
seem that the Service erred, for example, in not pub-
licizing the studies of Ray Taylor on the relationship of
logging to salmon runs, or on the silvicultural benefits
of clearcutting. Such action might have nullified the
criticisms levied in the first and second Admiralty
Island crises, or in the pretrial publicity by the Sierra
Club on the alleged sins of the Forest Service. It is also
evident that early foresters, including Greeley and
Hanson, underestimated the influence of ‘‘visual im-
pact” in regard to logging operations along the water-
ways. We live in an era in which people expect things
to be ““merchandised’’; the Forest Service has quietly
appealed to reason rather than relying on rhetoric.
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Sources

Primary Sources: Written

This book was written largely from manuscript sources. The papers and other materials used
included official and unofficial records of the Forest Service, National Park Service, and other
governmental agencies; Alaska state records; personal papers; interviews (some transcribed);
and photographic records.

Forest Service records (RG 95) at the National Archives in Washington, D.C., were rich in
material relevant to Alaska and to the national scene. Of particular value were the Research
Compilation File on Alaska; records of the Ballinger-Pinchot Affair, which cast new light on
that controversy in its regional focus and geographical setting; inspection correspondence;
material on Civilian Conservation Corps activity; and boundary records. National Park Service
records (RG 79) were of particular value for the Admiralty Island and Glacier Bay controver-
sies and on Sitka National Monument (now Sitka National Historical Park). The Federal
Records Center in Seattle also provided a wealth of material. Of special interest were inspec-
tion reports, legal records, boat logs, records of cooperation with the Alaska Game Commis-
sion, and records relating to logging and milling operations.

One type of source that deserves special mention, both in the National Archives and in the
Federal Records Center, is ranger diaries. These have probably been undervalued in the past
as sources for historical work. However, as interests shift from political and administrative
history to ecological concern, Native American claims, and historic preservation, these diaries
are sources of information that cannot be found elsewhere. There is need for a national pro-
gram of screening ranger diaries, evaluating and preserving the worthy and discarding the
worthless, and compiling bibliographies. The Forest History Society or the Forest Service's
History Office could well take the lead in promoting such work.

Forest Service records in Alaska have had a mixed and checkered history. Some svurces have
been lost. The Navy took over the marine station used by the Forest Service in Ketchikan dur-
ing World War II, dumping a great deal of material. The log of the Forest Service vessel, the
Tahn, was saved. More recently, a ranger at Sitka hauled the historical material in his office to
the dump to make room for his files, despite objections from the local historical society. The
loss was particularly grievous because the records allegedly contained land-use information
on Baranof and Chichagof islands, areas of present land-use controversy.

Two other factors should be noted that called forth the ability of the historian as detective. One
was that the search period 1969-1972 coincided with two unusual activities in Alaska—the le-
gal case of Sierra Club v. Hardin, and the cooperative work of the Forest Service with the Alas-
ka State Museum to recover and rehabilitate totem poles. The consequence was that many files
ordinarily housed in the Federal Records Center in Seattle had been shipped to Alaska. It took
a great deal of search to locate the various documents and to borrow, copy, and return them to
the Forest Service officer or lawyer who had them.

Second was the fact that numerous files and miscellaneous papers had not been shipped to
Seattle but remained in Alaska—squirreled away in various filing cabinets, cupboards, nooks,
and crannies. These unexpected windfalls added much to the excitement of the search. Will
Langille’s letterbooks, for example, were preserved in Juneau, though badly deteriorated. A
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secretary has transcribed the legible portions. His timber sales record book for 1905 also has
survived. In the Chatham Warehouse, a wooden building apart from the main office, a room is
filled with old file cabinets loaded with such materials as Langille’s reports on reconnais-
sances in the Kenai, boat logs, blueprints from engineering projects, maps of mining claims, fox
island records, records on Indian possessory rights, CCC materials, and timber sale records.
Files in the regional office at Juneau included valuable papers on the totem pole project and ar-
cheological explorations, the Alaska Spruce Log Program (with a magnificent set of pictures), a
taped interview with B. Frank Heintzleman, and more timber sale records. Henry Graves'’s
photographic album of his Alaska trip is located in the library, as is Raymond F. Taylor’s
manuscript history of the region.

The Ketchikan office had some particularly valuable material on lands, as well as much infor-
mation on totem poles. The Anchorage office had a number of ranger diaries and a guide to
them prepared by a seasonal employee. It also had good material on boundary revisions
(1913-1924) and on oil placer claims in the Katalla area. The Cordova ranger station had a very
good album of clippings. The office of the Kenai Moose Range had some material of limited
value.

A critical bibliography on totem poles and related antiquities is to be found in my manuscript,
“A History of the Forest Service Role in Totem Pole Restoration and Preservation’ (1972),
copies of which are available at the Alaska State Library, the regional office of the Forest Serv-
ice in Juneau, and the Forest History Society in Santa Cruz, California.

The Sterling Memorial Library at Yale University, New Haven, Connecticut, holds an abun-
dance of material in the papers of Henry S. Graves and B. Frank Heintzleman. At Grey Towers
in Milford, Pennsylvania, I examined the Gifford Pinchot diaries on microfilm. I utilized the
resources of the Forest History Society at Santa Cruz; its Forest Service clipping files were
particularly valuable to my research. The Special Collections at the University of Oregon
Library in Eugene include the papers of Fred Ames, Melvin Merritt, Asher Ireland, and Will
Langille. The papers of John E. Ballaine were utilized at the Manuscripts Section of the Univer-
sity of Washington Library in Seattle, as were the papers of Anthony Dimond at the University
of Alaska. The Alaska State Museum in Juneau made its records on the totem pole project
available to me. In Ketchikan the Tongass Historical Society provided lumber company records
and some miscellaneous material on old-timers. Angela Burke of St. Petersburg, Florida, pro-
vided me with her personal record of the Alaska Spruce Log Program.

Primary Sources: Interviews

A considerable part of this book is based on interviews with people who were too busy making
history to write it. Some were taped, some not. Taped interviews are designated with an
asterisk (*)'and those of particular value with two (**).

Two of Will Langille’s daughters, Mrs. Webb Trimble of Seattle and Mrs. Ivan Langley of
Portland, gave me material on family history and on Langille's own life that I could not have ob-
tained elsewhere. Among the old-timers, Harold Lutz, Hugh Brady, Lyle Blodgett, George
Drake*, Roy Barto*, and John Smith shared their experiences with me. For the middle period of
Forest Service history, Raymond F. Taylor**, Linn Forrest**, Claribel Rakestraw, C. M. Arch-
bold, Pearl Peterson, and W. A. Chipperfield** were interviewed. To these should be added
Viola Garfield*, who assisted Forrest on the totem pole project. For the later period, P. D. Han-
son*, W, H. Johnson**, John Sandor, John Emerson, Barney Coster, Sig Olson, Lee Kester,
D. Robert Hakala, and a host of others were interviewed. Conversations with these people
saved me from making a host of mistakes and provided me with much good material.



Primary Sources: Photographs

Official Forest Service photographs are located in the Audio-Visual Section of the National
Archives. They are indexed and machine retrievable. There are also scattered photographs in
the various files of the Forest Service's Washington Office. Both the Ames and Langille collec-
tions at the University of Oregon contain good photographs. The Forest Service offices at Ket-
chikan and Juneau have excellent collections. I located some fine photos of logging practices in
the interior at the University of Alaska. The Alaska State Library has a miscellaneous collec-
tion, including 125 taken by Langille. The Tongass Historical Society holds several collections
of photos showing Ketchikan as it was in the old days.

There are also a great number of private collections. Lyle Blodgett, for example, showed me a
magnificent collection of boat pictures. Angie Burke made available her pictures of the Alaska
Spruce Log Program, and Linn Forrest, Viola Garfield, and Jane Wallen provided a host of
photographs dealing with totem poles. Some private collections, as well as prints from those of
public agencies, have found their way to the Forest History Society, where I was able to view
them and make some selections.

Field Investigation

Natural resource history requires investigation in the field as well as in archives. I was able to
get a firsthand idea of forest conditions, logging practices, and fire ecology of interior Alaska
by driving through the country. We traveled in a 1967 three-quarter-ton pickup with a camper
body. It had ample space for beds, cooking facilities, archival storage, and a typewriter; it was
our home much of the time for three years. We traveled over the Alaska Highway to Fairbanks
in 1968 and over portions of the highway on later trips. We also drove through the Kenai Moose
Range and over substantial areas in the interior at various times from 1969 to 1972. Once we
traveled by train from Fairbanks to Anchorage.

We also covered coastal Alaska by ferry six times between 1969 and 1972. By checking old
timber sale records (dating back to 1906) with the modern appearance of sale sites from the
ferry, I was able to make judgments on regeneration. We flew over much of the southeastern
area by commercial and charter plane, and we went by Forest Service boat up to the Tracy
Arm area. In the Cordova area, Ranger Wally Watts took us on a ‘‘show me" trip up the route
of the railroad. Field investigation of this sort added dimension to conventional archival
research.
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Footnotes

Chapter 1

1 B. Frank Heintzleman, “The Forests of Alaska,' in Trees: Yearbook of Agriculture, 1949 (Washington,
1949), pp. 361-71, summarizes admirably the nature of the Alaskan forests. The interpretation of the
stages of public land policy is that used by Marion Clawson and Burnell Held, The Federal Lands: Their
Use and Management (Lincoln, 1965), pp. 15-35.

2 Philip Drucker, Indians of the Northwest Coast (New York, 1955), offers a concise and scholarly sum-
mary of the Indians’ use of wood.

3 Harold |. Lutz, Aboriginal Man and White Man as Historical Causes of Fires in the Boreal Forest, with
Particular Reference to Alaska, Yale School of Forestry, Bulletin No. 65 (New Haven, 1959), pp. 2-16, 18-20.
The bibliography is particularly valuable.

4 W. A. Langille, ''Report on the Proposed Norton Bay Forest Reserve, Alaska, 1904,"" p. 18, manuscript,
Juneau Office, U.S. Forest Service.

5 Hubert Howe Bancroft, The History of Alaska (San Francisco, 1886), pp. 688-93, is still the best ac-
count of economic use of timber during the Russian occupation. There was apparently some export of
Alaskan timber to Macao, Canton, Chile, and California. See Robert De Armond, "Early Alaskan
Sawmills,”” The Pathfinder [Ketchikan, Alaska), February 9, 1946.

6 Lutz, Fires, p. 24; Lutz, Early Forest Conditions in the Alaska Interior: A Historical Account with
Original Sources (Juneau: U.S. Forest Service, Northern Forest Experiment Station, 1963), is a comprehen-
sive account of Russian and American forest explorations and reports of forest conditions. Langille, “The
Proposed Forest Reserve in the Kenai Peninsula, Alaska, 1904, deals with the effects of Russian cutting.
This report is in the Records of the Forest Service, Chugach file, Record Group 95 (hereinafter cited as RG
95), National Archives, Washington, D.C. Melvin L. Merritt, ‘'Recollections,”” manuscript in Merritt
Papers, Special Collections, University of Oregon, Eugene, contains some interesting data on Russian use
of wood.

7 Lutz, History of the Sitka Spruce Forest Planted in 1805 on Unalaska Island (Juneau: U.S. Forest Serv-
ice, Northern Forest Experiment Station, 1964), is a comprehensive account.

8 Samuel Trask Dana, Forest and Range Policy (New York, 1956), pp. 46-72; Clawson and Held, Federal
Lands, pp. 22-27; Stewart Holbrook, The American Lumberjack (1938; reprint, New York, 1962),
pp. 26-162.

9 The literature on the early conservation movement is voluminous. Some of the better publications in-
clude W. N. Sparhawk, "History of Forestry in America,” in Trees: Yearbook of Agriculture, 1949
pp. 707-12; Bernhard E. Fernow, A Brief History of Forestry in Europe, the United States, and Other Coun-
tries (Toronto, 1907), pp. 456-506; Samuel P. Hays, Conservation and the Gospel of Efficiency: The Progres-
sive Conservation Movement, 1890-1920 (Cambridge, 1959), pp. 1-4, 27-48, 261-76; A. Hunter Dupree,
Science in the Federal Government: A History of Policies and Activities to 1940 (Cambridge, 1964),
pp. 232-64; Gordon B. Dodds, **The Historiography of American Conservation: Past and Prospects,’ Pacific
Northwest Quarterly 56 (April 1965): 75-81; Roderick Nash, Wilderness and the American Mind (New
Haven, 1967), pp. 96-107; Lawrence Rakestraw, A History of Forest Conservation in the Pacific Northwest,
1891-1913, (New York, 1979), pp. 1-22.
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10 Andrew Denny Rodgers III, Bernhard Eduard Fernow: A Study of North American Forestry (Prince-
ton, 1951), is a beautifully written, accurate, and comprehensive biography.

11 Rodgers, Fernow, pp. 154-56, is probably the most accurate account of the passage of the bill, known
collectively as the General Revision Act of 1891.

12 Rakestraw, “‘Urban Influences on Forest Conservation,” Pacific Northwest Quarterly 46 (October
1955): 108-13.

13 William H. Dall, Alaska and Its Resources (Boston, 1870), pp. 439-41, 452-56. In addition to Dall's
study, mention should be made of a series of articles on the timber resources of Alaska by John Muir,
published in 1879 in the San Francisco Bulletin and reprinted under the title ‘*“Timber Resources of
Alaska™ in West Shore 5 (November 18, 1879): 338.

14 Ivan Petroff, Alaska: Its Industry and Resources, Miscellaneous Document 42, pt. 8, 47th Cong., 2d
sess. (Washington, 1884); Bancroft, Alaska, pp. 688-93.

15 William G. Morris, Report on the Customs District, Public Service, and Resources of Alaska Territory,
Senate Executive Document 59, 45th Cong., 3d sess. (Washington, 1879), pp. 106-10; Bancroft, Alaska,
p. 693, n. 54; Morgan Sherwood, Exploration of Alaska, 1865-1900 (New Haven, 1965), pp. 57-69, deals with
Petroff's background.

16 Pertinent reports of the governors are contained in U.S. Department of the Interior, Report, 1889
(Washington, 1889), 111: 224-26; USDA Report, 1891, I1I: 491-92; USDI Report, 1902, 1II: 37-39.

17 The best accounts of the work of the Fish Commission are to be found in its annual reports. Sec-
ondary works include Dupree, Science in the Federal Government, pp. 236-38; David Starr Jordan,
“Spencer Fullerton Baird and the United States Fish Commission,” Scientific Monthly 17 {August 1923):
97-107; and Rakestraw, Commercial Fishing on Isle Royale (Hancock, Michigan, 1968), pp. 5-6. Henry Clep-
per, “A Century of Fish Conservation,” American Forests 76 (November 1970): 16-19, 54-56, is a good
survey.

18 Dodds, ed., A Pygmy Monopolist: The Life and Doings of R. D. Hume, Written by Himself and Dedicat-
ed to His Neighbors (Madison, 1961); Annual Report of the United States Commission of Fish and Fisheries,
1872 and 1874 (Washington, 1874), Appendix, pp. 89-384. Tarleton H. Bean, ‘‘Bibliography of the
Salmonidae of Alaska and Adjacent Regions," Bulletin of the U.S. Fish Commission, 1892, Miscellaneous
Document 122, 53d Cong., 2d sess. (Washington 1894), pp. 39-49, lists 120 publications on the salmon be-
tween 1870 and 1892. Dodds, **Artificial Propagation of Salmon in Oregon, 1875-1910,"" Pacific Northwest
Quarterly 50 (October 1959); 125-33, is a valuable regional study.

19 Bulletin of the U.S. Fish Commission, 1892, pp. 1-11; Ernest Gruening, The State of Alaska (New York,
1968), pp. 244-47, 587-88.

20 Bulletin of the U.S. Fish Commission, 1890, Miscellaneous Document 131, 51st Cong., 2d sess. (Wash-
ington, 1891), pp. 165-206.

21 U.S. Fish Commission, 1892, pp. 7-8. Related scholarship may be found in Henry Clepper, ‘A Century
of Fish Conservation.” John F. Reiger, American Sportsmen and the Origins of Conservation (New York,
1975), p. 262, n. 23, summarized the effort to create the Afognak reserve from the viewpoint of Forest and
Stream. Reiger holds the view that the true “inventor’ of the wilderness preservation idea was George
Bird Grinnell, with Livingstone Stone, rather than Aldo Leopold, Arthur Carhart, or Frederick V. Coville.
The relative claims of each is an attractive bypath that this winter will not explore at this time.

22 U.S. Fish Commission, 1892, p. 14.
23 Ibid., pp. 14-19.
24 Report of the Commissioner of the General Land Office, 1892 (Washington, 1892), pp. 169-72.

25 Compiled Laws of Alaska (Washington, 1913), pp. 174-75. The proclamation reads:

Whereas, it is provided by section twenty-four, of the act of Congress, approved March third, eighteen
hundred and ninety-one, entitled, 'An Act to repeal timber-culture laws, and for other purposes’; that ‘The
President of the United States may from time to time set apart and reserve in any State or Territory having



public lands bearing forests, in any part of the public lands wholly, or in part covered with timber or under-
growth, whether of commercial value or not, as public reservations; and the President shall, by public proc-
lamation, declare the establishment of such reservation, and the limits thereof.’

And whereas, it is provided by section fourteen, of said above mentioned act, that the public lands in the
Territory of Alaska, reserved for public purposes, shall not be subject to occupation and sale.

And whereas, the public lands in the Territory of Alaska, known as Afognak Island, are in part covered
with timber, and are required for public purposes, in order that salmon fisheries in the waters of the island,
and salmon and other fish and sea animals, and other animals and birds, and the timber, undergrowth,
grass, moss, and other growth in, on, and about said island may be protected and preserved unimpaired,
and it appears that the public good would be promoted by setting apart and reserving said lands as a public
reservation.

And whereas, the United States Commissioner of Fish and Fisheries has selected Afognak Bay, River and
Lake, with their tributary streams, and the sources thereof, and the lands including the same on said
Afognak Island, and within one mile from the shores thereof, as a reserve for the purpose of establishing
fish culture stations, and the use of the United States Commission of Fish and Fisheries, the boundary lines
of which include the head springs of the tributaries above mentioned, and the lands, the drainage of which
is into the same.

Now, therefore, I, Benjamin Harrison, President of the United States, by virtue of the power in me vested
by sections twenty-four and fourteen, of the aforesaid act of Congress, and by other laws of the United
States, do reserve and do hereby make known and proclaim that there is hereby reserved from occupation
and sale, and set apart as a public reservation, including use for fish culture stations, said Afognak Island,
Alaska, and its adjacent bays and rocks and territorial waters, including among others the Sea Lion Rocks
and Sea Otter Island: Provided, That this proclamation shall not be so construed as to deprive any bona fide
inhabitant of said island of any valid right he may possess under the treaty for the cession of the Russian
possessions in North America to the United States, concluded at Washington, on the thirtieth day of March,
eighteen hundred and sixty-seven.

Warning is hereby expressly given to all persons not to enter upon, or to occupy, the tract or tracts of
land or waters reserved by this proclamation, or to fish in, or use any of the waters herein described or
mentioned, and that all persons or corporations now occupying said island, or any of said premises, except
under said treaty, shall depart therefrom.

In witness whereof, I have hereunto set my hand, and caused the seal of the United States to be affixed.

Done at the city of Washington this twenty-fourth day of December, in the year of our Lord one thousand
eight hundred and ninety-two, and of the independence of the United States the one hundred
(Seal) and sixteenth.
By the President: Benj. Harrison.
John W. Foster, Secretary of State.

Chapter 2

1 John Ise, The United States Forest Policy (New Haven, 1920), pp. 120-28.

2 Gifford Pinchot, Breaking New Ground (New York, 1947), pp. 86-93. Fernow felt that the trip was un-
necessary. Rodgers, Fernow, pp. 220-21.

3 No overall scholarly evaluation of the commission's work exists. It apparently did a relatively good job
in Montana and a poorer one in Oregon and Washington. See Harold D. Langille, ‘‘Mostly Division ‘R’
Days,” Oregon Historical Quarterly 57 (December 1956): 301-14, and Rakestraw, ‘'Sheep Grazing in the
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Cascade Range: John Minto vs. John Muir,” Pacific Historical Review 27 (November 1958): 371-82. Both
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1967, pp. 8-9; Blodgett to the author, August 16, 1969.

31 Taylor, “‘History of Region 10''; Fred Ames, *‘Inspection Report, 1909, Box 21588, RG 95, FRC,
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32 Langille, *‘A Report on the Alexander Archipelago Forest Reserve, 1906, and **Forest Conditions in
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37 Olmsted, ‘‘Alexander Archipelago—Organization,” pp. 4-14.
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34 Ibid.; interviews with Sandor and Kenneth Wright.
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39 Interview with Kay Metcalfe, Admiralty Island National Monument manager. Management direc-
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Poles,” manuscript, Juneau Office, 1972, has many references to Clark’s work.

41 OQutdoor Recreation and Historic Preservation in Alaska (Alaska Division of Parks, 1973); interviews
with Hanable, Kennedy, and Mattson, 1978.

42 National Forests in Alaska, pp. 15-19, gives a good summary. Fish and Wildlife Habitat Program on
the National Forests of Alaska (Juneau: U.S. Forest Service, 1979), gives a comprehensive account of state-
federal cooperation under the Sikes Act. Interviews in 1979 with Sigurd Olson, Robert Schmiege, and
Manuel Archuleta were very useful.

43 The Forest Service in Alaska, pp. 33-37; interviews with Archuleta, Olson, and Metcalfe, July 1979.
44 TLMP, pp. 22-30; The Forest Service in Alaska, pp. 22-24.

45 Charles A. Yates, ““Main Paths and Byways,” Alaska 38 (March 1972): 1-7, 78-80, 90-92; 38
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